# Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer

Michael J. Zelefsky *Editor* 



Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer

Michael J. Zelefsky Editor

# Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer



*Editor* Michael J. Zelefsky Department of Radiation Oncology Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center New York, USA

#### ISBN 978-3-319-92452-6 ISBN 978-3-319-92453-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018955481

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

There has been a significantly increased interest in the use of stereotactic body radiosurgery (SBRT) for the treatment of prostate cancer. With the availability of carefully designed treatment plans, tight margins around the clinical target volume, image-guided therapy, and integrating MRI into treatment planning and target delineation, opportunities now exist to safely target high doses of irradiation condensed into a short treatment schedule. Single-institution experiences have been published, demonstrating excellent PSA relapse-free survival outcomes using SBRT for clinically localized prostate cancer. Currently, several randomized trials are ongoing comparing SBRT to either conventionally fractionated external beam radiotherapy or moderately hypofractionated regimens, and these experiences will certainly provide key information as to the role of SBRT in the management of various disease states of prostate cancer.

This book is unique in that it is dedicated exclusively to the role of SBRT in the management of prostate cancer and focuses on the selection criteria for SBRT, delineation of the prostate contour in the most optimal fashion, and safe treatment delivery using tight normal tissue dose-volume constraints—all to minimize long-term toxicity. There are important discussions related to treatment planning considerations as well as the management of organ motion and use of imaging to design optimal dose-volume histogram constraints for target and normal tissue to further reduce toxicity. Chapters are devoted to summarizing expected tumor control outcomes for low-, intermediate-, and high-risk disease and how these compare to established outcomes with conventionally fractionated treatment. Finally, there is discussion regarding what we know currently based on the published literature of expected acute and long-term toxicity and the quality of life impact SBRT has on the treated patient.

This area of radiation oncology is rapidly evolving and the insights here on SBRT will hopefully provide valuable information to the reader.

New York, USA

Michael J. Zelefsky

# Contents

1	Optimizing Selection of Patients for Prostate SBRT: Overview of Toxicity and Efficacy in Low, Intermediate, and High-Risk Prostate Cancer	1
2	Treatment Planning Considerations for Prostate SBRT and MRI Based Planning Neelam Tyagi and Margie Hunt	17
3	Organ Motion Considerations and Tracking During Prostate SBRT Laura Happersett and D. Michael Lovelock	43
4	Imaging and Anatomic Considerations for Prostateand Pelvic Organs ContouringTomer Charas, Alberto Vargas, and Michael J. Zelefsky	55
5	Using Imaging to Design Dose Volume Constraints for Target and Normal Tissue to Reduce Toxicity Rosario Mazzola and Filippo Alongi	75
6	Expected PSA and Biochemical Controlwith Prostate SBRT Compared to ConventionalFractionated RadiotherapyJosephine Kang and Alan Katz	85
7	Overview of Tumor Control Outcomes with Prostate SBRT for Low and Intermediate Risk Prostate Cancer and Comparison to Other Treatment Interventions Amandeep S. Taggar, Paveen Mann, and Michael J. Zelefsky	93
8	Overview of Toxicity Outcomes with Prostate SBRT and Comparison to Other Treatment Interventions (Urinary, Rectal and Sexual Outcomes) Michael C. Repka, Simeng Suy, Shaan K. Kataria, Thomas P. Kole, Ima Paydar, Brian T. Collins, Jonathan W. Lischalk, Olusola Obayomi-Davies, and Sean P. Collins	111

9	Quality of Life Outcomes After SBRTThomas Zilli and Raymond Miralbell	129
10	Techniques for Reducing Toxicity After SBRT Daniel Gorovets, Marisa Kollmeier, and Michael J. Zelefsky	141
11	<b>SBRT for High-Risk Prostate Cancer</b>	153
12	Salvage SBRT for Local Recurrence of Prostate Cancer After Definitive Radiotherapy Daniel Lam Cham Kee, Jérôme Doyen, Alexander T. Falk, and Jean-Michel Hannoun-Levi	171
13	Dose Escalation for Prostate Cancer Using Oligofractionated,Stereotactic Ablative RadiotherapyMichael R. Folkert and Robert D. Timmerman	183
14	Summary of Ongoing Prospective Trials Using SBRT for Prostate Cancer	197
15	Conclusions: Perspectives on the Role of SBRT in the Management of Localized Prostate Cancer Michael J. Zelefsky	217

viii



# Optimizing Selection of Patients for Prostate SBRT: Overview of Toxicity and Efficacy in Low, Intermediate, and High-Risk Prostate Cancer

Amar U. Kishan and Christopher R. King

#### 1.1 Introduction

Radiotherapy (RT) has long been considered a standard treatment option for localized prostate cancer (PCa). Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT)-a unique form of radiotherapy in which a small number ( $\leq 5$ ) of fractions, each of comparatively high dose, are delivered to the target volume using highly conformal techniques to minimize dose to adjacent organs-at-risk-is primed for use in PCa, given that classical radiobiology analyses have suggested that PCa appears to be particularly sensitive to large doses of radiation per fraction. The clinical evidence supporting SBRT in the treatment of low- and intermediate-risk PCa is predominantly derived from single-institution prospective studies, multi-institutional phase I/II trials, and pooled consortium data synthesizing many of these reports [1]. As a result of the promising biochemical recurrence-free survival (BCRFS) outcomes of these studies, the American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO) model policy update in 2013 recognized SBRT as an alternative to conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for PCa, noting "SBRT could be considered an appropriate alternative for select patients

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of California, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: aukishan@mednet.ucla.edu; crking@mednet.ucla. edu with low to intermediate risk disease" [2]. Since 2014, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines have included the following statement: "extremely hypofractionated image-guided IMRT/SBRT regimens (6.5 Gy per fraction or greater) are an emerging treatment modality with single institutional and pooled reports of similar efficacy and toxicity to conventionally fractionated regimens. They can be considered as a cautious alternative to conventionally fractionated regimens at clinics with appropriate technology, physics, and clinical expertise [for low- and intermediate-risk PCa]" [3].

In this introductory Chapter, we will focus on the optimal selection of patients for prostate SBRT based on NCCN risk grouping and anatomical characteristics and review the evidence for its safety and effectiveness.

#### 1.2 Brief Overview of Risk Stratification and a Historical Perspective

Treatment decisions in the management of PCa are often driven by pre-intervention risk stratification schemes, such as the one presented in the NCCN guidelines for PCa [3]. The modern, fivetiered risk stratification scheme is adapted from a three-tiered scheme initially proposed in 1998 on the basis of 5-year BCRFS rates in a cohort of 1872 men treated between January 1989 and October 1997 with radical prostatectomy,

A. U. Kishan  $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$ . R. King

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_1

Risk Group	Criteria
Very Low	T1c, GS $\leq$ 6, PSA $<$ 10
	<3 cores +
	$\leq 50\%$ cancer in any core
	PSA density <0.15 ng/mL/g
Low	T1-2a, GS $\leq$ 6, PSA $<$ 10
Intermediate	T2b-T2c, GS 7, PSA 10-20
High	T3a, GS 8–10, PSA > 20
Very High	T3b-T4
	Primary GP 5
	>4 cores with GS 8-10

 Table 1.1
 Prostate cancer risk stratification

brachytherapy or external beam RT [4]. The current five-tiered scheme is presented in Table 1.1; an in-depth review of the evidence supporting this scheme is beyond the scope of the present Chapter. For a variety of practical considerations, the first two prospective investigations of SBRT for PCa in North America-out of Virginia Mason [5] and Stanford University [6]—enrolled patients with low-risk disease. As the results of these studies matured, the inclusion criteria for other prospective single-institution and multiinstitutional trials broadened to include intermediate-risk disease. However, it is important to note that the clinical inception of prostate SBRT predates these risk-stratification schemes by several decades and has its roots in 1962. At that time, Lloyd-Davies et al. were inspired by the use of hypofractionation to facilitate the incorporation of hyperbaric oxygen treatments and began treating PCa with a regimen of 55 Gy in 12 fractions delivered over 28 days [7]. They subsequently adopted a regimen of 36 Gy in six fractions over 18 days [8]. Ultimately, they reported five- and 10-year overall survival rates of 54 and 18% among 232 patients, comparable to conventional RT outcomes at the time [9]. Despite the fact that  $^{60}$ Co-based teletherapy was employed in 49% of cases, only two instances of rectal strictures were seen. Consistent with accrual in a pre-PSA screening era, 145 of these 232 patients (62.5%) had locally advanced disease, and 52 (22.4%) had poorly-differentiated lesions, and only 117 (50.4%) had welldifferentiated lesions. It is therefore likely that many of these patients would have been classified as having high- or at least intermediate-risk PCa in modern times. Nonetheless, the favorable

outcomes in this historical study, combined with emerging radiobiological data (reviewed in the next Chapter), were the impetus for investigating SBRT in a low-risk setting in the modern era.

#### 1.3 Definitive Treatment for Low and Intermediate Risk Prostate Cancer: Review of the Clinical Evidence

Madsen et al. from Virginia Mason reported the first modern series of SBRT for PCa in 2007, utilizing a linear accelerator (LINAC) to deliver 33.5 Gy in five 6.7 Gy fractions to 40 patients with low-risk PCa (Table 1.2) [5]. The 4-year actuarial BCRFS was 90% and rates of acute Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) grade 1-2 genitourinary (GU) and gastrointestinal (GI) toxicities were 48.5 and 39% respectively; one patient had acute grade 3 GU toxicity. Late grade 1-2 GU and GI toxicities were seen in 45 and 27% of patients, respectively, with no late grade 3 toxicity. Erectile dysfunction (ED) developed in 33% of patients with normal erectile function at baseline. King et al. from Stanford University subsequently reported the first SBRT series utilizing the CyberKnife system (Accuray, Sunnyvale, CA), treating 67 patients with low-risk PCa with 36.25 Gy in five 7.25 Gy fractions [6, 10]. The initial 21 patients received daily fractions, but due to observed GI toxicity, a q.o.d. fractionation scheme was subsequently tested. The 4-year BCRFS rate was 94%, late RTOG grade 2 GU and GI toxicities were seen in 5 and 2% of patients, respectively, and late RTOG grade 3 GU toxicities were seen in 3.5%. The incidence of ED increased from 38% at baseline to 71% at a median of nearly 3 years after treatment [11, 12].

There have since been multiple series reporting results for treating patients with SBRT. Short-term efficacy and toxicity results of single institution and small multi-institutional studies are presented in Table 1.2. Pooling across all studies, outcomes for a total of 2926 patients treated with SBRT have been reported. The longest-term published data have been reported by Katz et al. in a series of manuscripts. The

		Follow-				
	#	up				Physician-reported
References	patients	(years)	Regimen	Risk profile	BCRFS	toxicity
Single institution serie	es or multi-	institution	al trials			
Virginia Mason [5]	40	3.4	33.5 (6.7 × 5)	Low: 100%	4-Year: 90%	RTOG <u>Acute</u> <u>GU</u> 1–2: 48.5% 3: 2.5% GI 1–2: 39% <u>Late</u> <u>GU</u> 1–2: 45% GI 1–2: 27%
Stanford [6, 10]	67	2.7	36.25 (7.25 × 5)	Low: 100%	3-year: 94%	RTOG Late GU 2: 5%; 3: 3.5% GI 2: 2%
Naples [52]	112	2	35–36 (7–7.2 × 5)	Not reported	Crude: 97.3%	AUA Score Increased from 8.9 to 12.8 acutely, then to baseline by 4 mos RAS Score Increased from 1.8 to 4.6 acutely, then to baseline by 4 mos
Flushing [13, 15, 16, 53, 54]	515	7	35–36.25 (7–7.25 × 5)	Low: 62.9% Int:29.7% High: 7.4%	8-year Low: 93.6% Int: 84.3% High: 65.0%:	RTOG <sup>a</sup> <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 4.4%</u> <u>GI 2:4.4%</u> <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 9.6% 3: 1.7%</u> <u>GI 2: 4%</u>
San Bortolo [55, 56]	100	3	35 (7 × 5)	Low: 41% Int: 42% High: 17%	3-year: 94.4%	RTOG <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 12%</u> GI 2: 18% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 3% 3: 1%</u> GI 2: 1%
Erasmus [57, 58]	50	1.91	38 (9.5 $\times$ 4); did allow boost to 11 $\times$ 4 if visible lesion)	Low: 60% Int: 40%	2-year: 100%	RTOG <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 15% 3: 8% GI 2: 12% 3: 2% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 10% 3: 6% GI 2: 3%
UTSW Trial [20–23]	91	4.5	50 (10 × 5) in 67.7%	Low:36.3% Int: 63.7%	5-year: 98.6%	CTCAEv3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 22.0%</u> GI 2:20.9% 3: 1.1% <u>4: 1.1%</u> <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 20.9% 3:</u> 4.4% 4 1.1% GI 2: 13.2% 3: 4.4% <u>4: 2.2%</u>

 Table 1.2
 Efficacy and toxicity results for SBRT monotherapy

		Follow-				
References	# natients	up (vears)	Regimen	Risk profile	BCRES	Physician-reported
Korea Institute of Radiological and Medical Sciences [59]	44	3.3	32–36 (8–9 × 4)	Low: 11.4% Int: 22.7% High: 65.9%	Crude: Low: 100% Int: 100% High: 90.9%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> GU 2: 13.6% GI 2: 9.1% <u>Late</u> GU 2: 6.8% GI 2: 11.4%
United States Multi- Center Trial [60]	45	3.7	35–36.25 (7–7.25 × 5)	Low: 100%	3-year: 97.7%	CTCAEv4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 19% GI 2: 7% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 17% 3: 2.2% GI 2: 7% 3: 4.4%
UCSF [61]	20	1.53	38 (9.5 × 4)	Low: 45% Int:45% High:10%	Crude: 100%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 45%</u> GI 2: 17% <sup>b</sup> <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 8% 3: 5%</u> GI 2: 3%
Georgetown [62, 63]	100	2.3	35–36.25 (7–7.25 × 5)	Low: 37% Int:55% High: 8%	2-year: Low: 100% Int: 100% High: 87.5%	CTCAEv3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 35%</u> GI 2:5% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 17% 3: 1%</u> GI 2: 1%
Sunnybrook [64]	84	4.58	35 (7 × 5)	Low: 100%	5-year: 98%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 19% 3: 1% GI 2:10% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 5% GI 2: 7% 4: 1%
Humanitas [65, 66]	90	2.25	35 (7 × 5)	Low: 58.9% Int: 41.1%	Crude: Low: 100% Int: 95%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 32.2% GI 2: 6.6% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2</u> :2.2%
Twenty first century oncology [67]	102		40 (8 × 5)	Low: 100%		CTCAE v 3.0 Acute GU 3: 0.98%
Genesis Healthcare [68]	79	3.5	38 (9.5 × 4)	Low: 50.6% Int: 49.4%	5-year: Low: 100% Int: 92%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> GU 2: 10% GI 2: 0% <u>Late</u> GU 2: 9% 3: 6% GI 2: 1%

 Table 1.2 (continued)

		Follow-				
Defense	#	up	Desimon	Distance fla	DCDES	Physician-reported
Selemences		(years)		Kisk prome	BCKF5	CTCAE = 4.0
Salamanca [69, 70]	45	1.15	$(5.48-5.65 \times 5)$	Low: 28.9% Int: 37.8% High: 33.3%	97.8%	Acute GU 2: 22.72 GI 2: 20.45% Late GI 2: 5%
The Catholic University of Korea [31]	45	5.3	36 (7.2 × 5)	Low: 13.3% Int: 57.8% High: 28.9%	5-year: 89.7%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 4.4% GI 2: 4.4% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 4.4% 3: 4.4% GI 2: 4.4%
Royal Marsden Hospital [71]	51	1.21	36.25 (7.25 × 5)	Low: 19.6% Int: 68.6% High: 11.8%	1-year: 100%	RTOG Acute GU 2:22% GI 2: 14%
Virginia Hospital Center [72]	102	4.3	35–40 (7–8 × 5)	Low: 36.3% Int: 54.9% High: 7.8%	Crude: 100%	RTOG <u>Late</u> GU 2:9.9% GI 2: 3%
Gyeongsang National University [73]	39	2.5	37.5 (7.5 × 5)	Low: 41% Int: 59%	3-year: 93.9%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 25.6%</u> GI 2: 30.8% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:10.3%</u> GI 2: 7.7% 3:5.2%
Taipei [74]	31	3	37.5 (7.5 × 5)	Int: 48.4% High: 51.6%	3-year Int: 100% High: 82%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 22.6%</u> GI 2: 3.2% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:16.2%</u>
Multi-center US [75]	66	3	37 (7.4 × 5)	Low: 49% Int: 51%	3-year Low: 100% Int: 100%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 23% GI 2: 4% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 9% GI 2: 5%
Philadelphia [76]	150	3.8	35–37.5 (7–7.5 × 5)	Low: 44.7% Int: 34.0% High: 21.3%	Crude Low: 98.5% Int: 96.1% High: 87.5%	RTOG Acute GU 3 3.3% GI 3: 0.3%
Gilwice [77]	400	1.25	36.25 (7.25 × 5)	Low: 53% Int: 47%	1-year Low: 97.7% Int: 97.9%	RTOG Acute GU 3 0.5% GI 3: 0.3%

#### Table 1.2 (continued)

		Follow-				
	#	up				Physician-reported
References	patients	(years)	Regimen	Risk profile	BCRFS	toxicity
Olsztyn [78]	68	2	33.5 (6.7 × 5)	Low: 10% Int: 90%	2-year Low: 100% Int: 100%	RTOG <u>Acute</u> <u>GU</u> 2: 35.3% GU 3 1.5% GI 3: 10.3% <u>Late</u> <u>GU</u> 2: 11.8% GI 2: 4.4%
Kuopio [79]	240	1.9	35–36.25 (7–7.285)	Low: 22% Int: 27% High: 51%	2-year Low: 100%, Int: 96.6% High: 92.8%	CTCAE v 4.0 Acute GU 2: 1.4% GI 2: 0.4%
Duke [80]	60	2.3	37 (7.4 × 5)	Low: 33% Int: 67%		CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 25%</u> GI 2: 5% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 6.7%</u> GI 2: 8.3%
Messina [81]	21	1.8	38 (9.5 × 4)	Low: 43% Int: 57%		CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 0 GI 2: 4.8% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 4.8% GI 2: 4.8%
Cleveland Clinic [82]	24	2.1	36.25 with boost to 50 (7.25 $\times$ 5 with boost of 10 $\times$ 5)	Int: 46% High: 54%	2-year crude Int: 100% High: 84.6%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 38% GI 2: 0% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 8% GI 2: 8%
Western Australia [83]	45	1.5	36.25 (7.25 × 5)	Low: 25% Int: 62% High: 13%		CTCAE v 3.0 Acute GU 2: 11.1% GI 2: 2.2%
Total	2926		·			·
Pooled analyses						
Consortium [17, 84]	1100	3	36.25 (median)	Low: 58% Int:30% High:11%	5-year: Low: 95% Int:84% High:81%	Reported as EPIC QOL decline, see text
RSS Registry [85]	437	1.67	36.25 (most common)	Low: 43.2% Int:49.25 High:7.6%	Low: 99% Int:94.5% High:89.8%	CTCAE v 3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 4% GI 2: 1% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2:</u> 8% GI 2: 2%

 Table 1.2 (continued)

References	# patients	Follow- up (years)	Regimen	Risk profile	BCRFS	Physician-reported toxicity
RPCR [18]	2000 <sup>a</sup>	2	35–40 Gy in 4–5 fractions	Low: 41% Fav-Int:6% Unfav-Int: 25% High:11%	Low: 99% Fav- Int:97% Unfav-Int: 85% High:87%	CTCAE v 3.0 Late GI 3: 0.05%

Table 1.2 (continued)

<sup>a</sup>Toxicity data based off 6-year median followup, BCRFS based off 7 year median followup

<sup>b</sup>For GI, Jabbari et al. reported pooled toxicity including 18 additional patients treated with an SBRT boost

7-year BCRFS in a cohort of 477 men (67.9% with low- and 22.1% with intermediate-risk) PCa was 95.6 and 89.6% for low and intermediate-risk groups, respectively [13, 14]. Patients received either 35 Gy in five fractions or 36.25 Gy in five fractions, either daily or every other day. The investigators reported no acute RTOG grade 3-4 toxicity, with late grade 3 GU toxicity in 1.7% of patients. A recent update of this series reported similarly excellent 8-year BCRFS outcomes [15]. Katz subsequently reported the long-term outcomes of 239 men with low-risk PCa (median follow-up of 108 months), all of whom received 35–36.25 Gy in five fractions [16]. The 10-year BCRFS was 93%, with a 10% incidence of grade 2-3 GU toxicity and 4% incidence of grade 2 GI toxicity. EPIC QOL scores declined initially in the bowel and urinary domains, before returning to baseline. EPIC sexual QOL scores continued to decline by about 40%.

Several SBRT consortium and registries have published short-term results. In the most prominent such report, King et al. presented the outcomes for 1100 patients enrolled in eight separate prospective clinical trials (including many in Table 1.2) [17]. Fifty-eight percent of patients had low-risk disease, 30% had intermediate-risk disease, and 11% had high-risk disease. With a median follow-up of 36 months, the 5-year BCRFS was 95, 84, and 81% for low-, intermediate-, and high-risk patients (93% overall). Among the 193 patients with a minimum follow-up of 5 years, the 5-year BCRFS was 99 and 93% for those with low- and intermediate-risk PCa, respectively. Freeman et al. have reported shortterm outcomes of 2000 men treated across 45 sites participating in the registry for prostate cancer radiosurgery, 86% of whom received SBRT monotherapy [18]. The 2-year BCRFS was 92%, no late grade 3 GU toxicity was seen, and only one patient (0.05%) developed late grade 3 GI toxicity. Erectile function was preserved in 80% of men less than 70 years old.

Recently, Kishan et al. reported the long-term outcomes of a large consortium of 1644 patients (54.3% with low-risk disease and 45.7% with intermediate-risk disease) with a median-followup of 7.2 years [19]. Of note, 297 patients (18.1%) had at least 9 years of follow-up. Fractionation schemes ranged from 33.50-40 Gy in 4-5 fractions. No patients died of PCa. By Kaplan-Meier analysis, 5- and 10-year BCRFS rates were 98 and 94% in the low-risk group and 96 and 90% in the intermediate-risk group. Five patients (0.3%) experienced grade 3 acute genitourinary (GU) toxicities, including urinary retention, hematuria, and frequency. 30 (2%) experienced grade 3 late GU toxicity, including urinary strictures, hematuria, and retention. One late grade 4 GU toxicity (hemorrhagic urethritis) and one late grade 4 gastrointestinal toxicity (fistula-in-ano) were seen.

There have been reports of high toxicity following SBRT, and these mandate critical review. Higher rates of serious toxicity were observed in the UTSW-led multi-institutional phase I/II of dose-escalated SBRT [20–23]. In the phase I portion, patients were sequentially enrolled into three dose echelons (45, 47.5, and 50 Gy in five fractions). Despite particular care to mitigate toxicity-Fleet enema and rectal balloon placed for each treatment, 4 mg dexamethasome for each treatment, and alpha-adrenergic antagonist usage-one of 14 patients in the 50 Gy dose stratum developed late CTCAEv4.0 grade 4 GI toxicity (ulceration). This was thought to be related to immunosuppressant medication use and 50 Gy was used as the prescription dose for the phase II portion of the trial. However, four of 47 patients developed late grade 3 rectal toxicity in the phase II portion, with another experiencing late grade 4 toxicity (rectal pain requiring colostomy) and another developing acute grade 4 GI toxicity (bleeding Dieulafoy lesion). Three patients developed late grade 3 GU toxicities, and one developed late grade 4 GU toxicity (cystitis requiring ureteroileal diversion). Notably, the preliminary results of the Cleveland Clinic doseescalation experience suggest that SBRT in 50 Gy in five fractions can be well tolerated with aggressive sparing of certain organs-at-risk, with the caveat that the median followup of the study was only 25 months [24]. The FASTR phase I/II study of SBRT for high-risk PCa (which utilized a dose/fractionation regimen of five once-weekly doses of 8 Gy and 5 Gy to the prostate/proximal SVs and pelvic lymph nodes, respectively) also demonstrated an unexpectedly high rate of GI and GU toxicity; as discussed in the subsequent section, these were likely attributable to technical issues with image-guidance and contouring [25, 26].

Yu et al. performed a retrospective analysis of the Chronic Conditions Warehouse, identifying 1355 patients treated with SBRT and 2670 patients treated with IMRT from 2008 to 2012 [27], while Halpern et al. performed an analysis of the SEER-linked Medicare database to compare toxicity endpoints between 237 men treated with SBRT and 10,715 treated with IMRT between 2004 and 2011 who had at least 1 year of followup detail [28]. Both investigators reported an increased risk of GU toxicity (but not GI toxicity) with SBRT. However, significant methodological issues confound the interpretation and relevance of these findings. Both investigators used billing codes including diagnoses, diagnostic procedures, and therapeutic procedures to populate toxicity outcomes. These likely resulted in an overestimation of toxicity, as underscored by the purported 2-year rate of "urinary incontinence" of 19.9% after IMRT in the Halpern et al. study, which is far higher than incontinence rates reported in any IMRT series. Additionally, the investigators could not distinguish between kinds or degrees of toxicity, and simply being referred for assessment-which may be more frequent for patients treated on prospective trials and/or with an emerging technology-was taken as а surrogate for toxicity [29].

Importantly, several ongoing phase III trials are comparing outcomes between SBRT and more prolonged treatment courses (Table 1.3). Preliminary data from the HYPO-RT-PC trial have been presented in abstract form [30]. Among a cohort of 866 patients with a median follow-up of 4.2 years, Widmark et al. reported no significant differences in the prevalence of physician-reported grade 2+ GU toxicity (5.4% with SBRT vs. 4.6% with conventional fractionation) and GI toxicity (2.2 vs. 3.7%) at the 2-year time point. Patient-reported data also revealed no significant differences in any questionnaire item. There did appear to be transiently worse GU function in the SBRT arm at 1 year, and a small decline in bowel scores at the end of radiotherapy with SBRT (which then normalized). Sexual function was similar after either treatment.

Overall, a synthesis of these data seems to suggest excellent efficacy in both low and intermediate risk PCa patient cohorts. While published long-term data (i.e., >5 year median follow-up) are only available from two centers [15, 31], multi-institutional long-term data have been presented in abstract form [19]. The favorable outcomes suggest a long-term efficacy not only in low-risk PCa, but also in intermediate-risk PCa. Patients and providers alike should not view having NCCN intermediate-risk disease as a disqualification criterion for being a candidate for SBRT.

Trial identifier	Treatment	Primary outcome(s)
NCT01434290	6.25 Gy × 5 vs. 4.3 Gy × 12	1. Proportion of patients with $\Delta$ EPIC-bowel
RTOG 0938	Low-risk	score >5 points
		2. Proportion of patients with $\Delta$ EPIC-urinary
		score >2 points
NCT01584258	(a) Laparoscopic prostatectomy	1. BCRFS at 5-years
Royal Marsden	vs. 6.25 Gy $\times$ 5	
Hospital/PACE	(b) 6.25 Gy $\times$ 5 vs. 2 Gy $\times$ 39	
	Low- and intermediate-risk (excluding	
	Gleason 4+3)	
ISRCTN45905321	$6.1 \text{ Gy} \times 7 \text{ vs.} 2 \text{ Gy} \times 39$	1. BCRFS at 5 years
Swedish/HYPO-RT-PC	Intermediate-risk	
NCT01794403	$6.25 \text{ Gy} \times 5 \text{ vs.} 2.7 \text{ Gy} \times 26$	1. BCRFS at 2 years
University of Miami/	Low- and intermediate-risk	
HEAT		
NCT03367702	7.25 Gy $\times$ 5 vs. 2.5 Gy $\times$ 28	1. $\Delta$ EPIC-bowel and urinary irritation scores
NRG GU-005	Low- and intermediate-risk	between arms
		1. Disease-free survival at 2 years

 Table 1.3
 Active clinical protocols comparing SBRT with conventional fractionation

#### 1.4 Patient Selection

Despite its oncologic efficacy in low- and intermediate-risk disease, not all patients in these risk groups are ideal candidates for SBRT. While a thorough discussion of toxicity following SBRT will be provided in subsequent chapters, we will provide a brief discussion of patient selection factors here. Outcomes following prostate SBRT in patients with large prostate volumes (for example,  $\geq$ 50 cc) have not been widely reported. It is known from published experiences in the brachytherapy literature that large prostate size is associated with both acute and late genitourinary toxicity in particular [32-34]. To our knowledge, only the Georgetown group has published on toxicity outcomes following SBRT in patients with prostate volumes  $\geq 50 \text{ cc} [35]$ . In a small series of 57 such patients (median size 62.9 cc), they reported a significant increase in median AUA score (by 6 points), as well as a 17 point decrement in EPIC bowel scores, at a 1-month time-point following SBRT. Two patients experienced grade 3 GU toxicity, and the 2-year actuarial incidence rates of GU and GI toxicity  $\geq$  grade 2 were 49.1 and 1.8%, respectively. There has historically been concern about brachytherapy following transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) procedures [36] though with optimal patient selection, that risk might be mitigated significantly [37]. Nonetheless, absent further data, significant caution should be advised when considering SBRT in patients with prior TURPs. To our knowledge, the only published data are from a series of 68 patients treated with high-risk or locallyadvanced PCa with SBRT at Tata Memorial Centre [38]. Twelve patients (17%) had prior TURP, and these patients did not have significantly increased risk of higher acute or late GU toxicity. However, median follow-up was only 18 months, and thus far no other centers have published data following TURP. As such, patients with large prostates and prior TURP may not be ideal candidates for SBRT, pending further published reports documenting safety. Similarly, though not rigorously reported or quantified, patients who have significant baseline urinary symptoms may not be ideal candidates for SBRT.

#### 1.5 SBRT for High-Risk Prostate Cancer: Preliminary Results

The vast majority of patients included in the SBRT studies outlined above had low- or intermediate-risk PCa. While the details of SBRT for high-risk PCa will be covered elsewhere, a brief overview of considerations of SBRT for high-risk PCa are presented here. The series with the longest reported follow-up comes from Katz et al., who recently reported 6-year BCRFS rates of 69% among 52 patients with high-risk PCa who received SBRT alone [39], comparing favorably to published IMRT data [40]. Several other published SBRT reports have included patients with high-risk PCa (see Table 1.2). While the capability to deliver doses as high as 86.4 Gy via conventionally fractionated EBRT is rapidly evolving [41], the BED provided by an initial course of EBRT followed by a brachytherapy boost is much higher, translating into a BCRFS benefit [42, 43] and potentially a systemic control benefit [44]. Successful experiences with HDR brachytherapy boosts in particular [45-47] provided the impetus to explore SBRT as an alternative means of providing dose-escalation. A brief overview of outcomes from published SBRT boost series is provided in Table 1.4. Overall, the data provided in Tables 1.2 and 1.3 indicate that published outcomes data for patients treated with SBRT are limited in scope (319 patients across all studies treated with SBRT monotherapy, and another 275 treated with SBRT boost) and follow-up (ranging from 1 to 7 years). Therefore, SBRT for high-risk PCa should be reserved for clinical trials. Indeed, multiple such trials are open for accrual (Table 1.5).

An open question is whether it is safe to deliver SBRT in the context of elective nodal irradiation. The recently published FASTR trial examined SBRT delivered in five once-weekly fractions of 8 Gy and 5 Gy to the prostate/proximal and PLNs, respectively, in combination with 1 year of ADT for patients with high-risk PCa [25]. Interim analysis showed disappointing toxicity results. Three patients (20%) had late grade 3 GI toxicity (rectal bleeding), and one (6.7%) had grade 4 toxicity (an obstruction requiring partial colectomy in a patient with a history of prior rectal bleeding and rectal incontinence). Of the late GU toxicities, three patients (20%) had worsening grade  $\geq 3$  ED, and 1 (6.7%) had increased urinary incontinence. As a result of these toxicities, the investigators opted to close

the FASTR protocol and initiate the FASTR 2 trial, in which the prostate alone receives 35 Gy in 5 fractions with 18 months of ADT.

However, technical issues related predominantly to image-guidance and contouring issues confound the extrapolation of these toxicity data to other protocols investigating SBRT for highrisk PCa [26]. An ongoing phase II clinical trial at University of California, Los Angeles employs the same prescription doses as FASTR (albeit in q.o.d., rather than once weekly, fractions), with 9 months of ADT. The protocol requires intraprostatic fiducial markers (to guide treatment of both the prostate and the nodes [48]), MRI to guide contouring (unless contraindicated or refused), strict rectal distension criteria, strict bladder filling protocols, intrafraction image guidance, noninclusion of the SVs in the planning target volume (PTV), and physician supervision for each fraction. Early toxicity results of the first 73 patients treated on this protocol have been presented in abstract form [49]. Forty-six patients (63%) received ADT and 23 (32%) received nodal RT. With a median follow-up of 13.8 months, no grade 3 or higher genitourinary (GU) or gastrointestinal (GI) toxicities were seen. For patients receiving nodal radiation, rates of acute grade 1 and 2 GU toxicities were 18.2 and 4.5%; for those not receiving nodal RT, they were 23.5 and 17.6%. Rates of acute grade 1 and 2 GI toxicities were 9.1 and 9.1% with and 11.8 and 3.9% without nodal RT. Late grade 1 and 2 GU toxicities rates with nodal RT were 27.3 and 4.5%; without nodal RT, the rates were 18.6 and 7.0%. Late grade 1 and 2 GI toxicity rates were 13.6 and 13.6% with nodal radiation and 11.6 and 4.7% without it. Mean changes in EPIC urinary and bowel domain scores at 4 months were +0.13 and -4.17 with nodal RT, and +0.79 and -2.97 without it. Mean changes in EPIC urinary and bowel domain scores at 12 months were -1.52 and -5.12 with nodal RT and -1.71 and -5.67 without it. Overall, the receipt of nodal RT had no significant association with either physician- or patient-reported toxicity profiles. Similarly, the receipt of ADT had no significant association with any toxicity parameter. Two patients (2.7%) experienced

References	# patients	Follow-up (years)	Regimen	Risk profile	BCRFS	Physician- reported toxicity
Barcelona [86]	50		10–18 Gy (5–8 × 2) After 64–64.4 Gy	Low: 10% Int: 24% High: 66%	Pooled 5-year BCRFS of 98% across risk groups	RTOG <u>Late</u> GU 2: 12% GI 2: 20% GI 3: 10%
Flushing [39, 87]	45	5	18–21 Gy (6–7 × 3) After 45 Gy	High: 100% <sup>a</sup>	6-year: 69%	CTCAE v 4.0 Late GU 3: 2.3% GI 2: 13.3%
Georgetown [88, 89]	108	4.4	19.5 (6.5 × 3) Before 45–50.4 Gy	Low: 3.7% Int: 41.7% High: 54.6%	Low: 100% Int: 100% High: 89.8%	Used EPIC-26
UCSF [61, 90]	50	3.56	19–21 Gy (9.5–10.5 × 2) After 45 Gy	Int: 29% High: 71%	3-year: 95% 4-year: 90% 5-year: 90%	CTCAE v 4.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2: 27%</u> GI 2: 10% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2: 25% 3:</u> 2%
Taiwan [91]	39	3.5	21 Gy (7 × 3) After 45 Gy	High: 100%	4-year: 91.9%	CTCAE v3.0 <u>Acute</u> GU 2: 27% GI 2: 12% <u>Late</u> GU 2: 4%
South Korea [92]	42	4.47	21 Gy (7 × 3) After 45 Gy	Int: 51.3% High: 48.7%	4-year: Int: 100% High: 71.4%	CTCAE v3.0 <u>Acute</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 23% <u>GI 2</u> : 21% <u>Late</u> <u>GU 2</u> : 10.3% <u>GI 2</u> : 12.8%
Total	334					Any Grade $\geq 3^{b}$ <u>Acute</u> <u>GU: 0</u> GI: 0 <u>Late</u> <u>GU: 1.15%</u> GI: 0

Table 1.4 Efficacy and toxicity results for SBRT as a boost to EBRT

<sup>a</sup>Some patients with unfavorable intermediate-risk disease were included

<sup>b</sup>Omitting the Georgetown series, which did not score physician-reported toxicity (for total at-risk population of 173

biochemical failure; in both cases, the PSA never decreased after SBRT. Preliminary results of a third trial, conducted at Tata Memorial Hospital and delivering 35 Gy in 5 fractions to the prostate and 25 Gy in 5 fractions to the lymph nodes were recently presented [50]. Data from 30 patients, 22 with high-risk disease, were available, and, at a median follow-up of 2.08 years, identified just 1 incidence each of late grade 2 GI and GU toxicity. The 2-year BCRFS was 96.7%.

Overall, these data suggest that the negative outcome in the FASTR trial may not be intrinsic

-		
Trial identifier	Treatment	Primary outcome(s)
NCT01839994	76–78 Gy vs. 50 Gy + 10 Gy × 2 (HDR	1. BCRFS at 3 years
Maria Sklodowska-Curie	or SBRT)	
Memorial Cancer Center <sup>a</sup>	Minimum of 3 months ADT	
NCT01985828	45–50.4 via EBRT + 7 Gy $\times$ 3 Boost,	1. BCRFS at 5 years
Advocate Health Care <sup>a</sup>	with 6-36 months ADT	
NCT02296229	8 Gy $\times$ 5 to prostate, $\pm$ 5 Gy $\times$ 5 to	1. BCRFS at 3 and 5 years
UCLA	lymph nodes	2. GU and GI toxicity by CTCAE
	9 months of ADT allowed	v4.03 at 4 months through 5 years
NCT01953055	8 Gy $\times$ 5 to prostate, 5 Gy $\times$ 5 to lymph	1. GU and GI toxicity by CTCAE
Sunnybrook "SATURN"	nodes	v4.03 at 3 months
NCT02229734	7 Gy $\times$ 5 to prostate	1. GU and GI toxicity by CTC at 1 year
FASTR 2	18 months of ADT	followup
NCT01664130	$7.25 \times 5$ with boost of $10 \times 5$	1. GU and GI toxicity by CTCAE
Cleveland Clinic	ADT allowed	v4.03 at 1.5–12 months
NCT02853110	7 Gy $\times$ 5 to whole prostate with	1. GU and GI toxicity by CTCAE
Utrecht "Hypo-FLAME"	10 Gy $\times$ 5 boost to visible lesion	v4.03 at 3 months

Table 1.5 Active clinical protocols for high-risk prostate cancer

<sup>a</sup>Protocols also allow for enrollment of patients with lower-risk disease

to an attempt to simultaneously perform SBRT to the prostate and the nodes. In support of this hypothesis, a recent dosimetric analysis pooling data from the FASTR study and a similar trial, the SATURN study, identified rectal dosimetry as a significant predictor of rectal bleeding [51]. This toxicity was much rarer in the SATURN study, which included the seminal vesicles in the lymph node volume (while the FASTR trial included the proximal 1 cm of the seminal vesicles in the 40 Gy volume).

Overall, SBRT for high-risk PCa, with or without nodal radiotherapy, is a promising treatment option but should remain investigational as data from the aforementioned trials mature.

#### 1.6 Conclusions

Technological advances and an appreciation for the unique radiobiology of PCa have in concert led to the successful adoption of SBRT as an effective and safe treatment option for patients with low- and intermediate clinically-localized PCa. The published results of multiple prospective studies and institutional experiences with follow-up in the range of 2–5 years have demonstrated BCRFS rates of 90–100% for low-risk PCa and 84–100% for intermediate-risk PCa, with average incidences of serious GI or GU toxicity (grade≥3 via RTOG or CTCAE) from 0.17-0.28% and 0.61-1.61% for acute and late effects, respectively. Published long-term data (i.e., follow-up >5 years) are limited, but preliminary results of a large consortium study with a median follow-up crossing 7 years indicate a similar efficacy and safety profile at later timepoints for both low- and intermediate-risk patients. These data strongly suggest that SBRT is an effective option not only for low-risk disease, but for intermediate-risk disease as well. For high-risk PCa, ongoing prospective studies indicate promising results, but the data are not yet mature enough to recommend treatment outside the context of a clinical trial. Published data do suggest that unexpectedly high toxicity may be seen with SBRT, but are likely to be related to technical factors associated with delivery or extremes of dose. While the outcomes of randomized trials comparing conventionallyfractionated or moderately-hypofractionated radiotherapy with SBRT are eagerly awaited, SBRT has manifested itself as an excellent treatment option for low- or intermediate-risk PCa.

#### Conflict of Interest

No conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### References

- Kishan AU, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27:268–78.
- 2. ASTRO: ASTRO Model Policy, 2013
- Network NCC. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology: prostate cancer (ed Version I.2016). 2015.
- 4. D'Amico AV, Whittington R, Malkowicz SB, et al. Biochemical outcome after radical prostatectomy, external beam radiation therapy, or interstitial radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. JAMA. 1998;280:969–74.
- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, et al. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67:1099–105.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: interim results of a prospective phase II clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73:1043–8.
- Lloyd-Davies RW, Vinnicombe J, Collins CD. The treatment of localised prostatic carcinoma. Clin Radiol. 1971;22:230–4.
- Lloyd-Davies RW, Collins CD, Swan AV. Carcinoma of prostate treated by radical external beam radiotherapy using hypofractionation. Twenty-two years' experience (1962–1984). Urology. 1990;36:107–11.
- Collins CD, Lloyd-Davies RW, Swan AV. Radical external beam radiotherapy for localised carcinoma of the prostate using a hypofractionation technique. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 1991;3:127–32.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, et al. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82:877–82.
- Wei JT, Dunn RL, Litwin MS, et al. Development and validation of the expanded prostate cancer index composite (EPIC) for comprehensive assessment of healthrelated quality of life in men with prostate cancer. Urology. 2000;56:899–905.
- Wiegner EA, King CR. Sexual function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results of a prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78:442–8.
- Katz AJ, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as treatment for organ confined low- and intermediaterisk prostate carcinoma, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:240.
- Katz AJ, Kang J. Quality of life and toxicity after SBRT for organ-confined prostate cancer, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:301.
- Katz A, Formenti SC, Kang J. Predicting biochemical disease-free survival after prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy: risk-stratification and patterns of failure. Front Oncol. 2016;6:168.

- Katz A. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: a ten-year analysis. Cureus. 2017;9: e1668.
- King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiother Oncol. 2013;109:217–21.
- Freeman D, Dickerson G, Perman M. Multiinstitutional registry for prostate cancer radiosurgery: a prospective observational clinical trial. Front Oncol. 2014;4:369.
- Kishan AU, Katz AJ, Mantz C, et al. Long-term outcomes of stereotactic body radiotherapy for lowand intermediate-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: a multi-institutional consortium study. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:84.
- Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, et al. Phase I doseescalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2020–6.
- 21. Kim DW, Cho LC, Straka C, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1-2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89:509–17.
- 22. Kim DW, Straka C, Cho LC, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: review of experience of a multicenter phase I/II dose-escalation study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:319.
- Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie XJ, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer-results from a multi-institutional clinical trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51.
- 24. Kotecha R, Djemil T, Tendulkar RD, et al. Doseescalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer: initial dosimetry analysis and patient outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95:960–4.
- 25. Bauman G, Ferguson M, Lock M, et al. A phase 1/2 trial of brief androgen suppression and stereotactic radiation therapy (FASTR) for high-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92:856–62.
- Kishan AU, Steinberg ML, Kupelian PA, et al. In regard to Bauman et al. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;93:1162–3.
- Yu JB, Cramer LD, Herrin J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer: comparison of toxicity. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1195–201.
- Halpern JA, Sedrakyan A, Hsu WC, et al. Use, complications, and costs of stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Cancer. 2016;122:2496–504.
- 29. King CR, Steinberg MS, Kupelian P. Perils of comparing toxicities between stereotactic body radiation and intensity-modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer on the basis of incomplete demographic registries. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3453.

- 30. Widmark A, Gunnlaugsson A, Beckman L, et al. Extreme hypofractionation versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for intermediate risk prostate cancer: early toxicity results from the Scandinavian randomized phase III trial "HYPO-RT-PC". Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 96:938–9.
- 31. Lee SW, Jang HS, Lee JH, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer patients with old age or medical comorbidity: a 5-year follow-up of an investigational study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2014;93:e290.
- Gelblum DY, Potters L, Ashley R, et al. Urinary morbidity following ultrasound-guided transperineal prostate seed implantation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;45:59–67.
- 33. Locke J, Ellis W, Wallner K, et al. Risk factors for acute urinary retention requiring temporary intermittent catheterization after prostate brachytherapy: a prospective study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;52:712–9.
- 34. Niehaus A, Merrick GS, Butler WM, et al. The influence of isotope and prostate volume on urinary morbidity after prostate brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64:136–43.
- 35. Janowski E, Chen LN, Kim JS, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with large prostates (≥50 cm<sup>3</sup>). Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:241.
- Blasko JC, Ragde H, Grimm PD. Transperineal ultrasound-guided implantation of the prostate: morbidity and complications. Scand J Urol Nephrol Suppl. 1991;137:113–8.
- 37. Wallner K, Lee H, Wasserman S, et al. Low risk of urinary incontinence following prostate brachytherapy in patients with a prior transurethral prostate resection. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1997;37:565–9.
- 38. Murthy V, Gupta M, Mulye G, et al. Early results of extreme hypofractionation using stereotactic body radiation therapy for high-risk, very high-risk and node-positive prostate cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2018;30:442–7.
- 39. Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with or without external beam radiation as treatment for organ confined high-risk prostate carcinoma: a six year study. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:1.
- Zelefsky MJ, Chan H, Hunt M, et al. Long-term outcome of high dose intensity modulated radiation therapy for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. J Urol. 2006;176:1415–9.
- Cahlon O, Zelefsky MJ, Shippy A, et al. Ultra-high dose (86.4 Gy) IMRT for localized prostate cancer: toxicity and biochemical outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71:330–7.
- 42. Morris WJ, Tyldesley S, Pai HH, Halperin R, McKenzie MR, Duncan G, Morton G, Murray N, Hamm J. ASCENDE-RT\*: a multicenter, randomized trial of dose-escalated external beam radiation therapy (EBRT-B) versus low-dose-rate brachytherapy (LDR-B) for men with unfavorable-risk localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:3.

- 43. Spratt DE, Zumsteg ZS, Ghadjar P, et al. Comparison of high-dose (86.4 Gy) IMRT vs combined brachytherapy plus IMRT for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2014;114:360–7.
- 44. Kishan AU, Shaikh T, Wang PC, et al. Clinical outcomes for patients with Gleason Score 9–10 prostate adenocarcinoma treated with radiotherapy or radical prostatectomy: a multi-institutional comparative analysis. Eur Urol. 2016;71:766–73.
- 45. Hsu IC, Bae K, Shinohara K, et al. Phase II trial of combined high-dose-rate brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy for adenocarcinoma of the prostate: preliminary results of RTOG 0321. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78:751–8.
- 46. Demanes DJ, Rodriguez RR, Schour L, et al. Highdose-rate intensity-modulated brachytherapy with external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer: California endocurietherapy's 10-year results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;61:1306–16.
- Hsu IC, Cabrera AR, Weinberg V, et al. Combined modality treatment with high-dose-rate brachytherapy boost for locally advanced prostate cancer. Brachytherapy. 2005;4:202–6.
- 48. Kishan AU, Lamb JM, Jani SS, et al. Pelvic nodal dosing with registration to the prostate: implications for high-risk prostate cancer patients receiving stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91:832–9.
- 49. Kishan AU, Fuller DB, Steinberg ML, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for high-risk prostate cancer: preliminary toxicity results of a phase 2 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 99:E248.
- 50. Mallick I, Arunsingh M, Prasath S, et al. Phase 1/2 study on stereotactic hypofractionated once-weekly radiation therapy for nonmetastatic prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 99:S156.
- Bauman G, Chen J, Rodrigues G, et al. Extreme hypofractionation for high-risk prostate cancer: dosimetric correlations with rectal bleeding. Pract Radiat Oncol. 7:e457–62.
- 52. Friedland JL, Freeman DE, Masterson-McGary ME, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy: an emerging treatment approach for localized prostate cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2009;8:387–92.
- Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for organ-confined prostate cancer. BMC Urol. 2010;10:1.
- 54. Katz AJ, Santoro M, Diblasio F, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: disease control and quality of life at 6 years. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:118.
- 55. Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Scremin E, et al. Imageguided stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: preliminary clinical results. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010;9:473–7.
- 56. Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Satariano N, et al. A singlecenter study of 100 consecutive patients with localized prostate cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. BMC Urol. 2013;13:49.

- 57. Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:84.
- Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, et al. CyberKnife stereotactic radiotherapy as monotherapy for low- to intermediate-stage prostate cancer: early experience, feasibility, and tolerance. J Endourol. 2010;24:865–9.
- Kang JK, Cho CK, Choi CW, et al. Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Tumori. 2011;97:43–8.
- 60. McBride SM, Wong DS, Dombrowski JJ, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: preliminary results of a multi-institutional phase 1 feasibility trial. Cancer. 2012;118:3681–90.
- 61. Jabbari S, Weinberg VK, Kaprealian T, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as monotherapy or postexternal beam radiotherapy boost for prostate cancer: technique, early toxicity, and PSA response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82:228–34.
- 62. Ju AW, Wang H, Oermann EK, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy as monotherapy for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:30.
- 63. Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:58.
- 64. Loblaw A, Cheung P, D'Alimonte L, et al. Prostate stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy using a standard linear accelerator: toxicity, biochemical, and pathological outcomes. Radiother Oncol. 2013;107:153–8.
- 65. D'Agostino G, Franzese C, De Rose F, et al. Highquality Linac-based stereotactic body radiation therapy with flattening filter free beams and volumetric modulated arc therapy for low-intermediate risk prostate cancer. A mono-institutional experience with 90 patients. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2016;28: e173–8.
- 66. Alongi F, Cozzi L, Arcangeli S, et al. Linac based SBRT for prostate cancer in 5 fractions with VMAT and flattening filter free beams: preliminary report of a phase II study. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:171.
- 67. Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol. 2014;4:279.
- Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Mardirossian G. Virtual HDR cyberknife SBRT for localized prostatic carcinoma: 5-year disease-free survival and toxicity observations. Front Oncol. 2014;4:321.
- 69. Macias VA, Blanco ML, Barrera I, et al. A phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for

low-intermediate-high-risk prostate cancer using helical tomotherapy: dose-volumetric parameters predicting early toxicity. Front Oncol. 2014;4:336.

- Macias VA, Blanco ML, Perez-Romasanta LA. Initial experience with stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer using helical tomotherapy. Clin Transl Oncol. 2014;16:380–5.
- Tree AC, Ostler P, Hoskin P, et al. Prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy-first UK experience. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2014;26:757–61.
- Rana Z, Hong RL, Abugideiri M, et al. Sexual, irritative, and voiding outcomes, following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2015;10:182.
- Jeong BK, Jeong H, Ha IB, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- to intermediate-risk prostate adenocarcinoma. J Korean Med Sci. 2015;30:710–5.
- 74. Fan CY, Chao HL, Huang WY, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy with CyberKnife in the treatment of locally advanced prostate cancer: preliminary results. Tumori. 2015;101:684–91.
- 75. Jackson WC, Dess RT, Litzenberg DW, Li P, Schipper M, Rosenthal SA, Chang GC, Horwitz EM, Price RA, Michalski JM, Gay HA, Wei JT, Feng M, Feng FY, Sandler HM, Wallace RE, Spratt DE, Hamstra DA. A multi-institutional phase II trial of prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) utilizing continuous real-time evaluation of prostate motion with patient reported quality of life. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2017;8:40–7.
- 76. Ricco A, Manahan G, Lanciano R, et al. The comparison of stereotactic body radiation therapy and intensity-modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer by NCCN risk groups. Front Oncol. 2016;6:184.
- 77. Miszczyk L, Namysl Kaletka A, Napieralska A, Wozniak G, et al. Cyberknife radioablation of prostate cancer—preliminary results for 400 patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2017;18:1007–13.
- Rucinska M, Kieszkowska-Grudny A, Nawrocki S. SHARP hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy is well tolerated in prostate cancer: toxicity and quality of life assessment. Strahlenther Onkol. 2016;192 (7):449–57.
- Koskela K, Palmgren JE, Heikkila J, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer—first Nordic clinical experience. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(7):978–83.
- Boyer MJ, Papagikos MA, Kiteley R, et al. Toxicity and quality of life report of a phase II study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12:14.
- Pontoriero A, Iati G, Mondello S, et al. High-dose robotic stereotactic body radiotherapy in the treatment of patients with prostate cancer: preliminary results in 26 patients. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2016;15 (1):179–85.
- 82. Kotecha R, Djemil T, Tendulkar RD, et al. Doseescalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with intermediate- and high-risk prostate

cancer: initial dosimetry analysis and patient outcomes. Radiat Oncol. 95:960-4.

- 83. Dixit A, Tang C, Bydder S, et al. First Australian experience of treating localised prostate cancer patients with CyberKnife stereotactic radiotherapy: early PSA response, acute toxicity and quality of life. J Med Radiat Sci. 2017;64(3):180–7.
- 84. King CR, Collins S, Fuller D, et al. Health-related quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer: results from a multiinstitutional consortium of prospective trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87:939–45.
- 85. Davis J, Sharma S, Shumway R, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: toxicity and biochemical disease-free outcomes from a multi-institutional patient registry. Cureus. 2015;7:e395.
- 86. Miralbell R, Molla M, Rouzaud M, Hidalgo A, et al. Hypofractionated boost to the dominant tumor region with intensity modulated stereotactic radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a sequential dose escalation pilot study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(1):50–7.
- Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as boost for organ-confined prostate cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010;9:575–82.

- Mercado C, Kress MA, Cyr RA, et al. Intensitymodulated radiation therapy with stereotactic body radiation therapy boost for unfavorable prostate cancer: The Georgetown University experience. Front Oncol. 2016;6:114.
- Oermann EK, Slack RS, Hanscom HN, et al. A pilot study of intensity modulated radiation therapy with hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) boost in the treatment of intermediate- to high-risk prostate cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010;9:453–62.
- Anwar M, Weinberg V, Seymour Z, et al. Outcomes of hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for intermediate and high-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11:8.
- Lin YW, Lin LC, Lin KL. The early result of whole pelvic radiotherapy and stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for high-risk localized prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:278.
- 92. Kim HJ, Phak JH, Kim WC. Prostate-specific antigen kinetics following hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy boost and whole pelvic radiotherapy for intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 13:21–7.



## Treatment Planning Considerations for Prostate SBRT and MRI Based Planning

Neelam Tyagi and Margie Hunt

#### 2.1 Introduction

Without question, external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer is in a period of rapid change and evolution. The radiotherapy community is witnessing a paradigm shift from conventional fractionation schemes with doses as high as 80-86 Gy and durations up to 9 weeks to hypofractionated approaches incorporating moderate (~2.5-4 Gy/fraction) to extreme (~6.5–9 Gy/fraction) fractionation [1–11]. Such techniques are gaining acceptance as being comparable to conventional fractionation both in terms of tumor control and toxicity. Furthermore, multiple trials are underway to determine the feasibility and efficacy of boosting dominant intra-prostatic lesions (DIL) using simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) techniques [12–16]. From a clinical standpoint, hypofractionated radiotherapy methods are an outgrowth of both the favorable radiobiological characteristics of prostate cancer [17-20] and patient convenience. However, without doubt, technological advances including image guided radiotherapy (IGRT) [21, 22], volume modulated arc therapy (VMAT) [23–26], magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for segmentation and planning [27–30], and anatomic modulators such as bio-absorbable

injectable rectal spacers [31–34] are what has made prostate hypofractionated treatment possible.

Of particular importance is the role of MRI in the simulation and planning for prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT). Although CT has been the mainstay of radiotherapy planning for nearly 40 years and will likely continue as such for the near future, the superiority of MRI's soft tissue contrast for target and normal tissue segmentation has been appreciated for some time. Multiple studies have demonstrated the value of MRI to visualize the prostate gland and dominant lesions for external beam radiotherapy planning [35–37]. Furthermore, many groups have shown that CT-based segmentations of the prostate are consistently larger (up to 30-40%) than those from MRI [38–40]. The smaller MR-based segmentations result from improved visualization of the prostatic apex and base as well as the tissue planes differentiating the prostate from surrounding soft tissues. Although a strong argument can therefore be made that incorporating MRI decreases over-segmentation of the prostate, a wider transition to combined CT-MRI methods has been hampered by concerns about segmentation errors introduced by mis-registration of the image sets and the changes to the shape and location of the soft tissues (e.g. bladder, rectum, seminal vesicles) inherent when acquiring multiple image sets. Furthermore, scanner-induced distortions of the MR

N. Tyagi (🖂) · M. Hunt

Department of Medical Physics, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: tyagin@mskcc.org; huntm@mskcc.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_2

images have led to concerns about the geometric fidelity of the images and its subsequent impact on target localization.

Fortunately, recent advances in MR scanner hardware and software are addressing most of these concerns. With modern scanners, geometric distortions are relatively small and can be sufficiently characterized so as to be manageable for many radiotherapy patients, including those undergoing prostate radiotherapy [41]. Even more significantly, recent improvements have led to the commercial availability of MR-based and MR-only simulation systems [41–44]. Similar to CT simulators, MR simulators include flat tabletops with indexing, external laser positioning systems (ELPS), MR-compatible immobilization and radiotherapy specific scanning protocols. Figure 2.1 shows an example MR simulator along with the radiotherapy-specific components.

Another crucial requirement for MR-only simulation and planning for prostate radiotherapy that has only recently become commercially available is the so-called "synthetic-CT" or

"pseudo-CT". A synthetic CT image is one created directly from an underlying base MR image using some method of tissue segmentation or classification and subsequent assignment of a CT or Hounsfield number which describes, with accuracy, the attenuation sufficient x-ray properties of the tissue. Generation of synthetic CT images has been an area of active research for many years, however recent progress has been spurred by the development of combined positron emission tomography (PET)/MR scanners for which a synthetic CT must provide the attenuation correction information required for accurate PET assessment. Synthetic CT images are, of course, also essential for MR-only planning because they provide electron density information for accurate dose calculation. Synthetic CT generation approaches can be broadly categorized into those that assign bulk electron densities to structures either manually segmented or obtained from multiple MR sequences to classify tissue types [45, 46] and those that use a patient atlas of paired CT and MR images and deformable



Fig. 2.1 MR simulator illustrating some of the radiotherapy-specific components such as external laser positioning system, flat table top with indexing and a coil bridge support

registration to assign CT numbers on a voxel-byvoxel basis to the MR image of a new patient [47, 48].

It is hopefully apparent that as a result of the advances described above, the radiotherapy community is now poised to transition to an era where MRI becomes the predominant imaging modality for segmentation and planning of prostate cancer. With this in mind, this chapter will focus on immobilization, simulation and planning for prostate SBRT, with an emphasis on MR-based techniques. Collectively with Chap. 5 (segmentation) and Chap. 4 (image-guided treatment delivery and motion management), the technical components of a SBRT prostate radiotherapy program are fully described. As with all radiotherapy, variations to the techniques described herein can be successfully applied and therefore, as appropriate, references to other methods are provided. The reader is also referred to the article by Clemente et al. [49] which provides a fairly comprehensive review of technical approaches for moderate and extreme hypofractionated prostate radiotherapy. When implementing SBRT for prostate cancer, it is important to remember that it is the cumulative effect of all aspects of the technical program that impacts the success of the clinical program. Therefore, the synergies and dependencies of different technical components (e.g. uncertainty in treatment delivery and margin definition) must be carefully considered and evaluated within the context of the entire program.

#### 2.2 Simulation and Image Acquisition

Particularly with hypofractionated SBRT treatment paradigms, consistency and adherence to procedures for pre-simulation activities, immobilization, and the acquisition of images is crucial so that the conditions necessary for successful treatment can be created at the time of simulation and reproduced at each treatment to the greatest degree possible.

#### 2.2.1 Pre-Simulation Considerations

The selection of a method to position and track prostate motion during treatment delivery is an important decision made prior to radiotherapy simulation since it may require the implantation of fiducials into the prostate gland. Implanted electromagnetic beacons [50–52] are incompatible with MR imaging for simulation and planning due to the creation of image artifacts and therefore, another method, such as implantation of gold seed fiducials, to aid image-based setup [53, 54] or track prostate motion during treatment [55] may be needed. In that case, preparation for SBRT radiotherapy may begin several weeks prior to simulation with the placement of three radio-opaque gold fiducial seeds (typically 3-5 mm in length and 0.9-1.2 mm in diameter) distributed evenly throughout the prostate (Fig. 2.2). Furthermore, the insertion of an anatomic modulator in the form of an injectable rectal hydrogel spacer [31, 32, 34, 56-58] should be considered to create distance between the anterior rectum and the prostate and reduce the rectal volume irradiated to the intermediate and high dose levels. Although additional outcome data are still needed, the use of a rectal spacer may significantly reduce the likelihood of high grade and acute rectal toxicity. A multi-institutional clinical trial [33] found that the injection of hydrogel into the prostate-rectal interface resulted in rectal dose reduction in more than 90% of patients. These results were observed even in the presence of significant variability in planning approaches and injection results across participating institutions. An analysis of the 12 month toxicity from this same trial [34] revealed a Grade 1 late GI toxicity rate of only 4.3%, no late Grade 2 or higher GI toxicity, and no evidence of ulceration, stricture or necrosis. The authors concluded that the use of the spacer was a safe and effective method for sparing the rectum from high radiation dose. Figure 2.2 demonstrates typical placement of a bio-absorbable gel to create a space of approximately 1 cm between the prostate and anterior

**Fig. 2.2** (Left panel) Suggested placement of gold seed fiducials (red circles) within the prostate to ensure optimal visualization for pre- and intra-treatment image-guided radiotherapy. Courtesy of Tomer Charas, M.D. (Right

rectal wall. When technically feasible, spacer placement can be offered to eligible patients at the same time as gold seed fiducial placement. The gel remains in the body for about 12 weeks which is sufficient time for SBRT simulation, planning and treatment, after which hydrolysis liquefies the implant, resulting in complete absorption.

Patient bowel and bladder preparation prior to simulation is an additional crucial first step in ensuring accurate planning and treatment delivery. At Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC), the goal is reproducible filling at simulation and each treatment session with the rectum being as close to empty as possible and the bladder being tolerably full. The standard pre-simulation preparation includes a bowel preparation of Metamucil<sup>®1</sup> (1 Tbsp/8 oz) for 7 days prior to simulation, Fleet<sup>®2</sup> enema 3 h before simulation, and optional Gas-X<sup>®3</sup> (two tablets the night before and the morning of simulation).

On the day of simulation, an initial evaluation of bowel evacuation is performed using a small number of CT or MR images. A rectal catheter is inserted to remove rectal gas if necessary. All SBRT patients are simulated and treated with a full bladder obtained by asking the patients to first void and then to drink one cup of water 45 min prior to their planned procedure. Patients continue with the Metamucil<sup>®</sup>, Fleet<sup>®</sup> enema and optional Gas-X<sup>®</sup>, as described above, daily throughout their course of SBRT.

#### 2.2.2 Immobilization

Immobilization is another important step in the SBRT treatment planning process. With the advent of image-guided radiotherapy however, the focus of immobilization has been directed more toward daily setup reproducibility and management of motion during treatment than on rigid immobilization to ensure accurate set-up based on skin marks at the start of the treatment session. Historically, several immobilization approaches have been successfully used for prostate cancer including thermoplastic molds and foam or





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Procter & Gamble Company, Cincinnati, OH 45202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>C.B. Fleet Company, Lynchburg, VA 24502.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> GlaxoSmithKline, Warren, NJ 07059.

vacuum bag body cradles [49]. These devices help to ensure reproducible initial positioning of the patient. Subsequently, daily image guidance (e.g. orthogonal kV radiographs and/or cone beam CT) must be used to ensure that the position of the prostate with respect to the isocenter is also accurate and within acceptable levels determined by the uncertainty of the image registration method [54, 59]. Without such a process, Algan et al. [60] demonstrated that the dosimetric impact could be underdosing of the prostate gland by 7% or more for conventional fractionation schemes and prostate margins of 5–7 mm (3–5 mm posteriorly).

At MSKCC, patients are simulated in a head first, supine position using a simple, flat custombuilt board that can be indexed to the couch top and an anterior solid thermoplastic mold that extends from approximately mid-abdomen to mid-thigh (Fig. 2.3). The mold closely conforms to the contours of the inner leg and a knee cushion is standardly used to provide additional stability. Such an approach may potentially provide an improved rectum-prostate configuration [61].

#### 2.2.3 Simulation Workflow 1: Primary CT Simulation with Secondary MR Imaging and Fusion

In this workflow, CT images are acquired from L1 to well below the ischial tuberosities and reconstructed at no more than a 2 mm slice thickness. Just prior to simulation, a Foley catheter is inserted to facilitate visualization and segmentation of the urethra. CT simulation is then followed by an MR session with the patient placed in his immobilization mold with an indexed flat tabletop, and initially positioned using ELPS. Anterior and posterior radiofrequency (RF) coils are both used for imaging. Particularly if the patient is immobilized with an open body mold, a coil bridge should be used so the patient's anatomy is not distorted by the anterior coil. Failure to do so has been associated with deformation of the anterior skin surface by up to 1.7 cm [62]. If, on the other hand, a sufficiently rigid immobilization mask is used (Fig. 2.3), the anterior coil can be placed directly on the immobilization mold itself with the added advantage of minimizing the distance between the coil and patient surface. If the MR scanner is equipped with a built-in posterior

**Fig. 2.3** Solid thermoplastic mold for SBRT prostate radiotherapy with cutouts for laser-based triangulation positioning



Immobilization mold

Fig. 2.4 Simulation setup in the CT and MR scanners for a multi-modality simulation workflow

spine coil, care must also be taken to use a flat table top that minimizes the distance between the coil and patient. Some newer scanners provide an option for a flat table that does not add distance between the patient and coil. Such a table serves as a replacement for the standard curved diagnostic table and is preferred to a curved table with a flat table top add-on.

Patient positioning should be as close as possible for both the CT and MR imaging sessions. Registration inaccuracies of more than 2 mm have been reported when MR images acquired with the patient in the diagnostic position are used for planning [63] and such a workflow is not recommended for SBRT planning. For a combined CT and MR simulation workflow, registration uncertainty can be further minimized by keeping the time between the CT and MR sessions as short as possible, thereby maximizing consistency of the bladder and rectal contents. If the patient must void between sessions or is otherwise unable to complete both CT and MRI on the same day, an attempt must be made to ensure consistent rectal and bladder filling for both imaging procedures. To further reduce inaccuracies and improve the MR simulation, Foley catheter usage during CT and MRI should also be consistent and glucagon administration during the MRI can be considered to minimize peristalsis and the associated motion artifacts. Prior to placing the

custom immobilization device on the patient during the MRI session, it is often helpful to first set the patient up using the ELPS to the reference marks from CT and then to assess patient straightening and bladder and rectal contents using a quick low resolution ( $5 \times 5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$ ) survey image set. Figure 2.4 demonstrates a typical patient setup on both the CT and MR simulators.

#### 2.2.3.1 Contouring Considerations When Using MR as the Secondary Imaging Modality

Secondary MR images for contouring must be of high quality and therefore should be acquired with a field-of-view (FOV) just sufficient to encompass the prostate, seminal vesicles and nearby normal tissues such as the bladder, rectum and penile bulb. A small FOV axial T2w MRI and fiducial identification sequence should be sufficient for this purpose (see Table 2.1). Because the prostate is much smaller on MR compared to CT, CT-MR fusion in the region of the prostate can be quite challenging and the use of stable landmarks that can be observed on both image sets, such as the fiducials, can be particularly helpful for this task (Fig. 2.5 top panel). It should be kept in mind that the seminal vesicles move independently of the prostate and their location may differ on CT and MR depending on rectum and bladder filling

Sequences	Coverage	Scan parameters
Sagittal T2 2D TSE (For soft-tissue contouring)	Skin-to-skin (AP) L5 to anal canal (SI) Middle of femoral heads (RL)	
Goldseed Axial 3D BFFE (For fiducial identification)	Covering prostate and seminal vesicles	
MRCAT Source MR Axial 3D FFE mDIXON (For synthetic CT generation)	Skin-to-skin (AP) Skin-to-skin (RL) L4 below to proximal femur (SI)	
Axial T2 small FOV 2D TSE (For soft tissue contouring)	Outer body (AP) Femoral heads (RL) L5 to anal canal (entire rectum) (SI)	
Coronal T2 2D TSE (For soft tissue contouring)	Middle of femoral heads (RL) Entire prostate, bladder neck, rectum (SI) Entire prostate, bladder neck, rectum (AP)	

 Table 2.1 MR simulation scanning guideline [64]

Abbreviations: TSE turbo spin echo, BFFE balanced fast field echo, FFE fast field echo)

[65, 66]. A larger CTV to PTV margin, especially for high risk patients, may therefore be needed around the seminal vesicles to encompass their position on both CT and MRI and ensure their inclusion within the high dose region. Questions often arise as to which structures should be segmented on MR when MR is used as the secondary imaging modality. Since, in such a workflow, CT is the primary imaging modality used for planning and image guided delivery, it is advisable to limit MR-based segmentation to the prostate and seminal vesicle target volumes and



**Fig. 2.5** (Top panel) Axial CT+MR fusion based on the implanted gold seed fiducials. Rectal spacer is clearly visible only on the MR. (Bottom panel) Sagittal CT+MR fusion for another patient illustrating contouring

other secondary structures such as the rectal spacer, penile bulb and urethra (if a Foley catheter is not used) which are clearly visible only on MR. Normal tissues such as the bladder, rectum and bowel should be segmented on CT (Fig. 2.5

#### 2.2.4 Simulation Workflow 2: MR-Only Simulation

bottom panel).

Because of changes in the anatomy (e.g. bladder and rectum filling) that can occur between the acquisition of two image sets and the ambiguity in contouring seminal vesicles, a workflow in

considerations when using MRI as the secondary imaging modality. Note the differences in the size and position of the tissues between the two studies

which MRI is the primary and sole imaging modality is preferred over a combined CT and MRI workflow. In addition to minimizing segmentation errors introduced by mis-registration between the CT and MR, an MR-only workflow improves efficiency by reducing the number of imaging sessions, and reduces cost and inconvenience to the patient [43, 64, 67, 68]. However, additional considerations apply to an MR-only workflow including the need to (a) characterize the MR scanner for a larger FOV to ensure images of high geometric fidelity, (b) define a process for MR-only simulation and isocenter marking, (c) commission synthetic CT images generated from single or multiple MR image sets for high geometric and dosimetric accuracy, (d) define MR acquisition and contouring guidelines and (e) commission a method to obtain 2-D digitally reconstructed radiographs (DRRs) and/or 3-D reference images from MR images with sufficient bone, soft tissue, and/or implanted fiducial visualization to guide image-based patient setup and treatment.

#### 2.2.4.1 MR Scanner Characterization and Routine QA for MR-Only Simulation

MR scanner characterization and imaging protocol requirements for radiation therapy simulation are different and more stringent than those for a diagnostic scanner and therefore, a radiation oncology-specific quality assurance program is needed [44]. Radiation therapy requires images of high geometric fidelity with high spatial and contrast resolution to delineate disease extent and nearby organs at risk. The geometric fidelity of MRI is often questioned due to distortions arising from the scanner (system-specific distortions) or from the patient themselves (patient-specific distortions) [69–71]. Modern MR systems have designed with tighter system level been distortions, primarily those relating to B0 inhomogeneity and gradient nonlinearity due to improved magnet design as well as higher order corrections of gradient non-linearity and high order shimming. For radiation therapy planning, a QA procedure for geometric fidelity operating within a FOV of  $\pm 50$  cm left-right,  $\pm 30$  cm superior-inferior and  $\pm 35$  cm anterior-posterior must be performed routinely to ensure that geometric distortion due to B0 inhomogeneity and gradient linearity do not exceed 2 mm. Patientspecific distortions of <1 mm have been reported for prostate patients and therefore, this is not a huge concern for MR-based planning [43].

MR simulators are also equipped with an external laser positioning system (ELPS) used to set up the patient to a specific location or to reference marks (skin tattoos) defined during CT simulation. The sagittal and coronal lasers help to evaluate and correct patient rotation. The ELPS are calibrated to send the patient directly to the scanner isocenter, similar to those on a CT

simulator. A daily laser QA procedure should be performed to ensure the laser positions and the distance between the external laser position and the MR bore isocenter are within tolerance. The acceptance criteria should be <2 mm. A daily ELPS QA and biweekly geometric fidelity QA program is in place at our institution as part of our MR-only workflow.

#### 2.2.4.2 MR-Only Simulation and Isocenter Marking

Although modern MR scanners can be equipped with an external laser positioning system, flat table top and coil bridge supports to perform MR simulation, there are additional requirements for MR-only simulation. These include a water bath in the vicinity of the MR scanner or the use of a slow dry mold for immobilization devices and an MR-compatible method for placing skin tattoos. It is important to note that allowing any immobilization mold to dry completely before imaging is necessary from an MRI safety perspective.

Unlike CT simulators, current MR simulation platforms do not provide virtual simulation capabilities for absolute isocenter marking. For MR-only simulation, a third party software such as MIM MAESTRO<sup>®</sup>,<sup>4</sup> or Eclipse<sup>TM</sup>,<sup>5</sup> can be utilized if desired. At our institution, patients have their immobilization device constructed in the CT simulator which provides the additional benefit of allowing us to place initial tattoos at that time, thus providing a relative isocenter to serve as the reference for the MR simulation. A pair of orthogonal CT scout images is also acquired for use during a later QA step during which the locations of the three implanted fiducial markers on the MR images are verified against the CT scout. Three MR-compatible radio opaque Beekley<sup>™6</sup> markers (BBs) are placed on the initial reference tattoos in MR so that they are visible on the large FOV images. These markers are later used to create an isocenter at the triangulation point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> MIM Software Inc. Cleveland, OH 44122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Varian Medical Systems, Palo Alto, CA 94304.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Beekley Inc., Bristol, CT 06010.

#### 2.2.4.3 Synthetic CT Generation

The lack of electron density information on the MR images is somewhat overcome by the use of synthetic CTs that are generated from these MR images. Various methods have been developed over the last few years to generate synthetic CTs from MR images for prostate radiotherapy. These methods can be broadly classified into:

- (a) Bulk density assignment methods: These methods rely on manual contouring of structures. They provide reasonable accuracy but are not practical for routine use. Dose differences greater than 2.5% to the target have been reported with this method [67, 72, 73].
- (b) Atlas-based methods: These methods rely on the generation of electron density maps from an atlas of co-registered CT and MR images. Large anatomical variation outside that captured in the atlas may compromise the accuracy of atlas based methods due to the limitations of deformable registration [47, 48].
- (c) Classification-based methods: These methods rely on the use of a single or multiple MR sequences to classify the tissue types [43, 45, 46, 74, 75], with the inclusion of a bone atlas to further guide the classification [75, 76]. Such methods are practical for routine use and not limited by variation between patient anatomies. Both atlas-based and classification-based methods have reported a dosimetric accuracy of less than 1% when compared to CT based plans.

In addition to the synthetic CTs developed by different research groups, there are also two commercial options available for clinical use of synthetic CTs. One of them is a classification-based method called MRCAT<sup>7</sup> or <u>MR</u> for <u>Calculating AT</u>tenuation which is limited to a Philips MR scanner [77]. The other method (MRIplanner<sup>8</sup>) is scanner independent and currently only CE

marked for clinical use in Europe [78]. Figure 2.6 shows an example case comparing synthetic CT, source MR and the original CT. Regardless of the synthetic CT method used, the synthetic CT images should be thoroughly commissioned for their geometric and dosimetric accuracy before using them clinically [43, 46, 78, 79]. Ideally, the synthetic CT generation method should be scanner and, if possible, sequence independent so that it could be widely adopted in the clinic. It goes without saying that the DICOM tags of the synthetic CTs must be configured and automatically set to indicate a "CT" imaging modality to allow for a streamlined export of the synthetic CT DICOM images to the treatment planning system (TPS) for dose calculation.

#### 2.2.4.4 MR Acquisition and Contouring Guidelines

MR images with sufficient soft tissue contrast are needed for contouring both target and normal structures for MR-only workflow. Ideally, for efficient MR-only simulation, a single MR series could be used to generate the synthetic CTs while also providing sufficient soft tissue contrast to contour the target, normal structures and fiducials. This is currently not possible and most institutions rely on multiple MR series to achieve this. Table 2.1 shows the MR scanning guidelines at MSKCC for MR-only simulation of the prostate using a Philips 3T Ingenia<sup>9</sup> MR scanner. Images are acquired in the following order to minimize the possibility of motion between the adjacent sequences: T2w sagittal, Goldseed visualization, Synthetic CT, T2w axial, T2w coronal. It should be remembered that the ELPS must be turned off prior to scanning as it may otherwise introduce an image artifact [42]. While the MR images are being acquired, an initial image quality assessment is done by the MR technologists to ensure sufficient quality for contouring and gold seed fiducial visualization. The MR technologists are instructed to repeat any acquisition during which significant observed. motion was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Philips Healthcare NA, Cleveland, OH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Spectronic Medical AB.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Philips Healthcare NA, Cleveland, OH.



Fig. 2.6 Example of a synthetic CT, synthetic CT source MR and actual CT of a prostate patient

Motion-induced artifact is currently the biggest technical limitation of MR-only simulation. The development of motion-robust sequences may overcome this challenge in the near future.

Since there are multiple MR datasets for contouring, there is a strong need for an organized workflow to streamline inter-sequence registration and generate automatic image layouts for physicians. The total time for MR simulation is approximately 25 min, during which movement of the prostate and slight changes to bladder and rectal filling can occur. At MSKCC, we have developed a MIM-based contouring workflow that allows us to automatically break the DICOM frame of reference between the MR series and perform initial inter-sequence registration before contouring. Our MR-only workflows also provide a significant advantage for contouring both target and normal tissue structures from a single imaging modality through the creation of these multi-image page layouts as shown in Fig. 2.7. Physicians contour the CTV (prostate and seminal vesicles), bladder, bladder trigone, bowel, urethra, rectum, and rectal spacer on axial T2 MR images. Fiducials are identified on the Goldseed sequence and femurs on the synthetic CTs. The workflow ensures that all contours are automatically saved on the synthetic CT even though segmentation is done on the MR images exclusively.



**Fig. 2.7** Example physician contouring layout for the MR-only workflow. The layout displays native axial, sagittal and coronal MRI to facilitate contouring. The

contours drawn on these MR images are automatically saved to the synthetic CT

#### 2.2.4.5 Planar and Volumetric IGRT Using MR Only

In addition to the dosimetric accuracy, geometric accuracy of synthetic CTs for patient positioning is also very crucial. Planar and volumetric IGRT for prostate patients is performed using 2D DRRs and 3D CBCT. The reference bony DRRs generated from synthetic CTs must be verified with respect to CT based DRRs and commissioned for clinical use [43, 79]. Patient positioning is also often performed based on implanted gold fiducials. An ideal MR sequence should display sharp signal void in the implanted fiducials and show excellent contrast between fiducials and prostate to facilitate an accurate localization of fiducials. Phantom experiments must be performed to verify that the uncertainty in fiducial marker localization due to susceptibility does not exceed the fiducial location identified on the CT ground truth. Table 2.1 shows an example of a 3D balanced fast field echo sequence on a Philips scanner where T1/T2 dependence of the sequence, a sharp signal void and susceptibility of implanted fiducials yields a distinct contrast between the fiducials and nearby anatomy. Figure 2.8 shows an example of AP and lateral DRRs generated from a synthetic CT and compared with the on-treatment radiographs. The fiducials on the synthetic CT are represented as ROIs and not synthetically generated, although it is also possible to generate the synthetic fiducials on the synthetic CT if one desires. 3D CBCTs are also matched to the reference synthetic CTs based on fiducials. At our institution, the physicians also use the reference planning image to ensure reproducibility of the bladder and rectal filling on the pre-treatment CBCT. If the bladder and rectum contrast is not sufficient on synthetic CTs, physicians can also load the synthetic CT source MR on the on-board imaging console or the Varian ARIA<sup>TM</sup> offline review module.

#### 2.3 General Planning Considerations for SBRT

With the advent of image guided radiotherapy (IGRT), volume modulated arc therapy (VMAT) and most recently, MR-guided or MR-based simulation, treatment planning for hypofractionated



Fig. 2.8 Example AP and lateral DRRs generated from synthetic CT compared to on-treatment radiographs. The fiducials on the planning DRRs are displayed as ROIs

prostate cancer has evolved toward smaller treatment volumes and margins and tighter dose conformality; attributes that diverge significantly from historical approaches for conventionally fractionated treatment paradigms. This evolution has been facilitated by several technological advances:

- 1. The incorporation of MRI into the planning process resulting, on average, in a 30–40% decrease in prostate CTV volume.
- A strong emphasis on patient bowel and bladder preparation applied consistently throughout the course of radiotherapy and the introduction of anatomic modulators (e.g. rectal spacer gels) to successfully implement smaller margins.
- The widespread adoption of volume modulated arc therapy (VMAT) to increase dose conformality and reduce overall treatment delivery time by up to 50–60%, thereby facilitating margin reduction since shorter times result in less motion.
- 4. The routine use of daily pre-treatment image guidance using orthogonal radiographs, daily cone beam CT (CBCT) or both, to reduce margins.

Programmatic focus on all of these radiotherapy process aspects (patient preparation, imaging, simulation, planning and treatment delivery) has allowed us to decrease our CTV-to-PTV margins over time from circumferential 10 mm with 6 mm at the prostate-rectal interface prior to daily pre-treatment IGRT, to circumferential 6 mm with daily IGRT, and most recently to circumferential 5 mm with 3 mm at the prostate-rectal interface for SBRT patients receiving MR simulation, pre-treatment and intra-treatment motion monitoring. If the pelvis will be treated, a 5 mm or larger margin should be considered for the nodal CTVs in recognition of the fact that image-guided setup is focused on the prostate itself and that suboptimal dosimetric coverage of the nodal volumes is possible for patients with large differences in their bony and fiducial registrations and/or bladder filling observed at pre-treatment imaging [80].

For a combined CT and MR workflow, the final plan as well as the DRRs are generated based on the planning CT using the MR-based contours (Sect. 2.2.3.1). In case of an MR-only workflow, plans as well as DRRs are generated using the synthetic CT as the primary image set. An automated workflow ensures that all contours including the fiducial ROIs are automatically saved on the synthetic CT for planning (Sects. 2.2.4.4 and 2.2.4.5).

#### 2.3.1 Volume Modulated Arc Therapy Planning for SBRT Prostate Radiotherapy

Volume modulated arc therapy (VMAT), whereby intensity modulated radiotherapy is delivered through a combination of dynamic
motion of the gantry and multileaf collimator and, often, simultaneous modulation of the dose rate has become a widely adopted planning and delivery method for prostate SBRT. Advantages include excellent dose conformality and reduced treatment delivery times which are important to reduce intra-treatment motion. Total in-room time and time from first beam on to last beam off with static field IMRT can exceed 15 and 10 min. respectively. With VMAT, these times can be reduced by approximately 40-50%. Several studies have compared dose distributions of static coplanar field intensity modulation (IMRT) and VMAT [24, 26, 81]. The study of 292 patients by Kopp et al. [81] is representative of the results in that it found that VMAT provided a higher level of conformality leading to decreases in high dose levels to the rectum and bladder. Bladder doses were lower at all volume levels evaluated while the volume of the rectum receiving intermediate doses was the same as IMRT but volumes receiving lower doses were higher. Doses to other evaluated normal tissues including the penile bulb and femoral heads were lower with VMAT, at least at selected volumes and/or dose levels.

VMAT dose distributions have also been compared to other methods used for prostate SBRT, most notably robotic radiosurgery (e.g. CyberKnife<sup>®10</sup>). In a study of eight patients comparing robotic radiosurgery, non-coplanar fixed field IMRT, and two commercially available VMAT methods, Seppala et al. [82], found higher target dose inhomogeneity and mean doses to the bladder and penile bulb with robotic radiotherapy but no significant difference in doses to the other normal tissues between any of the techniques. Dose conformality was best with one of the VMAT implementations and the VMAT techniques, in general, resulted in the lowest number of monitor units (MU). The conclusion of the study was that overall, the dosimetric differences between the techniques were small and therefore, accuracy and time required to deliver the treatment should be the dominant concerns when selecting a technique.

In the following sections, a brief overview of the VMAT planning process for prostate SBRT at MSKCC is provided.

### 2.3.1.1 Preparation for Planning and Generation of Optimization Structures

In addition to segmenting the target and organsat-risk (OAR) (Sects. 2.2.3.1 and 2.2.4.4), optimization control structures such as rinds or shells can be created and used to control the dose distribution, particularly the dose fall-off beyond the target, during optimization. Optimization control structures created from logical combinations or expansions of other structures (e.g. PTV-rectum overlap, Urethra plus 2 mm) are also extremely helpful for controlling dose fall-off, hot or cold spots in specific parts of the plan. When using nested structures for optimization, as is common with control shells or targets with different dose levels for simultaneous integrated boost plans, results are often better if a small gap is left between adjacent structures. Other optimization control structures may be necessary for cases requiring pelvic nodal irradiation, a cone down or boost to a portion of the prostate CTV, or for cases where external beam radiotherapy is being delivered after a brachytherapy implant. Table 2.2 provides a few examples of optimization control structures which can be helpful for prostate SBRT planning scenarios.

# 2.3.1.2 SBRT VMAT Planning for Intact Prostate Patients

Typically, two full 360° arcs are used for prostate SBRT which are directed from the clockwise and counterclockwise directions and use collimator angles offset by approximately 90° to provide additional degrees of freedom during optimization and to minimize tongue and groove effects. In the presence of hip prostheses, skip arcs which prevent direct beam entry through the prosthetic device can be considered. However, in such a scenario, IMRT with seven to nine fixed fields may still be particularly useful due to the ability to more carefully control the beam directions and dose entering through the prosthetic devices. By using asymmetric jaws, isocenter placement in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Accuray, Sunnyvale, CA.

Structure name	Structure definition	Structure purpose
PTV_Opt	Prostate PTV excluding OARs (PTV_Prostate not Rectum not Urethra not Bladder Trigone)	Control of PTV coverage
PTV_Bladder	Intersection of Prostate PTV and Bladder (PTV_Prostate <i>and</i> Bladder)	Control of PTV coverage and dose gradient between the PTV and bladder
Rind1	Axial expansion of PTV (PTV + 3 cm) <i>not</i> (PTV + 0.3 cm)	Control of dose falloff
Rind2	Axial expansion of Rind1 (RIND1 + 3 cm) <i>not</i> (RIND1 + 0.1 cm)	Control of dose falloff
Urethra_Ext	Axial and longitudinal expansion of Urethra (Urethra + 0.2 cm), Extend longitudinally beyond PTV by ~0.5 cm	Control of urethral dose

**Table 2.2** Examples of optimization control structures for SBRT radiotherapy of the intact prostate

the center of the prostate works well for the vast majority of prostate SBRT cases, including those requiring nodal irradiation. Most commercial treatment planning systems allow for the creation of field definition templates which define basic field parameters including arc length, gantry start and stop angles, and collimator angles. Scripting may provide for more automation at this step in the planning process such that with little effort, the initial treatment fields can be prepared.

In virtually all treatment planning systems, VMAT optimization is initiated from a template of dose and volume objectives and priorities for the targets and normal tissues. Typically, maximum, minimum and dose volume objectives are used for the target and OARs (rectum, bladder, penile bulb, femoral heads) which are quite similar to but not necessarily identical to the clinical criteria that will be used to evaluate the quality of the plan. Optimization control structures including rinds, shells or Boolean structures are typically applied with relatively light priority. Analytical methods for controlling dose fall-off outside of the target such as the normal tissue objective (NTO) are also often very helpful during optimization [83].

Figures 2.9 and 2.10 illustrate typical VMAT dose distributions for prostate patients with and without rectal spacers receiving 40 Gy in five fractions. A comparison of the dose volume histograms (DVHs) is given in Fig. 2.11. For both patients, MRI was used to define the prostatic target yielding CTV volumes of 128 and 94 cc. Excellent, highly conformal coverage of

the target and sparing of the rectum is possible in the presence of the rectal spacer which is clearly visible only on the MRI (Fig. 2.9). The loss of coverage at the prostate-bladder interface in this patient was a consequence of a dosimetric constraint placed on the dose to the bladder and bladder trigone. Coverage of the target is excellent as well for the patient without rectal spacer (Fig. 2.10) but at the cost of a higher dose to the rectum. Dose volume histograms of the PTV, rectum and bladder for both patients are compared in Fig. 2.11 demonstrating the advantage in rectal dose obtained with the spacer.

The current MSK criteria for evaluation of SBRT plans delivering 40 Gy in five fractions are provided in Table 2.3. For patients receiving slightly different fractionations, the absolute doses to the normal tissues are scaled up or down when clinically appropriate and physically possible. For example, for a fractionation of 37.5 Gy in five fractions, the PTV maximum dose and D95% criteria and the dose criteria for the rectum, bladder, skin, penile bulb and urethra are all proportionally lower than the 40 Gy criteria. However, the bowel doses are the same since at the time that we escalated the SBRT prescription from 37.5 to 40 Gy, clinical prudence dictated that the bowel criteria remain unchanged.

Similar criteria for evaluating plan quality have been developed by other institutions and cooperative groups. It should be remembered that dose volume metrics, structure segmentation and planning guidelines are interrelated and have often been developed from clinical practice over



**Fig. 2.9** Axial and sagittal VMAT dose distributions for a patient with a rectal spacer undergoing 40 Gy SBRT radiotherapy. The plan is shown on CT (top) and MR T2 (bottom) images. Structures indicated include the PTV

(yellow), CTV (green), rectal spacer (purple) and rectum (cyan). The colorwash isodoses range from 20 Gy (blue) to 40 Gy (red)

many years. As a result, the adoption of specific dose volume metrics such as those listed in Table 2.3 should only be done in the context of developing a larger program that evaluates all aspects of the planning process.

SBRT is also being used, although not yet as widely, for other scenarios including in combination with LDR or HDR brachytherapy, when treating the pelvic lymph nodes, and for salvage treatment after prostatectomy or initial radiotherapy. Although the doses, plan evaluation metrics and criteria are quite different from the prostateonly approach described above, other aspects of the planning approach are very similar, particularly with regard to the segmentation of targets, normal tissues, beam arrangement and optimization structures.

# 2.4 Future Developments in Prostate SBRT Simulation and Planning

# 2.4.1 Segmentation and Focal Dose Escalation of the Dominant Intra-Prostatic Lesion (DIL)

There continues to be intense interest in identifying men who would benefit from segmental or focal therapies targeting dominant or index lesions within the prostate in an effort to avoid overtreatment and limit urinary and sexual function toxicity. It is clear that local failures after external beam radiotherapy tend to occur at the site of the original index lesion providing



**Fig. 2.10** Axial and sagittal VMAT dose distributions for a patient without a rectal spacer undergoing 40 Gy SBRT radiotherapy. The plan is shown on CT (top) and MR T2

(bottom) images. Structures indicated include the PTV (yellow), CTV (green), and rectum (cyan). The colorwash isodoses range from 20 Gy (blue) to 40 Gy (red)



Fig. 2.11 Typical Dose Volume Histograms (DVHs) for the prostate planning target volume (PTV), rectum and bladder for patients with and without rectal spacers undergoing 40 Gy SBRT radiotherapy

Structure	Metric	Criteria
PTV	Mean dose	101–103% (Acceptable range)
	Maximum dose	42.8 Gy (Acceptable) 44 Gy (Limit)
	D <sub>95%</sub>	40 Gy (Ideal) 36.25 Gy (Limit)
	Minimum dose	33.7 Gy-34.4 Gy
Rectum	Max dose	≤41.2 Gy
	D <sub>1 cc</sub>	≤38.5 Gy
	Mean dose	13 Gy (Ideal) 16.4 Gy (Limit)
	V <sub>24 Gy</sub>	≤25%
	V <sub>30.15 Gy</sub>	≤8 cc
	V <sub>10 Gy</sub>	$\leq$ 52% (Guideline only)
Bladder	Max dose	42 Gy
	D <sub>10%</sub>	36 Gy
	D <sub>50%</sub>	20 Gy
Bladder trigone	Max dose	38 Gy
Urethra	Max dose	42 Gy
	D <sub>1 cc</sub>	40 Gy
Femoral heads	Max dose	31 Gy
	D <sub>10 cc</sub>	21.6 Gy
Skin	Max dose	32.4 Gy
Penile bulb	Max dose	40 Gy
	D <sub>3 cc</sub>	21.6 Gy
Large bowel	Max dose	29 Gy
Small bowel	Max dose	25 Gy

Table 2.3 MSKCC plan evaluation criteria for SBRT extreme hypofractionation regimen of 40 Gy in five fractions

justification for further dose escalation to that area [84, 85]. Several groups have evaluated the use of multi-parametric MRI imaging and intensity modulated external beam monotherapy to identify and boost the radiation dose to the dominant lesion [12–15, 86]. Four of these studies boosted the dominant lesion under a conventional fractionation paradigm with doses ranging from 80 Gy in 40 fractions to 95 Gy in 35 fractions. Aluwini et al. [86] used the CyberKnife technology to perform an extreme hypofractionated regimen of 38 Gy in four fractions to the entire prostate and a boost of up to 11 Gy (total dose = 49 Gy) to the MRI-identified dominant tumor. The study was comprised of 50 patients with dominant lesions identified in 14. Although the dosimetric constraints imposed in the study were achieved for most patients, 30% had minor deviations, highlighting the technical challenges in this aggressive approach. All investigators concluded however that boosting the dominant

lesion was technically feasible and resulted in toxicity profiles similar to those of whole-prostate conventional fractionation approaches.

Multi-parametric MR imaging has been the predominant imaging method evaluated for the purposes of differentiating tumor from surrounding normal prostatic tissue and segmenting the dominant lesions targeted for focal therapy. Specifically, T2-weighted imaging for localization based on anatomic visualization and diffusionweighted (DWI), perfusion (DCE) and spectroscopic MRI for localization based on functional characteristics have all been fairly extensively studied. Although spectroscopy exhibits good specificity, the spatial resolution remains inadequate for planning purposes and it is used infrequently. On the other hand, specificity and sensitivity can be improved by including the complementary information from a combination of T2, diffusion and perfusion imaging. Groenendaal et al. [87] have studied the congruence between tumor segmentations with diffusion and perfusion imaging using receiver operating curve (ROC) analyses and applying one or the other of the imaging sequences with multiple threshold values as the reference. Although excellent area under the curve (AUC) values were obtained for select patients, the average AUC value was only 0.6 with single imaging datasets, demonstrating a relatively low overlap between the two imaging methods and the possible advantage of using combined data.

Validation of MR-based localization through comparison with gold-standard pathology is technically challenging. Groenendaal et al. [88] segmented tumor tissue on T2, diffusion and perfusion imaging for five patients prior to prostatectomy and subsequently registered those delineations to tumor tissue delineated on the whole mount hematoxylin-eosin stained (H&E) sections. Congruence between the two methods was only 45–89% but addition of a 5 mm margin on the MR-based segmentations increased this to 85–100%. Only 2–3 mm of the MR margin was felt to be related to the MR-to-pathology registration uncertainty.

Several groups have pointed out the need to better understand the relationship between the parameters extracted from diffusion and perfusion imaging and the underlying structure and physiology of the prostate tissue. Doing so should strengthen our interpretation of the information provided by each and allow us to establish appropriate thresholds or other methods for classifying individual voxels as tumorous. Several studies have looked at the overall relationship between apparent diffusion coefficient and cell density within the prostate [89-92] with the results showing moderately correlations. strong Researchers from the University Medical Center Utrecht [93] investigated the voxel-level relationship between the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) and tissue features including cell density and presence of glandular tissue. They concluded that, at the voxel level, there exists significant heterogeneity of cell density and glandular tissue within normal prostate tissue and tumors that is reflected in the heterogeneity of the ADC map. Furthermore, for small tumors specifically, ADC values did not adequately reflect the histopathological features, perhaps due to partial volume effects, leading the authors to conclude that small tumors or parts of tumors might be missed on an ADC map.

In further recognition of the fact that T2, diffusion and perfusion imaging may be providing complementary information valuable for segmentation of the prostatic tumor, some groups are attempting to build quantitative models based on a voxel-level determination of tumor-bearing probability and to use those models to inform dominant lesion segmentation [36, 94–98]. For example, Groenendaal et al. [96] developed a logistic regression model using local statistics obtained from parameters from diffusion and perfusion imaging on 87 radiotherapy patients to predict tumor presence on a voxel level. After validation using prostatectomy patients, a method was also developed to stratify voxels into gross tumor volume (GTV), high risk clinical target volume (CTV) and low risk CTV based on tumor probability. Viswanath et al. [97] used texture features extracted from T2-weighted images. Dinh et al. [98] used over 30 features from multi-parametric MR, each patient's biopsy map and a population-based tumor probability atlas to create a model that was validated on a voxel level against pathology. Their results demonstrated an AUC of 0.78 when all features were combined and evaluated on patients from two institutions.

Although, as described above, the use of multi-parametric MRI alone or in combination with other features to automatically guide tumor segmentation for focal prostate radiotherapy is promising, it must still be considered investigational. Therefore, most ongoing clinical studies evaluating the role of focal irradiation of index lesions, are utilizing multi-parametric MR imaging with expert radiologist evaluation to define the tumor region [13, 14, 16].

At MSKCC, a Phase I study evaluating the feasibility of radiotherapy to the prostate and dominant intra-prostatic lesion using extreme hypofractionated, MR-guided SBRT is underway. The specific aims of this study are to assess the feasibility and toxicity of such treatment for



**Fig. 2.12** (Top panel) Axial and sagittal T2-weighted images and axial DWI ADC map for a patient undergoing extreme hypofractionated SBRT with a simultaneous boost to the intra-prostatic dominant lesion (DIL). (Lower panel) Coronal T2-weighted image and corresponding synthetic CT image with overlaid VMAT dose distribution designed to deliver 40 Gy in five

intermediate risk patients with a regimen that consists of 45 Gy in five fractions to the dominant lesion and 40 Gy to as much of the remaining prostate as possible given strict normal tissue constraints to the bladder, bladder trigone, penile bulb and neurovascular bundles. Several weeks prior to the simulation, the patient undergoes a single procedure during which gold seed fiducials and a rectal spacer are implanted to aid with later image-guided treatment delivery and reduction of the rectal dose. Patients then undergo multiparametric MR imaging and MR-only simulation as described in the previous sections. A radiologist and radiation oncologist jointly review the MR images to define the dominant lesion PTV and a VMAT plan is then developed using methods similar to those described in Sect. 2.3. At the time of treatment, patients are set up using on-board, fiducial-guided kilovoltage imaging.

fractions to the prostate and 45 Gy in five fractions to the DIL. The colorwash isodoses range from 30 Gy (blue) to 45 Gy (red). For all panels, the DIL and prostate and seminal vesicles are shown in yellow and orange, respectively. The PTVs for the DIL and prostate are shown in green and red

Correct positioning, bladder and rectal filling are confirmed with cone beam CT (CBCT) registered to the synthetic CT and/or source MR images. Simultaneous megavoltage and kilovoltage imaging during treatment is used to track the prostate position from the gold seed fiducials with treatment interruption if positional shifts of >1.5 mm/ 10 s are observed [55]. An example of MR images and the VMAT plan incorporating DIL irradiation for one patient is shown in Fig. 2.12.

# 2.4.2 Adaptive Planning and MR-Guided Treatment Delivery

As discussed earlier, the combined use of MR-only treatment planning and image guidance for patient setup and monitoring of motion during treatment has allowed us to decrease the margin

around the prostate target and facilitated extreme hypofractionated treatment approaches. Further technological progress in the near future will support on-line adaptive re-planning and MR-guided delivery. Dose delivery at each session will be able to conform to the prostate and normal tissue "position-of-the-day" and treatment delivery gated using real-time MR-guidance will ensure that the high dose region adheres to an increasingly tight margin around the target.

Several groups have investigated the feasibility of on-line adaptive prostate radiotherapy using approaches such as plan libraries [99, 100] and MLC segment shape and weight modification [101–105]. Plan library approaches generate a series of plans a priori to reflect the most likely anatomical configurations between the prostate and other relevant tissues including the pelvic lymph nodes, rectum and bladder. At each treatment session, the most appropriate plan is then selected for delivery based on a measure of similarity between the simulation and treatment image sets such as mutual information. Qi et al. [99] evaluated the dosimetric advantages that could be expected by being able to select at each treatment session from any of nine available plans designed to accommodate typical changes in the superior-inferior and anterior-posterior position of the prostate with respect to the pelvic lymph nodes. Compared to the typical approach which merely shifts the isocenter based on the daily image-guided setup, a library-based adaptive approach maintained coverage of the prostate but improved coverage of the pelvis. Although the dosimetric results with full online re-optimization were still better, an a priori plan library approach can potentially be implemented with fewer resources and/or changes to the record and verify system or linac treatment console. MLC segment modification approaches have been proposed that rely on deformable registration between the images acquired at simulation and treatment [101] or more simply, a comparison of the target structure outlines [105] to determine the information necessary to morph the MLC segments to better conform to the treatment day geometry. Such approaches can, in theory, more accurately account for rigid body translations and rotations and deformations than a plan library approach albeit with additional effort at the treatment machine.

Although approaches for adaptive radiotherapy have been proposed, clinical implementation has been lacking due to the challenges of providing robust and efficient software functionality on standard linear accelerators and the relatively poor image quality of cone beam CT (CBCT). With the advent of MR-guided radiotherapy delivery systems (MRgRT) however, these challenges are being addressed and on-line adaptive radiotherapy is becoming increasingly feasible [106]. The superior pre-treatment imaging afforded by MRgRT systems should ultimately facilitate daily plan adaptation not only to the position of the prostate but to the dominant lesion as well. MRgRT systems will also support gated delivery based on real-time imaging, thereby further mitigating dose delivery inaccuracies resulting from intra-treatment motion. In the first version of such a system, the ViewRay MRIdian<sup>11</sup> system is able to monitor motion in a sagittal plane at approximately 4 Hz, perform the necessary deformable image registration, segment the structure and gate delivery based on user defined thresholds combining distance and time criteria. Further development of such systems and their integration with MR-only simulation and planning workflows will most certainly be a major factor in the further adoption and advancement of adaptive hypofractionated SBRT techniques.

#### References

- Kupelian PA, et al. Short-course intensity-modulated radiotherapy (70 GY at 2.5 GY per fraction) for localized prostate cancer: preliminary results on late toxicity and quality of life. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;51(4):988–93.
- Yeoh EE, et al. Evidence for efficacy without increased toxicity of hypofractionated radiotherapy for prostate carcinoma: early results of a Phase III randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;55(4):943–55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> ViewRay, Oakwood Village, Ohio.

- Pollack A, et al. Dosimetry and preliminary acute toxicity in the first 100 men treated for prostate cancer on a randomized hypofractionation dose escalation trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64(2):518–26.
- Kupelian PA, et al. Hypofractionated intensitymodulated radiotherapy (70 Gy at 2.5 Gy per fraction) for localized prostate cancer: Cleveland Clinic experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68 (5):1424–30.
- Catton CN, et al. Randomized trial of a hypofractionated radiation regimen for the treatment of localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35 (17):1884–90.
- Arcangeli G, et al. Moderate hypofractionation in high-risk, organ-confined prostate cancer: final results of a phase III randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(17):1891–7.
- King CR, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: interim results of a prospective phase II clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73(4):1043–8.
- Alongi F, et al. Linac based SBRT for prostate cancer in 5 fractions with VMAT and flattening filter free beams: preliminary report of a phase II study. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:171.
- Qi XS, et al. Plan quality and dosimetric association of patient-reported rectal and urinary toxicities for prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2016;121(1):113–7.
- Koskela K, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer – first Nordic clinical experience. Acta Oncol. 2017;56 (7):978–83.
- Pasquier D, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic boost in intermediate risk prostate carcinoma: preliminary results of a multicenter phase II trial (CKNO-PRO). PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0187794.
- 12. Fonteyne V, et al. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy as primary therapy for prostate cancer: report on acute toxicity after dose escalation with simultaneous integrated boost to intraprostatic lesion. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(3):799–807.
- 13. Lips IM, et al. Single blind randomized phase III trial to investigate the benefit of a focal lesion ablative microboost in prostate cancer (FLAME-trial): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2011;12:255.
- 14. Ippolito E, et al. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy with simultaneous integrated boost to dominant intraprostatic lesion: preliminary report on toxicity. Am J Clin Oncol. 2012;35(2):158–62.
- Schild MH, et al. Early outcome of prostate intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) incorporating a simultaneous intra-prostatic MRI directed boost. OMICS J Radiol. 2014;3:4.
- Timon G, et al. Rationale and protocol of AIRC IG-13218, short-term radiotherapy for early prostate cancer with concomitant boost to the dominant lesion. Tumori. 2016;102(5):536–40.

- Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Fractionation and protraction for radiotherapy of prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(5):1095–101.
- Duchesne GM, Peters LJ. What is the alpha/beta ratio for prostate cancer? Rationale for hypofractionated high-dose-rate brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;44(4):747–8.
- Dasu A. Is the alpha/beta value for prostate tumours low enough to be safely used in clinical trials? Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2007;19(5):289–301.
- Nahum AE. The radiobiology of hypofractionation. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2015;27(5):260–9.
- Jaffray DA. Image-guided radiotherapy: from current concept to future perspectives. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2012;9(12):688–99.
- De Los Santos J, et al. Image guided radiation therapy (IGRT) technologies for radiation therapy localization and delivery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(1):33–45.
- Otto K. Volumetric modulated arc therapy: IMRT in a single gantry arc. Med Phys. 2008;35(1):310–7.
- 24. Palma D, et al. Volumetric modulated arc therapy for delivery of prostate radiotherapy: comparison with intensity-modulated radiotherapy and threedimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(4):996–1001.
- 25. Shaffer R, et al. Volumetric modulated arc therapy and conventional intensity-modulated radiotherapy for simultaneous maximal intraprostatic boost: a planning comparison study. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2009;21:401–7.
- 26. Zhang P, et al. Volumetric modulated arc therapy: planning and evaluation for prostate cancer cases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(5):1456–62.
- Khoo VS, Joon DL. New developments in MRI for target volume delineation in radiotherapy. Br J Radiol. 2006;79(1):S2–S15.
- Metcalfe P, et al. The potential for an enhanced role for MRI in radiation-therapy treatment planning. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2013;12(5):429–46.
- 29. Kupelian P, Sonke JJ. Magnetic resonance-guided adaptive radiotherapy: a solution to the future. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2014;24(3):227–32.
- McGee KP, et al. MRI in radiation oncology: underserved needs. Magn Reson Med. 2016;75(1):11–4.
- 31. Pinkawa M, et al. Application of a spacer gel to optimize three-dimensional conformal and intensity modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2011;100(3):436–41.
- 32. Pinkawa M, et al. Spacer stability and prostate position variability during radiotherapy for prostate cancer applying a hydrogel to protect the rectal wall. Radiother Oncol. 2013;106(2):220–4.
- 33. Song DY, et al. A multi-institutional clinical trial of rectal dose reduction via injected polyethyleneglycol hydrogel during intensity modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer: analysis of dosimetric outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87 (1):81–7.

- 34. Uhl M, et al. Absorbable hydrogel spacer use in men undergoing prostate cancer radiotherapy: 12 month toxicity and proctoscopy results of a prospective multicenter phase II trial. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:96.
- 35. McLaughlin PW, et al. Radiographic and anatomic basis for prostate contouring errors and methods to improve prostate contouring accuracy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(2):369–78.
- Ozer S, et al. Supervised and unsupervised methods for prostate cancer segmentation with multispectral MRI. Med Phys. 2010;37(4):1873–83.
- 37. Steenbergen P, et al. Prostate tumor delineation using multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging: interobserver variability and pathology validation. Radiother Oncol. 2015;115(2):186–90.
- Gao Z, et al. A study of prostate delineation referenced against a gold standard created from the visible human data. Radiother Oncol. 2007;85 (2):239–46.
- Rasch C, et al. Definition of the prostate in CT and MRI: a multi-observer study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(1):57–66.
- 40. Roach M 3rd, et al. Prostate volumes defined by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomographic scans for three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1996;35 (5):1011–8.
- Paulson ES, et al. Consensus opinion on MRI simulation for external beam radiation treatment planning. Radiother Oncol. 2016;121(2):187–92.
- 42. Glide-Hurst CK, et al. Initial clinical experience with a radiation oncology dedicated open 1.0T MR-simulation. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2015;16 (2):5201.
- Tyagi N, et al. Dosimetric and workflow evaluation of first commercial synthetic CT software for clinical use in pelvis. Phys Med Biol. 2017;62(8):2961–75.
- 44. Paulson ES, et al. Comprehensive MRI simulation methodology using a dedicated MRI scanner in radiation oncology for external beam radiation treatment planning. Med Phys. 2015;42(1):28.
- 45. Hsu SH, et al. Investigation of a method for generating synthetic CT models from MRI scans of the head and neck for radiation therapy. Phys Med Biol. 2013;58(23):8419–35.
- 46. Korhonen J, et al. A dual model HU conversion from MRI intensity values within and outside of bone segment for MRI-based radiotherapy treatment planning of prostate cancer. Med Phys. 2014;41 (1):011704.
- 47. Dowling JA, et al. An atlas-based electron density mapping method for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-alone treatment planning and adaptive MRI-based prostate radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(1):e5–11.
- 48. Chen S, et al. MR image-based synthetic CT for IMRT prostate treatment planning and CBCT image-guided localization. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2016;17(3):236–45.

- Clemente S, et al. Role of the technical aspects of hypofractionated radiation therapy treatment of prostate cancer: a review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(1):182–95.
- 50. Kupelian P, et al. Multi-institutional clinical experience with the Calypso System in localization and continuous, real-time monitoring of the prostate gland during external radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67(4):1088–98.
- Langen KM, et al. Observations on real-time prostate gland motion using electromagnetic tracking. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(4):1084–90.
- Quigley MM, Mate TP, Sylvester JE. Prostate tumor alignment and continuous, real-time adaptive radiation therapy using electromagnetic fiducials: clinical and cost-utility analyses. Urol Oncol. 2009;27 (5):473–82.
- Langen KM, et al. Initial experience with megavoltage (MV) CT guidance for daily prostate alignments. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62 (5):1517–24.
- 54. Crook JM, et al. Prostate motion during standard radiotherapy as assessed by fiducial markers. Radiother Oncol. 1995;37(1):35–42.
- 55. Hunt M, et al. Simultaneous MV-kV imaging for intrafractional motion management during volumetric-modulated arc therapy delivery. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2016;17(2):473–86.
- Hatiboglu G, et al. Application technique: placement of a prostate-rectum spacer in men undergoing prostate radiation therapy. BJU Int. 2012;110(11 Pt B): E647–52.
- Pinkawa M, et al. Quality of life after intensitymodulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer with a hydrogel spacer. Matched-pair analysis. Strahlenther Onkol. 2012;188(10):917–25.
- 58. Weber DC, et al. Intensity modulated proton and photon therapy for early prostate cancer with or without transperineal injection of a polyethylen glycol spacer: a treatment planning comparison study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(3):e311–8.
- 59. Ten Haken RK, et al. Treatment planning issues related to prostate movement in response to differential filling of the rectum and bladder. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1991;20(6):1317–24.
- 60. Algan O, et al. The dosimetric impact of daily setup error on target volumes and surrounding normal tissue in the treatment of prostate cancer with intensitymodulated radiation therapy. Med Dosim. 2012;37 (4):406–11.
- Steenbakkers RJ, et al. Impact of knee support and shape of tabletop on rectum and prostate position. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;60(5):1364–72.
- 62. Sun J, et al. Investigation on the performance of dedicated radiotherapy positioning devices for MR scanning for prostate planning. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2015;16(2):4848.
- Hanvey S, et al. The influence of MRI scan position on image registration accuracy, target delineation and

calculated dose in prostatic radiotherapy. Br J Radiol. 2012;85(1020):e1256–62.

- 64. Tyagi N, et al. Clinical workflow for MR-only simulation and planning in prostate. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12(1):119.
- 65. Mak D, et al. Seminal vesicle interfraction displacement and margins in image guided radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2012;7:139.
- 66. Gill S, et al. Seminal vesicle intrafraction motion analysed with cinematic magnetic resonance imaging. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:174.
- Lambert J, et al. MRI-guided prostate radiation therapy planning: Investigation of dosimetric accuracy of MRI-based dose planning. Radiother Oncol. 2011;98(3):330–4.
- 68. Korhonen J, et al. Clinical experiences of treating prostate cancer patients with magnetic resonance imaging-only based radiation therapy treatment planning workflow. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(2):S225.
- 69. Chang H, Fitzpatrick JM. A technique for accurate magnetic resonance imaging in the presence of field inhomogeneities. IEEE Trans Med Imaging. 1992;11 (3):319–29.
- Jezzard P, Balaban RS. Correction for geometric distortion in echo planar images from B0 field variations. Magn Reson Med. 1995;34(1):65–73.
- Baldwin LN, Wachowicz K, Fallone BG. A two-step scheme for distortion rectification of magnetic resonance images. Med Phys. 2009;36(9):3917–26.
- Eilertsen K, et al. A simulation of MRI based dose calculations on the basis of radiotherapy planning CT images. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(7):1294–302.
- 73. Kim J, et al. Dosimetric evaluation of synthetic CT relative to bulk density assignment-based magnetic resonance-only approaches for prostate radiotherapy. Radiat Oncol. 2015;10(1):239.
- 74. Kim J, et al. Implementation of a novel algorithm for generating synthetic CT images from magnetic resonance imaging data sets for prostate cancer radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91 (1):39–47.
- Siversson C, et al. Technical note: MRI only prostate radiotherapy planning using the statistical decomposition algorithm. Med Phys. 2015;42(10):6090–7.
- 76. Liu L, et al. A female pelvic bone shape model for air/bone separation in support of synthetic CT generation for radiation therapy. Phys Med Biol. 2016;61 (1):169–82.
- Köhler M, et al. MR-only simulation for radiotherapy planning. Philips White Paper. 2015.
- Persson E, et al. MR-OPERA: a multicenter/ multivendor validation of magnetic resonance imaging-only prostate treatment planning using synthetic computed tomography images. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(3):692–700.
- 79. Korhonen J, et al. Feasibility of MRI-based reference images for image-guided radiotherapy of the pelvis with either cone-beam computed tomography or

planar localization images. Acta Oncol. 2015;54 (6):889–95.

- Kishan AU, et al. Pelvic nodal dosing with registration to the prostate: implications for high-risk prostate cancer patients receiving stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91 (4):832–9.
- Kopp RW, et al. VMAT vs. 7-field-IMRT: assessing the dosimetric parameters of prostate cancer treatment with a 292-patient sample. Med Dosim. 2011;36(4):365–72.
- Seppala J, et al. Dosimetric comparison and evaluation of 4 stereotactic body radiotherapy techniques for the treatment of prostate cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2017;16(2):238–45.
- Wong C, Diamond KR. Optimization of Eclipse Radpiarc's normal tissue objective to determine a standard setting for use in post-prostatectomy radiotherapy treatnment planning. J Med Imag Radiat Sci. 2013;44(3):158.
- 84. Pucar D, et al. Clinically significant prostate cancer local recurrence after radiation therapy occurs at the site of primary tumor: magnetic resonance imaging and step-section pathology evidence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(1):62–9.
- 85. Arrayeh E, et al. Does local recurrence of prostate cancer after radiation therapy occur at the site of primary tumor? Results of a longitudinal MRI and MRSI study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(5): e787–93.
- 86. Aluwini S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:84.
- Groenendaal G, et al. Simultaneous MRI diffusion and perfusion imaging for tumor delineation in prostate cancer patients. Radiother Oncol. 2010;95 (2):185–90.
- Groenendaal G, et al. Validation of functional imaging with pathology for tumor delineation in the prostate. Radiother Oncol. 2010;94(2):145–50.
- Langer DL, et al. Prostate tissue composition and MR measurements: investigating the relationships between ADC, T2, K(trans), v(e), and corresponding histologic features. Radiology. 2010;255(2):485–94.
- Zelhof B, et al. Correlation of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance data with cellularity in prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2009;103(7):883–8.
- Gibbs P, et al. Correlation of ADC and T2 measurements with cell density in prostate cancer at 3.0 Tesla. Invest Radiol. 2009;44(9):572–6.
- Wang XZ, et al. Diffusion-weighted imaging of prostate cancer: correlation between apparent diffusion coefficient values and tumor proliferation. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2009;29(6):1360–6.
- Borren A, et al. Accurate prostate tumour detection with multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging: dependence on histological properties. Acta Oncol. 2014;53(1):88–95.

- 94. Liu X, et al. Prostate cancer segmentation with simultaneous estimation of Markov random field parameters and class. IEEE Trans Med Imaging. 2009;28(6):906–15.
- 95. Langer DL, et al. Prostate cancer detection with multi-parametric MRI: logistic regression analysis of quantitative T2, diffusion-weighted imaging, and dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2009;30(2):327–34.
- 96. Groenendaal G, et al. Pathologic validation of a model based on diffusion-weighted imaging and dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging for tumor delineation in the prostate peripheral zone. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(3): e537–44.
- 97. Viswanath SE, et al. Central gland and peripheral zone prostate tumors have significantly different quantitative imaging signatures on 3 Tesla endorectal, in vivo T2-weighted MR imagery. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2012;36(1):213–24.
- Dinh CV, et al. Multicenter validation of prostate tumor localization using multiparametric MRI and prior knowledge. Med Phys. 2017;44(3):949–61.
- 99. Qi P, et al. Offline multiple adaptive planning strategy for concurrent irradiation of the prostate and pelvic lymph nodes. Med Phys. 2014;41 (2):021704.

- 100. Chen LN, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: The Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:58.
- 101. Feng Y, et al. Direct aperture deformation: an interfraction image guidance strategy. Med Phys. 2006;33(12):4490–8.
- 102. Court LE, et al. Automatic online adaptive radiation therapy techniques for targets with significant shape change: a feasibility study. Phys Med Biol. 2006;51 (10):2493–501.
- 103. Fu W, et al. A cone beam CT-guided online plan modification technique to correct interfractional anatomic changes for prostate cancer IMRT treatment. Phys Med Biol. 2009;54(6):1691–703.
- 104. Mohan R, et al. Use of deformed intensity distributions for on-line modification of imageguided IMRT to account for interfractional anatomic changes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;61 (4):1258–66.
- 105. Ahunbay EE, et al. An on-line replanning scheme for interfractional variations. Med Phys. 2008;35 (8):3607–15.
- 106. Acharya S, et al. Online magnetic resonance image guided adaptive radiation therapy: first clinical applications. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94 (2):394–403.

# Organ Motion Considerations and Tracking During Prostate SBRT

Laura Happersett and D. Michael Lovelock

# 3.1 Introduction

The environment in which the prostate is located is spatially very dynamic; the varying volumes of stool and gas in the rectum, filling of the bladder and respiratory motion can all contribute to displacement of the prostate gland and seminal vesicles with respect to the bony pelvis. In particular, the use of the Calypso system with which electromagnetic transponders implanted into the prostate can be monitored in real time has revealed that the prostate may have a complex trajectory during the treatment session. For example, see the dynamic prostate trajectory in Fig. 3.1. Both slow drifts in position of more than 5 mm, and transient shifts of more than 10 mm lasting 20-30 s are commonplace. Average displacement also increases with time; Langen et al. [1] reported that 5 min after patient alignment, 16% of the 17 patients studied had displacements >3 mm, at 10 min the percentage had doubled. This is an important factor given the longer treatment times associated with SBRT.

The goal of accurate target positioning, both at pre-treatment setup and during treatment, via imaging or electromagnetic transponders, is to The use of image guidance has been reported to result in improved biochemical tumor control and reduced rectal toxicity in treatment using conventional fractionation [4]. It is assumed that this arises from the improved dose coverage to the target and a reduction in dose to the rectal wall. In the setting of prostate SBRT where target positioning is done only once prior to dose delivery, the time that elapses between the final pre-treatment imaging session and the beginning of dose delivery should be minimized [1, 5]. Such

3



<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_3

L. Happersett  $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$ . M. Lovelock  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

e-mail: happersl@mskcc.org; lovelocm@mskcc.org

reduce the uncertainty with which the target and possibly the critical structures are positioned with respect to the radiation isocenter. An immediate benefit is the reduction of the PTV margin required for target dose coverage. This results in lower dose to critical structures, making possible the planned increase in the biologically effective dose. Prostate positioning has traditionally been accomplished with skin marks, radiographic bony pelvis alignment, and more recently in prostate SBRT, alignment of implanted fiducial markers prior to treatment fraction. Using measured displacements of implanted fiducials, the PTV margins required using the van Herk formulation [2] have been estimated to be reduced from 4.5 to 4.3 mm in the SI and AP directions using only pre-treatment Image guided setup to 2.9 and 2.8 mm respectively when a single mid treatment intra-fractional correction is made [3].



**Fig. 3.1** Prostate motion during a treatment session. A Calypso trace of the target motion in the Ant/Post direction is shown. A tolerance of  $\pm 2$  mm in all directions was used. Therapists were instructed to halt the beam and correct couch position if the tolerance was exceeded. Evident is a slow drift in the anterior direction (750–900 s interval),

image-guidance has been achieved with various technologies, including volumetric imaging of the prostate [6], orthogonal radiographs of implanted fiducial markers [7], and electromagnetic transponders [1].

Given the higher dose per fraction, and tighter target margins associated with SBRT, the spatial accuracy of dose delivery is of key importance. The dynamic motion of the prostate during radiotherapy indicates that a single imaging procedure used to position the prostate prior to dose delivery may be insufficient. Intra-fractional monitoring and correction of the prostate position may be necessary. In the rest of this chapter, we review reports on the dosimetric benefit intra-fractional monitoring and correction. We define Manual Tracking as online monitoring with manual correction, and Dynamic Tracking as corrections made automatically via the MLC, couch or robot arm. Bowel preparation and other interventions taken to minimize prostate translations and rotations are also discussed.

### 3.2 Patient Setup and Preparation

#### 3.2.1 Prone Versus Supine Setup

Compared with supine setup, the prone setup position for prostate patients has been found to decrease the rectal wall average dose, and the V95 (volume of wall receiving at least 95% of the prescription dose), especially near the

and more rapid anterior shifts at 725 and 1100 s. The couch position was corrected twice between beams (A and B Triangles). The therapists also held the beam at 960 s because the SI tolerance was exceeded (not shown) but the mis-positioning resolved itself in a few seconds

seminal vesicles [8]. The use of real-time tracing of prostate position using electromagnetic transponders has revealed that although the average displacements are small, the supine position results in significantly less prostate respiratory motion in the AP and SI directions [9]. Patients are setup supine at MSKCC.

#### 3.2.2 Immobilization Molds

Immobilization molds, in use for many years in prostate patient setup, have been shown to reduce setup error, based on bony anatomy. Techniques generally include use of either vacuum lock or alpha cradle cushion placed under the patient, or an overlying thermoplastic sheet molded to the patient shape. Studies comparing these two methods have resulted in different conclusions. Malone et al. [10] all have shown the thermoplastic technique had less setup error compared to the vacuum lock cushion, while White et al. [11] had shown the opposite. Whichever method that is chosen, it is recommended that the device is be locked on the couch at the same index position for each treatment. This permits record and verify systems to alert therapists to possible setup errors.

#### 3.2.3 Bowel and Bladder Preparation

Bladder, rectal and bowel preparations are very important. Bladder filling during treatment will displace the prostate in the posterior/inferior direction, while the distension due to rectal gas can result in large rotation of the prostate. Although such patient preparations will not eliminate motion, they are expected to reduce the frequency of intra-fractional correction. The instructions given to the patient must not be too onerousness to cause noncompliance. In a review, Clemente et al. [12] report that the most frequent reported rectal and bladder conditions were full bladder and empty rectum. Instructions for bladder filling range from drinking 250 to 500 ml 1–2 h before treatment. Cramp et al. [13] reported the use of an ultrasound bladder scanner to quantify the rate of bladder filling after drinking. The results were used to generate patients with customized instructions on when to drink prior to treatment. Patients with individualized bladder instruction needed 17% less intervention post CBCT compared to those patients that were given a standard time. Ideally patients are treated with an empty rectum. Instructions given to patients at MSKCC are listed Table 3.1.

# 3.2.4 Effects of the Endorectal Balloon, an Immobilization Device, and Hydrogel Spacer on Prostate Motion

The use of an endorectal balloon (ERB) both helps to stabilize prostate position by pushing it anteriorly, thereby improving target coverage, and by displacement of the posterior rectal wall away from the high dose region, in part sparing this normal tissue. Researchers at UT Southwestern [14] report intra-fractional prostate AP motion to be about half that of earlier reports, and they attribute this to their use of an ERB. Other groups have reported that the daily use of an ERB reduced intra-fractional prostate motion in patients receiving RT with conventional fractionation. Using electromagnetic transponders, Smeenk et al. [15] observed large reductions in AP displacements with the use of an air-filled ERB. Both et al. [16] observed that with the use of a water filled ERB, prostate displacement still increased with time, but if treatment could be completed within 6 min, a 3 mm PTV margin would be feasible. We note however, that the ERB has not been found to reduce the need for image guidance [17, 18]. Nor has it been found to always reduce rectal dose [19]. A device that stabilizes the prostate position more directly has been developed; Nicolae et al. [20] have described a novel endorectal immobilization system developed in house consisting of a rectal probe that is fixed to the treatment couch. In a prospective study of 20 SBRT patients, they reported all pre to post treatment 3D shifts seen in CBCT scans to be less than 3 mm. More recently, hydrogel spacers have been used to increase the separation between the prostate and the anterior rectal wall. Picardi et al. [21] discuss the possible reduction in prostate motion as being analogous to the reduction due the presence of an ERB. In this analysis of 20 moderately hypofractionated patients, they found no significant difference in inter-fractional prostate motion.

#### 3.3 Dosimetric Benefits of Tracking

In a study of 28 patients planned with seven to nine IMRT fields with a posterior PTV margin of 3 mm, and 5 mm elsewhere, a study from the Duke Medical Center [22] found small dosimetric gains from tracking. Patients were treated to 37 Gy in five fractions and corrections were made only between beams. For the CTV, the

**Table 3.1** Instructions to prostate patients being treated with hypofractionated radiotherapy at Memorial Sloan

 Kettering Cancer Center

Bowel/	• Mix 1 rounded teaspoon of psyllium (Metamucil) powder in 8 ounces of water and drink every
Rectum	morning. Drink it 2 h before or 2 h after you take your other medications.
	• Do a Fleet enema 3 h before simulation and each treatment.
Bladder	• You will be treated with full bladder. In general, the steps are to void, then take 8 ounces of water 45 min before simulation and each treatment.

delivered dose distribution parameters Dmin, D99, and Dmean were all less than 1.4% lower than the planned, for the PTV, D1cc and D99 were within 0.2 Gy of that planned.

Eighty nine patients accrued to a prostate dose escalation protocol at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center [5] were treated to between 32.5 and 40 Gy in five fractions with beam arrangements and PTV margins similar to those used by Duke. Target position was monitored continuously using electromagnetic transponders; therapists were instructed to stop treatment and to correct the setup both between beams and during beam delivery if the displacement exceeded 2 mm in any direction. As in the Duke study, little prostate motion was found for the typical patient, and the PTV margins were adequate. However, by looking at the distributions of displacements that would have existed by the end of treatment had no corrections been made, it is evident that prostate motion occurred in a significant proportion of treatments. For approximately 18% of the treatment time, the target would have been at or beyond the tight 3 mm posterior margin. Similarly for anterior motion assuming the anterior rectal wall remained in contact with the posterior aspect of the prostate, the rectal wall would have been displaced  $\geq 3$  mm anteriorly into the high dose region 6.4% of the time. Dosimetric consequences of the intra-fractional corrections were estimated on a subset of patients by computing the dose distributions that would have been delivered had no corrections been made. Sixteen of 89 patients had beams that would have been delivered in part with a posterior target displacement of 4 mm or more. For these patients the delivered dose for the entire treatment course was computed by accumulating dose as a function of target position. For nine of these patients, the PTV D95 was less than 90% of the prescription dose. Thus approximately 10% of SBRT prostate patients in this protocol would have had a delivered dose distribution that would not have met the treatment planning coverage requirements if tracking had not been used. Improvements in dosimetric coverage metrics have also been reported in a multi-institutional Australian trial of prostate tracking during VMAT delivery,

although results are limited at this early stage [23, 24].

## 3.4 Monitoring and Tracking Techniques

#### 3.4.1 Electromagnetic Transponders

The Varian Calypso<sup>®</sup> system can monitor the position of the prostate gland in real-time by localizing three electromagnetic transponders implanted into the prostate. A radiolucent coil array positioned above the patient excites each of the transponders and their resonant response is detected by the array, allowing the positions to be determined with respect to the array. Localization with respect to room isocenter is achieved by continually monitoring the position of the coil array with respect to isocenter using a set of room mounted infra-red emitters and cameras. Using the transponders as a surrogate, the system updates the position of a target reference point, typically the isocenter, 15 times per second, thus monitoring is effectively continuous.

Transient shifts in position can be managed by setting tolerances in each direction on the displacement of the prostate from its planned position and automatically gating the dose delivery off when the displacement is exceeded [25]. When connected to the Varian Truebeam<sup>®</sup> treatment machine, the time between the target displacement exceeding the tolerance and the beam being gated off is less than 100 ms. Slow drifts are readily apparent to the therapists from the real-time display of prostate displacement. These can be corrected by the therapists stopping the beam if necessary, electronically transferring the Calypso generated couch correction from the Calypso system to the Linac, enabling the couch adjustment to be implemented on the Linac, and then restarting the beam. This can be done in about 30 s. A cautionary note: implanted Calypso transponders will produce a volume of null signal in MR scans several centimeters in diameter, precluding the use of MR imaging in followup. This factor needs to be incorporated into the clinical workflow [26].

#### 3.4.2 The Cyberknife

The Accuray Cyberknife<sup>®</sup> is unique in that it is the only commercially available treatment system that dynamically tracks the prostate during dose delivery [27], automatically correcting beam alignment in response to shifts or rotations in prostate position during dose delivery. The Linac, including the beam generation and collimation system is mounted on a large robotic positioning arm. The prostate position is monitored throughout treatment by acquiring orthogonal radiographs using dual in-room kV imagers. Triangulation of four implanted gold fiducial markers is used to determine rotations or translations of the prostate from its planned position. The Cyberknife system uses the robotic arm to reposition the beam to compensate. Imaging frequency is adjusted automatically depending on the motion observed. For prostate tracking, the initial frequency is once every 60 s, dropping to once every 5 s when necessary. The latest version of the Cyberknife, the M6 as illustrated in Fig. 3.2, is equipped with an MLC maximum aperture of  $10 \times 11$  cm, and is capable of dose rates up to 1000 MU/min. This maximum field size is large enough to make possible the selection of a single target point for prostate treatment. At the NYU Winthrop Cyberknife Center in New York, a typical SBRT prostate plan involves the use of a single target reference point, and 20 nodes, or non-coplanar robot positions. Each node has an individual fixed MLC aperture.

#### 3.4.3 The BrainLab ExacTrac Imaging System

The ExacTrac is an in-room mounted kV imaging system that can be added to a vault and is compatible with the major treatment machine vendors. It consists of dual kV imagers arranged such that they are orthogonal and the central axis of each imaging system is aligned with the radiation isocenter of the Linac. In order to minimize the blocking of the imagers lines of sight, the kV sources are offset from the plane of gantry. Prostate localization is done using implanted fiducial markers. Once a pair of radiographs is acquired, the system uses proprietary automatic 2D/3D registration software to determine the three translational and three rotational corrections needed to align implanted fiducial markers. The corrections can be manually applied to a robotic couch top. When the gantry position is within a few degrees of the 0, 90, 180 and 270, both kV imagers have clear lines of sight thus enabling the 6D registration. During a 360 VMAT delivery arc, there are

Fig. 3.2 The MLC equipped Cyberknife. The Linac mounted on the robotic arm with the MLC collimator attached. The inset shows one of the two ceiling mounted kV sources. The imaging panels are concealed below floor level. In the center background is the accessory console which holds the MLC, a circular collimator of variable radius and the fixed diameter cones. Image courtesy of NYU Winthrop Cyberknife Center in New York City



four opportunities for the therapists to determine prostate position and rotation. Additionally, a single image and resulting 2D registration, called Snap Verification, can be used to verify prostate position at any time. If used, this monitoring process has been estimated to significantly reduce necessary prostate PTV margins [28, 29].

# 3.4.4 Varian Intrafraction Motion Review (IMR)<sup>®</sup> and Auto Beam Hold (ABH)<sup>®</sup>

The Varian Truebeam<sup>®</sup> radiotherapy machine allows the kV imaging system to be deployed during IMRT or VMAT dose delivery. When equipped with the Advanced Imaging option, kV images can be acquired during treatment by triggering in several ways, such as by time interval or by gantry rotation interval. The outline of contoured or marker structures with user defined tolerance margins can be projected onto the kV images as they appear at the image reviewing screen during dose delivery. By carefully watching the radiographs, the therapists can visually check that the structure or fiducial marker in the image lies within the projected outline. Departmental guidelines must be setup that indicate when the therapist is to intervene and what tolerance margin to use. See Fig. 3.3 for an example and discussion of departmental procedures at MSKCC. Note that treatment has to be stopped, and an orthogonal image pair acquired to determine the 3D couch correction needed to return the target to its planned position.

Auto Beam Hold [30] is an extension of this functionality. When ABH is activated, the fiducial markers are localized within the image automatically, and if they fall outside of the tolerance, the dose delivery is gated off.



Fig. 3.3 A kV image acquired during a VMAT arc using intra-fractional Motion Review. Therapists visually inspect the images to ensure the implanted fiducial markers fall within the projected outline. At MSK, for prostate patients being monitored using IMR, structures are created by contouring each fiducial marker and expanding it 2 mm. kV images are acquired every  $20^{\circ}$  of gantry rotation for VMAT, or every 10 s for IMRT. If one fiducial marker moves outside of the contour for two consecutive kV images, the treatment is interrupted and an orthogonal kV pair taken. Once shifts are made the treatment is resumed

# 3.4.5 The Elekta Clarity<sup>®</sup> Autoscan Ultrasound System

The Elekta Clarity is an ultrasound (US) system that can provide real-time monitoring of the prostate position during dose delivery. An automated scanning transperineal US (TPUS) device mounted on the linac couch acquires images of the prostate during treatment. The position of the scanner is monitored in real-time with an in-room infrared tracking system, allowing the system to compute the prostate position with respect to isocenter. TPUS imaging has can provide a clearer image of the prostate than trans abdominal US because it is not shadowed by the pubic symphysis, reduces the concern of prostate displacement due to probe pressure and does not interfere with treatment delivery. A second Autoscan device is used to provide an intramodal reference image at the time of CT simulation. This registration process has been found to be quite accurate. In a study [31] comparing the intramodal US registration with CT-CBCT registration accuracy of patients implanted with fiducial markers, the mean discrepancies were all sub-mm. We note that at the time of writing, however, we could not identify reports of this interesting system being used to monitor and correct intra-fractional errors.

#### 3.4.6 Non-Commercial Systems

Neither the KIM project, nor the MV-kV project described below, are commercially available. They are, however, of particular interest because they make efficient use of standard equipment that many centers already have, that is a modern C-arm gantry Linac equipped with on-board kV and MV imaging. Such projects, if adopted by the equipment vendors and the radiotherapy community, would make possible the near real-time monitoring of prostate position during treatment, bringing the possibility of treatments with an improved therapeutic ratio to a larger number of prostate patients.

# 3.4.6.1 The Kilovoltage Intrafraction Monitoring (KIM) Project and the SPARK Trial

KIM operates by acquiring a set of kV images from the on-board imaging system as the gantry rotates during VMAT dose delivery. kV images are pulled from the imager in real-time by using a dedicated frame grabber and computer [23]. This frame grabber system picks off images being sent from the imaging system without affecting operation of the Linac. The implanted markers are localized within the plane of the image with in house software. The conversion of marker coordinates obtained from a rotating monoscopic 2D imaging system to the 3D marker trajectory in room coordinates system is based on the work of Paulsen [32]. In outline, the method requires prior information on the marker locations which could be obtained from a CBCT, or a shorter imaging arc of 120° taken just prior to treatment. From this prior information, 3D Gaussian probability distributions are generated for each marker. After each marker location is determined in the rotating 2D image, the 'depth' coordinate is calculated using a best match with the 3D PDF using a maximum likelihood estimator. The tracking accuracy has been verified clinically with a ten prostate patient prospective study [33]. Comparison of the KIM coordinates with coordinates generated by triangulation from simultaneously acquired orthogonal kV and MV images; the mean and standard deviation of the differences in 3D position were  $0.46 \pm 0.58$  mm.

The KIM process is also capable of tracking the target rotation. In a first-treatment report [23], the rotation was compared to that calculated using MV-kV triangulation. The mean and standard deviation of the difference in pitch was  $0.3 \pm 3.3^{\circ}$ . Rotation determined using the CBCT projections prior to beam delivery was corrected manually prior to treatment by the therapists if the rotation about any axis exceeded  $15^{\circ}$ .

The information from KIM can used to correct target positioning errors in real-time. In an earlier effort lead by Keall, a MLC leaf tracking technology was developed and implemented in the clinic using real-time target location from calypso transponders [24]. The leaf motion was modified dynamically to adapt to changes in target position as the dose was being delivered. More recently, the MLC tracking technology has been adapted such that it can be driven by the KIM signal [34]. In a prospective study of 15 prostate patients treated using conventional fractionation with VMAT arcs, intra-fractional shifts of prostate position were automatically corrected for in real-time by dynamic modification of the mlc leaf trajectories. Note that this was accomplished on a C-series Varian Linac with a modified MLC controller.

The KIM process is now being used in a prospective phase II multicenter trial for prostate patients in Australia. The SPARK (Stereotactic Prostate Adaptive Radiotherapy using KIM) trial will accrue 48 prostate patients who will receive SBRT [35]. Depending on the Linac type, prostate motion will be managed either by MLC tracking during the IMRT or VMAT dose delivery, or by couch correction. If couch correction is implemented, treatment is interrupted if the prostate is displaced by more than 2 mm for more than 5 s. A couch correction, determined using the KIM process, is applied. Tighter tolerances are allowed at the discretion of the treatment team. During MLC tracking, adjustment for prostate displacement is essentially continuous.

## 3.4.6.2 Simultaneous MV-kV Acquisition for Intra-Fractional Motion Monitoring: The MSKCC MV-kV Technique

The MSKCC MV-kV process [36] is a method to monitor 3D prostate position for SBRT prostate patients treated with VMAT arcs. As with KIM, this approach uses a frame grabber to pick off, in real time, images being acquired without affecting linac operation. The MV images are acquired at a frequency of a 9.5 Hz, while kV images are triggered at 20° gantry intervals. Short-arc digital tomosynthesis (SA-DTS) images centered on gantry angles orthogonal to the kV images are created to blur overlying and underlying anatomy and sharpen fiducial markers. These SA-DTS images are paired and registered to the corresponding kV image. To insure fiducial marker visibility on MV image, the leaf motion files generated by the Varian Eclipse<sup>®</sup> treatment planning system are modified. At gantry angles corresponding to triggered kV images, low dose MV imaging control points are inserted with MLC positions that are the identical to the previous treatment control point except for particular leaf positions that have been adjusted in order to expose one of the fiducial markers as shown in Fig. 3.4.

The imaging dose is subtracted from the treatment dose and the modified plans are recalculated in Eclipse<sup>®</sup> and renormalized to meet planning criteria. During treatment, an in-house program,



Fig. 3.4 Comparison of treatment control point to imaging control point. Prostate and fiducial markers are projected in cyan and red, respectively. (a) Treatment

control point—All three fiducial markers are blocked by MLC. (b) Imaging control point—MLC changed to expose one fiducial marker

Sequence-Reg, registers the kV and MV DTS image to reference images created from a 3D model of the fiducial markers. The accuracy of the MV-kV auto-registration [36] has been compared to manual registration; the mean deviations were between 0.12 and 1.4 mm. The shifts from the initial setup position of the day are displayed and plotted in real time as shown in Fig. 3.5. If the center of mass of the three fiducial markers tracks off by more than the user specified amount in any direction, for two kV image acquisitions, Sequence Reg gives an audio alarm to alert the therapists. The therapists then halt delivery, acquire an orthogonal 2D pair using the linac's software, correct the patient position, then resume treatment. Sequence Reg is used to monitor prostate position for the remainder of treatment. Currently at MSKCC, a tolerance of 1.5 mm is used. To date, over 100 hypo-fractionated prostate patients have been treated with this monitoring and correction procedure. It is now standard of care at MSKCC. This intra-fractional monitoring technique has the advantage in that the kV imaging dose is comparatively very low. In addition, it offers straightforward accurate method of registering two simultaneously acquired 2D image sets to obtain a 3D match. Note that this was accomplished on a Varian Truebeam<sup>®</sup> Linac.

#### 3.5 Summary

Although clinical data from prospective trials is sparse, the results can perhaps be summarized by noting that while measures of target coverage for the typical patient show only small improvements, there can be large improvements in coverage for patients who have atypical prostate motion. In the setting of SBRT, unusual prostate motion involving large displacements will not be 'averaged out' because the number of fractions is low. In effect, tracking makes the



**Fig. 3.5** Example of Sequence Reg used for monitoring: kV image on left and MV DTS image on right. Patient trace and shifts displayed. At approximately gantry angle 55, fiducial marker COM was out of tolerance for two

control points. Beam was turned off; MV-kV images on demand were taken. After shifts applied treatment was restarted and patient did not track off again clinical delivery process much more robust, with a much higher likelihood of delivering the planned dose distribution to all patients, including the those patients with outlier prostate motions. We have presented both commercial and developmental systems for prostate intra fractional monitoring and correction. If the necessary hardware is not available, periodic intra fraction imaging is encouraged and can still be incorporated into the workflow.

### References

- Langen KM, Willoughby TR, Meeks SL, Santhanam A, Cunningham A, Levine L, et al. Observations on real-time prostate gland motion using electromagnetic tracking. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(4):1084–90.
- van Herk M, Remeijer P, Rasch C, Lebesque JV. The probability of correct target dosage: dose-population histograms for deriving treatment margins in radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47(4):1121–35.
- Badakhshi H, Wust P, Budach V, Graf R. Imageguided radiotherapy with implanted markers and kilovoltage imaging and 6-dimensional position corrections for intrafractional motion of the prostate. Anticancer Res. 2013;33(9):4117–21.
- 4. Zelefsky MJ, Kollmeier M, Cox B, Fidaleo A, Sperling D, Pei X, et al. Improved clinical outcomes with high-dose image guided radiotherapy compared with non-IGRT for the treatment of clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(1):125–9.
- Lovelock DM, Messineo AP, Cox BW, Kollmeier MA, Zelefsky MJ. Continuous monitoring and intrafraction target position correction during treatment improves target coverage for patients undergoing SBRT prostate therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(3):588–94.
- Macias VA, Blanco ML, Perez-Romasanta LA. Initial experience with stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer using helical tomotherapy. Clin Transl Oncol. 2014;16(4):380–5.
- Teh BS, Paulino AC, Lu HH, Chiu JK, Richardson S, Chiang S, et al. Versatility of the Novalis system to deliver image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for various anatomical sites. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2007;6(4):347–54.
- Zelefsky MJ, Happersett L, Leibel SA, Burman CM, Schwartz L, Dicker AP, et al. The effect of treatment positioning on normal tissue dose in patients with prostate cancer treated with three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1997;37(1):13–9.
- Butler WM, Merrick GS, Reed JL, Murray BC, Kurko BS. Intrafraction displacement of prone versus supine

prostate positioning monitored by real-time electromagnetic tracking. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2013;14(2):4141.

- Malone S, Szanto J, Perry G, Gerig L, Manion S, Dahrouge S, et al. A prospective comparison of three systems of patient immobilization for prostate radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;48(3):657–65.
- White P, Yee C, Lee S, Lee C, Man N, Cheung Y. A comparison of two systems of patient immobilization for prostate radiotherapy. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9(1):29.
- Clemente S, Nigro R, Oliviero C, Marchioni C, Esposito M, Giglioli FR, et al. Role of the technical aspects of hypofractionated radiation therapy treatment of prostate cancer: a review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(1):182–95.
- 13. Cramp L, Connors V, Wood M, Westhuyzen J, McKay M, Greenham S. Use of a prospective cohort study in the development of a bladder scanning protocol to assist in bladder filling consistency for prostate cancer patients receiving radiation therapy. J Med Radiat Sci. 2016;63(3):179–85.
- 14. Foster R, Meyer J, Iyengar P, Pistenmaa D, Timmerman R, Choy H, et al. Localization accuracy and immobilization effectiveness of a stereotactic body frame for a variety of treatment sites. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(5):911–6.
- Smeenk RJ, Louwe RJ, Langen KM, Shah AP, Kupelian PA, van Lin EN, et al. An endorectal balloon reduces intrafraction prostate motion during radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(2):661–9.
- 16. Both S, Wang KK, Plastaras JP, Deville C, Bar Ad V, Tochner Z, et al. Real-time study of prostate intrafraction motion during external beam radiotherapy with daily endorectal balloon. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(5):1302–9.
- Hung AY, Garzotto M, Kaurin D. Minimal benefit of an endorectal balloon for prostate immobilization as verified by daily localization. Med Dosim. 2011;36(2):195–9.
- El-Bassiouni M, Davis JB, El-Attar I, Studer GM, Lutolf UM, Ciernik IF. Target motion variability and on-line positioning accuracy during externalbeam radiation therapy of prostate cancer with an endorectal balloon device. Strahlenther Onkol. 2006;182(9):531–6.
- Wong AT, Schreiber D, Agarwal M, Polubarov A, Schwartz D. Impact of the use of an endorectal balloon on rectal dosimetry during stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2016;6(4):262–7.
- Nicolae A, Davidson M, Easton H, Helou J, Musunuru H, Loblaw A, et al. Clinical evaluation of an endorectal immobilization system for use in prostate hypofractionated Stereotactic Ablative Body Radiotherapy (SABR). Radiat Oncol. 2015;10:122.
- Picardi C, Rouzaud M, Kountouri M, Lestrade L, Vallee JP, Caparrotti F, et al. Impact of hydrogel spacer injections on interfraction prostate motion during prostate cancer radiotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2016;55(7):834–8.

- Wu QJ, Li T, Yuan L, Yin FF, Lee WR. Single institution's dosimetry and IGRT analysis of prostate SBRT. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:215.
- 23. Nguyen DT, O'Brien R, Kim JH, Huang CY, Wilton L, Greer P, et al. The first clinical implementation of a real-time six degree of freedom target tracking system during radiation therapy based on Kilovoltage Intrafraction Monitoring (KIM). Radiother Oncol. 2017;123(1):37–42.
- 24. Keall PJ, Colvill E, O'Brien R, Ng JA, Poulsen PR, Eade T, et al. The first clinical implementation of electromagnetic transponder-guided MLC tracking. Med Phys. 2014;41(2):020702.
- 25. Bell LJ, Eade T, Kneebone A, Hruby G, Alfieri F, Bromley R, et al. Initial experience with intra-fraction motion monitoring using Calypso guided volumetric modulated arc therapy for definitive prostate cancer treatment. J Med Radiat Sci. 2017;64(1):25–34.
- 26. Zhu X, Bourland JD, Yuan Y, Zhuang T, O'Daniel J, Thongphiew D, et al. Tradeoffs of integrating real-time tracking into IGRT for prostate cancer treatment. Phys Med Biol. 2009;54(17):N393–401.
- King CR, Lehmann J, Adler JR, Hai J. CyberKnife radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: rationale and technical feasibility. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2003;2(1):25–30.
- Alonso-Arrizabalaga S, Brualla Gonzalez L, Rosello Ferrando JV, Pastor Peidro J, Lopez Torrecilla J, Planes Meseguer D, et al. Prostate planning treatment volume margin calculation based on the ExacTrac X-Ray 6D image-guided system: margins for various clinical implementations. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(3):936–43.
- 29. Shi C, Tazi A, Fang DX, Iannuzzi C. Study of ExacTrac X-ray 6D IGRT setup uncertainty for

marker-based prostate IMRT treatment. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2012;13(3):3757.

- Atkinson P, Chen Q. SU-F-P-30: clinical assessment of auto beam-hold triggered by fiducial localization during prostate rapidarc delivery. Med Phys. 2016;43(6):3364–5.
- 31. Li M, Ballhausen H, Hegemann NS, Reiner M, Tritschler S, Gratzke C, et al. Comparison of prostate positioning guided by three-dimensional transperineal ultrasound and cone beam CT. Strahlenther Onkol. 2017;193(3):221–8.
- 32. Poulsen PR, Cho B, Langen K, Kupelian P, Keall PJ. Three-dimensional prostate position estimation with a single x-ray imager utilizing the spatial probability density. Phys Med Biol. 2008;53 (16):4331–53.
- 33. Ng JA, Booth JT, Poulsen PR, Fledelius W, Worm ES, Eade T, et al. Kilovoltage intrafraction monitoring for prostate intensity modulated arc therapy: first clinical results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(5):e655–61.
- 34. Colvill E, Booth JT, O'Brien RT, Eade TN, Kneebone AB, Poulsen PR, et al. Multileaf collimator tracking improves dose delivery for prostate cancer radiation therapy: results of the first clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(5):1141–7.
- 35. Keall P, Nguyen DT, O'Brien R, Booth J, Greer P, Poulsen P, et al. Stereotactic prostate adaptive radiotherapy utilising kilovoltage intrafraction monitoring: the TROG 15.01 SPARK trial. BMC Cancer. 2017;17(1):180.
- Hunt MA, Sonnick M, Pham H, Regmi R, Xiong JP, Morf D, et al. Simultaneous MV-kV imaging for intrafractional motion management during volumetricmodulated arc therapy delivery. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2016;17(2):473–86.



Imaging and Anatomic Considerations for Prostate and Pelvic Organs Contouring

Tomer Charas, Alberto Vargas, and Michael J. Zelefsky

# 4.1 Introduction

Radiotherapy techniques are becoming more sophisticated and allow delivery of better radiation treatments with increased accuracy and precision. The ability to treat volumes more accurately is reliant on the radiation oncologist's ability to properly define and contour the volumes. Prostate cancer radiotherapy specifically poses a challenge as high doses of radiation are being delivered, and with the increasing interest in ultra-hypofractionated protocols, correctly defined target volumes and normal tissues becomes crucial. Currently, most oncological institutions use CT-based simulation and planning, and this chapter will include a section dedicated to the practical considerations for CT based contouring. MR imaging offer exquisite detail of the prostate and the male pelvis anatomy, and most of this chapter will focus on introducing the different structures needed to be recognized by the radiation oncologist using MRI for contouring. We aimed at providing useful information and helpful tips for successful contouring when treating prostate cancers with SBRT.

T. Charas  $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$ . Vargas  $\cdot M$ . J. Zelefsky

e-mail: fattomer@hotmail.com; vargasah@mskcc.org; zelefskm@mskcc.org

# 4.2 CT Based Contouring: Practical Considerations

CT based treatment planning has been the cornerstone in prostate radiotherapy treatments in the last decades, and today it remains the main modality in treatment planning. CT simulation includes acquisition of a set of images with electron density values that are used by the treatment planning systems for dose calculation, plan optimization and digitally reconstructed radiographs (DRRs) generation. An additional goal would be contouring the target and the organs at risk based on the detailed anatomy. The CT should be performed in a reproducible fashion, and provide accurate information about patient geometry and tissue composition. After CT images are acquired and delineation of volumes have taken place, dose calculation will be performed by using voxel-based electron density maps [1].

Prostate target and pelvic contours, based on CT scans have been published and widely accepted [2, 3]. Online tools are accessible [4, 5] and have been evaluated and found to allow contouring harmonization and allow assessment of radiotherapy centers [6].

When delineating the prostate and the surrounding tissues, MRI images are often used in parallel to CT images to provide better volume definition [7]. It is worthwhile noting that accurate outlining of the structures, especially the prostate, is difficult on CT due to its limited soft-tissue contrast.

Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_4

Several studies showed high variability in prostatic apex, prostatic base and the base of seminal vesicles delineation [8]. This variability can be considerable and was reported to be 1.5–9% for the same user (intra-observer) and even higher—10–18%, among different users (inter-observer) [9]. The correct definition of the target volume becomes increasingly important when new, sophisticated, more conformal treatments and higher doses are given; Hence the incorporation of MRI into the routine use of volume definition can greatly increase treatment quality.

# 4.3 Image Fusion

Intermodality registration of CT and MR images will allow the users to benefit from the highly detailed anatomy presented on MRI images, while facilitating treatment planning systems to function optimally using the CT acquired data. Compared with MRI, CT based user defined volumes overestimate prostate size by 35% [3]. CT-MRI image fusion-based treatment planning allows more accurate target volume identification in prostate cancer patients than CT alone. When fusing the image sets, a prostate-to-prostate local registration is recommended; registration of the pelvis (i.e, boney anatomy) may be insufficient due to external (positioning) or internal (bladder and bowel filling states) variations that are difficult to control and reproduce. Matching exact pelvic position is therefore not required, but should be approximated [10]. MRI fusion and MRI simulation techniques are discussed in detail in a different section of this book.

# 4.4 Equipment, Techniques and Protocols for MRI Imaging of the Prostate

Prostate MRI can be performed on 1.5 and 3 Tesla systems; most modern 1.5 Tesla systems provide sufficiently high image quality even without the use of an endorectal coil. A standard diagnostic prostate MRI protocol consists of the following sequences:

 Wide field-of-view (FOV) T1-weighted images without fat saturation from the aortic bifurcation through the pelvis allow for the evaluation of pelvic lymph nodes, the bony pelvis, and possible post-biopsy changes (e.g. hemorrhage) in the prostate gland.

- T2-weighted images with 3–4 mm slice thickness and a prostate-focused narrower FOV (i.e. 140–230 mm, depending on prostate size) in the axial, coronal, and sagittal planes provide the basic anatomic information at the high spatial resolution. As a time-saving alternative, T2-weighted images can be acquired as a three-dimensional axial sequence with reconstruction of coronal and sagittal images during post-processing. In contrast to many other oncologic MRI applications, fat-saturated T2-weighted sequences have no role in prostate MRI.
- Diffusion-weighted images (DWI) in the axial plane provide functional information about water diffusivity, which increases diagnostic precision.
- Dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE) sequences, which used to be routinely acquired, do not seem to increase the diagnostic precision over combined T2 + DWI sequences in the setting of untreated prostate cancer. For the evaluation of recurrent cancer (e.g. after surgery, radiation, focal ablation, or hormonal therapy), DCE sequences are essential as a diagnostic component and should be routinely acquired.

MRI simulation scans will include T2-weighted imaging with wide or narrow FOV, depending on the target to be treated (i.e pelvic lymph nodes or prostate only). For diagnostic MRI, artifacts caused by bowel motion can be reduced by using antiperistaltic medications (e.g. glucagon) or by bowel preparation (i.e, fleet enema), but this is not commonly done for MRI simulation.

# 4.5 Prostate Zonal Anatomy on MRI

The prostate is located in the pelvis and sits within the levator sling. The normal zonal anatomy of the prostate is best demonstrated on T2-weighted imaging (Figs. 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3). The main components, their locations, MRI appearance and relevant details are described in





**Fig. 4.2** T2WI of prostate midgland, axial view. Transitional Zone (T); Peripheral zone (P), bilateral; Capsule (green arrows); Obturator internus muscles, bilateral (O); Rectum (R); Inferior bladder wall (B); Levator ani muscles (purple arrows)





**Fig. 4.3** T2WI of prostate apex, axial view. Peripheral zone (P), bilateral; Capsule (green arrows); Obturator internus muscles, bilateral (O); Rectum (R); Levator ani muscles (purple arrows)

Table 4.1 Pr	ostate zones
--------------	--------------

		T2WI	Cancer	
Component	Location	appearance	arising (%)	Remarks
Central zone	Midline and posterior to the urethra,	Low signal	5-10%	
	base to midgland/verumontanum			
Transitional zone	Anterior, base to apex	Low signal	10-20%	Enlarged with BPH
Peripheral zone	Posterior, base to apex	High signal	70-80%	Half crescent appearance
Capsule	Surrounding the glandular stroma	Low signal	-	Thin band appearance

Table 4.1. Lateral to the prostate, the obturator internus muscles form the pelvic sidewalls.

### 4.6 MRI Prostate Contouring

MRI images provide a detailed anatomic presentation of the prostate and adjacent organs, with enhanced tissue contrast. This improved tissue definition has been shown to better match the target volume size, when compared to CT [11]. Patients with treated MRI-defined target volumes have been shown to have comparable outcomes, with similar PSA relapse-free survival and overall survival, but with reduced side-effects [12]. Here we will detail the approach to such MRIs. Where applicable, the discussed structure will include a table with the relevant borders and landmarks for contouring.

# 4.7 Helpful Tips for Prostate Gland Contouring on MRI

 Get familiar with the different appearance of the anatomical zones of the prostate. While this seem to be a trivial advice, even experienced physicians who are used to CT-basedcontouring, might find the abundance of details (i.e, zonal differences) confusing.

- Start contouring at mid-gland level where the gland is best visualized both on the lateral aspects and at the anterior-posterior aspects; commonly, at the midgland the capsule is easily defined.
- Avoid "over-contouring" on the lateral aspects, which may result in including the levator ani muscles, obturator internus muscles or venous plexuses.
- Use the sagittal and coronal planes to better define the apex and base of the gland; use "back and forth" approach—scrolling to previous and next images might help to better understand apex tapering inferiorly and base/ bladder neck borders.
- Avoid big changes between adjacent images/ cuts; The prostate is a smooth structure, and the contour should be the same. Dramatic differences between contiguous levels (usually 2–3 mm apart) may represent incorrect identification of structures.

#### 4.8 Seminal Vesicles

Positioned superiorly and laterally to the prostate gland, on T2WI these thin walled, fluid-filled tubules like organs will normally appear white or light grey (hyperintense) and will be usually well defined and easily contoured by the experienced radiation oncologist (Table 4.2). The Vas Deferens is located medially to the seminal vesicles (SVs) at their proximal end (closer to the prostate base) and will appear darker (hypointense) (Fig. 4.4). On MRI imaging the posterior aspect of the SVs is well visualized, and bordered by the mesorectal fascia (Figs. 4.4 and 4.5).

#### 4.9 Prostatic Urethra

The entire male urethra length is about 20 cm. It's proximal (posterior) part originates at the bladder neck (see below), ending at the external urinary sphincter (EUS, see below). It consists of a prostatic segment and a membranous segment (where the urethra transverse the urinogenital diaphragm). The distal (anterior) part continues as the bulbous urethra and the penile urethra, ending at the external meatus.

The prostatic urethra is the major component of the proximal urethra, beginning at the bladder neck (see below) and extends distally towards the urogenital diaphragm (see below). This segment of the male urethra, which is surrounded by the prostate, is rarely visualized on MR images unless a Foley catheter is placed [13]. On Axial images, the urethra is most commonly positioned centrally, but considerable variability exists. The authors recommend Foley insertion on simulation for accurate delineation of the urethra (Table 4.3).

#### 4.10 Bladder Neck

The bladder neck is the area described as the lower urinary bladder segment, immediately proximal to the prostatic urethra (Fig. 4.6). The bladder neck has been reported to be of an importance in RT related GU toxicity [14, 15].

Bladder neck contouring can be somewhat challenging due to several reasons: it is highly variable anatomically, it is not easily identifiable on axial views and it is not a true anatomical structure; Nonetheless, when CT based contouring was used, the researchers defined the bladder neck as a volume located 5 mm around the urethra immediately inferior to the catheter

Table 4.2 Borders and landmarks for seminal vesicles contouring

Border	Landmark for contouring	Remark
Anterior	Follow seminal vesicles outline	
Posterior	Follow seminal vesicles outline	Does not go beyond mesorectum
Lateral	Follow seminal vesicles outline	Avoid going into venous plexuses
Superior	Follow seminal vesicles outline	
Inferior	Inserts into the prostate base	Will include Vas Deferens medially



**Fig. 4.4** Seminal vesicles contour, Axial view. Presented from proximal (panel A) to distal (panel C). SVs (green). Note the medial location of the Vas Deferens (red arrows)

on the superior cut (Panel C). Both SVs and Vas Deferens are included in the volume as they join proximally

balloon and superiorly to the prostatic urethra [15]. MRI images allow better visualization and definition of the bladder neck, specifically at the bladder wall/prostate interphase, where the prostate base can be identified with glandular isointense signal, and the bladder wall will appear hypointense. As a rule of thumb, the authors use the anterior-posterior (AP) length of the prostate gland to define the bladder neck AP margins (see Table 4.4), best viewed on sagittal view (Fig. 4.7).

#### 4.11 Neurovascular Bundle

The neurovascular bundle (NVB) contains the cavernous nerves and the prostatic neurovascular supply prostate [16]. It lies along the posterolateral aspect of the PZ, bilaterally, at the 5 and 7 o'clock positions (Fig. 4.8).

The NVB is best visualized at mid-gland level (Figs. 4.9 and 4.10); More superiorly the vessels and nerves are often displaced anteriorly and form a "curtain" like distribution along the lateral aspect of the capsule (Table 4.5).

**Fig. 4.5** Seminal vesicles contour, Axial view. SVs (green). Note the tubular shape, hyperintense SVs. The contour does not include the bilateral venous plexuses (blue arrows), and it does not go posteriorly beyond the mesorectal fascia



Table 4.3	Borders	and	landmarks	for	urethra	contouring
-----------	---------	-----	-----------	-----	---------	------------

Border	Landmark for contouring	Remark
Ant/Post/Lat	Outer margin of the Foley	Hypointense on T2WI
Superior	Immediately below the bladder neck	
Inferior	Most superior aspect of the penile bulb	



Border	Landmark for contouring	Remark
Anterior	Anterior aspect of the prostate	
Posterior	Posterior aspect of the prostate	
Lateral	3–5 mm beyond the lateral aspect of the prostate	Commonly does not reach the lateral bladder wall proper
Superior	Include the entire bladder muscle layer	
Inferior	Above upper most prostate base cut	

Table 4.4 Borders and landmarks for bladder neck contouring



**Fig. 4.7** Bladder neck contour, sagittal view. Presented from right (panel A) to left (panel D). Bladder neck (red); Prostate and SVs as CTV (purple); Bladder (Yellow); Foley catheter balloon (indicated with F). Notice the

traversing Foley catheter creating a contour "separation". The bladder neck includes the entire muscular layer/wall, immediately superior to the prostate base



**Fig. 4.8** NVB illustration. *PZ* Peripheral Zone (blue area), *TZ* Transitional Zone (orange area); *U* Urethra (green area), *NVB* Neurovascular Bundle (purple)

# 4.12 Urogenital Diaphragm and External Urethral Sphincter

The urogenital diaphragm (UGD, often termed Genitourinary diaphragm) is a deep pelvic muscular layer, and while its actual definition is questioned by some researchers [17], this anatomical and radiographic landmark should be well recognized by radiation oncologists. The UGD components are the striated urethral sphincter muscles and the deep transverse perineal muscle, covered by the perineal fascia media [18] (Figs. 4.11 and 4.12). It has been noted that on CT scans the UGD tend to cause overestimation of the prostate gland size [19]. Recent evaluation of the UGD using MRI with endorectal coil demonstrated mean cranio-caudal length of 15.3 mm [20], longer than previously described, supporting the notion that properly identifying and contouring the UGD is challenging (Table 4.6).

The external urethral sphincter (EUS), which provides voluntary control of urine release into the distal (membranous) urethra, is made up from striated muscle fibers, originating from the inferior part of the ischiopubic ramus, and as they extend medially they surround the urethra, and insert on the other side [21]. From contouring perspective, the EUS should be contoured as a circular structure (Figs. 4.11 and 4.12).

#### 4.13 Anterior Fibromuscular Stroma

The anterior fibromuscular stroma (AFMS) is composed of fibrous tissue and muscular fibers, and is located, as its name implies, at the convex anterior external surface of the prostate, and is separated from the pubic symphysis by Santorini's venous plexus (draining the dorsal veins of the penis) and adipose tissue located in the Retropubic space (also known as Retzius' space). The AFMS is thicker at mid-gland level,

**Fig. 4.9** Neurovascular bundle contoured, axial view. Bilateral NVB (orange) at midgland level. Note the posterior aspect of the NVB is confined by the mesorectal fascia





Fig. 4.10 Neurovascular bundle indicated, axial view. Bilateral NVB (red arrows) at prostate base level. Note the lateral aspects of the NVB is confined by levator ani muscles

Table 4.5 Borders and Landmarks for neurovascular bundle contouring

Border	Landmark for contouring	Remark
Anterior	Posterolateral aspect of prostate capsule	Towards the prostate base might be positioned more anterolaterally, along the prostate capsule
Posterior	Mesorectal fascia	
Lateral	Levator ani muscles	
Superior	Prostate midgland/base	Not always visualized at the base
Inferior	Prostate apex	

and as it extends laterally it thins out; inferiorly it blends into the muscular fibers of the UGD. It is relatively low in signal intensity on T2WI [22]. It is important to note that the AFMS is not a true capsule component [23], and it might appear thicker in patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) [24] (Fig. 4.13, Table 4.7).

# 4.14 Penile Bulb and Bulbous Urethra

The penile bulb is well visualized on T2WI as a hyperintense, oval/drop-like midline structure, which is located immediately inferior to the UGD [25]. Due to reported relationship between erectile toxicities and radiation doses to the penile bulb, it is worthwhile considering contouring this

structure, and evaluating the planned dose to it. The bulb, which is the most proximal end of the Corpus Spongiosum, which is attached superiorly to the UGD (Fig. 4.14) (Table 4.8).

The distal (anterior) urethra consists of a bulbous segment and a penile segment. The bulbous urethra is located between the inferior margin of the UGD and the penoscrotal junction; it is a hypointense midline tubular structure within the bulb of the corpus spongiosum. The penile urethra extends from the penoscrotal junction to the external meatus. As with the prostatic urethra, sagittal and coronal T2WI views may assist in demonstrating the urethral course at the different segments.



**Fig. 4.11** Urogenital diaphragm, axial view. Presented from superior (panel A) to inferior (panel D). Prostate apex (orange); UGD (purple); external urethral sphincter

(Cyan). Note that panel B is immediately below the prostatic apex, panel C is 1 cm below the apex and panel D is immediately above penile bulb (not shown)



**Fig. 4.12** Urogenital diaphragm, sagittal view (panel A) and coronal views at 2 levels (panels B and C). Prostate (yellow); UGD (purple); external urethral sphincter (Cyan;

Penile bulb (indicated with P). Red lines on panel A indicate levels of coronal views of panels B and C

 Table 4.6
 Borders and Landmarks for urogenital diaphragm contouring

Border	Landmark For Contouring	Remark
Anterior	Pubic symphysis	Superiorly avoid including vessels in the retropubic space
Posterior	Rectum	
Lateral	Levator ani muscles/crus penis	
Superior	Prostate apex	
Inferior	Penile bulb	

# 4.15 Dominant Intraprostatic Lesion Contouring

While most commonly described by the radiologist using the PIRADS [26], the different aspects of dominant intraprostatic lesion (DIL) appearance on MR imaging should be recognized by the radiation oncologist. When using MRI based planning, the DIL must be properly incorporated into the CTV, and currently several clinical trials are assessing the role of increased dose to the DIL. It is also important to recognize that some DILs might abut the capsule, or present with radiographic extracapsular extension, as this might affect target definition.

Reviewing the entire PIRAD system is beyond the scope of this chapter, however, as presented below, assessing the T2 weighted imaging and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) for hypointensities can indicate a presence of a lesion (Figs. 4.15. and 4.16).



**Fig. 4.13** Anterior Fibromuscular stroma on axial and sagittal views. AFMS (red arrow); retropubic space (purple arrow); Rectal Spacer (RS, see Sect. 4.17). The AFMS

**Table 4.7** Borders and Landmarks for anterior fibromuscular stroma contouring

Border	Landmark for contouring	Remark
Anterior	Retropubic space	
Posterior	Prostate transitional zone	
Lateral	Lateral/anterior prostate capsule	
Superior	Bladder neck/bladder wall	
Inferior	Prostate apex	

# 4.16 Pelvic Lymph Nodes Contouring

Pelvic lymph nodes contouring on CT images have been detailed by different radiation oncology groups, including Radiation Therapy Oncology group (RTOG) [2] and Royal Marsden Hospital (RMH) [27]. Generally, for prostate cancer, the term "pelvic lymph nodes" will include the lymphatic chains lined along the main vessels, which drain the prostate and the prei-prostatic fat. These include the external and internal iliac vessels, presacral venous plexus and obturator vessels. Although most guidelines still use

appears as a capsular "thickening" anteriorly. The green line on the right panel represents level of axial view

boney anatomy landmarks, it is well recognized by most physicians that the vasculature anatomy may play a more critical role in defining the lymphatic target [28, 29], as the lymphatics are in close proximity to the vessels.

On MRI, the vessels are distinguishable from lymph nodes due to their different signal characteristics—vessels will have low signal on T2WI (as they contain fluids) while normal lymph nodes have somewhat variable signal on T2WI, but usually it is similar in intensity to parenchymal organ or muscle tissue. Normal (i.e, non- metastatic) periprostatic and presacral nodes are not routinely visible [30], so notable nodes are suspicious to be pathologic. As with CT definition, CTV will include the tissue surrounding the vessels, and will not include bowel, bladder, muscle or bone (Figs. 4.17 and 4.18).

#### 4.17 Rectal Spacer

Several forms of interventions trying to reduce rectal dose have been evaluated, including mechanically increasing the rectoprostatic space


**Fig. 4.14** Penile bulb on multiple views. Penile bulb (orange). Note on axial view (left panel) and the coronal view (bottom right) the crus of penis are on the lateral

aspects of the bulb. The bulb's anterior border is the most posterior aspect of the pubic symphysis, as can be seen on sagittal view (top right panel)

	Landmark For	
Border	Contouring	Remark
Anterior	Pubic symphysis	Contour until most posterior aspect of pubic symphysis; beyond that considered
		corpus spongiosum
Posterior	Rectum/anus	
Lateral	Crus penis	
Superior	UGD	
Inferior	Perineal fat	

Table 4.8 Borders and landmarks for penile bulb contouring

(Denonvilliers' fascia) by either injecting a rectal hydrogel spacer (SpaceOAR Augmenix, Inc, Waltham, MA, USA) or inserting and inflating a biodegradable balloon (BioProtect Balloon, BioProtect inc, Tzur Yigal, Israel) between the prostate and the rectum, or by the use of endorectal balloon, which is inflated in the rectal cavity, aiming at reducing rectal and prostate intrafraction motion [31]. SpaceAOR is currently the only Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved absorbable hydrogel, that has been shown to reduce rectal dose, toxicity and QoL declines after prostate RT [32]. The authors routinely use it for patients undergoing prostate RT. The rectal hydrogel is clearly seen on MRI as hyperintense on T2WI (Figs. 4.19 and 4.20). To note, on CT scans the rectal hydrogel is not well distinguishable from



**Fig. 4.15** Dominant Intraprostatic Lesion, axial views. T2 weighted imaging (left) with DIL indicated (red arrow) in the right posterior peripheral zone. Low signal is noted on DWI (right panel) in the same anatomical location



Fig. 4.16 Dominant Intraprostatic Lesion, multiple views. DIL (red) on T2WI on axial (left) sagittal (top right) and coronal (bottom right) views



Fig. 4.17 Pelvis at level of acetabular roof, axial view. Lymph nodes CTV (red); Bladder (Yellow); Rectosigmoid (green)



Fig. 4.18 Pelvis at superior level of femoral heads, axial view. Lymph nodes CTV (red); Bladder (Yellow); Rectosigmoid (green); Rectum (brown)



Fig. 4.19 Rectal hydrogel (SpaceAOR), sagittal and axial views. Spacer gel (light green). Note the measured distances between the prostate and the rectum created by the hydrogel, allowing dose reduction to the anterior rectal wall



Fig. 4.20 Rectal hydrogel (SpaceAOR), multiple views. Prostate and SVs (pink); Spacer gel (light green); Rectum (brown); Urethra (bold green)

the (anterior) rectal wall and the (posterior) adjacent prostate aspect.

#### 4.18 Summary

Prostate contouring on MRI requires understanding of the detailed pelvic anatomy and MRI techniques. Integrating MRI into prostate radiotherapy treatment planning allows for better target and organs at risk definition, more conformal radiation therapy treatments delivery and improved outcomes. MRI contouring requires profound knowledge, attention to details and clinical understanding. Radiation oncologists should become familiar with prostate MRI contouring as this challenging task is becoming widespread and more popular.

**Disclosures** Dr. Zelefsky serves as a consultant for Augmenix.

## References

- Aird EG, Conway J. CT simulation for radiotherapy treatment planning. Br J Radiol. 2002;75(900): 937–49.
- Lawton CA, Michalski J, El-Naqa I, et al. RTOG GU radiation oncology specialists reach consensus on pelvic lymph node volumes for high-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;74:383–7.
- Hentschel B, Oehler W, Strauß D, et al. Definition of the CTV prostate in CT and MRI by using CT–MRI image fusion in IMRT planning for prostate cancer. Strahlenther Onkol. 2011;187:183–90.
- Radiologists. The Royal College of Radiotherapy e-learning. [Online]. 2018. Available from: https:// www.rcr.ac.uk/clinical-oncology/specialty-training/elearning/radiotherapy-e-learning.
- RadOnc eLearning Center, Inc. FALCON Fellowship in anatomical delineation & contouring. [Online]. 2012. Available from: https://estro.educase.com/.
- Rivin Del Campo E, Rivera S, Martínez-Paredes M. Assessment of the novel online delineation workshop dummy run approach using FALCON within a European multicentre trial in cervical cancer (RAIDs). Radiother Oncol. 2017;124(1):130–8.
- Toroi P, Kaijaluoto S, Bly R. Patient exposure levels in radiotherapy CT simulations in Finland. Radiat Protect Dosimetry. 2015;167(4):602–7.
- Seddon B, Bidmead M, Wilson J, Khoo V, Dearnaley D. Target volume definition in conformal radiotherapy for prostate cancer: quality assurance in the MRC RT-01 trial. Radiother Oncol. 2000;56:73–83.

- Fiorino C, Reni M, Bolognesi A, Cattaneo GM, Calandrino R. Intra- and inter-observer variability in contouring prostate and seminal vesicles: implications for conformal treatment planning. Radiother Oncol. 1998;47:285–92.
- Ménard C, Paulson E, Nyholm T, et al. Role of prostate MR imaging in radiation oncology. Radiol Clin North Am. 2018;56(2):319–25.
- Rasch C, Barillot I, Remeijer P. Definition of the prostate in CT and MRI: a multi-observer study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(1):57–66.
- Sander L, Langkilde NC, Holmberg M, Carl J. MRI target delineation may reduce long-term toxicity after prostate radiotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2014;53(6):809–14.
- Hricak H, Carrington BM. The penis and male urethra. In: MRI of the pelvis: a text atlas. Norwalk, Conn: Appleton & Lange; 1991.
- Ghadjar P, Zelefsky MJ, Spratt DE. Impact of dose to the bladder trigone on long-term urinary function after high-dose intensity modulated radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88(2):339–44.
- 15. Hathout L, Folkert MR, Kollmeier MA, Yamada MY, Cohen G'a N, Zelefsky MJ. Dose to the bladder neck is the most important predictor for acute and late toxicity after low-dose-rate prostate brachytherapy: implications for establishing new dose constraints for treatment planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90(2):312–9.
- Park YH, Jeong CW, Lee SE. A comprehensive review of neuroanatomy of the prostate. Prostate Int. 2013;1(4):139–45.
- Dorschner W, Biesold M, Schmidt F. The dispute about the external sphincter and the urogenital diaphragm. J Urol. 1999;162(6):1942–5.
- Cèfaro A, Giampiero G, Domenico P, Carlos A. Delineating organs at risk in radiation therapy. 1st ed. Milan: Springer; 2013.
- McLaughlin PW, Evans C, Feng M, Narayana V. Radiographic and anatomic basis for prostate contouring errors and methods to improve prostate contouring accuracy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010; 76(2):369–78.
- 20. Taunk NK, Akin O, Pei X, Zelefsky M. Radiologic assessment of the genitourinary diaphragm using MRI with endorectal coil in men with localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90(1 Supplement):S206–7.
- Jung J, Ahn HK, Huh Y. Clinical and functional anatomy of the urethral sphincter. Int Neurourol J. 2012; 16(3):102–6.
- 22. Ward E, Baad M, Peng Y, Yousuf A, Wang S, Antic T, Oto A. Multi-parametric MR imaging of the anterior fibromuscular stroma and its differentiation from prostate cancer. Abdom Radiol. 2017;42(3):926–34.
- 23. Ayala AG, Ro JY, Babaian R, Troncoso P, Grignon DJ. The prostatic capsule: does it exist? Its importance in the staging and treatment of prostatic carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1989;13(1):21–7.
- 24. Rosenkrantz AB, Taneja SS. Radiologist, be aware: ten pitfalls that confound the interpretation of

multiparametric prostate MRI. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2014;202(1):109–20.

- Wallner KE. Penile bulb imaging. Int J Radiation Oncology Biol Phys. 2002;53(4):928–33.
- ACR. Prostate imaging Reporting and Data System. [Online]. 2015. Available from: https://www.acr.org/-/ media/ACR/Files/RADS/Pi-RADS/PIRADS-V2.pdf? la=en.
- 27. Harris VA, Staffurth J, Naismith O, et al. Consensus guidelines and contouring Atlas for pelvic node delineation in prostate and pelvic node intensity modulated radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015; 92:874–83.
- 28. Shih HA, Harisinghani M, Zietman AL, et al. Mapping of nodal disease in locally advanced prostate cancer: rethinking the clinical target volume for

pelvic nodal irradiation based on vascular rather than bony anatomy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;63:1262–9.

- Spratt DE, et al. Patterns of lymph node failure after doseescalated radiotherapy: implications for extended pelvic lymph node coverage. Eur Urol. 2017;71(1):37–43.
- 30. Hulse P, Carrington B. MRI manual of pelvic cancer. London: Taylor & Francis; 2004.
- Smeenk RJ, Louwe RJW, Langen KM, et al. An endorectal balloon reduces intrafraction prostate motion during radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;832:661–9.
- 32. Hamstra D, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(5): 976–85.



# Using Imaging to Design Dose Volume 5 Constraints for Target and Normal Tissue

Rosario Mazzola and Filippo Alongi

to Reduce Toxicity

# 5.1 General Aspects

The linear-quadratic model represents the basis for predicting the clinical effects of alternative fractionation schemes in radiotherapy. High fractionation-sensitivity seems to be an intrinsic property of prostate cancer [1]. From the clinical point of view, alpha/beta ratio of prostate cancer seems lower than that of dose limiting surrounding tissues (rectum, urinary bladder), allowing for safe dose/fraction escalation and improvement of the therapeutic ratio. The alpha/ beta ratio for rectum and urinary structures is usually assumed to be 3 Gy and 5-10 Gy, respectively [2]. Apart from radiobiological basis, two kind of imaging are of paramount importance to guarantee the accuracy and safety when delivering high daily doses as well as in stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Firstly, multimodality imaging could be useful for clinicians to personalize clinical to planning target volume margins, allowing a better sparing of the organs at risk, and subsequently a reduction of the radiation-induced toxicity. Secondly, on-board image-guidance enables the verification of the target volume location before the treatment assuring a daily verification of the setup of the patient and of the target position taking into account setup errors [3].

# 5.2 Imaging and Geometrical Uncertainties for Target Volume

In the majority of the available studies regarding stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer [4–22], the co-registration of computed tomography images with prostate magnetic resonance imaging was performed to define the target volumes and organs at risk.

The importance to adopt the magnetic resonance imaging to define prostate gland is crucial to reduce the geometrical uncertainties in the delineation process. Using only computed tomography, the delineated volume could be imprecise, due to the low organ discriminating power based solely on differences of attenuation coefficients and the restriction to acquire images only in the transverse plane [23]. On the other hand, magnetic resonance imaging can better characterize soft tissues by providing higher soft tissue contrast on T2-weighted images [24]. Magnetic resonance imaging can therefore show with more details the internal prostatic anatomy and

R. Mazzola

Department of Radiation Oncology, Sacro Cuore Don Calabria Hospital, Verona, Negrar, Italy e-mail: rosariomazzola@hotmail.it

F. Alongi (🖂)

Department of Radiation Oncology, Sacro Cuore Don Calabria Hospital, Verona, Negrar, Italy

University of Brescia, Brescia, Negrar, Italy e-mail: dott.filippoalongi@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_5

prostatic margins leading to more accurate delineations of prostate gland and subsequently improved target coverage [25, 26]. Of contrast, using computed tomography-based only delineation, three types of contouring errors with potential implications for planning target volume coverage can occur: definition of the gland apex, mid-gland and base regions of the prostate [27]. Studies have revealed that there are significant differences in prostate volumes estimated from magnetic resonance and computed tomography data. Roach et al. have shown that the Gross Tumor Volumes delineated on computed tomography images without contrast were 32% larger than those delineated on T1-weighted and T2-weighted fast spin echo magnetic resonance scans for prostate cancer [28]. The largest discrepancy was estimated in 7 mm (range 2-12 mm) between computed tomography and magnetic resonance, especially in the posterior region of the prostate. The prostatic apex was found to have the second largest discrepancy, averaging 4.5 mm (range 2–12 mm) [29].

Overall, despite the reduced inter- and intraobserver variability in magnetic resonance, computed tomography remains the modality for treatment planning calculation due to the lack of correlation between magnetic resonance voxel intensities and electron-density information. Computed tomography numbers are related to electron density values that are used in treatment planning to calculate dose to the patient and to correct for variations in tissue inhomogeneity by the calculation of a correction factor. Of contrast, using magnetic resonance there may be geometrical distortion due to magnetic field inhomogeneities, gradient non-linearities, susceptibility effects and chemical shifts [30].

# 5.3 Inter-fractions Prostate Deformation and Motion

Using multiple computed tomography scans, Deurloo and colleagues reported small shape variations along anterior–posterior direction ( $\sigma \leq 0.9$  mm) and negligible variations along lateral and longitudinal directions ( $\sigma \leq 0.5$  mm) [31, 32]. Larger shape variations was estimated for the seminal vesicles ( $\sigma \le 1.6$  mm). Prostate motion mostly depends by the rectal filling variations [32]. Quantitatively, vertical shift <3 mm at mid-posterior gland was observed in 90% of patients after 10 min and 2 min for, respectively, empty and full rectum.

Kerkhof et al. analyzed the potential impact of prostate deformation/shift by means of magnetic resonance in different rectal filling conditions [33]. An isotropic PTV margin of 4 mm from the prostate gland without seminal vesicles was considered. A significant increase in rectum D2 cc (mean: 8.3%; range: 2-15%) was observed depending on the rectal filling, while no significant reduction in target dose coverage (D95%) was detected. Therefore, for patients with empty rectum, if pre-treatment control with cone-beam computed tomography is performed and margins >4 mm for planning target volume are adopted, the prostate deformation could be considered negligible.

Of contrast, the rigid prostate model is inadequate when the target includes the seminal vesicles [31]. Generally, a negative correlation between the prostate and the seminal vesicles is observed for lateral rotations (pitch). This is likely determined by a full bladder condition, which pushes the seminal vesicles posteriorly and the prostate anteriorly [34].

#### 5.4 Intra-fraction Prostate Motion

The mean prostate displacement increases over the intra-fraction time, for both supine and prone position. In particular, for supine positioning, an additional margin of 2 mm every 5 min should be added to the posterior margin [35, 36]. However, Ballhausen et al., utilizing 4D perineal ultrasound, demonstrated that intra-fraction shifts are small in most of the fractions, resulting in planning target volume overestimation with unnecessary healthy tissue irradiation if non-personalized margins are adopted [37-39]. Fixed target volumes margins should be personalized based on typical treatment duration. Otherwise, as alternatives to fixed planning target volumes margins, tracking systems for

intra-fraction couch correction should be considered for those patients who exhibit frequent and substantial prostate shifts.

# 5.5 Imaging for Intraprostatic Lesion Boost

Magnetic resonance imaging can be used to improve treatment planning for prostate carcinoma by providing information that not only helps to more accurately delineation of the prostate and seminal vesicles, but also to define a sub-target within the prostate that can be treated to a higher dose. Intraprostatic lesions detected combining magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy potentially could benefit from the administration of a focused higher radiation dose. Aluwini et al. explored the feasibility of stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the magnetic resonance imaging-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer [4]. In all patients, four gold fiducials seeds were implanted in the prostate through ultrasound-guided trans-perineal pre-loaded needles. One week after fiducial implantation, computed tomography and magnetic resonance images were acquired. T1- and T2-weighted sequences were performed (1.5 T without endorectal coil) to elaborate the treatment plan after placement of a Foley catheter to delineate the urethra. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance images were matched on the markers and the Foley catheter. An integrated boost to the visible tumor at magnetic resonance imaging was planned up to 11 Gy/fraction which is 120% of the prescribed dose. Notably, in case of low-risk prostate cancer patient the visible tumor on the magnetic resonance was low.

In Table 5.1 are detailed the planning objectives and dose constraints adopted in the available studies on prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy.

### 5.6 Rectal Sparing

In stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer is crucial nearby organs sparing to guarantee acceptable safety profile. Some devices such as hydrogel spacers and endorectal balloons could reduce the rectal toxicity [3]. Spacers are injected into a perirectal space sitting between the Denonvilliers' fascia, anteriorly, and the rectal wall, posteriorly, in order to increase the distance between the prostate and the rectal wall, thus globally reducing the dose delivered to the rectum. The endorectal balloons is placed in the rectum and it is filled always with the same quantity of air of liquid: it obtains an immobilization of the prostate and a reduction of the dose delivered to the rectal wall (except for the anterior wall, which remains close to higher isodoses) at the same time. Both devices are visible at conventional morphological imaging for prostate gland.

In a dosimetric study [40] the increased nearmaximum target dose after spacer insertion was associated with improvements in both target coverage and rectal sparing. Additionally, some evidences showed that the use of endorectal balloons reduce prostate displacement [41, 42], although not all reports were able to confirm these immobilizing capabilities [43]. Some issues concerning the reproducibility of the endorectal balloons position are reported in the literature. A mean intrafraction shift of the anterior endorectal balloon wall of 1.8 mm (maximum: 7.2 mm) was estimated, in particular in the posterior direction [44]. Wang et al. reported random errors in balloon positioning of up to 4.5 mm and maximum variations in balloon diameter of 2.8 mm [45]. For all these reasons, endorectal balloon cannot replace image-guided procedures. Measures to correct positioning errors remain necessary in stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer [46]. In fact, setup uncertainties could affect the target volume coverage, potentially leading to under-dosages [46–51]. Clinical

Region of		
interest (ROI)	Constraints	Reference (author year [reference])
PTV	$V_{100\%} \ge 95\%; D_{max} < 150\%$	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$V_{100\%} \ge 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of 70–90%)	McBride et al. [5]
	$V_{100\%} \geq 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of 77–80%)	Kang et al. [11] and Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$V_{100\%} \geq 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of 88–92%)	Freeman et al. [13] and King et al. [6]
	$V_{100\%} \geq 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of $\geq \! 75\%$ )	Chen et al. [15], Arscott et al. [17], and Janowski et al. [19]
	$V_{100\%} \ge 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of 75–85%)	Oliai et al. [16]
	$D_{100\%} \ge 90\%$	Madsen et al. [8] <sup>a</sup>
	$V_{100\%} \ge 95\%; D_{max} \le 150\%$	Fuller et al. [18]
	$V_{100\%} > 95\%$	Lee et al. [21]
	$V_{95\%} > 99\%; D_{max} < 105\%$	Loblaw et al. [7]
	$V_{100\%} > 95\%$	Kim et al. [9] and Boike et al. [10] <sup>a</sup>
	$V_{95\%} > 95\%$	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
	$V_{95\%} > 95\%$ (prescribed at the isodose of 91–94%)	Ju et al. [20]
Rectum	$D_{max} \le 38$ Gy (anterior rectal wall); $D_{1 \text{ cm}}^{3} \le 32.5$ Gy (85% of the PD)	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$V_{36 Gy} < 1 cm^3$	McBride et al. [5] and Oliai et al. [16]
	ALARA; D <sub>max</sub> < 100%; D <sub>50%</sub> < 50%	Kang et al. [11]
	$ \begin{array}{l} V_{50\%} \leq 50\%;  V_{80\%} \leq 20\%;  V_{90\%} \leq 10\%;  V_{100\%} \leq 5\%; \\ V_{36 \ Gv} \leq 1 \ cm^3 \end{array} $	Freeman et al. [13]
	$V_{50\%} \le 50\%; V_{80\%} \le 20\%; V_{90\%} \le 10\%; V_{100\%} \le 5\%$	King et al. [6]
	$D_{5\%} \le 38 \text{ Gy} \text{ (mean 50 cm}^3)$	Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$V_{50\%} < 50\%; V_{75\%} < 25\%; V_{80\%} < 20\%; V_{90\%} < 10\%;$	Chen et al. [15] and Janowski et al. [19]
	$V_{100\%} < 5\%; V_{36 Gy} < 1 cm^3$	
	$V_{36 Gy} < 1 \text{ cm}^3$ ; posterior wall: $D_{max} \le 50\%$	Oliai et al. [16]
	ALARA	Madsen et al. [8] <sup>a</sup>
	$D_{max} \le 100\%$ ; rectal mucosa <sup>b</sup> : $D_{max} \le 75\%$	Fuller et al. [18]
	$D_{50\%} < 50\%; D_{100\%} < 5\%$	Lee et al. [21]
	$V_{28 \text{ Gy}} \le 40\%; V_{32 \text{ Gy}} \le 33\%$	Loblaw et al. [7]
	Anterior wall: $D_{max} \le 105\%$ ; lateral walls: $D_{3 cm}^{3} \le 90\%$ ; posterior wall: $D_{max} \le 45\%$	Kim et al. [9] <sup>a</sup> and Boike et al. [10] <sup>a</sup>
	$\begin{array}{l} D_{50\%} < 18.1 \ Gy; \ D_{20\%} < 29 \ Gy; \ D_{10\%} < 32.6 \ Gy; \\ D_{5\%} < 36.25 \ Gy; \ V_{36 \ Gy} < 1 \ cm^3 \end{array}$	Tree [2, 22]
	$\label{eq:V18} \begin{array}{l} V_{18\ Gy} < 35\%; V_{28\ Gy} < 10\%; V_{32\ Gy} < 5\%; \\ D_{1\%} < 35\ Gy \end{array}$	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
Bladder	$D_{max} \le 41.8 \text{ Gy}; D_{1 \text{ cm}}^{3} \le 38 \text{ Gy}$	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$V_{37.5 \text{ Gy}} < 5 \text{ cm}^3$	McBride et al. [5]
	$V_{37 Gy} < 5 cm^3$ ; $V_{100\%} < 10\%$ ; $V_{50\%} < 40\%$	Chen et al. [15] and Janowski et al. [19]
	$D_{10 \text{ cm}}^{3} \le 37 \text{ Gy}$	Oliai et al. [16]
	ALARA	Kang et al. [11]
	$V_{37 Gy} \le 10 cm^3$	Freeman et al. [13]
	$V_{50\%} < 40\%; V_{100\%} < 10\%$	King et al. [6] and Chen et al. [15]
	$D_{5\%} \leq 40 \text{ Gy}$	Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$D_{max} \leq 120\%$	Fuller et al. [18]
	$V_{32 \text{ Gy}} \le 40\%$	Loblaw et al. [7]
	Outer 5-mm wall: $D_{max} < 105\%$ ; $D_{10 \text{ cm}}^3 \le 18.3 \text{ Gy}$	Kim et al. $[9]^a$ and Boike et al. $[10]^a$
	$D_{40\%} < 18.1 \text{ Gy}; D_{10\%} < 36.25 \text{ Gy}; V_{37 \text{ Gy}} < 10 \text{ cm}^3$	Tree [2, 22]
	$D_{1\%} < 35 \text{ Gy}$	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>

 Table 5.1
 Constraints adopted in the available studies on prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy

(continued)

Region of		
interest (ROI)	Constraints	Reference (author year [reference])
Urethra	$D_{5\%} \leq 45.5 \; \text{Gy}; \\ D_{10\%} \leq 42 \; \text{Gy}; \\ D_{50\%} \leq 40 \; \text{Gy};$	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$D_{max} \le 45.6 \text{ Gy}$	
	$V_{49 Gy} < 10\%$	McBride et al. [5]
	$D_{5\% \text{ or } 2 \text{ cm}}^{3} \le 40 \text{ Gy}$	Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$V_{37 Gy} < 50\%$	Arscott et al. [17] <sup>c</sup> and Chen et al. [15]
	$D_{max} \leq 133\%$	Janowski et al. [19]
	$D_{max} \leq 120\%$	Fuller et al. [18]
	$D_{max} \le 105\%$	Kim et al. [9] <sup>a</sup> and Boike et al. [10] <sup>a</sup>
	ALARA	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
Femoral heads	$D_{max} \le 24 \text{ Gy}$	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$V_{40\%} < 5\%$	King et al. [6]
	$D_{25\%} \leq 25 \text{ Gy}$	Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$V_{14.5 Gy} < 5\%$	Tree [2, 22]
	ALARA	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
Bowel/sigmoid	$D_{max} \le 28.5 \text{ Gy}$	Aluwini et al. [4]
	$V_{30 Gy} < 1 cm^3$	Chen et al. [15] and Janowski et al. [19]
	$V_{18.1 \text{ Gy}} < 5 \text{ cm}^3$	Tree [2, 22]
	ALARA	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
Penile bulb	$V_{29.5 Gy} < 50\%$	McBride et al. [5], Chen et al. [15], and
		Janowski et al. [19]
	$D_{25\%} \leq 29 \text{ Gy}$	Bolzicco et al. [14]
	$V_{20~Gy} \leq 90\%$	Loblaw et al. [7]
	$V_{29.5 \text{ Gy}} < 50\%$	Tree [2, 22]
	ALARA	Alongi et al. [12] <sup>a</sup>
Testes	$D_{20\%} < 2 \text{ Gy}$	Chen et al. [13] and Janowski et al. [19]

Table 5.1 (continued)

In the study by Boike et al. [10] an endorectal balloon was used

In the study by Alongi et al. [12] a spacer was injected before SBRT in some selected cases

Abbreviations: ALARA as low as reasonably possible, PD prescribed dose

 $DX\% \leq Y\%$ : The dose received by the X% of volume is  $\leq$  of the Y% of the prescription dose

 $DX\% \leq Y$  Gy: The dose received by the X% of volume is  $\leq$  of Y Gy

DX cm<sup>3</sup>  $\leq$  Y%: The dose received by the X cm<sup>3</sup> of volume is  $\leq$  of the Y% of the prescription dose

DX cm<sup>3</sup>  $\leq$  Y Gy: The dose received by X cm<sup>3</sup> of volume is  $\leq$  of Y Gy

D<sub>max</sub>: maximum dose

VX%  $\leq$  Y%: The X% of the prescription dose is received by  $\leq$  of the Y% of the volume

 $VX\% \leq Y \text{ cm}^3$ : The X% of the prescription dose is received by  $\leq$  of Y cm<sup>3</sup> of volume

VX Gy  $\leq$  Y%: The dose of X Gy is delivered to  $\leq$  of the Y% of the volume

VX Gy  $\leq$  Y cm<sup>3</sup>: The dose of X Gy is delivered to  $\leq$  of Y cm<sup>3</sup> of volume

<sup>a</sup>LINAC based treatment, non-coplanar fields

<sup>b</sup>The rectal mucosa was defined as a solid structure formed by a 3-mm contraction of the rectal wall

"This constraint was applied to the membranous urethra, while no constraints were applied on the prostatic urethra

experiences confirmed a low incidence of grade 3 late rectal toxicity in patients treated with endorectal balloon, usually inferior to 3% [52–56], allowing to dose escalation studies for low-and intermediate-risk prostate cancer [10].

# 5.7 Urethral Sparing

Urethral toxicity has a significant impact on the quality of life in prostate cancer patients after irradiation. Contouring the male urethra on a computed tomography scan is difficult in the absence of an indwelling catheter. Cystourethrography, retrograde urethrography or transrectal ultrasonography can help in assessing urethra. Unfortunately, these instrumental exams are invasive and present a limited field of view, making it difficult to appreciate the details of periurethral tissues. Magnetic resonance imaging studies demonstrated the capability of magnetic resonance to provide anatomical details of urethra as well as periurethral tissues [57]. Prostate adenocarcinoma tends to arise in a non-uniform anatomic distribution, with the majority (75-90%) of prostate cancers arising within the peripheral zone, while the transitional and central zones are involved in only 20-25% and 4-8% of cases, respectively [58]. Thus, given the proximal periurethral location of these low risk zones, the reduction of the dose to the intraprostatic urethra in selected prostate cancer patients would decrease urinary toxicity while maintaining high rates of disease control.

In the available clinical data, urethra is not equally defined. Specifically, in some cases, an additional computed tomography study was performed with an indwelling catheter and/or urethrogram, in other cases urethra was defined by means of MRI [4, 5, 9, 10, 12, 14, 17–19]. Due to the intrafraction organ motion, an urethral catheter could be useful. In the absence of catheter, a 2–3 mm of planning at risk volume of the urethra is reported [12].

# 5.8 Penile Bulb Sparing

Erectile disfunction represents a concern after radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Specific dose constraints for the erectile structures have not yet clearly defined. Due to the position in the caudal limit of the irradiation field, the penile bulb represents a critical organ sparing. The delineation of the penile bulb by means of computed tomography could have some limits mainly related to the low contrast in the pelvic area. Additionally, an inter-observer variability in contouring of the penile bulb on computed tomography for prostate cancer treatment planning is reported [59]. Of contrast, magnetic resonance imaging has been proposed as the most appropriate imaging modality for accurate localization of the penile bulb and a better sparing of the penile bulb due to a more precise delineation of the prostate apex [60-62].

#### References

- Dasu A, Toma-Dasu I, et al. Prostate alpha/beta revisited an analysis of clinical results from 14168 patients. Acta Oncol. 2012;51(8):963–74.
- Tree AC, Khoo VS, van As NJ, Partridge M, et al. Is biochemical relapse-free survival after profoundly hypofractionated radiotherapy consistent with current radiobiological models? Clin Oncol. 2014;26 (4):216–29.
- 3. De Bari B, Arcangeli S, Ciardo D, Mazzola R, Alongi F, Russi EG, Santoni R, Magrini SM, Jereczek-Fossa BA, On the behalf of the Italian Association of Radiation Oncology (AIRO). Extreme hypofractionation for early prostate cancer: biology meets technology. Cancer Treat Rev. 2016;50:48–60.
- Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, Kirkels W, Kolkman-Deurloo IK, Bangma C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol. 2013;9 (8):84.
- McBride SM, Wong DS, Dombrowski JJ, Harkins B, Tapella P, Hanscom HN, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: preliminary results of a multiinstitutional phase 1 feasibility trial. Cancer. 2012;118(15):3681–90.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC Jr, et al. Longterm outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82.
- Loblaw A, Cheung P, D'Alimonte L, Deabreu A, Mamedov A, Zhang L, et al. Prostate stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy using a standard linear accelerator: toxicity, biochemical, and pathological outcomes. Radiother Oncol. 2013;107:153–8.
- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67:1099–105.
- Kim DWN, Cho LC, Straka C, Christie A, Lotan Y, Pistenmaa D, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1–2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89(3):509–17.

- Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, DeRose P, Xie XJ, et al. Phase I dose escalation study of SBRT for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):2020–6.
- Kang JK, Cho CK, Choi CW, Yoo S, Kim MS, Yang K, et al. Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Tumori. 2011;97(1):43–8.
- Alongi F, Cozzi L, Arcangeli S, Iftode C, Comito T, Villa E, et al. Linac based SBRT for prostate cancer in 5 fractions with VMAT and flattening filter free beams: preliminary report of a phase II study. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:171.
- Freeman DE, King CR, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: five-year outcomes. Radiat Oncol. 2011;6:3.
- Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Satariano N, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A. A single center study of 100 consecutive patients with localized prostate cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. BMC Urol. 2013;17(13):49.
- Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, Oermann EK, Ju AW, Chen V, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;13(8):58.
- Oliai C, Lanciano R, Sprandio B, Yang J, Lamond J, Arrigo S, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for the primary treatment of localized prostate cancer. J Radiat Oncol. 2013;2(1):63–70.
- Arscott WT, Chen LN, Wilson N, Bhagat A, Kim JS, Moures RA, et al. Obstructive voiding symptoms following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2014;24(9):163.
- 18. Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Lee C, Hardy S, Jin H, et al. Virtual HDR CyberKnife treatment for localized prostatic carcinoma: dosimetry comparison with HDR brachytherapy and preliminary clinical observations. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(5):1588–97.
- Janowski E, Chen LN, Kim JS, Lei S, Suy S, Collins B, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with large prostates (≥ 50 cm<sup>3</sup>). Radiat Oncol. 2014;15(9):241.
- 20. Ju AW, Wang H, Oermann EK, Sherer BA, Uhm S, Chen VJ, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy as monotherapy for intermediaterisk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2013;31(8):30.
- 21. Lee SW, Jang HS, Lee JH, Kim SH, Yoon SC, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer patients with old age or medical comorbidity: a 5-year follow-up of an investigational study. Medicine. 2014;93(28):e290.
- 22. Tree AC, Ostler P, Hoskin P, Dankulchai P, Nariyangadu P, Hughes RJ, et al. Prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy – first UK experience. Clin Oncol. 2014;26(12):757–61.
- Roeske JC, Forman JD, Mesina CF, et al. Evaluation of changes in the size and location of the prostate, seminal vesicles, bladder, and rectum during a course

of external beam radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;33(5):1321–9.

- 24. Khoo V, Dearnaley D, Finnigan D, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): considerations and applications in radiotherapy treatment planning. Radiother Oncol. 1997;42:1–15.
- Khoo V, Padhani A, Tanner S, et al. Comparison of MRI with CT for the radiotherapy planning of prostate cancer: a feasibility study. Br J Radiol. 1999;72:590–7.
- 26. Ling C, Humm J, Larson S, et al. Towards multidimensional radiotherapy (MD-CRT): biological imaging and biological conformality. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47:551–60.
- Gao Z, Wilkins D, Eapen L, et al. A study of prostate delineation referenced against a gold standard created from the visible human data. Radiother Oncol. 2007;85:239–46.
- Roach M, Faillace AP, Malfatti C, Holland J, Hricak H. Prostate volumes defined by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomographic scans for three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1996;35:1011–8.
- Kurhanewicz J, Vigneron D, Hricak H, et al. Threedimensional H-1 MR spectroscopic imaging of the in situ human prostate with high (0.24-0.7-cm3) spatial resolution. Radiology. 1996;198(3):795–805.
- Lee YK, Bollet M, Charles-Edwards G, Flower MA, Leach MO, McNair H, Moore E, Rowbottom C, Webb S. Radiotherapy treatment planning of prostate cancer using magnetic resonance imaging alone. Radiother Oncol. 2003;66(2):203–16.
- 31. Deurloo KE, Steenbakkers RJ, Zijp LJ, De Bois JA, Nowak PJCM, Rasch CRN, et al. Quantification of shape variation of prostate and seminal vesicles during external-beam radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;61:228–38.
- 32. Ghilezan MJ, Jaffray DA, Siewerdsen JH, van Herk M, Shetty A, Sharpe MB, et al. Prostate gland motion assessed with cine–magnetic resonance imaging (cine–MRI). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62:406–17.
- 33. Kerkhof EM, van der Put RW, Raaymakers BW, van der Heide UA, van Vulpen M, Lagendijk JJW. Variation in target and rectum dose due to prostate deformation: an assessment by repeated MR imaging and treatment planning. Phys Med Biol. 2008;53:5623–34.
- 34. de Boer J, van Herk M, Pos FJ, Sonke JJ. Hybrid registration of prostate and seminal vescicles for image guided radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;86(1):177–82.
- 35. Bittner N, Butler WM, Reed JL, Murray BC, Kurko BS, Wallner KE, et al. Electromagnetic tracking of intrafraction prostate displacement in patients externally immobilized in the prone position. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;77:490–5.
- Lovelock DM, Messineo AP, Cox BW, Kollmeier MA, Zelefsky MJ. Continuous monitoring and intrafraction target position correction during

treatment improves target coverage for patients undergoing SBRT prostate therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(3):588–94.

- Ballhausen H, Li M, Hegemann NS, Ganswindt U, Belka C. Intra-fraction motion of the prostate is a random walk. Phys Med Biol. 2015;60:549–63.
- 38. Tong X, Chen X, Li J, Xu Q, Lin M, Chen L, et al. Intrafractional prostate motion during external beam radiotherapy monitored by a real-time target localization system. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2015;16(2):51–61.
- 39. Reggiori G, Mancosu P, Tozzi A, Cantone MC, Castiglioni S, Lattuada P, et al. Cone beam CT pre- and post-daily treatment for assessing geometrical and dosimetric intrafraction variability during radiotherapy of prostate cancer. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2011;12:141–53.
- 40. Ruggieri R, Naccarato S, Stavrev P, Stavreva N, Fersino S, Giaj Levra N, Mazzola R, Mancosu P, Scorsetti M, Alongi F. Volumetric-modulated arc stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: dosimetric impact of an increased near-maximum target dose and of a rectal spacer. Br J Radiol. 2015;88 (1054):20140736.
- 41. Both S, Wang KK, Plastaras JP, Deville C, Bar AV, Tochner Z, et al. Real-time study of prostate intrafraction motion during external beam radiotherapy with daily endorectal balloon. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(5):1302–9.
- 42. D'Amico AV, Manola J, Loffredo M, Lopes L, Nissen K, O'Farrell DA, et al. A practical method to achieve prostate gland immobilization and target verification for daily treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;51:1431–6.
- 43. Van Lin EN, van der Vight LP, Witjes JA, Huisman HJ, Leer JW, Visser AG. The effect of an endorectal balloon and off-line correction on the interfraction systematic and random prostate position variations: a comparative study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;61:278–88.
- 44. Court LE, D'Amico AV, Kadam D, Cormack R, et al. Motion and shape change when using an endorectal balloon during prostate radiation therapy. Radiother Oncol. 2006;81:184–9.
- 45. Wang CW, Chong FC, Lai MK, Pu YS, Wu JK, Cheng JC. Set-up errors due to endorectal balloon positioning in intensity modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2007;84:177–84.
- 46. Smeenk RJ, Teh BS, Butler EB, van Lin EN, Kaanders JH, et al. Is there a role for endorectal balloons in prostate radiotherapy? A systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2010;95(3):277–82.
- 47. Ahmad S, Vlachaki MT, Teslow TN, Amosson CM, McGary J, Teh BS, et al. Impact of setup uncertainty in the dosimetry of prostate and surrounding tissues in prostate cancer patients treated with Peacock/IMRT. Med Dosim. 2005;30:1–7.
- Vlachaki MT, Teslow TN, Ahmad S, et al. Impact of endorectal balloon in the dosimetry of prostate and

surrounding tissues in prostate cancer patients treated with IMRT. Med Dosim. 2007;32:281–6.

- 49. Patel RR, Orton N, Tomé WA, Chappell R, Ritter MA, et al. Rectal dose sparing with a balloon catheter and ultrasound localization in conformal radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2003;67:285–94.
- 50. Sanghani MV, Ching J, Schultz D, Cormack R, Loffredo M, McMahon E, et al. Impact on rectal dose from the use of a prostate immobilization and rectal localization device for patients receiving dose escalated 3D conformal radiation therapy. Urol Oncol. 2004;22:165–8.
- 51. Van Lin EN, Kristinsson J, Philippens ME, de Jong DJ, van der Vight LP, Kaanders JH, et al. Reduced late rectal mucosal changes after prostate threedimensional conformal radiotherapy with endorectal balloon as observed in repeated endoscopy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67:799–811.
- 52. Goldner G, Tomicek B, Becker G, Geinitz H, Wachter S, Zimmermann F, et al. Proctitis after external-beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer classified by Vienna Rectoscopy Score and correlated with EORTC/RTOG score for late rectal toxicity: results of a prospective multicenter study of 166 patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67:78–83.
- 53. Goldner G, Bombosch V, Geinitz H, Becker G, Wachter S, Glocker S, et al. Moderate risk-adapted dose escalation with three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy of localized prostate cancer from 70 to 74 Gy. First report on 5-year morbidity and biochemical control from a prospective Austrian-German multicenter phase II trial. Strahlenther Onkol. 2009;185:94–100.
- 54. Woel R, Beard C, Chen MH, Hurwitz M, Loffredo M, McMahon E, et al. Acute gastrointestinal, genitourinary, and dermatological toxicity during dose escalated 3D-conformal radiation therapy (3DCRT) using an intrarectal balloon for prostate gland localization and immobilization. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62:392–6.
- 55. D'Amico AV, Manola J, McMahon E, Loffredo M, Lopes L, Ching J, et al. A prospective evaluation of rectal bleeding after dose-escalated three dimensional conformal radiation therapy using an intrarectal balloon for prostate gland localization and immobilization. Urology. 2006;67:780–4.
- 56. Slater JD, Rossi CJ Jr, Yonemoto LT, Bush DA, Jabola BR, Levy RP, et al. Proton therapy for prostate cancer: the initial Loma Linda University experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;59:348–52.
- 57. Kataria T, Gupta D, Goyal S, Bisht SS, Chaudhary R, Narang K, et al. Simple diagrammatic method to delineate male urethra in prostate cancer radiotherapy: an MRI based approach. Br J Radiol. 2016;89 (1068):20160348.
- Chen ME, Johnston DA, Tang K, Babaian RJ, Troncoso P. Detailed mapping of prostate carcinoma

foci: biopsy strategy implications. Cancer. 2000;89:1800–9.

- 59. Perna L, Cozzarini C, Maggiulli E, Fellin G, Rancati T, Valdagni R, Vavassori V, Villa S, Fiorino C. Inter-observer variability in contouring the penile bulb on CT images for prostate cancer treatment planning. Radiat Oncol. 2011;6:123.
- 60. Roach M III. Is it time to change the standard of care from CT to MRI for defining the apex of the prostate to accomplish potency sparing radiotherapy? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;61:1–2.
- 61. Perna L, Fiorino C, Cozzarini C, Broggi S, Cattaneo GM, De Cobelli F, Mangili P, Di Muzio N, Calandrino R. Sparing the penile bulb in the radical irradiation of clinically localised prostate carcinoma: a comparison between MRI and CT prostatic apex definition in

3DCRT, Linac-IMRT and helical tomotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2009;93(1):57–63.

- 62. Roach M 3rd, Nam J, Gagliardi G, El Naqa I, Deasy JO, Marks LB. Radiation dose-volume effects and the penile bulb. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76 (3 Suppl):S130–4.
- 63. Kupelian PA, Willoughby TR, Meeks SL, Forbes A, Wagner T, Maach M, et al. Intraprostatic fiducials for localization of the prostate gland: monitoring intermarker distances during radiation therapy to test for marker stability. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62(5):1291–6.
- 64. Nichols AM, Brock KK, Lockwood GA, Moseley DJ, Rosewall T, Warde PR, et al. A magnetic resonance imaging study of prostate deformation relative to implanted gold fiducial markers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67:48–56.



# Expected PSA and Biochemical Control with Prostate SBRT Compared to Conventional Fractionated Radiotherapy

Josephine Kang and Alan Katz

# 6.1 Introduction

Prostate specific antigen (PSA) is a serum marker used to monitor biochemical control after treatment of prostate cancer. Per current guidelines, after definitive radiation therapy, patients should be followed with PSA every 6–12 months for 5 years, then annually [1]. Biochemical failure is defined using the Phoenix criterion of PSA nadir +2 ng/ml [2]. However, PSA kinetics after prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) can differ from standard external beam radiation (EBRT), with differences in expected nadir, PSA decay, and likelihood as well as magnitude and number of PSA bounce.

The use of a hypofractionated regimen to treat prostate cancer theoretically delivers a higher therapeutic ratio to tumor cells while sparing adjacent healthy tissue, as the  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio for prostate cancer has consistently been reported to be 2.0 Gy or less, which is lower than the  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio of surrounding normal tissues [3, 4]. Using an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 1.5 Gy for prostate cancer cells, a total dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions equates to an equivalent dose at 2 Gy per fraction (EQD2) of 91 Gy, above standard fractionation regimens.

#### 6.1.1 Biochemical Control

Biochemical control rates for prostate SBRT have been comparable to standard fractionation regimens, with disease control above 90% for low and favorable intermediate risk disease (Table 6.1) [17, 19–21]. Based on the favorable outcomes of emerging retrospective and prospective studies, the 2013 model policy from the American Society of Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) endorsed use of prostate SBRT in "select patients with low to intermediate risk disease" [22], and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) updated their guidelines to include prostate SBRT as a treatment option in "clinics with appropriate technology, physics, and clinical expertise" [23]. The majority of studies focus on low and favorable intermediate risk prostate cancer patients, and are summarized in Table 6.1.

The phase I–II SHARP study was one of the first prospective studies to report on prostate SBRT [8]. Forty patients with low-risk prostate cancer were treated to 33.5 Gy in five fractions, the equivalent of 78 Gy in 2 Gy fractions using an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 1.5 Gy. The 4-year biochemical progression free survival (bPFS) was 90% using the nadir +2 ng/ml definition of failure. Subsequent prospective studies have demonstrated similarly promising clinical outcomes.

In 2013, King and colleagues published a multi-institutional pooled analysis of phase II studies [21] with over 1000 patients, majority

J. Kang

Weill Cornell Medical College, New York Presbyterian, New York, NY, USA e-mail: jok9106@med.cornell.edu

A. Katz (🖂) Flushing Radiation Oncology, Flushing, NY, USA e-mail: akatzmd@msn.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_6

C ( 1	CDDT 1		#	D'il antica di a	1 DEC
Study	SBR1 dose	FU (range)	Pts	Risk categories	DPFS
Bolzicco	35 Gy/5 fx	36 months	71	Low (41%), Int (42%), High	3 years 94.4%
et al. [5]		(6–76)		(17%)	
King et al.	35-36.25 Gy/5	5 years	41	Low, Favorable Int Risk	5 years 92.7%
[6]	fx	(4.2–6.2)			
McBride	36.25-37.5 Gy/	44.5 months	45	Low	3 years 97.7%
et al. [7]	5 fx	(0-62)			
Madsen	33.5 Gy/5 fx	41 months	40	Low	4 years 90%
et al. [8]		(21-60)			
Vu et al.	35-36.25 Gy/5	24 months	120	Low (58%), Int (32%), High	
[9]	fx	(18–78)		(11%)	
Fuller et al.	38 Gy/4 fx <sup>a</sup>	60 months	259	Low (43%), Int (57%)	5 years Low 100%, Int 88.5%
[10]		(6–99)			
Kim et al.	45–50 Gv/5 fx	42 months	47	Low (38%). Int (62%)	4 years 98%
[11]		(36–78)			
Park et al.	35-36.25 Gy/5	53 months	39	Low (20.7%), Int (69%),	5 years Low 100%, Int 83.9%,
[12]	fx	(IQR, 26–68)		High (10.3%)	High 33.3%
Kishan	36.25-40 Gy/5	35 months	130	Low (53.1%), Fav Int	
et al. [13]	fx	(3-93.4)		(31.5%), Unfav Int (15.4%)	
Loblaw	35 Gy/5 fx	55 months	84	Low	5 years 98%
et al. [14]	5	(13-68)			
Mantz [15]	40 Gy/5 fx	60 months	102	Low, Fav Int	5 years 100%
Chen et al.	35–36.5 Gv/5	2.3 years	100	Low (37%). Int (55%). High	2 years 99%
[16]	fx	(1.4–3.5)		(8%)	
Katz and	35-36.25 Gv/5	72 months	477	Low (68%), Int (32%)	7 years Low 95.6%, Fav Int
Kang [17]	fx	(0–96)			93.5%, Unfav Int 79.3%
Katz et al.	35-0.25 Gy/5	84 months	515	Low (63%), Int (30%), High	8 years Low 93.6%, Int
[18]	fx	(IQR, 60–96)		(7%)	84.3%, High 65.0%
Katz [19]	35-36.25 Gy/5	108 months	230	Low	10 years 93%
	fx	(0-120)			

Table 6.1 Biochemical control after prostate SBRT

Abbreviations: FU follow up, Gy gray, Fx fractions, m months, y years, IQR interquartile range

<sup>a</sup>Heterogeneous SBRT planning such that at least 1% of PTV receives  $\geq$ 150% of prescription dose

treated to 35–36.25 Gy in five fractions. Outcomes were favorable, with 5-year bPFS rates for low, intermediate and high-risk patients of 95.2, 84.1 and 81.2%, respectively. Subsequently published prospective studies have similar positive rates of efficacy (Table 6.1), with 5-year bPFS rates ranging from 92 to 100% for low to intermediate risk disease, but long-term follow up is lacking.

Retrospective series have longer follow-up; the series by Katz et al. has the longest followup to date, and demonstrates 9-year bPFS of 94, 87 and 61% for low, intermediate and high risk patients, respectively, using a dose of 35–36.25 Gy [24]; this was recently updated for low-risk patients with 10-year outcomes with local control rates of 98.4% and bPFS of 93% [19]. There is no evidence to suggest that the addition of pelvic nodal RT or androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) improves SBRT outcomes, though this has not been rigorously analyzed in prospective randomized settings [25]. The body of evidence thus far suggests localized prostate SBRT compares favorably to standard EBRT and is an excellent option for patients with localized prostate cancer; as reference, the longest followup for patients treated to 81 Gy EBRT has relapse-free survival rates of 81, 78 and 62% for low, intermediate and high-risk patients, respectively [26].

The efficacy of SBRT in patients with unfavorable-risk (more than one adverse

intermediate risk factor or Gleason 4 + 3 disease) [25] or high-risk disease is less clear, as the data is sparse and majority of published studies focus on low- or favorable intermediate-risk disease outcomes. The data from Katz and colleagues shows a clear and significant distinction in outcome between favorable and unfavorable intermediate-risk disease (7-year bPFS of 95.2% vs. 68.2%, respectively), suggesting treatment intensification may be warranted for patients with unfavorable-risk features; but to date, no benefit for ADT or pelvic nodal RT has been established [18]. King et al. included 125 patients with high-risk disease in his consortium analysis; 38% received ADT. The 5-year bPFS was notably high, 81.2%, despite the limited use of ADT and lack of pelvic nodal RT. Katz et al. reported 8-year bPFS results of 65% for 38 patients with high-risk disease; only 55% received ADT [18]. Multivariate analyses showed no benefit of ADT addition. Mature results of ongoing studies examining the efficacy of prostate SBRT in higher risk patients are awaited, along with determination of the benefit, if any, of adding ADT, intensifying dose or targeting pelvic nodes. Until then, prospective studies with limited follow up and retrospective series suggest that biochemical outcomes after SBRT in unfavorable intermediate-risk and high-risk patient cohorts are likely comparable to rates achieved with standard EBRT [18, 20, 21].

## 6.1.2 PSA Nadir

PSA nadir is defined as the lowest PSA level PSA achieved after radiation therapy. After standard external beam radiation (EBRT), the PSA nadir value has been shown to predict for biochemical as well as distant failure [27–29], with nadir values of <0.5 ng/ml resulting in significantly lower 8 year distant metastases free survival (97% vs. 73–96%) and biochemical progression free survival (75% vs. 17–52%). The prognostic role of PSA nadir after SBRT, however, has not been validated due to relatively small number of patients on published reports, and overall low number of biochemical failures, rendering it

difficult to correlate long-term biochemical control and metastasis free survival with degree of PSA nadir or other PSA metrics.

Studies show that nadir values after SBRT tend to be lower than standard EBRT (Table 6.2), suggesting clinical outcomes will also compare favorably [13, 30, 31]. A study from University of California San Francisco compared nadir after SBRT and standard EBRT, and noted lower 3-year PSA nadir value of 0.24 ng/ml vs. 0.60 ng/ml, respectively; P < 0.005) [13]. Similarly, Lee et al. demonstrated that SBRT to dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions resulted in significantly lower PSA nadir values standard when compared to EBRT of 70.2-75.6 Gy (nadir 0.23 ng/ml vs. 0.37 ng/ml, respectively; P = 0.01). Kishan and colleagues compared PSA kinetics after prostate SBRT, HDR brachytherapy and standard EBRT, and noted a significantly greater percentage of patients after SBRT and brachytherapy achieved PSA nadir values of <0.5 ng/ml (76.2, 75.9 and 44.9%, respectively; *P* < 0.0001).

Reports demonstrate that low nadir values of 0.1 ng/ml are achievable over time after SBRT, and higher ablative doses result in lower PSA nadir and more rapid drop in value [10, 11, 19]. The retrospective series by Katz shows nadir of 0.1 ng/ml by 5 years followed by plateau in low risk patients, with follow up to 10 years [19]. Further studies with larger numbers and longer follow up are needed to confirm whether this lower PSA nadir corresponds to improved biochemical control.

#### 6.1.3 PSA Bounce

Transient fluctuations in PSA have been documented to occur after radiation therapy (Table 6.2). Majority of studies define a PSA bounce as rise of  $\geq 0.2$  ng/ml above nadir, followed by subsequent drop to a new nadir. The biologic basis of PSA bounce is unknown, but it has been hypothesized that transient increases in PSA may reflect episodic prostatic inflammation, or sublethal damage transitioning to cell kill [32]. Initial reports were based on PSA

	PSA decay	1 years1 years0.93 ng/ml2 years0.87 ng/ml3 years0.62 ng/mla		1 year 0.91 ng/ml									
	Time to reported nadir	3 years	33 months	44.5 months	18 months (3–36)		5 years	36 months	23 months				2 years
	PSA nadir	0.62 ng/ml <sup>a</sup>	0.32 ng/ml (0.03-2.65)	0.2 ng/ml (0–1.5)	<0.5 ng/ml (32%); 0.5–1.0 ng/ml (40%); 1.0–2.0 ng/ml (23%)		0.1 ng/ml	0.1 ng/ml	0.31 (IQE, 0.12–0.67)				0.49 ng/ml (0.1–1.9)
	Definition	PSA rise and subsequent decline to nadir	≥0.2 ng/ml	≥0.4 ng/ml		$\geq$ 0.2 ng/ml		≥0.2 ng/ml	≥0.2 ng/ml	≥0.2 ng/ml			≥0.2 ng/ml
	Time to bounce (range)	23 months (18–30)	18 months	11.6 moths (7.2–18.2)		9 months		9 months	11 months (IQR, 6.0–18.5)	14.8 months (3.6–43.3)		12–24 months	15 months (3–21)
	Magnitude of bounce (range)	1.08 ng/ml	0.39 ng/ml	1.07 ng/ml (0.4–2.8)		0.5 ng/ml		0.5 ng/ml	0.4 ng/ml (IQR, 0.34–2.54)	0.53 ng/ml (0.2–3.6)			0.5 ng/ml (0.2–2.2)
	# Bounce/total (%)	9/71 (12.6%) <sup>a</sup>	12/41 (29%)	9/45 (20%); 4/45 (9%) w/2 bounces; 1/45 (2%) w/3 bounces		34/120 (28%)		24/47 (51%); 5/47 (10%) w/2 bounces; 1/47 (2%) w/3 bounces	14/39 (39%)	40/130 (30.8%)		15/102 (14%)	31/100 (31%)
prostate SBRT	FU (range)	36 months (6–76)	5 years (4.2–6.2)	44.5 months (062)	41 months (21–60)	24 months (18–78)	60 months (6–99)	42 months (36–78)	53 months (IQR, 26–68)	35 months (3–93.4)	55 months (13–68)	60 months	2.3 years (1.4–3.5)
PSA kinetics after	SBRT dose	35 Gy/5 fx	35–36.25 Gy/5 fx	36.25–37.5 Gy/ 5 fx	33.5 Gy/5 fx	35–36.25 Gy/5 fx	38 Gy/4 fx <sup>b</sup>	45–50 Gy/5 fx	35–36.25 Gy/5 fx	36.25-40 Gy/5 fx	35 Gy/5 fx	40 Gy/5 fx	35-36.5 Gy/5 fx
Table 6.2	Study	Bolzicco et al. [5]	King et al. [6]	McBride et al. [7]	Madsen et al. [8]	Vu et al. [9]	Fuller et al. [10]	Kim et al. [11]	Park et al. [12]	Kishan et al. [13]	Loblaw et al. [14]	Mantz [15]	Chen et al. [16]

Katz and Kang [17]	35–36.25 Gy/5 fx	72 months (0–96)	16%	0.5 ng/ml (0.2–5.29)	36 months (3–60)	≥0.2 ng/ml	0.11 ng/ml	48 months (3–84 months)	
Katz [19]	35–36.25 Gy/5 fx	108 months (0-120)	21%			≥0.2 ng/ml	0.1 ng/ml	48 months	
Abbreviatic SBRT mou	ons: FU follow up,	Gy gray, Fx frac	ctions, m months, y years,	IQR interquat	tile range				

<sup>3</sup>Heterogeneous SBRT planning such that at least 1% of PTV receives  $\geq$ 150% of prescription dose

changes after prostate brachytherapy and standard EBRT [13, 32]. PSA bounce is a common occurrence after prostate SBRT as well, with studies suggesting a greater likelihood of multiple bounces, and higher bounce values.

#### 6.1.3.1 Number of Bounces

Multiple bounces have been reported to occur after SBRT. In the phase I multi-institutional trial reported by McBride et al., it was noted that 20% of all patients had a bounce; 9% had two bounces and 1% had three bounces. The authors defined PSA bounce as a PSA increase of >0.4 ng/ml between any two consecutive measurements followed by subsequent decline; had they used more commonly applied definition of  $\geq 0.2$  ng/ml, the reported bounce frequency and number of bounces may have been greater.

A phase 1-2 trial using doses of 45-50 Gy in five fractions and a bounce definition of >0.2 ng/ ml reported a PSA bounce in 51.1% of all patients with 10 and 2% of all patients exhibiting two and three bounces, respectively, at a median follow up of 42 months.

#### 6.1.3.2 **Duration of Bounce**

According to studies reporting bounce duration, most patients return to PSA nadir by 6 months [17], but there are reported instances of longer bounce durations lasting as long as 11 months. The phase 1/2 study by Kim et al. report a median initial bounce duration of  $3 \pm 2.3$  months, and second bounce duration of even longer;  $6 \pm 5$  months.

#### 6.1.3.3 Degree and Timing of Bounce

In general, the first PSA bounce occurs around 9-36 months [6, 10, 13], though late bounces many years after SBRT have been observed in our experience.

Most PSA bounces are below 2.0 ng/ml, but there are cases where the PSA bounce exceed this value, technically meeting criteria for biochemical failure if using the Phoenix definition, but demonstrating subsequent drop to a new PSA nadir after the bounce [7]. Thus, conservative management is recommended after prostate SBRT in patients who meet criteria for biochemical failure, as a subset of these patients will be exhibiting a PSA bounce and not a true failure. In the phase I trial reported by McBride et al., it was noted that one patient who failed at 9 months using the Phoenix criteria (nadir +2 ng/ ml) subsequently had decrease in PSA to a new nadir value. Similarly, a prospective phase 1/2 trial by Kim et al. found at least 1 out of 91 patients to meet criteria for failure using nadir +2 ng/ml, with subsequent drop in PSA over time [3]. We suggest using clinical judgment and close observation for at least 6 months in patients with rising PSA after SBRT before classifying a patient as a definite biochemical recurrence.

Though the Phoenix definition of biochemical failure is not reliable, it does appear to be more accurate than the former ASTRO definition of failure of three consecutive PSA rises; according to one study on prostate SBRT outcomes, the 4 year freedom from biochemical relapse with ASTRO definition was only 70%, versus 90% using the Phoenix definition; the authors note confounding due to late PSA bounces [8].

#### 6.1.3.4 Predictors of Bounce

Two series report patients who exhibit a PSA bounce are significantly younger compared to those who do not [9, 17]. In multivariate analyses, factors including Gleason score, pre-treatment PSA, T-stage, and risk group were not found to be associated with likelihood of bounce.

A separate study noted that smaller prostate size (<30 ml) was associated with a significantly decreased likelihood of bounce; and enlarged prostates had a higher likelihood of having multiple bounces [11, 32]. According to one study, patients exhibiting very low PSA nadirs (<0.1 ng/ml) had a significantly lower likelihood of exhibiting a PSA bounce [11].

#### 6.1.3.5 Is It Prognostic?

Though some studies suggest PSA bounce corresponds to improved biochemical progression free survival after standard EBRT or brachy-therapy [33, 34], there is no definitive evidence to

suggest that the PSA bounce is prognostic after SBRT [5].

#### 6.1.4 PSA Decay

At 1 year follow up, the median percent PSA decline reported across various studies is approximately 80% [7, 12], suggesting a rapid initial drop followed by a more gradual decline that typically continues for years. A retrospective comparison patients treated of with 36.25-40 Gy of five-fraction SBRT, 81.0 Gy of IMRT or 43.5 Gy in six fractions of HDR showed PSA decay rates to be similar among all three modalities for the first 1000 days of follow up [22]; however, After 1000 days, IMRT treated patients had a plateau in PSA decay with a slope approaching 0, whereas SBRT and HDR treated patients continued to exhibit declines in PSA values, resulting in a lower PSA nadir at year 3 compared to conventional EBRT [31]. This is consistent with results reported by Katz et al., where patients after SBRT experienced a long, continued decline in PSA even out to 8 years, with ultimate nadir of 0.11 ng/ml [17]. Similarly, King et al. also reported in nadir values of 0.2 ng/ ml by 3 years [10], which is lower than that reported after conventional 81 Gy EBRT at 0.6 ng/ml at 23 months [20]. Clearly, PSA outcomes after SBRT are distinct from conventional EBRT, implying larger, hypofractionated doses of radiation have a different impact on prostate cancer cells and subsequent PSA production.

Studies suggest that higher doses of SBRT result in lower PSA values at 3 years. Helou et al. report a significant (P < 0.001) difference in 3-year PSA values after 35 and 40 Gy in five fractions, with PSA of 0.64 and 0.27, respectively [35]. However, given short follow up, it is unknown whether the lower PSA nadir/higher dose results in better biochemical control; and given the higher incidence of GU toxicity with higher dose regimens, longer follow up is awaited to determine whether higher doses are justified.

## 6.2 Conclusions

In conclusion, biochemical control after prostate SBRT is comparable to standard fractionation external beam radiation. However, up to 50% of patients can exhibit a PSA bounce, which can exceed the current definition of nadir +2 ng/ml as biochemical failure. Given that a PSA bounce can last longer than 6 months in duration, and spuriously appear to be a biochemical failure before subsequent drop to a new nadir, caution should be taken before initiating salvage in such patients [8, 11].

#### References

- Mohler JL, Armstrong AJ, Bahnson RR, et al. Prostate cancer, version 1.2016. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2016;14(1):19–30.
- Roach M 3rd, Hanks G, Thames H Jr, et al. Defining biochemical failure following radiotherapy with or without hormonal therapy in men with clinically localized prostate cancer: recommendations of the RTOG-ASTRO Phoenix Consensus Conference. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(4):965–74.
- Brenner DJ, Martinez AA, Edmundson GK, Mitchell C, Thames HD, Armour EP. Direct evidence that prostate tumors show high sensitivity to fractionation (low alpha/beta ratio), similar to late-responding normal tissue. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;52 (1):6–13.
- Fowler JF. The radiobiology of prostate cancer including new aspects of fractionated radiotherapy. Acta Oncol. 2005;44(3):265–76.
- Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Satariano N, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A. A single-center study of 100 consecutive patients with localized prostate cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. BMC Urol. 2013;13:49.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Pawlicki T, Cotrutz C, Presti JC Jr. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: interim results of a prospective phase II clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73(4):1043–8.
- McBride SM, Wong DS, Dombrowski JJ, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: preliminary results of a multi-institutional phase 1 feasibility trial. Cancer. 2012;118(15):3681–90.
- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial

results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67 (4):1099–105.

- Vu CC, Haas JA, Katz AE, Witten MR. Prostatespecific antigen bounce following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:8.
- Fuller D, Kane BL, Medbery CA, et al. 5-year outcomes from a prospective multi-institutional trial of heterogeneous dosing stereotiactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(Suppl 6S):abstract 35.
- 11. Kim DN, Straka C, Cho LC, et al. Early and multiple PSA bounces can occur following high-dose prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy: subset analysis of a phase 1/2 trial. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2017;7(1):e43–9.
- Park YH, Choi IY, Yoon SC, et al. Prostate-specific antigen kinetics after primary stereotactic body radiation therapy using CyberKnife for localized prostate cancer. Prostate Int. 2015;3(1):6–9.
- 13. Kishan AU, Wang PC, Upadhyaya SK, et al. SBRT and HDR brachytherapy produce lower PSA nadirs and different PSA decay patterns than conventionally fractionated IMRT in patients with low- or intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2016;6(4):268–75.
- 14. Loblaw A, Cheung P, D'Alimonte L, et al. Prostate stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy using a standard linear accelerator: toxicity, biochemical, and pathological outcomes. Radiother Oncol. 2013;107 (2):153–8.
- 15. Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol. 2014;4:279.
- Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:58.
- Katz AJ, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as treatment for organ confined low- and intermediaterisk prostate carcinoma, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:240.
- Katz A, Formenti SC, Kang J. Predicting biochemical disease-free survival after prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy: risk-stratification and patterns of failure. Front Oncol. 2016;6:168.
- Katz A. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: a ten-year analysis. Cureus. 2017;9 (9):e1668.
- Zelefsky MJ, Fuks Z, Happersett L, et al. Clinical experience with intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) in prostate cancer. Radiol Oncol. 2000;55 (3):241–9.
- King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiol Oncol. 2013;109(2):217–21.

- ASTRO. Model policies: stereotactic body radiation therapy. 2013. https://www.astro.org/uploadedFiles/ Main\_Site/Practice\_Management/Reimbursement/ 2013HPcoding%20guidelines\_SBRT\_Final.pdf
- NCCN. Prostate cancer. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. 2. 2017.
- 24. Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low-, intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer: disease control and quality of life at 9 years. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(2S):abstract 20.
- 25. Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with or without external beam radiation as treatment for organ confined high-risk prostate carcinoma: a six year study. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:1.
- Alicikus ZA, Yamada Y, Zhang Z, et al. Ten-year outcomes of high-dose, intensity-modulated radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Cancer. 2011;117 (7):1429–37.
- 27. Ray ME, Thames HD, Levy LB, et al. PSA nadir predicts biochemical and distant failures after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a multiinstitutional analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64(4):1140–50.
- 28. Pollack A, Zagars GK, Antolak JA, Kuban DA, Rosen II. Prostate biopsy status and PSA nadir level as early surrogates for treatment failure: analysis of a prostate cancer randomized radiation dose escalation trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;54(3):677–85.
- 29. Cavanaugh SX, Kupelian PA, Fuller CD, et al. Early prostate-specific antigen (PSA) kinetics following prostate carcinoma radiotherapy: prognostic value of

a time-and-PSA threshold model. Cancer. 2004;101 (1):96–105.

- Lee SH, Kim HJ, Kim WC. Prostate-specific antigen kinetics following hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy versus conventionally fractionated external beam radiotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2016;12 (4):388–95.
- 31. Anwar M, Weinberg V, Chang AJ, Hsu IC, Roach M 3rd, Gottschalk A. Hypofractionated SBRT versus conventionally fractionated EBRT for prostate cancer: comparison of PSA slope and nadir. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:42.
- 32. Critz FA, Williams WH, Benton JB, Levinson AK, Holladay CT, Holladay DA. Prostate specific antigen bounce after radioactive seed implantation followed by external beam radiation for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2000;163(4):1085–9.
- 33. Rosser CJ, Kamat AM, Wang X, et al. Is patient age a factor in the occurrence of prostate-specific antigen bounce phenomenon after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer? Urology. 2005;66(2):327–31.
- 34. Hinnen KA, Monninkhof EM, Battermann JJ, van Roermund JG, Frank SJ, van Vulpen M. Prostate specific antigen bounce is related to overall survival in prostate brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):883–8.
- 35. Helou J, D'Alimonte L, Quon H, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in the treatment of low and intermediate risk prostate cancer: Is there an optimal dose? Radiol Oncol. 2017;123(3):478–82.



Overview of Tumor Control Outcomes with Prostate SBRT for Low and Intermediate Risk Prostate Cancer and Comparison to Other Treatment Interventions

Amandeep S. Taggar, Paveen Mann, and Michael J. Zelefsky

### Learning Objectives and Outline

- 1. To understand radiobiology of prostate cancer and role of higher dose per fraction in its treatment
- 2. To summarize clinical outcomes of patients treated with
  - a. Prostatectomy
  - b. Conventional fractionated EBRT
  - c. Moderate hypofractionated EBRT
  - d. Brachytherapy (HDR and LDR)
  - e. Proton beam therapy
  - f. Extreme hypofractionation aka SBRT
- 3. Conclusion

Department of Radiation Oncology, Sunnybrook Odette Cancer Centre, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

e-mail: aman.taggar@sunnybrook.ca

P. Mann Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: mannpay@yahoo.com

M. J. Zelefsky

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: zelefskm@mskcc.org

# 7.1 Radiobiological Consideration in Prostate Cancer and Support for Hypofractionation

Probability of cell kill from radiation is estimated based on ratio of intrinsic radiosensitivity to repair capacity of a particular tissue. Linear quadratic model is the most widely accepted model that fits probability of surviving fraction of cells after a given dose of radiation. Alpha ( $\alpha$ ) and beta ( $\beta$ ) are the constants that represent intrinsic radiosensitivity and repair capacity and can be derived by fitting linear quadratic model to function of cell survival probability plotted against the radiation dose. The actual values of alpha ( $\alpha$ ) and beta ( $\beta$ ) are difficult to ascertain, therefore, based on best fit model a ratio of  $\alpha/\beta$  is reported, where early responding tissues are generally characterised by a high  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio and late responding tissues are defined by a low  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio. Tumors, generally are considered early responding tissues with  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio of >8, while normal tissue complication probability is calculated based on assumption that  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio for normal tissues is <4 and thus are considered late responding tissues. Radiobiological studies have shown as  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio decreases, there is increased sensitivity to dose per fraction. Therefore, in most cancers, adjacent late responding tissues are more sensitive to increased dose per fraction than the tumors. For this reason, most radiation regimens utilize small daily fraction sizes (1-2 Gy) to maximize the therapeutic ratio,

A. S. Taggar (🖂)

			BED	BED	BED
			$(\alpha/\beta = 1.5)$	$(\alpha/\beta = 3)$	$(\alpha/\beta = 10)$
Total dose (Gy)	No. of fractions/do	ose per fraction (Gy)	(Gy)	(Gy)	(Gy)
70	39	1.8	153.8	111.9	82.6
78	39	2.0	182.0	130.0	93.6
70.2	26	2.7	196.6	133.4	89.2
60	20	3.0	180.0	120.0	78.0
35	5	7.0	198.3	116.7	59.5
40	5	8.0	253.3	146.7	72.0
144 (LDR) Irradiation time 120 days	-	-	164.8	154.4	147.1
27 (HDR)	2	13.5	270.0	148.5	63.5
38 (HDR)	4	9.5	278.7	158.3	74.1

Table 7.1 Biological effective dose of various dose fractionation and treatment modalities

BED biological equivalent dose

with reduction in late complications without any compromise in tumor control.

Prostate cancer, on the other hand has unique radiobiology, first suggested by Brenner and Hall who observed that biochemical control was similar for 70 Gy given in 1–2 Gy fractions and I-125 brachytherapy using a prescription dose of 144 Gy [1]. Subsequent studies by others have demonstrated that the  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio for prostate cancer ranges between 1.5 and 1.85 [2, 3]. This low  $\alpha/\beta$ ratio predicts a greater capacity for repair between fractions, with an accompanying greater relative sparing with smaller fraction sizes. Therefore, a higher dose of radiation per fraction may be particularly effective in causing prostate cancer cell death. Table 7.1 illustrates biological effective doses for various dose fractionation regimens used in prostate cancer including low dose rate brachytherapy using iodine-125 (I-125) seeds.

In recent years it has become evident that hypofractionated radiotherapy regimens can provide excellent tumor control with limited toxicity to surrounding tissue, although the long-term results are yet to become available. In this chapter, we aim to summarize available tumor control data for various treatment modalities being employed for localized low- and intermediaterisk prostate cancer and compare those outcomes to early results with those obtained with extreme hypofractionated regimens also known as stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT).

# 7.2 Clinical Outcomes with Various Treatment Modalities

#### 7.2.1 Surgery

Radical prostatectomy (RP) is considered one of the standards for men with low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Last two decades has seen significant progress in RP methodology with introduction of laparoscopic RP in late 1990s [4] and robot assisted RP in early 2000s [5]. There are multiple older series that report clinical outcomes with RP, however, most of them are open procedures and include patients from prior to PSA-screening era. Selected publications, with large enough patient numbers from contemporary, post-PSA screening era with modern surgical techniques are summarized in Table 7.2. In these series, median follow-up ranged from 4 to 10 years. Biochemical relapse free survival (bRFS) for low-risk disease ranged from 79% at 5 years at University of Toronto [6] to 97% at 5 years from Johns Hopkins University [7]. Corresponding 10-year bRFS rates ranged from 64 to 95%. Whereas the bRFS for

		Median follow-up		
Author (location)	Population	(years)	bRFS	Notes
Roder et al. (Denmark) [8]	LR (n = 414) IR (n = 573)	4	82% at 5-years 76% at 10-years 70% at 5-years 60% at 10-years	
Mullins et al. (Johns Hopkins, US) [7]	LR (n = 2201) IR (n = 1019)	10	97% at 5-years 95% at 10-years 81% at 5-years 72% at 10-years	Includes only the post-PSA era patients from 1991–2011
Louis et al. (Toronto, Canada) [6]	LR $(n = 812)$ IR $(n = 1267)$	-	79% at 5-years 59% at 5-years	
Diaz et al. (Detroit, US) [9]	LR $(n = 250)$ IR $(n = 197)$	10	86% at 10-years 62% at 10-years	
Kane et al. [10]	N = 347, all LR patients eligible for AS	4	81% at 5-years 64% at 10 years	Only patients who would qualify for AS were included
Menon et al. [11]	LR (n = 705) IR (n = 479)	5	95.1% at 5-years 92.6% at 7-years 80.2% at 5-years 69.8% at 7-years	
Bhatta-Dhar et al. [12]	LR $(n = 336)$	5	87% at 6-years	Stratified patients according to PLND status—no difference

**Table 7.2** Outcomes with surgery

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen

intermediate-risk disease ranged from 59% at 5 years at University of Toronto to 72% at 10 years from Johns Hopkins University.

#### Summary

Surgery is the oldest and most established treatment option for low- and intermediate risk prostate patients. With recent advances in surgical techniques and introduction of laparoscopic and robotic-assisted prostatectomy techniques, there has been some improvement in tumor control outcomes. Modern prostatectomy series report a 10-year median (range) biochemical relapse free survival of 86% (64–95%). Similarly, for intermediate risk patients treated with RP, median 10-year bRFS is reported to be 61% (59–72%).

## 7.2.2 Conventionally Fractionated Radiotherapy

Early studies reporting clinical outcomes of prostate cancer with conventional fraction were dismal. As the understanding of prostate cancer biology improved over the last three decades, the clinical outcomes improved as reported by multiple randomized control trials and institutional series, summarized in Table 7.3. Zelefsky et al. [13] reported on 1100 patients from Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) undergoing dose escalation with conventional fractionation. They found that with doses higher than 75.6 Gy there was statistically significant improvement in biochemical relapse free (bRFS) in both low and intermediate risk patients; 5-year bRFS was 90 and 70%, respectively. Results of four randomized control trials confirmed that the higher doses are required to achieve better tumor control outcome in localized prostate cancer [14-17]. Other institutional series further consolidated that higher dose delivered to the localized prostate cancer in conventional fractionation resulted in statistically significant improvement in bRFS [18-20].

Kalbasi et al. [21] performed a retrospective comparative effectiveness study of all prostate

			Follow		
Author			up		
(location)	Population	Dose	(years)	bRFS	Notes/toxicity
Zelefsky et al. (MSKCC) [13]	Total $n = 1100$ LR $(n = 279)$ IR $(n = 405)$	≥75.6 Gy	5	LR: 90% at 5 years IR: 70%	
Zeitman et al. (PROG 95-09) [22]	Total $n = 393$ LR $(n = 116)$ IR $(n = 61)$	79.2 GyE	5.5	LR: 80.5% at 5 years IR: 81%	
Zelefsky et al. (MSKCC) [18]	Total n=2047 LR (n=446) IR (n=849)	64.8 – 86.4 Gy	6.6	LR: 90% at 7 years IR: 72%	
Pollack et al. (MDACC, RCT) [14]	N = 305 All risk group patients	70 Gy 78 Gy	5.0	Low dose: 64% at 6 years High dose: 70%	Benefit most pronounced in IR and HR patients. A trend towards improved DMFS for IR and HR patients treated with 78 Gy
Peeters et al. (Dutch Multicenter RCT) [15]	N = 669 All risk group patients <sup>a</sup>	68 Gy 78 Gy ADT (n = 143) (6–36 months)	4.25	Low dose: 54% at 5 years High dose: 64%	SS benefit in IR patients, but not LR patients
Dearnaley et al. (UK MRC RT01 RCT) [20]	$\label{eq:nonlinear} \begin{array}{l} N = 843 \\ LR^{a} \ (n = 194) \\ IR^{a} \ (n = 264) \\ HR^{a} \ (n = 362) \end{array}$	64 Gy 74 Gy ADT all patients (3–6 months)	5.25	Low dose: 60% at 5 years High dose: 71%	Even high dose arm is lower than some of other trials and reported that >78 Gy is necessary for PCa
Kuban et al. Red (MDACC RCT) [16]	N = 301 All risk group patients	70 Gy 78 Gy	8.7	Low dose: 59% at 8 years High dose: 78%	
Heemsbergen et al. [17]	$\label{eq:total_transform} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Total} \ (N = 664) \\ \mbox{LR}^{a} \ (n = 119) \\ \mbox{IR}^{a} \ (n = 179) \end{array}$	78 Gy ADT (n = 193, mainly high risk)	9.2	61% at 10 years LR: 70% IR: 60%	

**Table 7.3** Outcomes with conventionally fractionated radiotherapy

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy

<sup>a</sup>Risk groups based on Chism criteria for PSA failure

cancer patients registered in National Cancer Database (NCDB) from 2004 to 2006. Authors 12,229 16,714 analysed low-risk and intermediate-risk patients and reported 7-year OS of 86 and 82%, respectively, for those treated with EBRT dose  $\geq$ 75.6 Gy. In propensity score matched analysis, dose escalated EBRT  $(\geq 75.6 \text{ Gy})$  was associated with statistically significant improvement in OS for intermediate risk patients (HRs 0.84; p < 0.001), but not for low risk patients.

#### Summary

Multiple randomized trials and large institutional series have now confirmed that the higher doses of radiation are required to improve bRFS and OS for patients with localized low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Traditionally, using

			Median follow		
Author		Dose	up	Outcome, bRFS in	
(location)	Population	Gy/#fraction	(years)	hypofractionated arm	Notes
Lee et al. (RTOG 0415) [23]	N = 1115, all LR	73.8/41 vs. 70/28	5.8	93.7% at 5 years	G2 or worse late toxicity in hypofractionated arm— GU (29.7%), GI (22.5%)
Dearnaley et al.	N = 3216	74/37 vs. 60/20	5.2	LR: 96.6% and 90.9%	G2 or worse late toxicity—
(CHiPP trial,	LR (15%)	(or 57/19)		at 5 years for 60/20	GU (5%), GI (3%)
UK) [24]	IR (73%)	ADT (97%)		and 57/19 cohorts	
				IR: 90.2% and 86.0%	
Pollack et al., US [25]	N = 303 IR (66%) HR (34%)	78/38 vs. 60.2/26 ADT (9.9% of IR patients, 35.1% of HR patients)	5.7	Overall 67.7% at 5 years	G2 or worse late toxicity in hypofractionated arm— GU (44.9%), GI (18.1%)
Aluwini et al. (HYPRO trial), Netherlands [27]	N = 820 IR (26%) HR (74%)	78/39 vs. 64.6/19 ADT (66% in hypofractionated arm)	5	No outcome results reported yet	G2 or worse late toxicity in hypofractionated arm— GU (41.3%), GI (17.7%)
Catton et al.	N = 1206	78/39 vs. 60/20	6	85% at 5 years	G2 or worse late tocixity in
(Canada)	all IR	No ADT			hypofractionated arm-
PROFIT trial	patients				GU (22.2%), GI (8.9%)
[26]					

 Table 7.4
 Outcomes with Moderately hypofractionated radiotherapy

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *G2* grade 2

the conventional fractionation regimens, the higher doses were achievable only by increasing the number of fractions, which implies that patients would come for more than 8 weeks of daily treatments. These additional treatments are not only burdensome for the patient and family, but can also pose challenge for busy radiotherapy centers.

### 7.2.3 Moderately Hypofractionated Radiotherapy

Moderate hypofractionation for prostate cancer has cautiously been introduced into clinical practice, with the hope of reducing overall treatment time, while maintaining efficacy. Early institutional series laid the ground work for three randomized clinical trials that demonstrated that moderate hypofractionation results in excellent tumor control, acceptable toxicity and increased convenience to patients compared to standard fractionation. Thus, these regimens have been accepted as the new standard as a monotherapy option for favorable intermediate risk patients or as a part of combination with androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) for unfavorable intermediate or high risk patients undergoing treatment with external beam radiotherapy. Table 7.4 summarizes the key clinical trial and pertinent results from moderate hypofractionation series.

RTOG 0415 assessed the role of moderate hypofractionation in low-risk patients in a randomized control trial [23]. Total of 1115 patients were randomized to either receive 73.8 Gy in 41 fractions or 70 Gy in 28 fractions. At a median follow up of 5.8 years, there was no difference in disease free survival (85.3 vs. 86.3%) and acute toxicity between two arms. CHiPP trial is the largest randomized trial, that included 3216 men from the United Kingdom with localized prostate cancer that either received 74 Gy in 37 fractions, 60 Gy in 20 fractions or 57 Gy in 19 fractions [24]. Fifteen percent and 73% of them were low- and intermediate-risk patients, respectively. Five-year biochemical and clinical failure free rates were similar across all three arms: 88.3% in 74 Gy group, 90.6% in 60 Gy group and 85.9% Gy in 57 Gy group. Although there was no difference in late gastrointestinal (GI) toxicity (11.9% vs. 13.4%), there was, however, a trend towards slightly higher genitourinary (GU) toxicity at 5 years with hypofractionated regimen 11.7 versus 9.1% (HR = 1.34, p = 0.07).

In trial by Pollack et al. [25] 303 men with localized intermediate- (66%) and high-risk (34%) disease were randomized to either receive conventionally fractionated RT (76 Gy in 38 fractions) or hypofractionated RT (60.2 Gy in 26 fractions) between 2002 and 2006; low-risk patients were excluded. The 5-year biochemical and clinical disease failure was similar in both arms, 21.4 versus 23.3% and there was no significant difference in acute or late GI or GU toxicity. In the Canadian PROFIT trial 1206 intermediate risk patients were randomly assigned to either receive 78 Gy (standard) or 60 Gy (short) course radiotherapy in 39 or 20 fractions, respectively [26]. Five-year bRFS rate was 85% for both arms (HR = 0.96). The investigators noted a significant increase in grade 2 of higher acute GI toxicity in short arm compared to standard arm, 16.7 vs. 10.5% (p = 0.003); conversely, for late grade 2 of higher toxicity occurred more frequently in standard arm versus short arm, 13.7 versus 8.9%, respectively (p = 0.006). Acute and late grade 2 or higher GU toxicities were similar in both arms. The authors concluded that short fractionation is not inferior to the standard fractionated radiotherapy for intermediate risk patients and is more convenient for patients.

Contrary to other trials, in HYPRO Trial, a phase three randomized non-inferiority trial that compared 78 Gy in 39 fractions to 64.6 Gy in 19 fractions in 820 intermediate and high-risk patients [27], the investigators reported a significantly higher grade 3 or worse late GU toxicity in hypofractionation arm (19.0 vs. 12.9%. p = 0.021). Late grade 2 or worse GI toxicity was similar between two arms at 17.7 and 21.9%. Nonetheless, the investigators could not reject inferiority because the hazard ratios for both GU and GI toxicity were higher than their initial hypothesis. Furthermore, due to high grade 3 or worse GU toxicity observed at 3 years, investigators concluded that non-inferiority of hypofractionation could not be confirmed. It is important to note that only one quarter of the patients in this trial were intermediate risk and remainder were high-risk patients that required long term ADT as well as inclusion of seminal vesicles in the treatment volume. Additionally, the hypofractionation dose in this trial was higher than other contemporary hypofractionation trials, which may explain higher incidence of toxicity. Lastly, the HR for non-inferiority was set much lower in this trial compared to others.

Royce et al. [28] recently conducted a metaanalysis of these 3 non-inferiority randomized trials that evaluated moderately hypofractionated regimens (2.4-4 Gy) compared to conventionally fractionated regimens (1.8-2 Gy). Sixty five perpatients were intermediate cent of risk (n = 3553). Based on random effects model, hypofractionated RT had significantly improved disease-free survival (HR 0.89, p = 0.047) compared to conventionally fractionated RT, however there was no difference in OS. Authors also noted that there was increased grade 2 or higher acute GI toxicity with hypofractionation (RR = 1.42, p = 0.002), but it did not translate into higher late toxicity. A trend towards an increase late G2 or higher GU toxicity was observed with hypofractionation (RR = 1.18, p = 0.08).

#### Summary

Randomized trials have now demonstrated that moderately hypofractionated radiotherapy regimens can provide excellent tumor control and are much more convenient for the patients, compared to conventionally fractionated radiotherapy regimens. The reported bRFS survival ranged from 90.9 to 93.7% 5 years for low-risk disease and 85–86% at 5 years for intermediaterisk disease.

#### 7.2.4 Brachytherapy

Brachytherapy (BT) is an excellent treatment modality as monotherapy for low-risk patients as well as favorable intermediate risk patients.

			Median follow up	Outcome,	
Author (location)	Population	Intervention	(years)	bRFS	Notes
Zelefsky et al. (11 institutions, US) [29]	$N = 2693 \\ LR (n = 1444) \\ IR (n = 960) \\ HR (n = 192)$	LDR monotherapy with either I-125 (68%) or Pd-103 (32%)	5.3	LR: 82% at 8 years IR: 70% HR: 48%	
Sylvester et al. (Seattle, US) [30]	N = 215 LR (73.5%) IR (20.6%) HR (5.1%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125	11.7	LR: 85.9% at 15 years IR: 79.9% HR: 62.2%	
Morris et al. Cancer 2013 (Vancouver, Canada) [31]	N = 1006 LR (58%) IR (42%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125 ADT (65%), 6 months	7.5	96.7% at 5 years 94.1% at 10 years	
Herbert et al. (Vancouver, Canada) [32]	N = 439 all IR	LDR monotherapy with I-125 ADT (94%), 6 months	5	94% at 5 years	
Kollmeier et al. (MSKCC) [38]	N = 236 LR (75%) IR (25%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125 (72% of patients)	6.9	LR: 97% at 8 years IR: 94%	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (14%), GI toxicity (2.5%)
Sekiguchi et al. (Japan) [33]	N = 305 LR (57%) IR (43%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125 ADT (30.5%), 6 months	5.5	Overall 95.5% at 5 years LR: 94.2% IR: 97.3%	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (8.9%), GI (1%)
Kittel et al. (Cleveland Clinic, US) [34]	N = 1989 LR (61.3%) FIR (29.8%) HIR (4.5%) HR (4.4%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125 ADT (18.2%), 6 months (1-48 months)	6.8	Overall 81.5% at 10 years LR: 86.7% LIR: 79.3% HIR: 80.9% at 5 years HR: 67.5% at 5 years	G3 or worse late toxicity—GU (7.6%) and GI (0.8%)
Cosset et al. (Paris, France) [35]	N = 675 LR (67%) FIR (33%)	LDR monotherapy with I-125 ADT (58%)	11	Overall 82% at 10 years LR: 87% IR: 71%	G3 or worse late toxicity at 10 years— GU (0.2%) GI (1.7%)
Prestidge et al. (abstract only) [36]	N = 292, FIR	LDR monotherapy with I-125 or Pd-103	6.7	86% at 5 years	RCT for EBRT + BT vs. BT alone for FIR patients
Frank et al. (MD Anderson, US) [37]	N = 300, FIR	LDR mono with I-125, Pd-103 or Cs-131	5.1	92.7% at 5 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (3%), GI (1%)

 Table 7.5
 Outcomes with LDR monotherapy

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *FIR* favourable intermediate-risk, *LIR* low-tier intermediate risk, *HIR* high-tier intermediate risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *RCT* randomized control trial, *EBRT* external beam radiotherapy, *BT* brachytherapy, *G2* grade 2

Furthermore, BT when combined with either EBRT or ADT (or both) is one of the standard treatment options for intermediate- and selected

high-risk patients, especially after publication of ASCENDE-RT trial (Morris et al. Red Journal 2017). Tables 7.5 and 7.6 summarize

			Median follow		
Author			up		
(location)	Population	Dose Gy/# fractions	(years)	Outcome, bRFS	Notes
Demanes et al. (UCLA and WBH, US) [39]	N = 298 LR and FIR	42/6 (2 implants 1 week apart); or 38/4 (single implant)	5.2	97% at 8 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (28.9%), GI (<1%)
Barkati et al. (Australia) [40]	$\label{eq:states} \begin{split} N &= 79, \\ \text{favourable risk} \\ (\text{T2c, GS} \leq 7, \\ \text{PSA} \leq 10) \end{split}$	30/3, 31.5/3, 33/5, 34.5/3 ADT (9%)	3.3	85.1% at 5 years	G3 or worse late toxicity—GU (20.6%), GI (0%)
Hoskin et al. (UK) [41]	N = 197 LR (4%) IR (52%) HR (44%)	34/4, 36/4, 31.5/3 and 26/2 ADT–IR (74%) and HR (93%)	5, 4.5, 2.8 and 0.5	Overall 91% at 4 years IR (95%) HR (87%)	G3 or worse late toxicity—GU (3–16%), GI (1%)
Zamboglou et al. (Germany) [42]	N = 718 LR (73%) IR (16%) HR (11%)	38/4 (1 implant, n = 121 or 2 implants, n = 351), and 34.5/3 (3 implants, n = 226)	4.4	94% at 5 years 90% at 8 years	G3 or higher late toxicity—GU (3.5%), GI (1.6%)
Ghadjar et al. (Germany) [43]	N = 36 LR (n = 28) IR (n = 8)	38/4 (single implant) ADT (n = 5)	6.9	97% at 5 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (47%), GI (none)
Yoshioka et al. (Japan) [44]	N = 190 IR (42%) HR (58%)	48/8 (n = 7), 54/9 (n = 97) and 45.5/7 (n = 86); single implant ADT-IR (44%) and HR (94%)	7.7	Overall 85% at 8 years IR: 91% HR: 77%	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (13%), GI (2%)
Jawad et al. (William Beaumont, MI) [45]	N = 494 LR (68%) IR (32%)	38/4 (n = 319, 1 implant), 24/2 (n = 79) and 27/2 (n = 96, 1 or 2 implants) ADT (14%)	5.5, 3.5 and 2.5	97%, 87% and 90% at 5 years for 3 dose levels, respectively	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (23%) and GI (4/5%)
Hauswald et al. (UCLA, CA) [46]	N = 448 LR (n = 288) IR (n = 160)	42–43.5/6 (2 implants, 1 week apart) ADT (9.5%)	6.5	97.8% at 10 years	G3 or worse late GU toxicity 4.9%
Patel et al. (UCLA, CA) [47]	N = 190 all IR	43.5/6 (83%, 2 implants, 1 week apart) No ADT	6.2	90% at 8 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (22.6%), GI (1.1%)
Strouthos et al. (Germany) [48]		34.5/3 (3 separate implants) ADT (12.8%)	4.7	5-year bPFS 95%; LR (96.1%), IR (96.1%) and HR (92.1%)	Late G2 or worse toxicity: GU (15%), GI (0.4%)
Prada et al. (Spain) [49]	N = 60 LR (73%) IR (27%)	19/1 ADT (33%)	6	66% at 6 years	No G2 or worse toxicity

 Table 7.6
 Outcomes with HDR Monotherapy

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *RCT* randomized control trial, *EBRT* external beam radiotherapy, *BT* brachytherapy, *G2* grade 2, *G3* grade 3

contemporary series that report long term tumor control outcomes for patients treated with low dose rate (LDR) and high dose rate brachytherapy (LDR), respectively.

#### 7.2.4.1 Low Dose Rate Brachytherapy

With improvement in brachytherapy approach using trans-rectal ultrasound (TRUS) in the 1980s and introduction of stable low energy radioisotopes, LDR brachytherapy became an established and popular treatment modality for low risk and favorable intermediate risk prostate cancer. Zelefsky et al. [29] reported long-term results of 2693 patients with localised prostate cancer treated with I-125 or palladium-103 (Pd-103) implantation by pooling data from 11 institutions across the US and Canada. At median followup of 5.3 years, 8-year bRFS was 82 and 70% for low- and intermediate-risk patients treated with LDR monotherapy alone. The Seattle group has the longest reported outcomes of low-, intermediate- and high-risk patients treated with LDR monotherapy with I-125 seeds [30]. At median follow up of 11.3 years, they reported 15-year bRFS of 85.9 and 79.9% for low risk (n = 158) and intermediate risk (n = 44) patients, respectively. Others have similarly reported excellent institutional results of patients treated with LDR brachytherapy with or without short term (6 month) androgen deprivation therapy [31–35]. The median (range) bRFS for low-risk patients treated with LDR brachytherapy with or without ADT is reported to be 87% (82–94%) at a median of 10 years (5–15 years) follow up. Outcome for intermediate-risk patients treated with LDR brachytherapy with or without ADT were 83% (70-97%) at median follow up of 6.5 years (5-15 years).

While the above reported results are from retrospective registries, only two prospective trials of LDR monotherapy for intermediate risk patients have been reported so far [36, 37]. Results from RTOG 0232 study, where selected IR patients were randomized to receive either EBRT+LDR BT or BT alone have been presented in abstract form only [36]. At median follow up of 6.7 years, they showed that 5-year bRFS for IR patients treated with LDR monotherapy was 86%. Similarly, Frank et al. [37] in a prospective phase 2 trial reported 5-year bRFS of 93% for favorable IR patients treated with I-125, Pd-103 or Cs-131 monotherapy.

#### 7.2.4.2 High Dose Rate Brachytherapy

High dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy has most commonly been used in the boost setting with EBRT for unfavorable intermediate- or high-risk patients. Demanes et al. [39] were the first to report utilization of HDR brachytherapy as monotherapy for localized prostate cancer by pooling patients from California Endocurietherapy Cancer Center (CET) and William Beaumont Hospital (WBH). Patients either received 42 Gy in six fractions in two separate implants, 1 week apart (CET) or 38 Gy in four fractions in a single implant (WBH). All patients were low risk or favourable intermediate risk. At median follow up of 5.2 years, 8-year bRFS was 97% with minimal G2 or worse GI toxicity and favorable G2 or worse GU toxicity (29%). Barkati et al. [40] performed phase 1 dose escalation study of delivering 30 Gy, 31.5 Gy, 33 Gy and 34.5 Gy in 3 fractions in a single implant and reported 5-year bRFS of 85% in favorable IR patients treated with HDR monotherapy. They, however, observed a high rate late urinary retention due to urethral stricture (9%). Hoskin et al. [41] reported their dose escalation study from United Kingdom, that included mostly intermediate and high risk patients and majority of them received ADT. With favorable GI and GU toxicity profile, they reported 4-year bRFS of 95% for intermediate risk patients. Most importantly they reported feasibility of delivering HDR monotherapy in two fractions using CT and MRI based planning techniques. Zamboglou et al. has so far reported the largest series of men with localized prostate cancer undergoing HDR brachytherapy [42]. Eighty-nine percent were low- and intermediate-risk patients. They reported cumulative 5- and 8-year bRFS of 94% and 90%, respectively for entire cohort, with low grade 3 or worse late GI and GU toxicity.

In recent years there have been multiple institutional reports confirming favourable bRFS outcomes with acceptable GU and GI toxicity with HDR brachytherapy [43–49]. Most authors have reported bRFS of 97% (66–98%) for combined cohorts of low- and intermediate risk patients and at median follow up 6.0 years (5.0–10.0 years). Others, who stratified patients according to the risk grouping report 95% bRFS at 5 years for low risk disease and 93% (90–96%) at 6.5 years (4–8 years) for intermediate risk disease.

#### Summary

Brachytherapy has proven to be an excellent treatment modality for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. While, LDR has proven record in low-risk disease with established dose, HDR practice still has significant heterogeneity in terms of total dose and number of fractions. Median 10and 6.5-year bRFS in low- and intermediate-risk patients treated with LDR is reported to be 87% (82-94%) and 83% (70-97%), respectively. Corresponding rates with HDR at 5- and 6.5years are 96 and 93% (90-96%) for low-and intermediate risk patients, respectively. Even, though both LDR and HDR options are available for this cohort of patients, they are, however, limited mostly to large academic centers. Furthermore, interest in brachytherapy has been declining, in part due to decline in trained radiation oncologists who can perform brachytherapy. Improvement in external beam technologies and advent of moderate and extreme hypofractionation have further reduced its utilization in most recent decade.

#### 7.2.5 Proton Beam Therapy

There has been an increased interest in utilizing favorable dose profile of proton beam to treat prostate cancer. The rationale for using protons in radiotherapy arises due to the physics that account for the way that conventional high energy x-rays (photons) and protons deposit their energy in the patient. Unlike x-rays, for proton beam therapy (PBT) the energy deposited per unit distance increases markedly as the proton slows down, producing a sharp peak (the Bragg peak) of energy at the end of the proton range. Very little energy is deposited distal to the Bragg peak. The beneficial effect of the Bragg peak is utilized to decrease the dose deposited outside the prostate, especially in the rectum, thus potentially resulting in lower toxicity.

Zeitman et al. [22] first utilized protons for dose escalation trial (RTOG 95-09) in low-(n = 115) and intermediate-risk (n = 68) patients. They successfully increased the dose to 79.2 CGE using conventional fractionation and reported excellent bRFS at 10 years: 92.9% for low-risk and 69.6% for intermediate-risk. University of Florida Health Proton Therapy Institute has published their experience in treating prostate cancer with protons in a series of publications and report 5 year bRFS of 99% for low-risk patients and 93-99% for intermediate risk patients [50–52]. The rate of grade 3 or worse GI and GU toxicity was very low in their cohorts: 0.5-1.0% and 1.7-4.8%, respectively. Recently, Japanese investigators have reported 8-year bRFS of 95% for low-risk patients and 87% for intermediate risk patients treated with 74 CGE using PBT [53]. They also reported very low rates of GI and GU toxicity.

#### Summary

Proton beam therapy is an emerging treatment modality for localized prostate cancer. Although initial data suggest good biochemical control rates [98% (93–99%) for low-risk patients and 93% (70–99%) for intermediate risk patient at 5 years], additional studies with longer term follow up are required to validate these findings. Furthermore, the PBT is being delivered with conventional fractionation regimen, that provides the same logistic challenges as the conventionally fractionated radiotherapy discussed earlier. Hypofractionated PBT regimens are being studied, but to date there are no published data available (Table 7.7).

Author (location)	Population	Dose	Median follow up (years)	Outcome, bRFS	Notes
Mendenhall et al. (Jacksonville, US) [50]	N = 211  LR (n = 82)  IR (n = 82)  HR (n = 40)	LR: 78 CGE IR: 78–82 CGE HR: 78 + Chemo	5	LR: 99% at 5 years IR: 99% HR: 76%	Late G3 or worse GU toxicity 4.8%; GI 1.0%
Zietman et al. (RTOG 95-09) [22]	N = 195 LR (59%) IR (35%)	79.2 CGE in 39 fractions	8.9	LR: 92.9% at 10 years IR: 69.6%	RCT of low dose (70.2 CGE) vs. high dose (79.2 CGE); no difference in OS
Bryant et al. (Jacksonville, US) [51]	LR (n = 512) IR (n = 527)	$\geq$ 78 CGE in 39 fractions	5.3	LR: 99% at 5 years IR: 94%	Late G3 or worse GU and GI toxicity: 2.9% and 0.6%
Henderson et al. (Jacksonville, US) [52]	LR (n = 120) IR (n = 95)	LR 70 CGE in 28 fractions; IR 72.5 CGE in 29 fractions	5.2	LR: 98.3% at 5 years IR: 92.7%	Late G3 or worse GU and GI toxicity: 1.7% and 0.5%
Takagi et al. (Japan) [53]	LR (n = 249) IR (n = 602)	74 Gy RBE in 2 Gy RBE fractions	5.8	LR: 95% at 8 years IR: 87%	Late G2 or more GU and GI toxicity: 2.0% and 3.9%

 Table 7.7 Outcomes with proton beam therapy

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *RCT* randomized control trial, *G2* grade 2, *G3* grade 3

# 7.2.6 Extreme Hypofractionation Aka SBRT

Hypofractionated radiotherapy for prostate cancer has been studied since the 1960s [54]. Early experience using 36 Gy delivered in 6 Gy fractions reported minimal acute and long-term toxicity with this approach. This early experience utilized relatively crude planning techniques as compared with more modern approaches, however despite this; hypofractionated therapy appeared to be safe. Since this early experience, many subsequent studies have demonstrated that toxicity of hypofractionated regimens using brachytherapy or external beam radiation appear at least comparable if not more favorable to conventionally fractionated regimens [39, 55-59]. Extreme hypofractionation and stereotactic techniques were not routinely utilized in treatment of prostate cancer until mid 2000s when significant developments in radiation planning and delivery were introduced. A medline/pubmed search using MESH terms "prostate" and "stereotactic radiotherapy" yielded only 42 results between 1995 and 2004, whereas 305 publications were found with same MESH terms for years 2005–2014, indicating significant increase in number of publications and interest in prostate SBRT. Baker et al. (Cancer 2016) analysed the US National Cancer Database on utilization of SBRT and found that in 2012 there were approximately 7.6 and 3.2% of patients were being treated SBRT at academic and comprehensive cancer centers, respectively across US, compared to zero in 2004

There are several advantages of SBRT, that have resulted in adoption of this technique:

- 1. Low  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio of 1.5 for prostate cancer indicates that potentially there may be higher effect of tumor control with hypofractionation compared to conventional fractionation.
- 2. Due to rectal  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio higher than prostate (3 vs. 1.5), late rectal complications may be decreased for a given level of tumor control
- 3. Patient convenience and possibly improved quality of life with fewer fractions, compared to 7–9 weeks of treatments with conventional fractionation.

 Potential benefit of cost efficiency for cancer center as the equipment utilization and staffing may be more efficient with fewer fractions.

#### 7.2.6.1 Early Results

While earlier publications focused on feasibility and toxicity of SBRT, recently clinical outcomes of patients being treated with SBRT have been reported and these are summarized in Table 7.8. King et al. [60] from UCLA, reported outcomes in 67 low-risk patients treated with 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions using Cyberknife<sup>™</sup> technology. At median follow up of 2.7 years, 4-year bRFS was 94% with only 2 PSA and biopsy proven local failures. At median follow up of 3.7 years Mcbride et al. reported 3-year actuarial bPFS of 97.7% in 47 low risk patients treat at 4 different cancer centers with doses ranging between 36.35 to 37.5 Gy in 5 fractions [61]. Aluwini et al. [62] from Erasmus Cancer Center included both low (60%) and intermediate-risk (40%) patients and increased the dose to 38 Gy to entire prostate with integrated boost of 55 Gy to the dominant intraprostatic lesion in 5 fractions. At median follow up of 23 months, 2-year biochemical control rate was 100% with acute grade 2 and 3 GI toxicity of 12 and 2% and late grade 2 higher GI toxicity of only 3%. Loblaw et al. reported results of prospective Phase I/II trial of delivering 35 Gy in 5 once weekly fractions in 29 days using linear accelerator-based treatment delivery systems [63]. The 5-year biochemical control in their low-risk cohort of patients was 98%. They also performed biopsies at 36 months from completion of treatment on all patients enrolled in the trial and found that 96% of the patients had negative biopsy.

Katz and Kang have published the largest SBRT series to date, that included 470 (324 low-risk and 153 intermediate-risk) patients treated with 35–36.25 Gy in 5 fractions [64]. Eleven percent of patients received 6 months of neoadjuvant and concurrent ADT. They reported 7-year actuarial bPFS of 95.6 and 89.6% for low- and intermediate risk patients, respectively. They further stratified their intermediate cohort into low-tier and high-tier groups and found that there was statistically significant difference in bPFS (93.5 vs. 79.3%) between the two groups. Updated results of 230 low-risk patients treated with either 35 Gy/5 fractions of 36.25 Gy/5 fractions were recently reported [65]. With a median follow up of 9 years, 10-year bDFS was 95.8% without any difference between two dose levels. The only difference reported was in G3 GU toxicity: 4 vs. 15% in 35 and 36.25 Gy cohorts, respectively.

Hannan et al. included 36% low-risk and 64% intermediate risk patients from five cancer centers across the US in phase I/II dose escalation trial [66]. They delivered 45 Gy (n = 15), 47.5 Gy (n = 15) and 50 Gy (n = 62) in 5 fractions and reported 3- and 5-year actuarial freedom from biochemical failure rate of 100 and 98.6% for the entire cohort. They, however, observed 7% rate of grade 3 of higher GI toxicity at 5 years, which was indeed higher than that reported in contemporary prostate cancer literature. Kotecha et al. recently reported their results of phase II trial of integrated dose escalation for dominant lesion in 24 high tier intermediate and high-risk patients [67]. They treated the entire prostate to 36.25 Gy, while boosting the dominant lesion to 50 Gy in 5 fractions. Sixty seven percent of patients received ADT for a median of 6 months (range 4-30.5 months). Early results indicate, 2-year bRFS of 95.8% at median follow of 25 months, with only 2 relapses both occurring in high risk patients.

#### Summary

SBRT demonstrates excellent early outcomes for patients with low and intermediate risk disease. Follow up is short to have meaningful comparison with other modalities. Nonetheless, available data suggests bRFS of 97% (94–98%) at 4.5 years for low-risk patients, 90% at 8 years for intermediate-risk patients and 99% (96–100%) at 2 years for patient cohorts with mixed lowand intermediate-risk patients. Pooled analysis

			Follow		
		Dose Gy/#	up		
Author	Population, sample	fractions	(years)	Outcome, bRFS	Notes
King et al. UCLA and Stanford, CA) [68]	N = 67, all LR (phase II)	36.25 Gy/5 (Cyberknife)	2.7	94% at 4 years	Very low rates of G2/3 GI and GU toxicities
McBride et al. (4 US cancer centers) [61]	N = 45, all LR	37.5 Gy/5 (n = 10) or 36.25 Gy/5 (n = 34) (Cyberknife)	3.7	97.7% at 3 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (17%), GI (7%)
Aluwini et al. (Erasmus, Netherlands) [62]	N = 50 LR (n = 30) IR (n = 20)	38 Gy/4 (DIL boost to 44/4)	2	100% at 2 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (20%), GI (3%)
Loblaw et al. (Toronto, Canada) [63]	N = 84, all LR (phase I/II)	35/5, once weekly over 29 days (LINAC)	4.6	98% at 5 years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (5%), GI (7%)
Katz and Kang (New York, US) [64]	N = 470 LR (n = 324) IR (n = 153)	35 Gy/5 (n = 154), 36.25 Gy/5 (n = 316) (Cyberknife) ADT (n = 51)	6	LR: 95.6% at 7 years IR: 89.6%	SS difference in FIR and UIR patients. G3 or worse late toxicity—GU (1.7%)
Hannan et al. (5 US centers) [66]	N = 91 LR (36%) IR (64%) (phase I/II)	45/5 (n = 15), 47.5/5 (n = 15) 50/5 (n = 62) ADT (16.5%)	4.5	Overall 98.6% at 5 years LR: 100% IR: 98%	G3 or worse late toxicity—GU (6%), GI (8%)
Katz, A [65]	N = 230, all LR	35/5 (n = 41) 36.25/5 (n = 190) CyberKnife	9	93.7% at 10 years; no difference between 2 dose levels	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (12%), GI (4%)
Kotecha et al. (Cleveland, OH) [67]	N = 24 IR and HR patients (phase II)	36.25/5 (boost to 50/5 way from OARs)	2.1	95.8% at years	G2 or worse late toxicity—GU (8%), GI (8%)
King et al. [68]	N = 1100 LR (58%) IR (30%) HR (11%) Pooled analysis of phase I/II trials for localized prostate cancer	36.35 (35-40)/5	3	Overall 93% at 5 years LR: 95% IR: 84% HR: 81%	For patients with 5 year follow up: 5-year bRFS was 99% for LR and 93% for IR

<b>Table 7.8</b> (	Jutcomes w	ith SBRT
--------------------	------------	----------

*bRFS* biochemical relapse free survival, *LR* low-risk, *IR* intermediate-risk, *HR* high-risk, *AS* active surveillance, *PSA* prostate specific antigen, *ADT* androgen deprivation therapy, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *RCT* randomized control trial, *G2* grade 2, *DIL* dominant intraprostatic lesion, *LINAC* linear accelerator

of multiple phase I/II trials also show 5-year DFS of 95 and 84% for low- and intermediate-risk patients respectively [68]. These are promising

results when compared to other modalities as illustrated in Fig. 7.1. Furthermore, given the convenience conferred by the SBRT regimens


Fig. 7.1 Comparison of reported biochemical relapse free survival with various treatment modalities in series that reported low-risk patients (a), intermediate-risk patients (b) or both low- and intermediate-risk patients (c)



Fig. 7.1 (continued)

for patients and treatment centers it has become very attractive options. In the coming years, once more mature data is available, SBRT will become one of the standard treatment option as a monotherapy for low and intermediate risk patients.

Combination of external beam radiotherapy with brachytherapy has established as standard treatment option for intermediate prostate cancer as demonstrated in ASCENDE-RT randomized trial [69]. There is adequate emerging evidence that SBRT, as it is well tolerated by the patients may be better treatment option for low-tier intermediate risk patients as monotherapy, as well as for high-tier intermediate risk patients in combination brachytherapy. This later hypothesis has been tested in prospective manner by the MSKCC group, but the results have not been published yet (personal communication). Furthermore, SBRT may also have a role in treatment of patients in high risk category. Recently published, multi-institutional retrospective analysis of high risk patients (GS 9-10) has also confirmed that combination of EBRT and brachytherapy results in improved local and distant control as well as there may be an improvement in overall survival [70]. SBRT should be studied in a prospective randomized manner to evaluate its efficacy against conventional EBRT in the setting of combined modality treatment of high risk patients.

#### 7.3 Conclusion

With advancement in image guidance and availability of protective measures such as rectal spacer, SBRT has become relatively easy to deliver and convenient treatment choice for patients, with minimal toxicity. It is conceivable that in near future, SBRT would be the primary form of external beam treatment for prostate cancer patients.

**Disclosures** Dr. Zelefsky serves as a consultant for Augmenix.

## References

- Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Fractionation and protraction for radiotherapy of prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(5):1095–101.
- Brenner DJ, Martinez AA, Edmundson GK, Mitchell C, Thames HD, Armour EP. Direct evidence that prostate tumors show high sensitivity to fractionation (low alpha/beta ratio), similar to late-responding normal tissue. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;52(1):6–13.
- Dasu A. Is the alpha/beta value for prostate tumours low enough to be safely used in clinical trials? Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2007;19(5):289–301.
- Schuessler WW, Schulam PG, Clayman RV, Kavoussi LR. Laparoscopic radical prostatectomy: initial shortterm experience. Urology. 1997;50(6):854–7.
- Binder J, Kramer W. Robotically-assisted laparoscopic radical prostatectomy. BJU Int. 2001;87(4):408–10.
- Louis AS, Kalnin R, Maganti M, Pintilie M, Matthew AG, Finelli A, et al. Oncologic outcomes following radical prostatectomy in the active surveillance era. Can Urol Assoc J. 2013;7(7–8):e475–80.
- Mullins JK, Feng Z, Trock BJ, Epstein JI, Walsh PC, Loeb S. The impact of anatomical radical retropubic prostatectomy on cancer control: the 30-year anniversary. J Urol. 2012;188(6):2219–24.
- Røder MA, Berg KD, Gruschy L, Brasso K, Cancer IP. First Danish single-institution experience with radical prostatectomy: biochemical outcome in 1200 consecutive patients. Prostate Cancer. 2011;2011:5.
- Diaz M, Peabody JO, Kapoor V, Sammon J, Urology RCG. Oncologic outcomes at 10 years following robotic radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2015;67(6):1168–76.
- Kane CJ, Im R, Amling CL, Presti JC, Aronson WJ, Terris MK, et al. Outcomes after radical prostatectomy among men who are candidates for active surveillance: results from the SEARCH database. Urology. 2010;76 (3):695–700.
- Menon M, Bhandari M, Gupta N, Lane Z, Peabody JO, Rogers CG, et al. Biochemical recurrence following robot-assisted radical prostatectomy: analysis of 1384 patients with a median 5-year follow-up. Eur Urol. 2010;58(6):838–46.
- Nivedita B-D, Reuther AM, Zippe C, Klein EA. No difference in six-year biochemical failure rates with or without pelvic lymph node dissection during radical prostatectomy in low-risk patients with localized prostate cancer. Urology. 2004;63(3):528–31.
- Zelefsky MJ, Fuks ZVI, Hunt M, Lee HJ, Lombardi D, Ling C, et al. High dose radiation delivered by

intensity modulated conformal radiotherapy improves the outcome of localized prostate cancer. J Urol. 2001;166(3):876–81.

- Pollack A, Zagars GK, Starkschall G, Antolak JA. Prostate cancer radiation dose response: results of the MD Anderson phase III randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;53(5):1097–105.
- 15. Peeters S, Heemsbergen WD, Koper P, van Putten W, Slot A, Dielwart M, et al. Dose-response in radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: results of the Dutch multicenter randomized phase III trial comparing 68 Gy of radiotherapy with 78 Gy. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(13):1990–6.
- Kuban DA, Tucker SL, Dong L, Starkschall G, Huang EH, Cheung MR, et al. Long-term results of the M. D. Anderson randomized dose-escalation trial for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(1):67–74.
- Heemsbergen WD, Abrahim A-M, Slot A, Dielwart MF, Lebesque JV. Long-term results of the Dutch randomized prostate cancer trial: impact of doseescalation on local, biochemical, clinical failure, and survival. Radiother Oncol. 2014;110(1):104–9.
- Zelefsky MJ, Yamada Y, Fuks Z, Zhang Z, Hunt M, Cahlon O, et al. Long-term results of conformal radiotherapy for prostate cancer: impact of dose escalation on biochemical tumor control and distant metastasesfree survival outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(4):1028–33.
- Eade TN, Hanlon AL, Horwitz EM, Buyyounouski MK, Hanks GE, Pollack A. What dose of externalbeam radiation is high enough for prostate cancer? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(3):682–9.
- 20. Dearnaley DP, Sydes MR, Graham JD, Aird EG, Bottomley D, Cowan R, et al. Escalated-dose versus standard-dose conformal radiotherapy in prostate cancer: first results from the MRC RT01 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(6):475–87.
- Kalbasi A, Li J, Berman A, Samuel S-M, Smaldone M, Uzzo RG, et al. Dose-escalated irradiation and overall survival in men with nonmetastatic prostate cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(7):897–906.
- 22. Zietman AL, Bae K, Slater JD, Shipley WU, Efstathiou JA, Coen JJ, et al. Randomized trial comparing conventional-dose with high-dose conformal radiation therapy in early-stage adenocarcinoma of the prostate: long-term results from proton radiation oncology group/american college of radiology 95-09. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(7):1106–11.
- 23. Lee RW, Dignam JJ, Amin MB, Bruner DW, Low D, Swanson GP, et al. Randomized phase III noninferiority study comparing two radiotherapy fractionation schedules in patients with low-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(20):2325–32.
- 24. Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H, Khoo V, Birtle A, Bloomfield D, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1047–60.
- 25. Pollack A, Walker G, Horwitz EM, Price R, Feigenberg S, Konski AA, et al. Randomized trial of

hypofractionated external-beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(31):3860–8.

- 26. Catton CN, Lukka H, Gu C-SS, Martin JM, Supiot S, Chung PWMWM, et al. Randomized trial of a hypofractionated radiation regimen for the treatment of localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35 (17):1884–90.
- 27. Aluwini S, Pos F, Schimmel E, Krol S, van der Toorn PP, de Jager H, et al. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for patients with prostate cancer (HYPRO): late toxicity results from a randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(4):464–74.
- Royce T, Lee D, Keum N, Permpalung N, Chiew CJ, Epstein S, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer: a metaanalysis of randomized noninferiority trials. Eur Urol Focus. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euf.2017.10.011.
- Zelefsky MJ, Deborah AK, Larry BL, Potters L, David CB, John CB, et al. Multi-institutional analysis of long-term outcome for stages T1-T2 prostate cancer treated with permanent seed implantation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67(2):327–33.
- 30. Sylvester JE, Grimm PD, Wong J, Galbreath RW, Merrick G, Blasko JC. Fifteen-year biochemical relapse-free survival, cause-specific survival, and overall survival following I(125) prostate brachytherapy in clinically localized prostate cancer: Seattle experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81 (2):376–81.
- Morris WJ, Keyes M, Spadinger I, Kwan W, Liu M, McKenzie M, et al. Population-based 10-year oncologic outcomes after low-dose-rate brachytherapy for low-risk and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Cancer. 2013;119(8):1537–46.
- 32. Herbert C, James WM, Keyes M, Hamm J, Lapointe V, McKenzie M, et al. Outcomes following iodine-125 brachytherapy in patients with Gleason 7, intermediate risk prostate cancer: a populationbased cohort study. Radiother Oncol [Internet]. 2012;103(2):228–32.
- 33. Sekiguchi A, Ishiyama H, Satoh T, Tabata K, Komori S, Tsumura H, et al. 125Iodine monotherapy for Japanese men with low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: outcomes after 5 years of follow-up. J Radiat Res. 2014;55(2):328–33.
- 34. Kittel JA, Reddy CA, Smith KL, Stephans KL, Tendulkar RD, Ulchaker J, et al. Long-term efficacy and toxicity of low-dose-rate <sup>125</sup>I prostate brachytherapy as monotherapy in low-, intermediate-, and highrisk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(4):884–93.
- 35. Cosset J, Flam T, Belin L, Thiounn N, Pierrat N, Pontvert D, et al. Long-term results of permanent implant prostate cancer brachytherapy: a singleinstitution study of 675 patients treated between 1999 and 2003. Cancer Radiother. 2016;20(4):261–7.
- 36. Prestidge BR, Winter K, Sanda MG, Amin M, Bice WS, Michalski J, et al. Initial report of NRG oncology/ RTOG 0232: a phase 3 study comparing combined external beam radiation and transperineal interstitial

permanent brachytherapy with brachytherapy alone for selected patients with intermediate-risk prostatic carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(2): S4.

- 37. Frank SJ, Pugh TJ, Blanchard P, Mahmood U, Graber WJ, Kudchadker RJ, et al. Prospective phase 2 trial of permanent seed implantation prostate brachytherapy for intermediate-risk localized prostate cancer: efficacy, toxicity, and quality of life outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2018;100(2):374–82.
- 38. Kollmeier MA, Fidaleo A, Pei X, Cohen G, Zaider M, Mo Q, et al. Favourable long-term outcomes with brachytherapy-based regimens in men ≤60 years with clinically localized prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2013;111(8):1231–6.
- 39. Demanes DJ, Martinez AA, Ghilezan M, Hill DR, Schour L, Brandt D, et al. High-dose-rate monotherapy: safe and effective brachytherapy for patients with localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(5):1286–92.
- 40. Barkati M, Williams SG, Foroudi F, Tai KH, Chander S, van Dyk S, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy as a monotherapy for favorable-risk prostate cancer: a Phase II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(5):1889–96.
- 41. Hoskin P, Rojas A, Lowe G, Bryant L, Ostler P, Hughes R, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy alone for localized prostate cancer in patients at moderate or high risk of biochemical recurrence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(4):1376–84.
- 42. Zamboglou N, Tselis N, Baltas D, Buhleier T, Martin T, Milickovic N, et al. High-dose-rate interstitial brachytherapy as monotherapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: treatment evolution and mature results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;85 (3):672–8.
- 43. Ghadjar P, Oesch SL, Rentsch CA, Isaak B, Cihoric N, Manser P, et al. Late toxicity and five year outcomes after high-dose-rate brachytherapy as a monotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:122.
- 44. Yoshioka Y, Suzuki O, Isohashi F, Seo Y. High-doserate brachytherapy as monotherapy for intermediateand high-risk prostate cancer: clinical results for a median 8-year follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(4):675–82.
- 45. Jawad MS, Dilworth JT, Gustafson GS, Ye H, Wallace M, Martinez A, et al. Outcomes associated with 3 treatment schedules of high-dose-rate brachytherapy monotherapy for favorable-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94 (4):657–66.
- 46. Hauswald H, Kamrava MR, Fallon JM, Wang P-CC, Park S-JJ, Van T, et al. High-dose-rate monotherapy for localized prostate cancer: 10-year results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(4):667–74.
- 47. Patel S, Demanes DJ, Ragab O, Zhang M, Veruttipong D, Nguyen K, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy monotherapy without androgen deprivation therapy for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Brachytherapy. 2017;16(2):299–305.

- 48. Strouthos I, Tselis N, Chatzikonstantinou G, Butt S, Baltas D, Bon D, et al. High dose rate brachytherapy as monotherapy for localised prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2018;126(2):270–7.
- 49. Prada PJ, Cardenal J, Blanco AG, Anchuelo J, Ferri M, Fernández G, et al. High-dose-rate interstitial brachytherapy as monotherapy in one fraction for the treatment of favorable stage prostate cancer: toxicity and long-term biochemical results. Radiother Oncol. 2016;119(3):411–6.
- Mendenhall NP, Hoppe BS, Nichols RC, Mendenhall WM, Morris CG, Li Z, et al. Five-year outcomes from 3 prospective trials of image-guided proton therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88 (3):596–602.
- 51. Bryant C, Smith TL, Henderson RH, Hoppe BS, Mendenhall WM, Nichols RC, et al. Five-year biochemical results, toxicity, and patient-reported quality of life after delivery of dose-escalated image guided proton therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95(1):422–34.
- 52. Henderson RH, Bryant C, Hoppe BS, Nichols CR, Mendenhall WM, Flampouri S, et al. Five-year outcomes from a prospective trial of image-guided accelerated hypofractionated proton therapy for prostate cancer. Acta Oncol (Madr). 2017;56(7):1–8.
- Takagi M, Demizu Y, Terashima K, Fujii O, Jin D, Niwa Y, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients treated with proton therapy for localized prostate cancer. Cancer Med. 2017;6(10):2234–43.
- 54. Collins CD, Lloyd-Davies RW, Swan AV. Radical external beam radiotherapy for localised carcinoma of the prostate using a hypofractionation technique. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 1991;3(3):127–32.
- 55. Katz AJ, Santoro M, Diblasio F, Ashley R. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: disease control and quality of life at 6 years. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:118.
- 56. Tang CI, Loblaw DA, Cheung P, Holden L, Oncology MG. Phase I/II study of a five-fraction hypofractionated accelerated radiotherapy treatment for low-risk localised prostate cancer: early results of pHART3. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2008;20 (10):729–37.
- 57. Martinez A, Gonzalez J, Spencer W, Gustafson G, Kestin L, Kearney D, et al. Conformal high dose rate brachytherapy improves biochemical control and cause specific survival in patients with prostate cancer and poor prognostic factors. J Urol. 2003;169 (3):974–80.
- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67 (4):1099–105.
- Bhattasali O, Chen LN, Woo J, Park J-WW, Kim JS, Moures R, et al. Patient-reported outcomes following

stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9(1):52.

- 60. King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82.
- McBride S, Wong D, Dombrowski JJ, Harkins B, Tepella P, Hanscom H, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 2012;118(15):3681–90.
- 62. Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, Kirkels W, Kolkman-Deurloo I-K, Bangma C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:84.
- 63. Loblaw A, Cheung P, D'Alimonte L, Deabreu A, Mamedov A, Zhang L, et al. Prostate stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy using a standard linear accelerator: toxicity, biochemical, and pathological outcomes. Radiother Oncol. 2013;107(2):153–8.
- 64. Katz AJ, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as treatment for organ confined low- and intermediaterisk prostate carcinoma, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:240.
- Katz A. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: a ten-year analysis. Cureus. 2017;9 (9):e1668.
- 66. Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie X-J, Cho LC, Kavanagh BD, Brindle J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer-Results from a multi-institutional clinical trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51.
- 67. Kotecha R, Djemil T, Tendulkar RD, Reddy CA, Thousand RA, Vassil A, et al. Dose-escalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer: initial dosimetry analysis and patient outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95(3):960–4.
- 68. King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, Fuller D, Bolzicco G, Collins S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiother Oncol. 2013;109(2):217–21.
- 69. Morris WJ, Tyldesley S, Rodda S, Halperin R, Pai H, Michael M, et al. Androgen suppression combined with elective nodal and dose escalated radiation therapy (the ASCENDE-RT trial): an analysis of survival endpoints for a randomized trial comparing a lowdose-rate brachytherapy boost to a dose-escalated external beam boost for high- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;98(2):275–85.
- 70. Kishan AU, Cook RR, Ciezki JP, Ross AE, Pomerantz MM, Nguyen PL, et al. Radical prostatectomy, external beam radiotherapy, or external beam radiotherapy with brachytherapy boost and disease progression and mortality in patients with Gleason score 9-10 prostate cancer. JAMA. 2018;319(9):896–905.



Overview of Toxicity Outcomes with Prostate SBRT and Comparison to Other Treatment Interventions (Urinary, Rectal and Sexual Outcomes)

Michael C. Repka, Simeng Suy, Shaan K. Kataria, Thomas P. Kole, Ima Paydar, Brian T. Collins, Jonathan W. Lischalk, Olusola Obayomi-Davies, and Sean P. Collins

### 8.1 Introduction

Prostate cancer is the most common cancer diagnosis amongst adult males in the United States, with an expected 161,360 new diagnoses in the United States in 2017 [1]. Less than 10% of these patients will present with metastatic disease, and the vast majority of cases are considered curable at diagnosis. The prognosis with localized disease is typically excellent compared to other cancers, with 5 and 10 year cancer specific survival rates approaching 100%. The Prostate Testing for Cancer and Treatment (ProtecT) trial, a recently

O. Obayomi-Davies

Precision Radiation Oncology, Crozer Chester Medical Center, Upland, PA, USA e-mail: olusola.obayomi-davies@crozer.org published large randomized study which compared radical prostatectomy, conventionally fractionated external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), and active surveillance in patients with low-risk prostate cancer failed to identify a difference in efficacy between surgery and radiation [2]. Consequently, the toxicity associated with each treatment and resultant effect on quality of life (QoL) are arguably more important in selecting an intervention strategy for prostate cancer than for other malignancies. Detailed QoL data collected from this trial reveals marked differences in these interventions [3].

Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) has gained acceptance for many disease sites over the past several years, but the concept is not entirely new in principle for prostate cancer. A retrospective study from the United Kingdom reported on the feasibility and safety of delivering 36 Gy in six fractions to patients over 20 years beginning in 1964 [4]. Despite the limited technology and lack of image-guided therapy, the authors nonetheless concluded that hypofractionation is not only an "economical use of scarce resources, but even more important, is less wearing for patients than daily fractionation." Even in light of these promising findings, the current movement towards extreme hypofractionation has only been possible with the development of

M. C. Repka · S. Suy · S. K. Kataria · I. Paydar · B. T. Collins · J. W. Lischalk · S. P. Collins (⊠) Department of Radiation Medicine, Georgetown University Hospital, Washington DC, USA e-mail: michael.c.repka@gunet.georgetown.edu; simeng.suy@gunet.georgetown.edu; shaan.k.kataria@gunet.georgetown.edu; ima.paydar@gunet.georgetown.edu; collinsb@gunet. georgetown.edu; jonathan.lischalk@gunet.georgetown. edu; spc9@gunet.georgetown.edu

T. P. Kole

Department of Radiation Oncology, The Valley Health Hospital, Ridgewood, NJ, USA e-mail: koleth@valleyhealth.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_8

advanced radiation techniques, precise image guidance, and a more refined understanding of the radiobiology of prostate cancer.

The development of modern SBRT techniques for prostate cancer has generally been a success, as most studies have demonstrated comparable rates of rectal, urinary, and sexual toxicity without a compromise in efficacy. However, identification of the appropriate dose and number of fractions has not been without setbacks, and the margin for error with extreme hypofractionation is almost certainly narrower than with conventional schedules [5]. In this chapter, toxicity following SBRT for localized prostate cancer is reviewed, with an emphasis on preventative measures, symptom management, and comparison of morbidity to that observed using other treatment strategies.

### 8.2 Genitourinary Morbidity

### 8.2.1 Profile and Etiology of Acute Genitourinary Morbidity

The most common acute side effects in patients treated with SBRT for prostate cancer affect the

genitourinary system. The pattern of acute toxicity in these patients is well established, and similar in nature to patients treated with conventionally fractionated external beam radiotherapy techniques. Symptoms are most pronounced in the week following treatment, typically persist at 1 month, and resolve to baseline 3 months after treatment [6]. The severity of acute symptoms is similar to IMRT and may be less than brachytherapy (Table 8.1). The most common urinary symptoms patient's experience during SBRT are urinary frequency, weak stream, and dysuria while other symptoms such as incontinence and hematuria are not typically seen during and immediately following treatment. While acute morbidity does not appear worse with moderately hypofractionated therapy [14–16], medical management of urinary toxicity may be required more frequently during extremely hypofractionated treatment [17].

The etiology of acute urinary toxicity is not perfectly understood, though three factors are usually indicated: prostate size, urethral dose, and bladder dose. As with brachytherapy, multiple studies have associated prostate size with higher rates of acute urinary morbidity [18– 20]. Nonetheless, one published series which

Baseline 1 week 1 month 3 month Long-term Total AUA AUA AUA AUA AUA Study Ν Modality dose (Gy) score score score score score Henderson [7] 255 LDR 145 (LDR) 19 15 5 (2 years) 6 n/r  $\pm EBRT$ 110/45 (6 weeks) (LDR/EBRT) Van Gellekom [8] 127 LDR D90 = 133.07.3 19.8 15.2 10.4 (2 years) n/r (6 months) (mean) Williams [9] 173 LDR D90 = 136.55.5 n/r 17.1 14.4 8.0 (1 year) (median) Crook [10] 150 LDR 145 n/r 13 13 3 (2 years) 6 Meier (Abstract) [11] 295 SBRT 40 7.6 14.2 11.6 7.5 6.4 (4 years) 51 SBRT 36.25 11 8 (4-6 5 (7-12 Tree [12] 6 n/r (1 - 3)weeks) weeks) weeks) 102 Rana [13] SBRT 35-40 10.5 13.4 10.6 8.6 (3 years) n/r 11.8 Repka [6] 102 SBRT 35-36.25 9.1 11.8 8.2 n/r

 Table 8.1
 Comparison of published AUA score changes following brachytherapy and SBRT

Adapted with permission [6]

Abbreviations: n/r not reported, n/a not applicable

included only patients with prostates >50 cc demonstrated acceptable rates of acute urinary morbidity, without need for catheterization or other invasive procedures [21]. Although urinary symptom scores may peak slightly higher in these patients, they tend to resolve by 3 months post-treatment and long-term outcomes are not notably worse than other patients.

The impact of radiation dose to the bladder and urethra on acute urinary morbidity is not well understood. In one recent study, prostate size and hot spots in the bladder wall were predictive of acute urinary morbidity, while no dosimetric indices related to the prostatic or membranous urethra were associated with toxicity [18]. Further research in this area is warranted, but given similar observations in patients undergoing low-dose rate (LDR) brachyterhapy, these findings are certainly intriguing [22].

Grade 3 or higher toxicity, such as urinary obstruction requiring catheterization, is generally rare during and immediately following prostate SBRT [23–25]. Although early pilot studies utilized urinary catheterization for planning and treatment in an attempt to mimic high-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy [26, 27], most practitioners today avoid this invasive procedure, instead using MRI guidance to identify the location of the prostatic urethra.



# 8.2.2 Profile and Etiology of Late Genitourinary Morbidity

Unlike acute genitourinary toxicity, late urinary problems caused by radiation may not be selflimited, requiring medical or even surgical interventions to alleviate symptoms. Nonetheless, while short-term symptoms affect nearly all patients, the incidence of late toxicity is relatively rare. The vast majority of patients, following resolution of acute symptoms, can expect to return to baseline or even improved functional urinary levels [13, 23, 28, 29].

However, some proportion of patients may experience late urinary toxicity following SBRT. Most commonly, a late urinary flare syndrome has been described, where patients experience a second, often more bothersome increase in lower urinary tract symptoms [30]. This syndrome appears to affect approximately 10-20% of patients, and the incidence appears to peak approximately 1 year following completion of treatment (Fig. 8.1). A similar clinical syndrome is well described in patients treated with brachytherapy [10, 31, 32]. Fortunately, this syndrome appears to be self-limited, although medical management is often indicated. The etiology of this symptom flare is not well understood and there is scant data upon which to draw definite



**Fig. 8.1** Late urinary flare syndrome is defined as an IPSS increase of at least five points above baseline with a minimum score of 15 that returns to baseline with conservative management. Median IPSS values (left) and

EPIC Urinary Bother scores (right) are presented in patients who experience the syndrome and those who do not

conclusions. One retrospective study using normal tissue complication probability (NTCP) modeling suggests that small volumes of the bladder receiving high doses (e.g. hot spots) is predictive of late urinary flare syndrome [33]. Another dosimetric analysis identified similar findings, with the increasing volume of bladder receiving high doses associated with more irritative urinary symptoms 1 year following treatment [20]. These reports are intriguing, as retrospective studies of patients treated with dose-escalated IMRT or low-dose rate brachytherapy have identified bladder neck (trigone) dosimetry as the most important predictor of late urinary toxicity [22, 34]. However, other studies have suggested that inhomogeneous plans, as well as high maximum point doses in the prostatic urethra, may also predispose patients to late toxicity [35].

Other, more severe symptoms following prostate SBRT are less common [36]. Hematuria occurs in approximately 20% of patients at some point following treatment, although it resolves in the vast majority of patients without intervention [37]. Unsurprisingly, the incidence of hematuria appears to be significantly increased in patients who have previously undergone a surgical procedure for benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) such as transurethral resection

of the prostate (TURP) or simple prostatectomy (http://ascopubs.org/doi/abs/10.1200/JCO.2018. 36.6\_suppl.91). On cystoscopic evaluation, the most common late finding is hyperemia within the bladder neck and/or prostatic urethra. However, full cystoscopic evaluation of hematuria is usually required, as bladder cancer is the fourth most common cancer in men and metachronous cancers may be detected [1, 38].

Chronic obstructive and irritative symptoms are not typical following prostate SBRT, and indeed some patients may notice improvement in their overall urinary function following treatment. Irritative symptom scores in particular appear significantly improved over baseline at 3 years following SBRT, particularly in those patients with higher baseline IPSS values (Fig. 8.2) [39]. This may be due to the overall decrease in prostate size that can be expected in the years following SBRT, which may in turn ease urinary flow through the prostate. Overall, chronic symptomatic obstruction is rare in patients following prostate SBRT less than 10% patients reporting obstructive of voiding symptoms that they felt were a "moderate to big problem [25]." Urinary obstruction requiring invasive intervention, such as urinary catheterization or TURP is rare, with most studies reporting rates of <5% [13, 23–25]. As with EBRT, urinary



**Fig. 8.2** Improvement in International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS) following prostate SBRT in patients with pre-treatment IPSS > 15. Data presented at ASTRO 2017; reproduced with permission from the authors [39]

incontinence by any definition is uncommon following SBRT and likely related to comorbidities in this aging population [28, 36].

# 8.2.3 Management and Prevention of Genitourinary Symptoms

Acute urinary symptoms are typically selflimiting and resolve over time without medical intervention. Nonetheless, symptomatic management is often indicated to minimize patient discomfort and improve patient QoL during and after treatment. Management is similar to that of patients who are treated with conventional fractionation or brachytherapy, as urinary symptoms typically respond well to tamsulosin or other alpha-adrenergic antagonists. Indeed, many practitioners prefer prophylactic alpha-adrenergic antagonist use in an attempt to mitigate potential acute side effects associated with SBRT, although this has not been demonstrated to eliminate morbidity entirely [6]. Furthermore, there is some evidence that non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as ibuprofen, may have a role in limiting treatment-induced edema and consequently limit radiation symptoms [40]. although good data documenting their effect are lacking. Finally, in those patients who have significant urinary morbidity that is not responsive to standard treatments, a short steroid taper may be effective in providing relief [6, 30]. In particular, the steroid taper appears to be effective for symptom management in patients experiencing late urinary symptom flare.

Another method of limiting toxicity may be in adjusting the overall length of treatment time. Practice patterns in this regard vary, with some radiation oncologists preferring treatment on consecutive days while others may space out treatment over multiple weeks. Little comparative data is available to evaluate these regimens, although a small randomized trial has suggested a toxicity benefit to extending the overall treatment course. In this study, 152 men were randomized to receive LINAC-based SBRT to a total prostate dose of 40 Gy in five fractions over 11 or 29 days. While there was no difference in clinician-graded urinary toxicity, a higher percentage of patients in the 11-day arm experienced a minimally clinically important change (95.7 vs. 74.6%, p < 0.01) [41].

Patients who experience hematuria during treatment should undergo urinalysis to rule out an infection, as hematuria is not expected in the acute setting during or following SBRT. In the case where a patient notices hematuria months to years following treatment, or if hematuria does not resolve in the acute setting, cystoscopic evaluation and potentially imaging of the upper urothelial tract is required. While cauterization or fulguration of radiation-induced abnormal vasculature is not always necessary, these patients should be evaluated for the presence of a metachronous bladder cancer or other urinary abnormality.

Detailed attention to treatment planning and delivery may also result in lower acute and late urinary toxicity. Strategies may include shrinking planning target volumes, careful treatment planning, and intensive image-guided radiation therapy (IGRT). Specific recommendations for these approaches are detailed at the end of this chapter.

# 8.2.4 Comparison to Other Treatment Strategies

Unfortunately, no randomized data currently exist comparing oncologic or quality of life outcomes following SBRT to other standard treatments, such as radical prostatectomy, conventionally fractionated EBRT, moderately hypofractionated EBRT, brachytherapy, or proton beam therapy (PBT). Several randomized trials comparing SBRT to conventionally fractionated or moderately hypofractionated EBRT are underway (University of Miami HEAT Trial, NCT01794403) or under development (NRG-GU005, NCT03367702), but it will be several years before results are available. One notable trial based in the United Kingdom, the PACE trial (NCT01584258), will compare SBRT to radical prostatectomy. An overview of late toxicity

			Median					
			follow-up		Gr 2 GU	Gr 3 GU	Gr 2 GI	Gr 3 GI
Author	Technique	Dose (Gy)	(yrs)	N	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Zelefsky	IMRT/IGRT	86.4	2.8	186	10.4	-	1.0	-
[43]	IMRT/no IGRT			190	20	-	1.6	-
Michalski	3D-CRT	79.2	4.6	491	13.4	2.5	22	5.1
[44]	IMRT		3.5	257	7.8	1.9	15.1	2.6
Hamstra	IMRT/No spacer	79.2	3.1	73	7.0	0	5.7	1.4
[45, 46]	IMRT/Spacer			149	7.0	0	0	0
King [47]	SBRT	36.25	2.7	67	8.8	3.5	2	0
Chen [28]	SBRT	35-36.25	2.3	100	31	1	1	0
Khor [48]	HDR	19.5 + 46	5	344	16.8 <sup>a</sup>	11.8 <sup>a</sup>	-	-
	boost + EBRT							
Hoskin [49]	HDR	17 + 35.75	7.1	110	31 <sup>b</sup>	-	7 <sup>b</sup>	-
	boost + EBRT							
Hsu [50]	HDR	19 + 45	2.5	112	7.1	2.7	2.7	0.9
	boost + EBRT							
Rodda [51]	LDR	115	6.5	198	32.8	18.4	31.3	8.1
	boost + EBRT	78		200	20.6	5.2	20.2	3.2
	EBRT							
Katz [52]	SBRT	19–21 + 45	5	45	4.6	2.3	13.3	-
	boost + 3D-CRT							
Lin [53]	SBRT	21 + 45	3.5	41	3–11 <sup>c</sup>	0	0	0
	boost + VMAT							
Anwar [54]	SBRT	9.5-10.5 + 45	3.6	48	27	2	0	0
	boost + SIB							
Paydar [42]	SBRT	19.5 + 45–50.4	4.2	108	40	6	12	1
	boost + IMRT							

Table 8.2 Late GU and GI toxicity following prostate SBRT and other radiation modalities

Adapted with permission [42]

Abbreviations: *IMRT* intensity-modulated radiation therapy, *IGRT* image-guided radiation therapy, *3D-CRT* 3D-conformal radiation therapy, *SBRT* stereotactic body radiation therapy, *HDR* high dose rate, *LDR* low dose rate, *EBRT* external beam radiation therapy, *VMAT* volumetric arc therapy, *SIB* simultaneous integrated boost

<sup>a</sup>Urethral stricture rates

<sup>b</sup>Severe toxicity per the Dische scale

°0–11% toxicity rates in late follow-up period with cumulative rates not reported

following a variety of approaches is presented in Table 8.2.

In the meantime, the best available comparative data originate from a secondary analysis of the PROSTQA study, which analyzed prospectively collected data from patients undergoing brachytherapy or intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) [55]. In this analysis, these data were compared to outcomes in patients treated with prostate SBRT [29]. Investigators reported largely similar QoL outcomes between the different therapeutic strategies, although higher rates of obstructive urinary symptoms were noted in patients treated with brachytherapy at all time points analyzed from 6 months to 2 years. No differences in urinary incontinence were detected, and rates of hematuria were not reported. Furthermore, another retrospective study suggested that SBRT may be associated with lower rates of longterm genitourinary toxicity than moderately hypofractionated treatment approaches [56].

Nonetheless, studies have raised concern that SBRT may be associated with higher rates of high grade toxicity than conventional treatments. In particular, a population study identified higher rates of genitourinary billing codes codes suggestive of toxicity in patients treated with SBRT as compared to IMRT, and this finding was observed at multiple time points [57]. Interestingly, the patient populations identified in this study differed widely between the different treatments, as SBRT patients tended to be younger, Caucasian, live in metropolitan areas, and have higher incomes than their IMRT counterparts. Although statistical matching was employed to create balance between the treatment arms, more than 90% of IMRT patients were excluded from the analysis. Furthermore, patients treated with SBRT in this era were predominantly treated on protocols that mandated frequent follow-up visits with lower thresholds for invasive intervention such as cystoscopy [58]. It may be that as SBRT becomes more routine, practitioners' technical ability will improve; this "learning curve" phenomenon has been observed in prostate brachytherapy centers [59]. Notably though, even accounting for the higher complication cost, SBRT was less expensive than IMRT in this population analysis.

There are limited data to illuminate potential QoL differences between patients treated with SBRT and PBT, and comparison currently requires hypothesis or extrapolation. However, given that the primary benefit for PBT in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer is the elimination of the "low-dose bath" associated with IMRT and photon-based SBRT techniques, it is unlikely that a clear improvement in urinary toxicity would be observed with PBT. Studies suggest that long-term urinary outcomes appear to be similar with PBT and IMRT [60], and given the lack of clear difference in outcomes between IMRT and SBRT, it stands to reason that neither PBT nor SBRT would offer significant advantage. urinary OoL However, these approaches have not been compared directly in a randomized trial.

Until data from ongoing randomized trials becomes available, comparison between radical prostatectomy and SBRT also relies on non-randomized comparisons and extrapolation from other data-sets. In particular, the ProtecT trial obtained detailed QoL data on patients randomized to either 3D-CRT or surgery [3]. Surgical patients reported worse incontinence and were more likely to use  $\geq 1$  pad per day, although 3D-CRT patients reported higher rates of nocturia and more irritative symptoms as expected. The SBRT toxicity profile likely would compare similarly, but these findings have not been validated in the setting of a randomized trial.

### 8.3 Gastrointestinal Morbidity

# 8.3.1 Profile and Etiology of Acute Gastrointestinal Morbidity

Much like genitourinary toxicity, acute gastrointestinal morbidity in patients treated with SBRT is similar in pattern and intensity to that of patients treated with conventionally fractionated EBRT. Patients typically experience the most severe morbidity in the week following SBRT, with some improvement at 1 month, and return to baseline by 3 months [61]. Studies have demonstrated that bowel movement urgency, bowel movement frequency, incontinence, bloody stools, abdominal pain, and overall gastrointestinal bother are significantly worsened following SBRT. Urgency and frequency appear to be the most common treatment related acute gastrointestinal effects, and these symptoms tend to be the last to resolve in the months following treatment. Bloody stools are less common, and may frequently be secondary to increased irritation in patients with pre-existing hemorrhoids [62].

As with EBRT, the bulk of acute gastrointestinal symptoms experienced by patients can likely be attributed to rectal dosimetry. Given the intimate nature between prostate and rectum, separated only by the rectoprostatic (Denonvilliers') fascia, some high dose to the rectum is unavoidable. However, the dosimetric indices which best predict acute toxicity have not been fully elucidated. Data from one study, which employed an eight fraction treatment approach, suggests that the volume of rectum receiving  $\geq$ 28 Gy may be predictive of acute gastrointestinal toxicity [63]. The authors recommended keeping the V28Gy under 15 cm<sup>3</sup>, although the applicability of this strategy to a five fraction approach is unclear. Another study, which employed normal tissue complication probability (NTCP) modeling, identified the rectal V20Gy as an independent predictor of grade 2+ rectal toxicity 1 week following SBRT, with a 39% incidence in patients where this value exceeded 30.2% [64]. Furthermore, no patient or diseaserelated parameters were associated with acute toxicity, and predictive models using both



	m	TD50 (Gy)	n
Acute bowel bother	0.15 (0 – 0.30)	20.8 (15.1 – 26.5)	0.27 (0.01 – 0.53)
Acute grade 2 rectal toxicity	0.19 (0 – 0.38)	21.6 (15.9 – 27.3)	0.39 (-0.11 – 0.89)

Fig. 8.3 NTCP modeling and parameter estimates for acute bowel toxicity 1 week following completion of prostate SBRT

physician graded toxicity or patient reported outcomes resulted in similar model estimates. These data, along with estimated NTCP parameters, are presented in Fig. 8.3.

### 8.3.2 Profile and Etiology of Late Gastrointestinal Morbidity

Late gastrointestinal toxicity is a concern for patients treated with SBRT; however, due to tight treatment margins [65], image-guided therapy, and the favorable therapeutic ratio associated with hypofractionation, the incidence of high grade toxicity is quite modest. Although most follow-up remains relatively short in comparison to data from conventionally fractionated series, rates of late grade 2+ toxicity are reportedly less than 15% [23, 24, 66, 67], while grade 3+ toxicity is quite rare. Urgency and frequency, which can be pronounced acutely, are generally not present and do not reappear once the initial symptoms have resolved.

The most common late rectal toxicity following SBRT is hematochezia. The incidence of this adverse effect is not clear, as rates reported in the literature vary widely, which may be secondary to differences in toxicity reporting. Nonetheless, the rate of hematochezia requiring aggressive intervention, such as argon plasma coagulation (APC), is likely quite low, with one large series reporting an actuarial 2-year rate of 1.5% [37], which compares favorably to the EBRT and IMRT literature. However, another study, in which patients were treated using a strategy that prioritized target coverage over risk of toxicity, reported a highgrade hematochezia rate of 19.4%, although the investigators used a non-standard grading schema [68]. The rate of rectal bleeding requiring more than two sessions of APC in this study was 3.1%.

A more concerning adverse effect of SBRT, particularly in the setting of dose escalation, is loss of integrity of the rectal wall, including rectal ulcers or rectourethral fistulae. While these toxicities are typically not observed in patients treated with standard SBRT doses (35-40 Gy in five fractions), there are reports in the literature of high grade rectal toxicity requiring emergent cauterization or diverting colostomy [69]. In this study, 6.6% of patients treated to a total prostate dose of 50 Gy in five fractions experienced grade 3+ rectal toxicity. While retrospective analyses of the data suggest that high-grade toxicity may be limited by limiting the volume of rectal wall receiving 50 Gy below 3 cm<sup>3</sup> and keeping <35% of the rectal wall circumference to 39 Gy

[70], given the limited toxicity and excellent oncologic outcomes associated with lower doseper-fraction regimens, extreme dose escalation is not recommended outside the context of a clinical trial.

### 8.3.3 Management and Prevention

Many practitioners take steps prior to simulation and treatment to limit radiation dose to the rectum in an attempt to minimize both acute and late gastrointestinal toxicity. For example, the use of an enema prior to CT simulation, as well as each treatment fraction, minimizes stool and gas in the rectum, which can improve set-up reproducibility and radiation targeting. Others may choose to use a rectal balloon, which can also provide excellent interfraction reproducibility, although it is more invasive and uncomfortable for patients. Additional steps may be helpful, such as instructing patients to adhere to a low-residue diet, which can minimize stool and gas in the rectum during treatment. Much like urinary toxicity, an alternative strategy may be extending the overall duration of treatment without changing the overall treatment dose or shrinking margins. In an early prospective trial of prostate SBRT, investigators switched from a daily schedule to an every-otherday schedule in an attempt to mitigate toxicity. While no decrease in urinary symptoms was observed, there was a statistically significant decrease in patient-reported bowel symptoms [71].

Nevertheless, the majority of patients do not require medical intervention for management of acute gastrointestinal symptoms during treatment. There are limited medical interventions available for patients with abdominal pain, and in many cases these symptoms may be related to radiation-related changes in their bowel habits. However, should increased gas production be identified as the culprit, anti-flatulence medications such as simethicone may be used to ameliorate patient discomfort. In patients with frequent loose stools, an anti-diarrheal medication such as loperamide may be useful for symptomatic relief, and it is useful to instruct patients on its use prior to undergoing therapy. Other symptoms, such as acute rectal bleeding, require further investigation on the part of the treating physician. Detailed history and anorectal evaluation are necessary to identify a potential source of bleeding; however, overall management is similar to patients treated with EBRT as topical steroid preparations are the mainstay of management in the acute setting. If a patient experiences severe pain with bowel movements and digital rectal examination, rectal fissure should be suspected and surgical evaluation may be warranted.

Late rectal bleeding is a concern following radiation therapy, and would typically be an indication for formal gastroenterology work-up. It is important to remember that the differential diagnosis for late rectal bleeding includes multiple potential etiologies which may not be related to the patient's history of radiation, such as diverticulosis. Full colonoscopic evaluation is useful, as it both evaluates for potential radiation changes in the rectal wall, as well as potentially identifies any underlying colorectal polyps or malignancies, particularly in those patients who have not been appropriately screened.

One approach to limiting rectal toxicity involves placement of a bio-absorbable hydrogel spacer between the prostate and the rectum. A randomized trial of patients undergoing IMRT with or without a peri-rectal spacer demonstrated improved rectal dosimetry as well as lower rates of clinician-graded toxicity and patient-reported QoL declines [45, 46]. Dosimetry studies suggest that spacer placement may improve target coverage or rectal dosimetry when treating with SBRT compared to either rectal balloon or no other intervention [72, 73]. This approach is particularly promising for patients with pre-existing rectal comorbidity, such as inflammatory bowel disease.

# 8.3.4 Comparison to Other Treatments

The same population based analysis which raised concern for higher rates of urinary toxicity in SBRT patients, also found significantly higher usage of gastrointestinal diagnosis codes 6 months following treatment compared to IMRT [57]. However, in this case these differences were not observed at later time points, and rates were actually nominally lower in SBRT patients at 2 years. Furthermore, the PROSTQA study is again the most detailed source of comparative toxicity data for patients undergoing SBRT, IMRT, or brachytherapy, and results appear to suggest a benefit for SBRT compared to these other modalities [29]. In this study, patients treated with SBRT reported lower overall rates of gastrointestinal bother than patients treated with IMRT or brachytherapy at all time points measured following treatment. At 2 years, only 2% of SBRT patients reported "moderate-severe" problems with overall bowel function, compared to 10 and 7% in those treated with IMRT and brachytherapy, respectively.

No good data exist comparing gastrointestinal outcomes between SBRT and prostatectomy patients, but it is likely that patients treated with all forms of radiation experience more rectal toxicity than those undergoing surgery. Indeed, in the ProtecT trial, EBRT was associated with lower overall bowel function, higher rates of bowel bother, more frequent loose stools and fecal incontinence, incidence of bloody stools, and negative changes in bowel habits. The overall size of this effect in this study was relatively modest, and given that bowel toxicity appears lower with SBRT than with 3D-CRT, the magnitude of bowel QoL improvements in surgical patients is likely quite low. Nonetheless, patients considering radical prostatectomy or SBRT should be counseled on these potential differences.

Contrarily, given the greater uncertainties with treatment delivery, PBT is likely associated with similar or even higher rates of gastrointestinal morbidity. A population study which compared 3D-CRT, IMRT, and PBT for prostate cancer demonstrated higher rates of gastrointestinal diagnoses and procedures following PBRT as compared to IMRT [60]. Given the even tighter margins associated with SBRT treatment and apparently lower gastrointestinal toxicity, SBRT might result in even lower rates of late rectal toxicity. Nonetheless, this study is complicated by the fact that most PBT patients were treated with passively-scattered protons, a technique which achieves clearly inferior conformality at the prostatic-rectal interface compared to actively-scanned protons [74], which is the current standard of care.

#### 8.4 Sexual Dysfunction

### 8.4.1 Profile and Etiology

Overall, SBRT is associated with an excellent toxicity profile in regards to male sexual health and well being. Nonetheless, given the physiologic function of the prostate, as well as location in close proximity to neurovascular structures [75], some detriment to normal sexual activity is possible. Patients do not typically experience acute toxicity, although a mild detriment in sperm count may be observed and patients should be cautioned about the risks of conception during and in the months following prostate SBRT secondary to scattered testicular dose. This risk may be slightly higher in patients treated with non-coplanar techniques (e.g. CyberKnife<sup>®</sup>) if care is not taken to protect the testicles from both entering and exiting beams [76]. Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is associated with a far more pronounced sexual symptom profile than any form of radiation therapy alone [77]; a full review of its effects are beyond the scope of this chapter.

In the long term, the biggest risk of SBRT is a decrease in the ability to achieve erections [78]. The effect of radiation is somewhat difficult to quantify in these patients, as most men treated with SBRT are at an age where erectile dysfunction (ED) secondary to other causes is common. Nonetheless, it is clear from studies of conventionally fractionated EBRT that radiation therapy has a detrimental effect on erectile function, and single arm studies and retrospective reviews suggest that similar trends exist in patients treated with SBRT [79]. In one analysis of men who did not receive hormone therapy and were able to achieve erections "firm enough for intercourse"

prior to treatment, there was gradual decline in overall sexual function over time, although the most precipitous drop occurred in the first year [78]. At 2 years post-SBRT, only 54.4% of men were able to achieve erections "firm enough for intercourse," and 26.7% of men felt their sexual function was a moderate to big problem, up from 13.4% prior to radiotherapy. A more recent analysis confirmed these findings with more patients and longer follow-up [80]. At 5 years posttreatment, 47% of men maintained their pre-treatment erectile function.

The etiology of ED following SBRT is not fully understood. The penile bulb is commonly used as an avoidance structure, but given the limited dose delivered with SBRT and the lack of an obvious dose response [78, 81], it may have a minimal role in loss of function over time. Vessel-sparing radiotherapy, which aims to spare the neurovascular bundles immediately posterior to the prostate, is a promising approach with up to 90% of men preserving potency at 5 years following conventionally fractionated therapy [82]. However, given concerns for potential diminished effectiveness and marginal miss, this strategy should be considered strictly investigational.

Very little effect on overall testosterone levels has been observed in patients treated with SBRT without concomitant ADT [78, 83, 84]. This is unsurprising given testicular scatter dose of approximately 2 Gy spread out over five fractions. Nonetheless, a small proportion of patients may experience chronic hypogonadism following treatment, particularly if they receive extended courses of ADT in addition to SBRT.

### 8.4.2 Management and Prevention

There are limited steps that can be taken currently to mitigate the risk of ED following prostate SBRT. Certainly testicular and penile bulb dose should be taken into account, but with accurate contouring and appropriate treatment planning these doses should be quite low even if unconstrained. Research is ongoing as to whether there is a role for delineation and constraint of the neurovascular bundles which run immediately posterior to the prostate, and have been implicated in erectile dysfunction following radical prostatectomy [82]. MRI is critical for accurate contouring of these structures, and given their close proximity to the target volume it is unclear whether they can be meaningfully spared without compromising PTV coverage and risking oncologic efficacy.

The approach to medical management of ED after SBRT is identical to that taken in treating men without a history of prostate cancer. Firstline management involves phosphodiesterase 5 inhibition with prescription medication (e.g. sildenafil, tadalafil, vardenafil), which is frequently successful, particularly in patients with limited symptoms [85]. However, refractory patients who are highly motivated may require more invasive interventions, such as intracavernosal alprostadil, intraurethral alprostadil, or placement of a penile prosthesis.

A small proportion of patients, particularly those who have received ADT, may suffer from diminished testosterone production, leading to a wide variety of clinical symptoms. In men without a previous history of prostate cancer, exogenous testosterone supplementation can produce meaningful improvements in overall QoL and patient well-being. However, given the potential for diminished oncologic efficacy in patients who have been treated for prostate cancer, many practitioners have concerns over the potential for disease recurrence [86, 87]. Careful consideration and discussion of the risks and benefits should be pursued prior to initiation of treatment.

### 8.4.3 Comparison to Other Treatments

In the ProtecT trial, patients treated with EBRT were more likely to report erections firm enough for intercourse, less likely to report problems with erectile dysfunction, and endorsed a higher sexual quality of life than men who were treated with radical prostatectomy. It is important to note that most patients received nerve-sparing prostatectomies, and although this was associated with a lower rate of erections "not firm enough for intercourse" than non-nerve-sparing procedures at 3 years (68 vs. 87%), the majority of these patients still suffer from erectile dysfunction. It is also worthwhile to recognize that all patients undergoing EBRT in this study were treated with neoadjuvant and concurrent ADT, even though most patients had low-risk disease by the D'Amico criteria [2, 3].

Analogously, PROSTQA the study demonstrates a similar effect of brachytherapy and IMRT, with approximately 50-60% of patients reporting at least a MCIC in sexual symptoms following treatment [29]. However, an MCIC was observed in only 20-40% of patients over all time points following SBRT, although these patients had higher rates of baseline sexual dysfunction, which might impact the reliability of this finding. Another study evaluated patients treated with SBRT and compared the rate of functional erections to model-derived estimates for EBRT and brachytherapy [80]. Thirty-four percent of all patients and 57% of those with baseline erectile function achieved functional erections at 2 years, rates that were highly similar to those predicted for other treatment modalities. Given that SBRT at a minimum does not appear to be worse than IMRT or brachytherapy, this treatment is likely as good or better than prostatectomy for potency preservation.

### 8.5 Summary and Suggestions to Minimize SBRT Toxicity

The placement of intraprostatic fiducial markers is mandatory when using the CyberKnife system, and is strongly recommended for other delivery systems, even when cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) is available for set-up. Typically, 1 week is required between fiducial placement and simulation to allow for seed migration. Furthermore, asking the patient to use an enema several hours prior to simulation and each fraction is recommended to minimize stool and gas within the rectum. At Georgetown University Hospital, all patients are asked to consume a low-fiber diet beginning 5 days prior to simulation and ending following the final treatment fraction. Finally, all patients are treated prophylactically with tamsulosin (0.4 mg once daily) if they are not already taking an alpha-adrenergic antagonist medication. Patients who experience bothersome, refractory symptoms are given a short steroid taper (dexamethasone, 2 mg BID for 1 week, followed by 2 mg daily for 1 week).

MRI is extremely useful for treatment planning and appears to minimize target volumes and improve delineation of the rectoprostatic interface [88]. Furthermore, MRI allows delineation of the prostatic urethra, which is not visible on CT. In patients for whom MRI is contraindicated (*e.g.* presence of metal, pacemaker, etc.) CT urethrogram is recommended for delineation of the membranous urethra [89]. While the role of the prostatic urethra in producing urinary toxicity is not clear and true urethral sparing may be associated with diminished biochemical outcomes, avoidance of hot spots in this organ is strongly recommended.

Sample dose constraints, which are in use at Georgetown University Hospital, are provided as a reference in Table 8.3. A sample plan and DVH are represented in Fig. 8.4. Institutional preference is to treat patients ever other day over 2 weeks (Monday, Wednesday, Friday, Tuesday, Thursday), given the apparent toxicity benefit

**Table 8.3** Sample dose targets and constraints for treatment planning

36.25 Gy plan constraints				
120% of 36.25 Gy (43.5 Gy)				
V (36.25 Gy) ≥ 95%				
V (36.25 Gy) $\ge$ 99%				
V (36.25 Gy) ≥ 95%				
V (42 Gy) $\leq 0.03$ cc				
V (37  Gy) < 50%				
V (37 Gy) < 5 cc				
V (100%) < 10%				
V (50%) < 40%				
V (36 Gy) < 1 cc				
V (100%) < 5%				
V (90%) < 10%				
V (80%) < 20%				
V (75%) < 25%				
V (50%) < 40%				
V (30  Gy) < 1  cc				
V (29.5 Gy) < 3 cc				
D (20%) < 2 Gy				





**Fig. 8.4** Sample prostate SBRT treatment plan. (**a**) Representative axial slice from simulation CT with following dose distribution: 36.25 Gy (cyan), 30 Gy (orange), 25 Gy (white), 20 Gy (yellow), 15 Gy (pink), 10 Gy (maroon), 5 Gy (blue). (**b**) DVH with following structures: prostate

from treatment prolongation that is described above. However, in the case of patients who must travel great distances and such a schedule is challenging, a mildly extended treatment course over 9 days may be considered as an alternative (Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Monday, Tuesday).

Although large prostates ( $\geq$ 50 cc) do not appear to be a contraindication to radical radiation therapy with SBRT, the likelihood of acute urinary morbidity appears to be higher in this group of patients. Much like brachytherapy, ADT or finasteride may be considered for several weeks prior to treatment to decrease the prostatic volume, although the effect of this approach on morbidity may be limited. Similarly, while previous prostatic procedures such as TURP or simple prostatectomy may increase the long-term risk of developing hematuria, these procedures are not a contraindication to SBRT as the hematuria is usually self-limiting and reduced with finasteride [90].

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which includes both ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, puts patients at significant risk for complications following radiation therapy is typically considered a relative contraindication to

(red), PTV (blue), prostatic urethra (dark green), membranous urethra (pink), bladder (orange), rectum (light green), penile bulb (cyan), femoral head (salmon), testicles (purple)

radiation therapy. There is limited data regarding prostate SBRT in patients with IBD, although use of a hydrogel rectal spacer is strongly recommended to minimize rectal dose as much as possible. The role of hydrogel rectal spacers for patients treated without IBD remains unclear, although there appears to be a clear clinical benefit in patients treated conventionally fractionated IMRT. While their use does not appear to be necessary in routine practice, they appear promising for dose escalation, where severe rectal toxicity has been observed. All patients should have up-to-date routine screening colonoscopy evaluation prior to SBRT to rule out synchronous colorectal cancer or other pathology.

In summary, a growing wealth of prospective data has demonstrated not only the safety and tolerability of SBRT, but also potential improvements in QoL compared to other treatments. Given the convenience of the short regimen, especially compared to conventionally fractionated radiotherapy, national utilization of SBRT is likely to continue rising for the foreseeable future. Nonetheless, SBRT is a technically demanding technique, and careful attention to treatment preparation, planning, and delivery should be given to minimize the risk of potential side effects and enhance patient quality of life.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

Sean P. Collins is a Clinical Consultant for Accuray.

Role of Funding Source No funding source.

### References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017;67(1):7–30.
- Hamdy FC, Donovan JL, Lane JA, Mason M, Metcalfe C, Holding P, et al. 10-Year outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(15):1415–24.
- Donovan JL, Hamdy FC, Lane JA, Mason M, Metcalfe C, Walsh E, et al. Patient-reported outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(15):1425–37.
- Collins CD, Lloyd-Davies RW, Swan AV. Radical external beam radiotherapy for localised carcinoma of the prostate using a hypofractionation technique. Clin Oncol R Coll Radiol G B. 1991;3(3):127–32.
- Xie Y, Djajaputra D, King CR, Hossain S, Ma L, Xing L. Intrafractional motion of the prostate during hypofractionated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(1):236–46.
- Repka MC, Guleria S, Cyr RA, Yung TM, Koneru H, Chen LN, et al. Acute urinary morbidity following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer with prophylactic alpha-adrenergic antagonist and urethral dose reduction. Front Oncol. 2016;6:122.
- Henderson A, Ismail AKA, Cunningham M, Aldridge S, Loverock L, Langley SEM, et al. Toxicity and early biochemical outcomes from 125iodine prostate brachytherapy in the UK. A prospective study. Clin Oncol R Coll Radiol G B. 2004;16(2):95–104.
- Van Gellekom MPR, Moerland MA, Van Vulpen M, Wijrdeman HK, Battermann JJ. Quality of life of patients after permanent prostate brachytherapy in relation to dosimetry. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;63(3):772–80.
- Williams SG, Millar JL, Duchesne GM, Dally MJ, Royce PL, Snow RM. Factors predicting for urinary morbidity following 125iodine transperineal prostate brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2004;73(1):33–8.
- Crook J, Fleshner N, Roberts C, Pond G. Long-term urinary sequelae following 125iodine prostate brachytherapy. J Urol. 2008;179(1):141–5. discussion 146
- Meier R, Beckman A, Henning G, Mohideen N, Woodhouse SA, Cotrutz C, et al. Five-year outcomes from a multicenter trial of stereotactic body radiation

therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2016;96(2):S33–4.

- Tree AC, Ostler P, Hoskin P, Dankulchai P, Nariyangadu P, Hughes RJ, et al. Prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy—first UK experience. Clin Oncol R Coll Radiol G B. 2014;26(12):757–61.
- Rana Z, Cyr RA, Chen LN, Kim BS, Moures RA, Yung TM, et al. Improved irritative voiding symptoms 3 years after stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Front Oncol [Internet]. 2014;4: 290. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/ 10.3389/fonc.2014.00290/abstract. Cited 19 Feb 2016.
- Catton CN, Lukka H, Gu C-S, Martin JM, Supiot S, Chung PWM, et al. Randomized trial of a hypofractionated radiation regimen for the treatment of localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(17):1884–90.
- Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H, Khoo V, Birtle A, Bloomfield D, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1047–60.
- 16. Lee WR, Dignam JJ, Amin MB, Bruner DW, Low D, Swanson GP, et al. Randomized phase III noninferiority study comparing two radiotherapy fractionation schedules in patients with low-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(20):2325–32.
- 17. Danner M, Hung M-Y, Yung TM, Ayoob M, Lei S, Collins BT, et al. Utilization of patient-reported outcomes to guide symptom management during stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2017;7:227.
- Repka MC, Kole TP, Lee J, Wu B, Lei S, Yung T, et al. Predictors of acute urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol Stockh Swed. 2017;56(8):1136–8.
- Locke J, Ellis W, Wallner K, Cavanagh W, Blasko J. Risk factors for acute urinary retention requiring temporary intermittent catheterization after prostate brachytherapy: a prospective study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;52(3):712–9.
- 20. Qi XS, Wang JP, Gomez CL, Shao W, Xu X, King C, et al. Plan quality and dosimetric association of patient-reported rectal and urinary toxicities for prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2016;121(1):113–7.
- 21. Janowski E, Chen LN, Kim JS, Lei S, Suy S, Collins B, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with large prostates (≥50 cm<sup>3</sup>). Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2014;9:241.
- 22. Hathout L, Folkert MR, Kollmeier MA, Yamada Y, Cohen GN, Zelefsky MJ. Dose to the bladder neck is the most important predictor for acute and late toxicity after low-dose-rate prostate brachytherapy: implications for establishing new dose constraints for treatment planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90(2):312–9.

- 23. King CR, Collins S, Fuller D, Wang P-C, Kupelian P, Steinberg M, et al. Health-related quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer: results from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(5):939–45.
- 24. Bhattasali O, Chen LN, Woo J, Park J-W, Kim JS, Moures R, et al. Patient-reported outcomes following stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2014;9:52.
- Arscott WT, Chen LN, Wilson N, Bhagat A, Kim JS, Moures RA, et al. Obstructive voiding symptoms following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2014;9:163.
- 26. Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Lee C, Hardy S, Jin H. Virtual HDR CyberKnife treatment for localized prostatic carcinoma: dosimetry comparison with HDR brachytherapy and preliminary clinical observations. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(5):1588–97.
- Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Mardirossian G. Virtual HDR CyberKnife SBRT for localized prostatic carcinoma: 5-year disease-free survival and toxicity observations. Front Oncol. 2014;4:321.
- 28. Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, Oermann EK, Ju AW, Chen V, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:58.
- 29. Evans JR, Zhao S, Daignault S, Sanda MG, Michalski J, Sandler HM, et al. Patient-reported quality of life after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), and brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2015;116(2):179–84.
- 30. Woo JA, Chen LN, Bhagat A, Oermann EK, Kim JS, Moures R, et al. Clinical characteristics and management of late urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:122.
- 31. Keyes M, Miller S, Moravan V, Pickles T, Liu M, Spadinger I, et al. Urinary symptom flare in 712 1251 prostate brachytherapy patients: long-term follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;75(3):649–55.
- Cesaretti JA, Stone NN, Stock RG. Urinary symptom flare following I-125 prostate brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;56(4):1085–92.
- 33. Kole TP, Tong M, Wu B, Lei S, Obayomi-Davies O, Chen LN, et al. Late urinary toxicity modeling after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol Stockh Swed. 2016;55(1):52–8.
- 34. Ghadjar P, Zelefsky MJ, Spratt DE, Munck af Rosenschöld P, Oh JH, Hunt M, et al. Impact of dose to the bladder trigone on long-term urinary function after high-dose intensity modulated radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88(2):339–44.
- 35. Seymour ZA, Chang AJ, Zhang L, Kirby N, Descovich M, Roach M, et al. Dose-volume analysis and the temporal nature of toxicity with stereotactic

body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2015;5(5):e465–72.

- 36. Dess RT, Jackson WC, Suy S, Soni PD, Lee JY, Abugharib AE, et al. Predictors of multidomain decline in health-related quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer. Cancer. 2017;123(9):1635–42.
- 37. Gurka MK, Chen LN, Bhagat A, Moures R, Kim JS, Yung T, et al. Hematuria following stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2015;10:44.
- van der Molen AJ, Hovius MC. Hematuria: a problembased imaging algorithm illustrating the recent Dutch guidelines on hematuria. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2012;198(6):1256–65.
- 39. Kataria S, Chew J, Lei S, Ayoob MJ, Danner M, Yung T, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with a high international prostate symptom score (IPSS > 15). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2):E538–9.
- 40. Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, Kirkels W, Kolkman-Deurloo I-K, Bangma C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:84.
- 41. Quon HC, Ong A, Cheung P, Chu W, Chung HT, Vesprini D, et al. PATRIOT trial: randomized phase 2 study of prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy comparing 11 versus 29 days overall treatment time. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;93(3):S198.
- 42. Paydar I, Pepin A, Cyr RA, King J, Yung TM, Bullock EG, et al. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy with stereotactic body radiation therapy boost for unfavorable prostate cancer: a report on 3-year toxicity. Front Oncol. 2017;7:5.
- 43. Zelefsky MJ, Kollmeier M, Cox B, Fidaleo A, Sperling D, Pei X, et al. Improved clinical outcomes with high-dose image guided radiotherapy compared with non-IGRT for the treatment of clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(1):125–9.
- 44. Michalski JM, Yan Y, Watkins-Bruner D, Bosch WR, Winter K, Galvin JM, et al. Preliminary toxicity analysis of 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy versus intensity modulated radiation therapy on the highdose arm of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0126 prostate cancer trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(5):932–8.
- 45. Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, Beyer D, et al. Hydrogel spacer prospective multicenter randomized controlled pivotal trial: dosimetric and clinical effects of perirectal spacer application in men undergoing prostate image guided intensity modulated radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(5):971–7.
- 46. Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(5):976–85.

- 47. King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82.
- 48. Khor R, Duchesne G, Tai K-H, Foroudi F, Chander S, Van Dyk S, et al. Direct 2-arm comparison shows benefit of high-dose-rate brachytherapy boost vs external beam radiation therapy alone for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;85(3):679–85.
- 49. Hoskin PJ, Rojas AM, Bownes PJ, Lowe GJ, Ostler PJ, Bryant L. Randomised trial of external beam radiotherapy alone or combined with high-dose-rate brachytherapy boost for localised prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2012;103(2):217–22.
- 50. Hsu I-C, Bae K, Shinohara K, Pouliot J, Purdy J, Ibbott G, et al. Phase II trial of combined high-doserate brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy for adenocarcinoma of the prostate: preliminary results of RTOG 0321. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(3):751–8.
- 51. Rodda S, Tyldesley S, Morris WJ, Keyes M, Halperin R, Pai H, et al. ASCENDE-RT: an analysis of treatment-related morbidity for a randomized trial comparing a low-dose-rate brachytherapy boost with a dose-escalated external beam boost for high- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;98(2):286–95.
- 52. Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with or without external beam radiation as treatment for organ confined high-risk prostate carcinoma: a six year study. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2014;9:1.
- Lin Y-W, Lin L-C, Lin K-L. The early result of whole pelvic radiotherapy and stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for high-risk localized prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:278.
- 54. Anwar M, Weinberg V, Seymour Z, Hsu IJ, Roach M, Gottschalk AR. Outcomes of hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for intermediate and high-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2016;11:8.
- 55. Hamstra DA, Conlon ASC, Daignault S, Dunn RL, Sandler HM, Hembroff AL, et al. Multi-institutional prospective evaluation of bowel quality of life after prostate external beam radiation therapy identifies patient and treatment factors associated with patientreported outcomes: the PROSTQA experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86(3):546–53.
- 56. Johnson SB, Soulos PR, Shafman TD, Mantz CA, Dosoretz AP, Ross R, et al. Patient-reported quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy versus moderate hypofractionation for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2016;121(2):294–8.
- 57. Yu JB, Cramer LD, Herrin J, Soulos PR, Potosky AL, Gross CP. Stereotactic body radiation therapy versus intensity-modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer: comparison of toxicity. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2014;32(12):1195–201.

- Collins SP, Suy S, Chen LN, Collins BT, Lynch J, Dritschilo A. Late urinary symptom flare after prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2014;32(30):3451–2.
- 59. Chan EK, Keyes M, Pickles T, Lapointe V, Spadinger I, McKenzie M, et al. Decline in acute urinary toxicity: a long-term study in 2011 patients with prostate brachytherapy within a provincial institution. Brachytherapy. 2014;13(1):46–52.
- 60. Sheets NC, Goldin GH, Meyer A-M, Wu Y, Chang Y, Stürmer T, et al. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy, proton therapy, or conformal radiation therapy and morbidity and disease control in localized prostate cancer. JAMA. 2012;307(15):1611–20.
- 61. Paydar I, Cyr RA, Yung TM, Lei S, Collins BT, Chen LN, et al. Proctitis 1 week after stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: implications for clinical trial design. Front Oncol. 2016;6:167.
- 62. Sood S, Ju AW, Wang H, Lei S, Uhm S, Zhang G, et al. Rectal endoscopy findings following stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:197.
- 63. Macias VA, Blanco ML, Barrera I, Garcia R. A phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low-intermediate-high-risk prostate cancer using helical tomotherapy: dose-volumetric parameters predicting early toxicity. Front Oncol. 2014;4:336.
- 64. Kole TP, Repka MC, Wu B, Lei S, Suy S, Dritschilo A, et al. Dosimetric analysis of predictors of acute bowel toxicity after prostate SBRT (12th International Stereotactic Radiosurgery Society Congress). J Radiosurg SBRT. 2015;3(Suppl 1):1–237.
- 65. Ju AW, Wang H, Oermann EK, Sherer BA, Uhm S, Chen VJ, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy as monotherapy for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:30.
- 66. Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67(4):1099–105.
- Freeman DE, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: five-year outcomes. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2011;6:3.
- 68. Musunuru HB, Davidson M, Cheung P, Vesprini D, Liu S, Chung H, et al. Predictive parameters of symptomatic hematochezia following 5-fraction gantrybased SABR in prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(5):1043–51.
- 69. Kim DWN, Straka C, Cho LC, Timmerman RD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: review of experience of a multicenter phase I/II dose-escalation study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:319.
- 70. Kim DWN, Cho LC, Straka C, Christie A, Lotan Y, Pistenmaa D, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1–2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89(3):509–17.

- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Pawlicki T, Cotrutz C, Presti JC. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: interim results of a prospective phase II clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73(4):1043–8.
- 72. Kataria S, Hong RL, McRae D, Cernica G, Foust M, Nasr NM. The rectal dosimetric effects of perirectal hydrogel spacers in men undergoing prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). Int J Radiat Oncol. 2017;99(2, Supplement):E676.
- 73. Jones RT, Hassan Rezaeian N, Desai NB, Lotan Y, Jia X, Hannan R, et al. Dosimetric comparison of rectal-sparing capabilities of rectal balloon vs injectable spacer gel in stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: lessons learned from prospective trials. Med Dosim Off J Am Assoc Med Dosim. 2017;42(4):341–7.
- 74. Trofimov A, Nguyen PL, Coen JJ, Doppke KP, Schneider RJ, Adams JA, et al. Radiotherapy treatment of early-stage prostate cancer with IMRT and protons: a treatment planning comparison. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(2):444–53.
- 75. Walsh PC, Schlegel PN. Radical pelvic surgery with preservation of sexual function. Ann Surg. 1988;208(4):391–400.
- King CR, Lo A, Kapp DS. Testicular dose from prostate CyberKnife: a cautionary note. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2009;73(2):636–7.
- 77. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, Sandler HM, Northouse L, Hembroff L, et al. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(12):1250–61.
- Obayomi-Davies O, Chen LN, Bhagat A, Wright HC, Uhm S, Kim JS, et al. Potency preservation following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013;8:256.
- Robinson JW, Moritz S, Fung T. Meta-analysis of rates of erectile function after treatment of localized prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;54(4):1063–8.
- Dess RT, Hartman HE, Aghdam N, Jackson WC, Soni PD, Abugharib AE, et al. Erectile function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2017;121:61–8.
- Wiegner EA, King CR. Sexual function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results of

a prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(2):442–8.

- 82. Spratt DE, Lee JY, Dess RT, Narayana V, Evans C, Liss A, et al. Vessel-sparing radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer to preserve erectile function: a singlearm phase 2 trial. Eur Urol. 2017;72(4):617–24.
- 83. Oermann EK, Suy S, Hanscom HN, Kim JS, Lei S, Yu X, et al. Low incidence of new biochemical and clinical hypogonadism following hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) monotherapy for low- to intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Hematol OncolJ Hematol Oncol. 2011;4:12.
- 84. Kole TP, Chen LN, Obayomi-Davies O, Kim JS, Lei S, Suy S, et al. Prostate specific antigen kinetics following robotic stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol Stockh Swed. 2015;54(6):832–8.
- 85. Dess RT, Devasia TP, Aghdam N, Jackson WC, Soni PD, Smith CP, et al. Patient reported sexual aid utilization and efficacy following radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2018;101(2):376–86. Available from: http:// www.redjournal.org/article/S0360-3016(18)30127-5/ abstract. Cited 23 Jan 2018
- 86. Pastuszak AW, Pearlman AM, Lai WS, Godoy G, Sathyamoorthy K, Liu JS, et al. Testosterone replacement therapy in patients with prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2013;190(2):639–44.
- Sarosdy MF. Testosterone replacement for hypogonadism after treatment of early prostate cancer with brachytherapy. Cancer. 2007;109(3):536–41.
- 88. Roach M, Faillace-Akazawa P, Malfatti C, Holland J, Hricak H. Prostate volumes defined by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomographic scans for three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1996;35(5):1011–8.
- 89. Paydar I, Kim BS, Cyr RA, Rashid H, Anjum A, Yung TM, et al. Urethrogram-directed stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer in patients with contraindications to magnetic resonance imaging. Front Oncol. 2015;5:194.
- 90. Foley SJ, Soloman LZ, Wedderburn AW, Kashif KM, Summerton D, Basketter V, et al. A prospective study of the natural history of hematuria associated with benign prostatic hyperplasia and the effect of finasteride. J Urol. 2000;163(2):496–8.



9

# **Quality of Life Outcomes After SBRT**

Thomas Zilli and Raymond Miralbell

# 9.1 Introduction

In the curative treatment of localized prostate cancer, stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) has gained great popularity as an emerging treatment modality. This results from a combination of technological developments integrating accurate dose delivery, organs at risk (OARs) sparing and target motion control together with a better knowledge of radiobiology of prostate cancer. Hypofractionation is deeply linked to SBRT development, with the technology behind this delivery technique ensuring the implementation in the clinical practice of hypofractionated schedules. Combination of SBRT and extreme hypofractionation results therefore in a potential therapeutic gain derived by a radiobiological dose escalation. Moreover, SBRT treatments, often delivered in five or less fractions, results to be more cost effective than standard normofractionated regimens [1], ensuring an easier access to the healthcare system and a better patient convenience. Last but not least, fewer fractions may reduce the psychological burden and can improve the overall quality of life (QoL) of prostate cancer patients compared to standard treatments of longer duration.

Division of Radiation Oncology, Geneva University Hospital, Geneva, Switzerland

In the last years, single-institution [2-4] or multi-institutional [5] series on prostate SBRT have reported encouraging results in terms of disease control and acute toxicities with extreme hypofractionation, although long-term outcome data remain scarce and different concerns regarding toxicity and treatment schedules have been evoked. Data published so far for prostate SBRT have shown, although with a limited follow-up, late grade 3 toxicity rates for rectal and genitourinary toxicities lying within a  $\leq 3\%$  range [4, 6, 7]. However, as in patients with prostate cancer extended life expectancy is often observed, the possible impact on health-related QoL of SBRT treatments represents one of the highest research questions and constitutes a central consideration for treatment decisions [8]. Better understanding of QoL effects of SBRT may help to an individualized patient selection and provide additional elements to the decision-making process of prostate cancer patients. Therefore, comparative analyses between SBRT fractionation schedules and future clinical trial need to merge not only physician-reported toxicity but patient-reported outcome (PRO) on QoL as well.

## 9.2 Quality of Life Assessment

Due to the close proximity of the prostate gland to the rectum, the bladder, and sexual anatomical structures side effects on those organs represent

T. Zilli (🖂) · R. Miralbell

Medical School, Geneva University, Geneva, Switzerland e-mail: Thomas.Zilli@hcuge.ch; Raymond. Miralbell@hcuge.ch

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_9

the major concern for prostate SBRT treatments and therefore constitute the most used clinical endpoints for phase I/II SBRT studies. Toxicity grading is traditionally constituted on a clinicianbased assessment using the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) scale for acute effects or items from the National Cancer Institute's Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) scale from the National cancer Institute (NCI). However, physician assessment of radiation-induced toxicities is often unreliable [9], with the risk to underestimate severity of side effects [10, 11]. On the other hand, low-grade toxicity tends to resolve spontaneously during the follow-up, with the risk to over-estimate its severity in the actuarial estimations of radiationinduced toxicities [12].

Patient-reported outcome assessment has gained importance as a better modality to report longitudinal evolution on the long-term of radiation-induced side-effects compared to physician-reported data by providing at the same time a more accurate and sensitive evaluation of patient satisfaction [13]. An added value in symptom control and communication between patient and physician has been observed with PRO [14]. In new trials PRO instruments are therefore currently implemented in order to evaluate the real impact of prostate cancer treatments and to better compare different toxicity profiles when a similar efficacy is expected [15]. Although, consensus in regard to the appropriate PRO endpoints that should be integrated in the evaluation of SBRT treatment outcome is presently lacking, different validated questionnaires have been used to evaluate the QoL impact of SBRT.

The Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite (EPIC)-26 [13, 16], is a validated PRO questionnaire, probably the most widely used in SBRT trials. It is a set of 26 questions evaluating 5 different QoL domains ranging from urinary incontinence and urinary irritative symptoms to bowel, sexual, and vitality domains. The domain scores are translated and averaged into a 0–100 scale, with higher values representing a more favorable outcome satisfaction. Those scores represent probably the "gold standard" instrument to assess health-related QoL of prostate cancer treatments.

The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Quality of Life Questionnaire (QLQ-C30) is one of the most common tools presently used in cancer clinical trials. This instrument is composed of multi-item and single-item scales. These include five functional scales (physical, role, emotional, social, and cognitive), three symptom (fatigue, nausea and vomiting, and pain), and a global health status/QoL scale with six items (dyspnea, insomnia, appetite loss, constipation, diarrhea, and financial difficulties). The reliability and validity of the questionnaire has been internationally validated and it is highly consistent across different language-cultural groups. In addition, the EORTC PR-25 is a module providing specific QoL information for patients with prostate cancer. The QLQ-PR-25 assesses urinary, bowel, and sexual symptoms and functioning, and the side-effects of hormonal treatment, as well.

The International Prostate Symptom Score (I-PSS) is probably the most widely used tool to assess changes in the urinary status following SBRT treatments [17]. The I-PSS is based on the answers to seven questions concerning urinary symptoms and one question concerning quality of life. Each question concerning the patients' urinary status allows them to choose one out of six possible answers directly related to the severity of a particular symptom. The answers are assigned points from 0 to 5. The questions refer to the following urinary symptoms: (1) Incomplete emptying; (2) Frequency; (3) Intermittency; (4) Urgency; (5) Weak Stream; (6) Straining; (7) Nocturia. Question eight refers to the patient's perceived quality of life. The total score with the seven symptoms can range from 0 to 35 (asymptomatic to very symptomatic); which may be classified as "mild" (symptom score  $\leq$  7); "moderate" (symptom score range 8–19); "severe" (symptom score range 20–35).

The International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) is a validated, multi-dimensional, selfadministered investigation that has been found useful in the clinical assessment of erectile dysfunction (ED) and treatment outcomes in clinical trials [18]. A score of 0–5 is awarded to each of the 15 questions that examine the 4 main domains of male sexual function: erectile function, orgasmic function, sexual desire and intercourse satisfaction. A simplified five-items version (IIEF-5) provides an easier and more widely used diagnostic tool to study the prevalence of ED [19]. The possible scores for the IIEF-5 range from 5 to 25, and ED was classified into five categories based on the scores: severe (5–7), moderate (8–11), mild to moderate (12–16), mild (17–21), and no ED (22–25).

Other questionnaires commonly used in SBRT trials are: the Fox Chase Bowel/Bladder Toxicity [20], the Spitzer Quality of Life Index (SQLI), the UCLA-PCI (University of California, Los Angeles Prostate Cancer Index), and/or the FACT-G and P (Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy General and Prostate) [20–22]. Moreover, the subjective symptoms from the CTCAE scale have been adapted for a patient reporting [23]. Table 9.1 summarizes available questionnaires for general health and prostate-specific QoL assessment.

The correct clinical implementation, interpretation, and timing assessment of PRO questionnaires remain a challenging point.

Minimally important difference (MID) thresholds, the smallest differences in a questionnaire domain score perceived by patients as a meaningful change, are used to define levels beyond which changes are considered clinically significant. MID are commonly used for interpretation of questionnaire results and sample size computation for clinical trials assessing QoL as primary endpoints. The definition of MID can be characterized as a statistical function using one-half SD of the baseline domain score specific of the study population [24], although with this approach information on the clinical relevance of the observed changes is unavailable [25]. Other approaches using distribution-based and anchor-based techniques have been developed [26, 27], with MIDs in the range of 5-10%of the instrument range.

Table 9.1 Quality of life questionnaires for localized prostate cancer

	Domains			
Generic				
EORTC QLQ-C30 core questionnaire	Physical, role, emotional, social and cognitive; symptoms; global health status/QoL; single items			
FACT-G (Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General)	Emotional, functional, physic and social health status			
MOS-SF36 (Medical outcome Study Short Form)	Limitations in physical, social, usual role activities for health, physical and/or emotional problems; bodily pain; general mental health; vitality; general health perception			
Spitzer Quality of Life Index (SQLI)	Activity, daily living, health, support of family and friends, and outlook			
Prostate-specific				
EORTC QLQ-PR25 questionnaire	Urinary, gastrointestinal, sexual, treatment-related symptoms			
EPIC-26 (Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite)	Urinary, gastrointestinal, sexual, hormonal, vitality			
UCLA-PCI (University of California, Los Angeles Prostate Cancer Index)	Urinary, gastrointestinal, sexual			
FACT-P (Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate)	Urinary, gastrointestinal, sexual			
Fox Chase Bowel/Bladder Toxicity	Urinary, gastrointestinal, sexual			
IPSS (International Prostate Symptom Score)	Urinary			
ICS (International Continence Society) male questionnaire	Urinary (incontinence)			
IIEF (International Index of Erectile Function)	Sexual			
CSFQ (Chronic Sexual Function Questionnaire)	Sexual			
BMSFI (Brief Male Sexual Function Inventory)	Sexual			

A *multidomain decline* assessment has been developed to evaluate treatment effect on patients who experience declines in multiple concurrent domains [28]. Concomitant assessment of MID thresholds in four or five domains has been demonstrated to better depict treatment-related toxicity profiles that may be more burdensome for patients and of more difficult management for clinicians.

The open question remains on what is the best time to assess PRO endpoints. Although, the PRO assessment at baseline and at a later key time point may be used for clinical trial design purposes, longitudinal evaluation of QoL impact of SBRT treatments on the long-term beyond 1 year of follow-up may yield a more accurate profile of treatment tolerance. Indeed, if acute toxicities usually resolve with time and mostly during the first 12 weeks, late toxicities impacting QoL are often observed 2–3 years after SBRT. The inclusion of PRO to evaluate the impact of curative radiation treatments before, during, and after treatment is encouraged to fully capture treatment tolerance based on the patient voices.

Future international consensus processes are welcomed to provide standardization in assessment, documentation and evaluation of PRO.

# 9.3 Quality of Life and Prostate SBRT

In 2013, King et al. analyzed the QoL impact of SBRT in 864 patients with localized prostate cancer enrolled in different phase II clinical trials (median dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions for 84% of them and 39 Gy in four fractions for the remaining 16%). A 14% of patients received, in addition, concomitant androgen deprivation, ADT [29]. Using the EPIC questionnaire, the authors observed a transient decline in the urinary and bowel domains within the first 3 months after SBRT, with a complete and durable recovery to baseline or even better within 6 months after SBRT (Table 9.2). No impact of age, use of ADT, and the degree of early toxicity was observed on recovery, while the decline in the sexual activity was mostly observed during the

first 9 months from SBRT, not altered by ADT or age.

Other series studied long-term effects of prostate SBRT on QoL [30-38] (Table 9.2). In all these series, the urinary domain was the most affected one during the acute phase and up to 6 months after the SBRT end. Long-term effects on QoL remained mild to moderate with most patients reporting the same QoL scores compared to baseline. Of note, patients with the highest baseline urinary QoL scores presented a greater risk of clinically significant change in QoL after prostate SBRT [37]. On the other hand, in a context of management of QoL issues following SBRT treatment, recovery in urinary, bowel, and sexual function was better than baseline status especially in patients with a poorer baseline function [29]. The sexual domain slowly declines during follow-up in the majority of studies [29, 40]. For patients with functional erections at baseline, 57% and 45% retained erectile function at 24 months and 60 months, respectively [41]. Patients aged  $\geq 65$  years presented a continuous decline compared with the plateau phase observed in younger patients. Based on validated prediction models, sexual function outcomes after SBRT appear to be comparable to external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and brachytherapy [41]. However, results should be interpreted in the context of population's age of SBRT studies, considering that ED increases sharply between the ages of 60 and 70 years [42].

Dess et al. evaluated the incidence of multidomain QoL decline in a large prospective, single-center study including 713 consecutive patients treated with SBRT (35-36.25 Gy in five fractions) for localized prostate cancer [39]. Multidomain decline was defined as a concurrent decline in four or five domains equal or exceeding one time or twice the MID threshold  $(1 \times or$  $2 \times$  multi-domain decline). During the acute phase (up to 3 months from SBRT), 8-15% of patients experienced multi-domain declines. The corresponding rates after 6-60 months follow-up were approximately 10% and 5% for  $1 \times$  and  $2 \times$  multi-domain decline, respectively. For patients experiencing a more significant  $2 \times$  multi-domain decline, the long-term impact

	Number	Total delivered	Follow-up (median	OoL			Sexual	
Authors	patients	dose, Gy	months)	scale	Urinary domain	Bowel domain	domain	
King et al. [29]	194	35-40	60	EPIC	B: 89/L: 90.8	B: 95/L: 95.9	B: 53/L: 39.9	
Batthasali et al. [30]	197	35–36.25	24	EPIC	B: 89.6/L: 87 B: 95.1/L: 93.7		B: 56.3/L: 44.5	
Boike et al. [31]	45	45-47.5-50	30	EPIC	No significant increase from baseline			
Boyer et al. [32]	60	37	28	EPIC	B: 94.4/L: 96.3 No change		B: 67.8/L: 54.2	
Elias et al. [33]	84	35	51	EPIC	B: 89.4 MCIC: 18%	B: 92.2 MCIC: 26%	B: 46.6 MCIC: 38%	
Evans et al. [34]	381	35–40	24	EPIC	MCIC: -0.2 points (obstructive/ irritative) -3.4 points (incontinence)	MCIC: -1.3 points	MCIC: -14 points	
Mantz et al. [35]	102	40	60	EPIC	B: 85.4/L: 81.1 (irritation/ obstruction)	B: 92/L: 91	B: 51.4/L: 47.9	
McBride et al. [36]	45	36.25–37.5	44.5	EPIC	B: 92/L: 91	B: 95.5/L: 93	B: 43/L: 21	
Quon et al. [37]	114	35 40	56	EPIC	MCIC 35 Gy: 19.5% MCIC 40 Gy: 24%	MCIC 35 Gy: 26.8% MCIC 40 Gy : 41.4%	MCIC 35 Gy: 42.9% MCIC 40 Gy : 38.5%	
Woo et al. [38]	174	35-36.25	36	EPIC	B: 89/L: 86.5	B: 95/L: 92.6		
Dess et al. [39]	659	35–36.25	60	EPIC	B: 88/1 × MID: 28%	B: 100/1 × MID: 23%	B: 61/1 × MID: 56%	

**Table 9.2** Mean or median health-related quality of life changes over time relative to baseline for all patients following prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy

Negative values indicate a decline and positive values indicate an improvement over baseline scores

Abbreviations: *B* baseline, *L* late follow-up, *EPIC* Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite, *MCIC* minimal clinical important change,  $1 \times MID$  1 × decline exceeding the clinically detectable threshold in  $\geq$ 4 EPIC-26 domains (multidomaine decline)

on health status was unrelated to the SBRT treatment or cancer progression in more than half of the subjects. These results highlight the importance of comprehensive treatment care using a cross-modality comparison of QoL decline in multiple domains to better understand the real impact of SBRT treatments in prostate cancer patients.

The RTOG 0938 trial is a randomized phase 2 study comparing two fractionation schedules for low-risk prostate cancer: 36.25 Gy in 5 fraction of 7.25 Gy in 2 weeks versus 51.6 Gy in 12 fraction of 4.3 Gy in 2.5 weeks. Patients were treated either with robotic radiosurgery (22%) or with intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) or volumetric arc therapy (VMAT) (78%). Closed to

accrual in 2014, the primary objective of the study was to demonstrate that 1-year QoL for at least one hypofractionated arm was not significantly lower than baseline as measured by the Bowel and Urinary domains of the EPIC instrument. Presented as an abstract during the American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) 2016 meeting, a 1-year EPIC decline from baseline for bowel and genitourinary symptoms was observed in 23.5% versus 23.1%, and in 35.3% versus 34.7% of patients treated in the 5-fractions and 12-fractions arms, respectively. The frequency of EPIC changes was below the rate considered per-study as unacceptable in both arms.

Preliminary results of the Scandinavian phase III HYPO-RT-PC trial have been also presented at the 2016 ASTRO annual meeting. Between 2015 July 2005 and November this non-inferiority trial accrued 1200 intermediate risk prostate cancer patients randomizing patients to either receive 78 Gy to the prostate in 39 fractions of 2 Gy over 8 weeks, or 42.7 Gy in 7 fractions of 6.1 Gy over two and a half weeks using image-guided radiotherapy (RT). Most patients (80%) received three-dimensional conformal RT (3-D CRT), and the remaining patients received VMAT, without ADT. In a preliminary analysis of 866 patients who reached a 2-year follow-up, men who were treated with extremely hypofractionated RT in 7 fractions experienced similar side effects 2 years following treatment as those who received conventional RT in 39 fractions. Rates of physician-reported grade  $\geq$ 2 toxicities (RTOG scale) at 2 years following treatment did not differ significantly between RT arms, with similar rates of urinary and bowel side effects (5.4 vs. 4.6% and 2.2 vs. 3.7% for extreme and conventional fractionation, respectively). Similarly, the Prostate Cancer Symptom Scale questionnaire at 2 years following treatment also did not differ significantly between treatment groups for overall bother from urinary (p = 0.17), bowel (p = 0.12) or sexual function (p = 0.71) symptoms. On the other hand, acute bowel toxicity at the end of RT was higher for the extreme-hypofractionated treatment than for conventional fractionated (9.4 vs. 5.3%; p = 0.023), though with similar acute urinary toxicity. Patient-reported bowel function at the end of RT was also significantly worse following extreme hypofractionation than following conventional for seven of ten symptoms assessed, even though these differences dissipated after 3 and 6 months follow-up. At 1 year post-treatment, patientreported urinary function was significantly worse among extreme-hypofractionation patients for 4 of the 14 symptoms measured.

# 9.4 Quality of Life: Comparison with Other Treatment Modalities

Substantial differences on long-term patientreported functional outcomes have been observed among curative treatment strategies for prostate cancer [13, 43, 44]. EBRT has been associated with a greater impact on bowel QoL, while declines in urinary incontinence and sexual function are less important compared to radical prostatectomy. Despite significant technological progress in both surgical and RT fields, the same findings on QoL in previous trials using older treatment techniques (mostly 3D conformal RT techniques and non-robotic prostatectomy) were observed in a more recent study including a population-based prospective cohort of 1141 patients mostly treated with robotic prostatectomy and IMRT techniques (86.6 and 94.8% of the patients, respectively) [45]. These findings have been confirmed by Katz et al. comparing radical prostatectomy with SBRT. Using the EPIC questionnaire changes in QoL were observed mostly during the first 6 months, with sexual and genitourinary domains mostly affected by surgery and bowel QoL declines more frequently detected after SBRT [46]. Most important, long-term urinary and sexual QoL declines remained significantly lower for surgery patients but not for the SBRT ones.

In a multi-institutional pooled cohort analysis of 803 patients, using the EPIC questionnaire Evans et al., compared patient reported QoL before and after conventionally fractionated RT with IMRT, brachytherapy, and SBRT for localized prostate cancer [34]. QoL after SBRT (7-8 Gy per fraction for five fractions) was similar for urinary and sexual domains but it was associated with a smaller impact on bowel QoL compared to the other treatment options. As expected, a decline in urinary QoL was observed in the acute phase for all the three techniques, consisting mostly of urinary irritation flares resolving within 6 months after treatment. Comparing altered fractionations, Johnson et al. analyzed changes in PRO QoL following moderate hypofractionation (<5 Gy/fraction) or hypofractionation with SBRT extreme (5–10 Gy/fraction) [47]. Using a pooled analysis of multiple prospective studies including 912 patients, patients treated with SBRT presented similar bowel and sexual symptoms compared to patients treated with moderate though hypofractionation, even the later experienced a less worsening of urinary symptoms at 2-years.

As far as dose escalation is concerned, a secondary analysis of two prospective clinical trials investigated the impact on QoL of dose escalation from 35 to 40 Gy in five once-weekly fractions [37]. In this study dose-escalated prostate SBRT from 35 to 40 Gy was not associated with a decline in long-term QoL as assessed by the EPIC questionnaire. Nevertheless, a proportion of patients reported significant declines in average urinary, gastrointestinal, and sexual scores of 20.5% versus 24.1%, 26.8% versus 41.4%, and 42.9% versus 38.5% (all p = NS) for the low and the high-dose arm, respectively. In contrast, further dose escalation with SBRT may be linked to an increased risk of toxicity compared to daily doses ranging between 7 and 8 Gy. In a phase I/II dose escalation trial, up to 10% of severe grade 3-4 rectal toxicity were observed at 2-years median follow-up delivering 50 Gy in five fractions, suggesting probably a threshold of approximately 90-95 Gy in equivalent 2-Gy per fractions with a alfa/beta ratio of 1.5 Gy [48]. Dosimetric parameters such as prostate size and greater bladder doses have been linked to an increased risk of worsening urinary QoL [49, 50] and may be easily implemented in the clinical practice to optimize SBRT treatments.

The patient's perspectives on treatment experience between modern RT techniques have been explored by Shaverdian et al. [51]. A survey was performed exploring the decision-making experience, expectations of toxicities versus reality and decision regret among 329 patients treated with IMRT, SBRT or HDR brachytherapy. Patients treated with SBRT experienced less treatment regret and less toxicity than expected. Indeed, only 5% of patients treated with SBRT expressed regret compared to 18 and 19% for the HDR and IMRT groups, respectively.

In addition to the Scandinavian phase III HYPO-RT-PC trial that closed to recruitment in 2015 and the RTOG 0938 trial, two other major studies comparing outcomes and health-related QoL results of SBRT versus other RT fractionation schedules or curative treatments are currently ongoing. The Prostate Advances in Comparative Evidence (PACE, ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT01584258) is comparing prostate SBRT (36.25 Gy in 5 fractions) versus laparoscopic radical prostatectomy or conventionally fractionated EBRT (78 Gy in 39 fractions or 62 Gy in 20 fractions) in early-stage organconfined prostate cancer. The Miami HEAT (Hypofractionation Extended via versus Accelerated Therapy) trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01794403), is a randomized trial comparing 36.25 Gy delivered in 5 fractions versus 70.2 Gy given in 26 fractions. The primary endpoint of this trial is the 2-year failure rate defined as a positive biopsy 2 years post treatment completion or earlier evidence of biochemical or clinical failure. Final results of these randomized controlled trials are eagerly awaited in the next years to provide an answer to open questions on efficacy, toxicity, and QoL after SBRT.

### 9.5 Future Perspectives

Impact on QoL of modern SBRT techniques exploring organ-sparing approaches or using schedules with longer overall treatment time (OTT) remain to be determined. The use of recto-prostatic spacers [52] or endorectal balloons [53, 54] to minimize rectal doses or to reduce intra-fractional motion has been tested by some authors. In a dosimetric comparative study, Chapet et al., observed that hyaluronic acid injections between the rectum and the prostate reduced significantly the dose to the rectal wall, allowing a dose escalation from 6.5 to 8.5 Gy without increasing the dose to the rectum [55]. Improvements in QoL previously observed with a spacer in normofractionated IMRT remains still to be confirmed in SBRT series [56].

The impact of OTT and urethra-sparing has been explored by Zilli et al. in a randomized phase II trial comparing a once-a-week versus every-other-day SBRT schedule (ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT01764646) [57]. From 2008/ 2012 through 2012/2015, 170 patients from 9 -European institutions with cT1c-3aN0M0 prostate cancer and a low risk of nodal involvement were recruited and randomized according to two different OTT schedules: either 9 days (arm A), or 28 days, once-a-week, the same week-day (arm B). The prescribed dose was 36.25 Gy in five fractions of 7.25 Gy to the prostate  $\pm$  seminal vesicles in both arms, with the prostatic urethra, with a surrounding margin of 3 mm, receiving a lesser dose of  $5 \times 6.5$  Gy = 32.5 Gy. All patients were treated either with a VMAT or IMRT technique under stereotactic conditions using Novalis<sup>™</sup> linacs and ExacTrac<sup>™</sup> image-guided technology, with the majority of patients treated using an endorectal balloon. Acute toxicity was mild for both arms, with IPSS scores returning to the baseline 3 months after SBRT end. During months 6-18, the incidence of grade-2genitourinary toxicity was 8 and 4% in arms A and B, respectively, while the incidence of grade-2 gastrointestinal toxicity was below 2% in both arms. Concerning IPSS-based QoL rates, the rate of pts satisfied at baseline, 3-months and 18-months were 80, 78, and 89% for arm A and 77, 80 and 88% for arm B, respectively. No changes in EORTC QLQ-PR25 scores for genitourinary, gastrointestinal, and sexual domains were observed in both arms between baseline and 3 months, while an improvement was observed at 18 months for urinary domains. A longer follow-up is obviously required to confirm the potential influence of OTT and urethrasparing on outcome and long-term tolerance.

As far as sexual domains are concerned, the impact of vessel-sparing techniques in preserving the erectile function as previously tested by some authors with normo-fractionated IMRT is promising and merits further investigation in prospective SBRT trials [58].

The question of how far can the number of fractions with SBRT be reduced is an exciting research matter with an undoubtful goal, face the challenge of assessing the potential for cure of prostate cancer patients with a single and unique fraction of high dose irradiation similar to what is already undertaken with radiosurgery. As already explored by some authors in the context of brachy-therapy [59–61], monotherapy treatment seems feasible with acceptable toxicity profile and promising outcome. Two monotherapy studies exploring the role of single fraction SBRT for

localized prostate cancer are currently ongoing. The phase II randomized trial PROSINT-IGRT (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02570919) will compare 45 Gy in five consecutive fractions with a single dose of 24 Gy. Comparison between schedules in terms of toxicity, outcome as well as post-treatment biopsies is the major endpoints of this trial. In the ONE-SHOT trial (ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT03294889), a phase I/II multicenter study exploring the safety and efficacy in terms of biochemical control of a single-fraction of 19 Gy with a urethra-sparing approach, strict QoL assessments using the EPIC-26 questionnaires will provide in the next future a clear evaluation of the clinical impact of a single-dose SBRT for patients with localized prostate cancer.

Last but not least, incorporation in clinical trials of web-based tools for QoL assessment will further help to increase participation and response rates for long-term evaluation of SBRT outcomes [62, 63]. Comparability between electronic and print reporting is well demonstrated [64], with benefits resulting from electronic reporting confirmed by a recent meta-analysis [65]. Not surprisingly, completion rates of the EPIC questionnaire in a prostate cancer trial at 1-year were 82% for electronic reporting, versus 36% only for the printed forms [63].

### **Conflicts of Interest**

The author and co-authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

#### References

- Halpern JA, Sedrakyan A, Hsu WC, et al. Use, complications, and costs of stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Cancer. 2016;122:2496–504.
- Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Mardirossian G. Virtual HDR CyberKnife SBRT for localized prostatic carcinoma: 5-year disease-free survival and toxicity observations. Front Oncol. 2014;4:321.
- Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with or without external beam radiation as treatment for organ confined high-risk prostate carcinoma: a six year study. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9(1):1.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, et al. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body

radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82:877–82.

- Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie XJ, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer – results from a multi-institutional clinical trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51.
- Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Scremin E, et al. Imageguided stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: preliminary clinical results. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2010;9:473–7.
- Katz AJ, Santoro M, Ashley R, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for organ-confined prostate cancer. BMC Urol. 2010;10(1):1.
- Chen RC, Chang P, Vetter RJ, et al. Recommended patient-reported core set of symptoms to measure in prostate cancer treatment trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106:dju129.
- Atkinson TM, Li Y, Coffey CW, et al. Reliability of adverse symptom event reporting by clinicians. Qual Life Res. 2012;21:1159–64.
- Basch E, Iasonos A, McDonough T, et al. Patient versus clinician symptom reporting using the National Cancer Institute common terminology criteria for adverse events: results of a questionnaire-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2006;7:903–9.
- Sonn GA, Sadetsky N, Presti JC, et al. Differing perceptions of quality of life in patients with prostate cancer and their doctors. J Urol. 2013;189:S59–65.
- Peters LJ, Zagars GK. Neutron therapy in prostate cancer – is the therapeutic ratio improved? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;31:204–5.
- Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, et al. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1250–61.
- 14. Basch E, Jia X, Heller G, et al. Adverse symptom event reporting by patients vs clinicians: relationships with clinical outcomes. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101:1624–32.
- Calvert M, Blazeby J, Altman DG, et al. Reporting of patient-reported outcomes in randomized trials: the CONSORT PRO extension. JAMA. 2013;309:814–22.
- 16. Szymanski KM, Wei JT, Dunn RL, et al. Development and validation of an abbreviated version of the Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite instrument for measuring health-related quality of life among prostate cancer survivors. Urology. 2010;76:1245–50.
- Barry MJ, Fowler FJ Jr, O'Leary MP, et al. The American Urological Association symptom index for benign prostatic hyperplasia. The Measurement Committee of the American Urological Association. J Urol. 1992;148:1549–57. discussion 64
- Rosen RC, Riley A, Wagner G, et al. The international index of erectile function (IIEF): a multidimensional scale for assessment of erectile dysfunction. Urology. 1997;49:822–30.
- 19. Rhoden EL, Teloken C, Sogari PR, et al. The use of the simplified International Index of Erectile Function

(IIEF-5) as a diagnostic tool to study the prevalence of erectile dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. 2002;14:245–50.

- 20. Hanlon AL, Watkins Bruner D, Peter R, et al. Quality of life study in prostate cancer patients treated with three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy: comparing late bowel and bladder quality of life symptoms to that of the normal population. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;49:51–9.
- Spitzer WO, Dobson AJ, Hall J, et al. Measuring the quality of life of cancer patients: a concise QL-index for use by physicians. J Chronic Dis. 1981;34:585–97.
- 22. Hoskin PJ, Rojas AM, Ostler PJ, et al. Quality of life after radical radiotherapy for prostate cancer: longitudinal study from a randomised trial of external beam radiotherapy alone or in combination with high dose rate brachytherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2013;25:321–7.
- 23. Dueck AC, Mendoza TR, Mitchell SA, et al. Validity and reliability of the US National Cancer Institute's patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events (PRO-CTCAE). JAMA Oncol. 2015;1:1051–9.
- Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of changes in health-related quality of life: the remarkable universality of half a standard deviation. Med Care. 2003;41:582–92.
- 25. Jayadevappa R, Malkowicz SB, Wittink M, et al. Comparison of distribution- and anchor-based approaches to infer changes in health-related quality of life of prostate cancer survivors. Health Serv Res. 2012;47:1902–25.
- Barrett B, Brown D, Mundt M, et al. Sufficiently important difference: expanding the framework of clinical significance. Med Decis Mak. 2005;25:250–61.
- Skolarus TA, Dunn RL, Sanda MG, et al. Minimally important difference for the Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite short form. Urology. 2015;85:101–5.
- Cleeland CS. Symptom burden: multiple symptoms and their impact as patient-reported outcomes. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2007;2007:16–21.
- 29. King CR, Collins S, Fuller D, et al. Health-related quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer: results from a multiinstitutional consortium of prospective trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87:939–45.
- Bhattasali O, Chen LN, Woo J, et al. Patient-reported outcomes following stereotactic body radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:52.
- Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, et al. Phase I doseescalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2020–6.
- 32. Boyer MJ, Papagikos MA, Kiteley R, et al. Toxicity and quality of life report of a phase II study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12:14.
- Elias E, Helou J, Zhang L, et al. Dosimetric and patient correlates of quality of life after prostate

stereotactic ablative radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2014;112:83-8.

- 34. Evans JR, Zhao S, Daignault S, et al. Patient-reported quality of life after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), and brachytherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2015;116:179–84.
- 35. Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol. 2014;4:279.
- 36. McBride SM, Wong DS, Dombrowski JJ, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: preliminary results of a multi-institutional phase 1 feasibility trial. Cancer. 2012;118:3681–90.
- Quon HC, Musunuru HB, Cheung P, et al. Doseescalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: quality-of-life comparison of two prospective trials. Front Oncol. 2016;6:185.
- Woo JA, Chen LN, Wang H, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: what is the appropriate patient-reported outcome for clinical trial design? Front Oncol. 2015;5:77.
- 39. Dess RT, Jackson WC, Suy S, et al. Predictors of multidomain decline in health-related quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer. Cancer. 2017;123:1635–42.
- Wiegner EA, King CR. Sexual function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results of a prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78:442–8.
- Dess RT, Hartman HE, Aghdam N, et al. Erectile function after stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2018;121(1):61–8.
- 42. Selvin E, Burnett AL, Platz EA. Prevalence and risk factors for erectile dysfunction in the US. Am J Med. 2007;120:151–7.
- Donovan JL, Hamdy FC, Lane JA, et al. Patientreported outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1425–37.
- 44. Resnick MJ, Koyama T, Fan KH, et al. Long-term functional outcomes after treatment for localized prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:436–45.
- 45. Chen RC, Basak R, Meyer AM, et al. Association between choice of radical prostatectomy, external beam radiotherapy, brachytherapy, or active surveillance and patient-reported quality of life among men with localized prostate cancer. JAMA. 2017;317:1141–50.
- 46. Katz A, Ferrer M, Suarez JF, et al. Comparison of quality of life after stereotactic body radiotherapy and surgery for early-stage prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2012;7:194.
- 47. Johnson SB, Soulos PR, Shafman TD, et al. Patientreported quality of life after stereotactic body radiation therapy versus moderate hypofractionation for

clinically localized prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2016;121:294-8.

- 48. Kim DW, Cho LC, Straka C, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1-2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89:509–17.
- 49. Qi XS, Wang JP, Gomez CL, et al. Plan quality and dosimetric association of patient-reported rectal and urinary toxicities for prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol. 2016;121:113–7.
- Gomez CL, Xu X, Qi XS, et al. Dosimetric parameters predict short-term quality-of-life outcomes for patients receiving stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2015;5:257–62.
- 51. Shaverdian N, Verruttipong D, Wang PC, et al. Exploring value from the patient's perspective between modern radiation therapy modalities for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97:516–25.
- 52. Mok G, Benz E, Vallee JP, et al. Optimization of radiation therapy techniques for prostate cancer with prostate-rectum spacers: a systematic review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90:278–88.
- 53. Smeenk RJ, Louwe RJ, Langen KM, et al. An endorectal balloon reduces intrafraction prostate motion during radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83:661–9.
- 54. Wortel RC, Heemsbergen WD, Smeenk RJ, et al. Local protocol variations for image guided radiation therapy in the multicenter Dutch hypofractionation (HYPRO) trial: impact of rectal balloon and MRI delineation on anorectal dose and gastrointestinal toxicity levels. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99:1243–52.
- 55. Chapet O, Udrescu C, Tanguy R, et al. Dosimetric implications of an injection of hyaluronic acid for preserving the rectal wall in prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88:425–32.
- Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97:976–85.
- 57. Zilli T, Jorcano S, Bral S, et al. PV-0552: urethrasparing SBRT for prostate cancer: acute toxicity results from a randomized phase II trial. Radiother Oncol. 2017;123:S295.
- 58. Spratt DE, Lee JY, Dess RT, et al. Vessel-sparing radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer to preserve erectile function: a single-arm phase 2 trial. Eur Urol. 2017;72:617–24.
- 59. Gomez-Iturriaga A, Casquero F, Pijoan JI, et al. Health-related-quality-of-life and toxicity after single fraction 19Gy high-dose-rate prostate brachytherapy: phase II trial. Radiother Oncol. 2018;126(2):278–82.
- 60. Hoskin P, Rojas A, Ostler P, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy alone given as two or one fraction to patients for locally advanced prostate cancer: acute toxicity. Radiother Oncol. 2014;110:268–71.

- 61. Morton G, Chung HT, McGuffin M, et al. Prostate high dose-rate brachytherapy as monotherapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer: early toxicity and quality-of life results from a randomized phase II clinical trial of one fraction of 19Gy or two fractions of 13.5Gy. Radiother Oncol. 2017;122:87–92.
- Basch E. New frontiers in patient-reported outcomes: adverse event reporting, comparative effectiveness, and quality assessment. Annu Rev Med. 2014;65:307–17.
- 63. Movsas B, Hunt D, Watkins-Bruner D, et al. Can electronic web-based technology improve quality of life data collection? Analysis of Radiation Therapy

Oncology Group 0828. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2014;4:187–91.

- 64. Johansen MA, Henriksen E, Horsch A, et al. Electronic symptom reporting between patient and provider for improved health care service quality: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. part 1: state of the art. J Med Internet Res. 2012;14:e118.
- 65. Muehlhausen W, Doll H, Quadri N, et al. Equivalence of electronic and paper administration of patientreported outcome measures: a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies conducted between 2007 and 2013. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13:167.



# Techniques for Reducing Toxicity After SBRT

Daniel Gorovets, Marisa Kollmeier, and Michael J. Zelefsky

# 10.1 Introduction

Ultra-hypofractionated radiation therapy for prostate cancer must be performed carefully and accurately to minimize the risk of bowel, urinary, and sexual toxicity. With the emergence of advanced technologies, such as image-guided radiation therapy (IGRT), it is now possible to deliver extraordinarily precise radiation treatments for prostate cancer, which has further facilitated the escalation of radiation dose in an increasingly safe manner.

Results from the early phase clinical trials and retrospective studies of prostate SBRT demonstrate that it is generally well tolerated [1– 10]. Acute grade 1–2 gastrointestinal (GI) and genitourinary (GU) toxicities do occur in the many patients, however acute grade 3 or higher toxicities are extremely rare. The reported incidence of late grade 1–2 GI and GU toxicities is <30% with grade 3 or higher late toxicities experienced by <5% of patients. In patients who are potent prior to SBRT and not treated with androgen deprivation, the incidence of late erectile dysfunction appears to be <30%.

Multiple factors are thought to influence the likelihood of incurring complications after

D. Gorovets  $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$ . Kollmeier  $\cdot M$ . J. Zelefsky

prostate SBRT. These include, but are not limited to, predisposing patient baseline characteristics, such a pre-existing urinary symptoms, prostate volume, and comorbidities, as well as radiation dose to the surrounding normal tissue, including bladder, rectum and erectile tissues. Given that many prostate cancer patients will be cured and/or have long life expectancies following treatment, reducing treatment sequelae and optimizing posttreatment quality of life is a crucial goal of therapy.

# 10.2 Reducing Gastrointestinal Toxicity

The most common gastrointestinal (GI) side effects of prostate SBRT include radiation proctitis, hemorrhoid flares, change is bowel habits, and tenesmus. These symptoms typically peak within the first month of SBRT and resolve within 3 months. Mechanisms of acute rectal injury are primarily related to inflammation in response to direct mucosal damage from radiation exposure. Subsequent late GI side effects, such as rectal bleeding and reduced compliance, are the result of progressive epithelial atrophy and fibrosis associated with obliterative endarteritis and chronic mucosal ischemia [11]. Endoscopic findings in patients with radiation proctopathy include telangiectasias and rare mucosal ulceration.

Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

e-mail: gorovetd@mskcc.org; KollmeiM@mskcc.org; zelefskm@mskcc.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_10

### 10.2.1 Patient Selection

Prior to offering prostate SBRT, patients should be evaluated for underlying conditions that might increase their sensitivity to radiation-related GI side effects. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), including ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, have been shown to increase risk of bowel toxicity with external beam radiation therapy [12]. It must be noted, however, that data regarding the specific risk of IBD in patients undergoing SBRT is lacking. Additional comorbidities that may predispose patients to bowel toxicity include conditions that affect the microvasculature including diabetes, hypertension, and collagen vascular diseases [13]. Patients with a history of hemorrhoids and those on anticoagulation have higher rates of rectal bleeding following radiation therapy and thus may have higher risks with SBRT as well [14, 15]. Prior bowel/rectal surgery and/or pelvic radiation may also factor into decisions regarding treatment. While the presence of these factors are not absolute contraindications to the use of prostate SBRT, patients should be advised of their potential increased risk of toxicity.

### 10.2.2 Treatment Planning and Delivery

The risk of GI toxicity after prostate radiation therapy is directly related to rectal dose [16-19]. Several SBRT studies have examined the effect of dose on rectal morbidity. A multicenter phase I/II dose-escalation trial of SBRT using 45, 47.5, and 50 Gy in five fractions for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer reported increasing rectal toxicity with increasing dose per fraction [5, 6]. At the highest dose level, 6/61 patients (9.8%) experienced grade 3 and higher rectal toxicity, five of whom required a diverting colostomy; compared to 0% in the lower dose arms. In a separate analysis of these patients, high grade late rectal toxicity was significantly more common when >3 cc of the rectal wall received 50 Gy and when >35% of the rectal circumference received 39 Gy [20]. The authors also demonstrated that acute grade 2 and higher toxicities were associated with >50% of the rectum circumference receiving 24 Gy or higher. More studies like this are needed to determine reliable rectal dose constraints for prostate SBRT.

Currently the rectal dose constraints vary by institution and protocol. RTOG 0938 (NCT01434290), a study evaluating 36.25 Gy in five fractions, suggests limiting the rectum maximum dose to <105% of the prescription dose, 3 cc < 95%, 90% < 80%, and 50% < 50%. Other studies report similar rectal planning goals of V50% < 50% of the prescribed dose, V80% < 20%. V90% 10%. <and V100% < 5% [21].

Consistent dosimetry can be achieved only with careful attention to anatomic reproducibility from simulation through treatment delivery. Rectal volume can be influenced by daily variations in stool and gas content and can distort anatomy significantly. Simple measures to empty the rectum, such as low-residue diet, pretreatment enemas, and/or bulking agents can improve the accuracy of dose delivery [22, 23]. Another technique to achieve consistent rectal volumes includes the use of an endorectal balloon, which can also reduce prostate motion [24, 25]. Rectal balloons do, however, increase patient discomfort and may not be practical for all patients/centers. Regardless of technique used to reproduce rectal volume, careful attention to anatomy on daily pretreatment cone-beam CTs is crucial and radiation therapists should be trained to identify and correct anatomic distortions. If a full rectum is seen on the pretreatment cone-beam CT, a rectal tube can be placed to release air or patients can be instructed to have a bowel movement and/or pass flatus.

The interval between fractions is another important consideration that appears to be associated with risk of GI side effects. In a prospective phase II trial of prostate SBRT (36.25 Gy in five fractions) for low risk patients, King et al. found less rectal toxicity in patients treated everyother-day (QOD) compared to those treated with a five-consecutive day (QD) regimen [26]. Compared to the patients treated QOD, patients treated



**Fig. 10.1** Example of a T2-weighted MRI after injection of a hydrogel rectal spacer (orange = prostate, blue = spacer, brown = rectum)

QD more frequently reported Expanded Prostate Cancer Index (EPIC) bowel quality of life (QOL) scores of 4-5 ("moderate" or "big problem") for any rectal symptom (38% vs. 0%, p < 0.01) and overall rectal QOL (24% vs. 0%, p < 0.05). Similar results were also seen in a multicenter Canadian randomized phase II trial comparing prostate SBRT in 11 versus 29 days overall treatment time [27]. In this trial 152 low to intermediate risk prostate cancer patients were randomized to receive 40 Gy in five fractions delivered QOD versus once per week. Clinically important worsening of acute ( $\leq 3$  month) EPIC bowel QOL scores was more common in patients treated QOD versus weekly (90% vs. 70%, p < 0.01). Acute grade 1, 2, 3 GI toxicities were also significantly worse in the patients treated QOD compared to those treated weekly (64%, 18% 0% vs. 41%, 11%, 0%, *p* < 0.01).

### 10.2.3 Rectal Spacers

Given the proximity of the anterior rectal wall to the prostate, it is difficult to deliver tumoricidal doses to the prostate while sparing the rectum. One approach to overcome this limitation is to physically separate the prostate and rectal wall using a rectal spacer (Fig. 10.1). Rectal spacers are either injectable, biodegradable agents (hyaluronic acid, collagen, blood, polyethylene glycol hydrogels) or absorbable balloons. Most studies show spacers can increase the separation between the prostate and the rectum by more than 1 cm, which has been shown to result in meaningful reductions in rectal dose.

Prada et al. were the first to report on the use of a hyaluronic acid injection in the perirectal fat of 27 patients undergoing prostate external beam radiation with an HDR brachytherapy boost [28]. A mean distance achieved between rectum and prostate was 2 cm without migration or volumetric changes in hyaluronic acid for 1 year. The additional space between the prostate and rectum led to a 28% reduction in mean rectal dose. The same group conducted a clinical trial that included 69 patients receiving LDR brachytherapy as monotherapy with or without a hyaluronic acid rectal spacer [29]. At a median follow-up of 18 months, the use of a spacer led to significantly lower rates of proctoscopic evidence of rectal mucosal damage (5% vs. 36%, p < 0.002) and less rectal bleeding (0% vs. 12%, p = 0.047).

The largest reported experiences have been with the use of synthetic polyethylene glycolbased hydrogels, such as SpaceOAR<sup>TM</sup>
(Augmenix Inc., Waltham, MA), which is an FDA approved commercially available device [30–36]. Pinkawa et al. reported early results using the hydrogel spacer in 18 patients undergoing dose-escalated prostate radiation to 78 Gy (3D-CRT and IMRT) [30]. Comparing treatment plans prior to and following spacer placement, a mean separation of 1 cm was achieved and significant reductions in rectal doses were demonstrated. Mean NTCP for severe GI toxicity was reduced by >50%. A multiinstitutional prospective pilot study reported comparative dosimetry for 52 patients undergoing prostate IMRT to 78 Gy before and after hydrogel spacer placement [31]. Although no differences in PTV, rectal, or bladder volumes were noted, significant dose reductions were seen at all rectal dose levels. The rectal V70 decreased by  $\geq 25\%$ in 95.7% of patients, with a mean reduction of 8 Gy (13% vs. 5.1%, p < 0.001). Despite interinstitutional variations in plan conformity and target definitions, rectal V70 reductions were noted across these heterogeneous groups.

More recently, a multi-institutional prospective phase III trial including 222 low and intermediate risk patients treated with conventionally fractionated IGRT to 79.2 Gy without androgen deprivation randomized patients to receive or not receive a hydrogel rectal spacer [34, 35]. A mean separation of 1.26 cm and reduction in mean rectal V70 was achieved in spacer patients (10% vs. 2%, p < 0.0001). At 3-year follow-up, late grade  $\geq 1$  rectal toxicity was 9% in the control arm compared to 2% in the spacer arm (p < 0.03) and late grade  $\geq 2$  rectal toxicity was 0% in the spacer arm but 6% in the control arm (p < 0.02). Additionally, changes from baseline bowel quality of life as measured by the EPIC questionnaire was also less in the spacer arm than the control arm [37]. The percent of men with a >5-point change from baseline was 41% in the control arm versus 14% in the spacer arm (p = 0.002) and for a >10-point decline was 21% versus 5% (p = 0.02). Similar results were also seen in a German retrospective study of 114 patients with prostate cancer treated with IMRT to 76-78 Gy in 2 Gy fractions, where patients who received a hydrogel spacer reported better EPIC bowel quality of life scores [38]. A bowel bother score change >10 points was found in 6% versus 32% (p < 0.01) at 17 months and in 5% versus 14% (p = 0.2) at 63 months with versus without a spacer.

The technique of transperineal placement of a rectal spacer is a relatively simple one. Under light sedation and/or local anesthesia, transrectal ultrasound guidance is used to first hydrodissect the rectroprostatic space followed by injection of the polyethylene glycol gel precursors, which polymerize and form a firm gel. The gel may be visualized to some extent on ultrasound; however, is not clearly seen on CT scan and requires an MRI for simulation and treatment planning. The hydrogel remains stable for approximately 90 days, dissolves over 6 months, and is renally excreted [39]. One concern regarding the use of a rectal spacer is the potential for displacement of prostate cancer cells and inadvertent underdosage of disease in patients with posterior extracapsular extension. While this issue remains theoretical, it may be prudent to avoid using a rectal spacer in this population.

Various less commonly used spacers have also been investigated. Noyes et al. injected 20 ml of collagen into the perirectal space of 11 patients undergoing prostate IMRT to 75.6 Gy [40]. The mean separation was 1.27 cm and the mean reduction in dose to the anterior rectal wall was 50%. There were no rectal adverse events reported during the course of radiotherapy or during the follow-up period. The ProSpace<sup>TM</sup> (BioProtect Ltd., Israel) biodegradable balloon is another type of rectal spacer in use. The balloon is made from poly(L-lactide-co-caprolactone) and inflated with sterile saline. Gez et al. transperineally implanted balloons in 27 patients receiving prostate radiation [41]. The mean prostate-rectum distance increased from  $0.22 \pm 0.2$  to  $2.47 \pm 0.47$  cm after the implant and the spacing did not significantly change during the course of radiation.

# 10.3 Reducing Genitourinary Toxicity

Genitourinary (GU) toxicity is the most common toxicity seen following prostate radiotherapy and typically consists of both irritative (i.e. frequency, urgency, dysuria) and obstructive (i.e. weak stream, incomplete emptying) symptoms. Most patients experience some transient urinary bother either toward the completion of or immediately following SBRT. Medical interventions (i.e. alpha blockers, anti-inflammatory medication, anticholinergics) to reduce early toxicity may be helpful and likely improve patient quality of life. Acute urinary symptoms typically resolve by 3–6 months after treatment. Late complications may include persistent urinary bother, urethritis, hemorrhagic cystitis/urethritis, and/or urethral strictures. Although the reported rates of moderate to severe GU toxicity is low, every effort should be made to reduce the risk of such outcomes.

## 10.3.1 Patient Selection

One important step in evaluating a patient for prostate SBRT is a careful and complete urinary evaluation including history of prior TURP or strictures, prior prostate interventions, and a full assessment of baseline urinary dysfunction ideally with the use of a validated patient-reported questionnaire (i.e. IPSS, EPIC). Measurement of the prostate volume by pretreatment imaging is important and patients with large volume glands or the presence of a prominent median lobe may be at higher risk of urinary obstruction after SBRT. Prior to treatment, efforts can be made to medically optimize urinary function and/or cytoreduce the prostate, however whether these interventions reduce urinary obstruction requiring catheterization is currently unknown. Fortunately, when catheterization is necessary for acute urinary retention, it is typically needed only for a brief period.

Similar to patients undergoing brachytherapy, prostate volume might predict for urinary morbidity in patients undergoing SBRT. Repka et al. reported the acute urinary toxicity in a cohort of 103 men treated with prostate SBRT to 35–36.25 Gy in five fractions using CyberKnife (Accuray Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, USA) [42]. All patients received prophylactic alpha-blockers starting 5 days prior to SBRT. At 7 days following treatment, 22.3% had a >5-point increase from baseline IPSS with prostatic volume >36 cc being a significant independent predictor on multivariate analysis. Similarly, Katz et al. found prostate volume >60 cc to be predictive of late grade 2 or higher GU toxicity compared to patients with prostates <60 cc (14.7% vs. 7.5%, p = 0.03) [2].

The relationship between prostate size and late urinary toxicity, however has not been consistently demonstrated. In a study of 216 patients undergoing prostate SBRT, a late urinary symptom flare was noted in 13.4% of patients, which peaked 9–18 months post-treatment [43]. There did not appear to be a correlation between flare and prostate volume or baseline urinary function. Interestingly, young age was the only independent factor associated with risk of late urinary symptom flare in this study. In another series, Janowski et al. reported urinary toxicity outcomes of 57 men with prostate volumes  $\geq 50 \text{ cm}^3$ (median 62.9 cm<sup>3</sup>, range: 50–138.7 cm<sup>3</sup>) treated with 35-36.25 Gy in five fractions using CyberKnife [44]. They found a 23% incidence of late urinary symptom flare in the first 2 years following SBRT. The 2-year actuarial incidence of grade  $\geq 2$  GU toxicity was 49.1% with a late grade 3 event rate of 3.5%.

A history of prior TURP for benign prostatic hypertrophy is important to note and may predict for worse toxicity in those undergoing SBRT, although reported data is relatively lacking with only small case reports. In an Italian study, three of seven patients with prior TURP experienced late urinary side effects, but only one was grade 3 [45]. Chen et al. also reported a late grade 3 GU toxicity in a patient with a large prostate who underwent 2 TURPs prior to SBRT [46].

Prostate SBRT is also being explored as a potential salvage treatment after failed primary radiotherapy, cryotherapy, and HIFU, however only small case series with limited follow-up are currently reported [47, 48]. While we await more robust data in this patient population, caution is advised, as these patients are likely at elevated risk of side effects.

# 10.3.2 Treatment Planning and Delivery

GU toxicity after prostate radiation is likely related to radiation dose delivered to critical normal tissue, such as the bladder and/or urethra, however this relationship is poorly understood. Anatomical sub-sites of these organs (i.e. bladder trigone/neck or membranous urethra) might be relatively more important to avoid with high doses of radiation [49, 50]. Although dose constraints are frequently used for the planning of conventionally fractionated external beam radiation and brachytherapy, specific constraints in the setting of prostate SBRT are currently not well defined.

Despite the lack of large-scale, detailed dosimetric studies, radiation dose to the prostate does appear to be important in patients undergoing prostate SBRT. In the multi-institutional phase I/II five fraction dose escalation study reported by Hannan et al., acute grade 1–2 GU toxicity was more frequent in the highest dose (50 Gy) group at 78.7% compared to 60 and 46.6% in the intermediate (47.5 Gy) and low (45 Gy) dose groups respectively [5]. The only late grade 4 GU toxicity (cystitis requiring ureteroileal diversion) occurred in the highest dose group as well.

To date, there have been relatively few defined dose-volume relationships for prostate SBRT that have predicted for more significant GU toxicity. The low rates of moderate to severe urinary morbidity and relatively small patient cohorts make establishing these relationships quite difficult. The volume of bladder receiving high doses might be important. Repka et al. found bladder wall D15.5% > 32.6 Gy to be significantly associated with acute urinary toxicity [42]. An NTCP modeling study of late urinary flare after prostate SBRT (35-36.25 Gy in five fractions) demonstrated a significance of dose to the hottest 12.7% of the bladder volume and suggested a dose constraint of D12.7% $\leq$ 33.5 Gy [51].

Bladder and urethra dose constraints for prostate SBRT vary by institution and protocol. For the five-fraction arm of RTOG 0938 (NCT01434290), the bladder dose limits are D1 cc < 105%, D10% < 90%, and D50% < 50%. The urethra max dose constraint is <107%. The treatment protocol by Katz et al. used bladder goals of V50% < 40% (i.e. the volume receiving 50% of the prescribed dose <40%) and V100% < 10% [21].

One important consideration for treatment planning is the optimal identification of the urethra, which can be facilitated using a Foley catheter during simulation. Additionally, attention should be given to institutional consistency with bladder filling instructions prior to simulation and treatment. Advantages of treatment with a full bladder include reducing the volume of bladder near high dose region, as well as elevating bowel away from the target area. Bladder filling consistency can be monitored prior to treatment with the use of cone-beam CT. Furthermore, intrafraction motion monitoring using implanted fiducial markers or transponders is also essential to verify stability of prostate positioning during treatment delivery, which ensures the accuracy of each treatment.

## 10.3.3 Prophylactic Medical Therapies

Baseline lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) are frequently encountered in patients being considered for prostate SBRT and are best assessed using validated patient-reported outcome tools, such as the American Urological Association Symptom Index (AUASI) and International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS). These include a constellation of symptoms, such as urgency, increased frequency, nocturia, hesitancy, and weak stream. Optimization of urinary symptoms prior to treatment, should improve tolerability of radiation-related side effects and patient quality of life during and after SBRT. Depending on the underlying cause, multiple medical therapies might be useful to reduce urinary symptoms before SBRT including alphablockers, anticholinergics, or five-alpha-reductase inhibitors. Androgen deprivation therapy for cytoreduction prior to SBRT may be useful in some patients with large volume glands and high IPSS scores, as has been suggested in brachytherapy literature [52].

Prophylactic medications, such as alphablockers and/or anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs or steroids), are used by some centers with the goal of preventing acute urinary morbidity thought to be related to radiation induced prostatitis and edema [53–55]. There are limited data, however, that these regimens significantly reduce the risk of symptoms and their theoretical benefits must be balanced against their known risks of side effects.

### 10.4 Reducing Sexual Dysfunction

Preservation of sexual function is strongly correlated with patient satisfaction after prostate cancer treatment [56]. Sexual dysfunction after prostate radiation is multifaceted and can include changes in ejaculate quantity, loss of libido, and difficulty achieving or maintaining an erection. Most analyses focus on erectile dysfunction, which is best assessed using validated questionnaires, such as the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) and the Sexual Health Inventory for Men (SHIM).

### 10.4.1 Patient Selection

Multiple factors contribute to the post-treatment erectile dysfunction following prostate SBRT including pre-treatment dysfunction, as well as physical and psychosocial comorbidities. The etiology of radiation-related erectile dysfunction is likely multifactorial, including vascular changes, soft tissue/muscle fibrotic changes, and nerve dysfunction [57]. Patients with comorbidities that also affect vascular and nerve tissue, such as hypertension and diabetes are predisposed to post-treatment erectile dysfunction. Advancing age alone has been shown to correlate with deteriorating erectile function in healthy subjects and is particularly relevant in the prostate cancer population [58]. Additionally, the use of androgen deprivation has a significant impact on both early and late erectile dysfunction. In the study by Katz et al., 252 of the 375 patients (67.2%) that were potent prior to prostate SBRT remained potent at last follow-up (median 72 months) and use of androgen deprivation was significantly associated with the development of erectile dysfunction [2].

# 10.4.2 Treatment Planning and Delivery

Complex physiological interactions are involved in the maintenance of a functional erection. The etiology of impotence after conventionally fractionated prostate radiation is thought to most likely be related to vascular pathology, but also possibly cavernosal dysfunction and less likely nerve injury [59, 60]. The pathophysiology of erectile dysfunction after SBRT is likely similar but not yet fully understood.

Whether dose to the penile bulb, penile proximal crura, specific blood vessels or nerves, and/or the neurovascular bundles affect sexual function is still an open question. Several brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy studies have attempted to demonstrate correlations between dosimetric variables to these structures and erectile dysfunction.

Accurate delineation of target and normal adjacent tissues is essential to reduce radiation MRI-based treatment related side effects. planning approaches (MR simulation or CT/MRI fusion) are superior to CT-based approaches for this purpose. Prostate volumes contoured on MRI are smaller and less variable than those contoured on CT which may also dose reduce to these proximate tissues [61, 62]. Additionally, erectile tissues are better visualized on MRI than on CT [63]. Studies are ongoing to assess whether MR-based nerve and vessel sparing radiation is safe and beneficial for erectile function preservation.

It is possible that rectal spacers (discussed above), in addition to reducing GI toxicity, can help minimize sexual toxicity after prostate SBRT. Secondary analyses of the phase III trial evaluating the hydrogel rectal spacer during prostate IMRT to 79.2 Gy showed that the spacer decreased dose to the penile bulb and was associated with preserved erectile function [64]. At 36 months follow-up, men with good baseline function who had a spacer reported better sexual quality of life across multiple items including overall function, erection ability, erection quality, erection frequency, morning erections, and orgasm ability. There was also less sexual bother in the spacer arm. Pinkawa et al. also found that at 5 years there were significantly more patients in with a spacer reporting erections firm enough for intercourse compared to patients without a spacer and patients with good baseline function were significantly more likely to preserve function than those without a spacer [38].

# 10.4.3 Phosphodiesterase Type 5 Inhibitors

The use of phosphodiesterase type 5 (PDE5) inhibitors during and after prostate SBRT might be effective at preventing and/or treating post-SBRT erectile dysfunction. PDE5 inhibitors block the degradation of cGMP, which increases to smooth muscle relaxation in the blood vessels supplying the corpus cavernosum, resulting in increased blood flow to the penis. Multiple studies in the post-radiation setting have shown that episodic or "on-demand" use of PDE5 inhibitors (i.e. sildenafil citrate and tadalafil) can improve erectile function, however response decreases as time from radiation increases [65–71]. PDE5 inhibitors also can help men treated with radiation combined with androgen deprivation, but to a lesser extent than patients treated without androgen deprivation [72].

Compared with episodic use of PDE5 inhibitors, regularly scheduled administration improves cavernosal vasodilatation and erectile function in men without prostate cancer that have erectile dysfunction [73]. A randomized prospective trial of 6 months of daily sildenafil citrate versus placebo in 279 men undergoing prostate radiotherapy demonstrated a significant improvement in erectile function with PDE5 inhibitors that persisted to 24 months. This study also showed that the benefit diminishes with time and is less pronounced in patients treated with androgen deprivation in conjunction with radiation. It is possible that longer than 6 months of treatment might have produced more durable effects. Another randomized, placebo-controlled trial of daily tadalafil for 6 months failed to show a statistically significant difference in erectile function. It is possible that this lack of benefit was related to the choice of study drug, dosing, or insufficient power to detect a difference.

Based on the current evidence, patients undergoing prostate SBRT should be offered sexual counseling and informed about the availability of effective treatments for sexual dysfunction. It is reasonable to offer daily PDE5 inhibitors of  $\geq 6$  months starting at the time of SBRT for prevention or to use it early in response to reported erectile dysfunction.

**Disclosures** Dr. Zelefsky serves as a consultant for Augmenix.

# References

- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67 (4):1099–105.
- Katz AJ, Kang J. Quality of life and toxicity after SBRT for organ-confined prostate cancer, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:301.
- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82.
- McBride SM, Wong DS, Dombrowski JJ, Harkins B, Tapella P, Hanscom HN, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy in low-risk prostate adenocarcinoma: preliminary results of a multiinstitutional phase 1 feasibility trial. Cancer. 2012;118(15):3681–90.
- Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie X-J, Cho LC, Kavanagh BD, Brindle J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancerresults from a multi-institutional clinical trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51.
- Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, DeRose P, Xie X-J, et al. Phase I dose-escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):2020–6.
- 7. Anwar M, Weinberg V, Seymour Z, Hsu IJ, Roach M, Gottschalk AR. Outcomes of hypofractionated

stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for intermediate and high-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11:8.

- Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol [Internet]. 2014;4. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fonc. 2014.00279/abstract. Accessed 7 May 2018
- Freeman DE, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: five-year outcomes. Radiat Oncol. 2011;6:3.
- 10. Davis J, Sharma S, Shumway R, Perry D, Bydder S, Simpson CK, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: toxicity and biochemical disease-free outcomes from a multiinstitutional patient registry. Cureus [Internet]. 2015. Available from: http://www.cureus.com/articles/3466stereotactic-body-radiotherapy-for-clinicallylocalized-prostate-cancer-toxicity-and-biochemicaldisease-free-outcomes-from-a-multi-institutionalpatient-registry. Accessed 7 May 2018
- Hasleton PS, Carr N, Schofield PF. Vascular changes in radiation bowel disease. Histopathology. 1985;9 (5):517–34.
- Willett CG, Ooi CJ, Zietman AL, Menon V, Goldberg S, Sands BE, et al. Acute and late toxicity of patients with inflammatory bowel disease undergoing irradiation for abdominal and pelvic neoplasms. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;46(4):995–8.
- Valdagni R, Rancati T, Fiorino C, Fellin G, Magli A, Baccolini M, et al. Development of a set of nomograms to predict acute lower gastrointestinal toxicity for prostate cancer 3D-CRT. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(4):1065–73.
- Choe KS, Jani AB, Liauw SL. External beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer patients on anticoagulation therapy: how significant is the bleeding toxicity? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(3):755–60.
- 15. Schreiber D, Chen S-C, Rineer J, Worth M, Telivala T, Schwartz D. Assessment of risk of late rectal bleeding for patients with prostate cancer started on anticoagulation before or after radiation treatment. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(12):7367–72.
- Kuban D, Pollack A, Huang E, Levy L, Dong L, Starkschall G, et al. Hazards of dose escalation in prostate cancer radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;57(5):1260–8.
- Jackson A, Skwarchuk MW, Zelefsky MJ, Cowen DM, Venkatraman ES, Levegrun S, et al. Late rectal bleeding after conformal radiotherapy of prostate cancer. II. Volume effects and dose-volume histograms. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;49(3):685–98.
- Skwarchuk MW, Jackson A, Zelefsky MJ, Venkatraman ES, Cowen DM, Levegrün S, et al. Late rectal toxicity after conformal radiotherapy of prostate cancer (I): multivariate analysis and dose-

response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47 (1):103–13.

- Swanson GP, Stathakis S. Rectal dose constraints for intensity modulated radiation therapy of the prostate. Am J Clin Oncol. 2011;34(2):188–95.
- 20. Kim DWN, Cho LC, Straka C, Christie A, Lotan Y, Pistenmaa D, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1-2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89(3):509–17.
- 21. King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, Fuller D, Bolzicco G, Collins S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiother Oncol. 2013;109(2):217–21.
- 22. Fiorino C, Di Muzio N, Broggi S, Cozzarini C, Maggiulli E, Alongi F, et al. Evidence of limited motion of the prostate by carefully emptying the rectum as assessed by daily MVCT image guidance with helical tomotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(2):611–7.
- 23. Ogino I, Uemura H, Inoue T, Kubota Y, Nomura K, Okamoto N. Reduction of prostate motion by removal of gas in rectum during radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(2):456–66.
- 24. D'Amico AV, Manola J, Loffredo M, Lopes L, Nissen K, O'Farrell DA, et al. A practical method to achieve prostate gland immobilization and target verification for daily treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;51(5):1431–6.
- 25. van Lin ENJT, Kristinsson J, Philippens MEP, de Jong DJ, van der Vight LP, Kaanders JHAM, et al. Reduced late rectal mucosal changes after prostate threedimensional conformal radiotherapy with endorectal balloon as observed in repeated endoscopy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67(3):799–811.
- 26. King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Pawlicki T, Cotrutz C, Presti JC. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: interim results of a prospective phase II clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;73 (4):1043–8.
- 27. Quon HC, Ong A, Cheung P, Chu W, Chung HT, Vesprini D, et al. PATRIOT trial: randomized phase II study of prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy comparing 11 versus 29 days overall treatment time. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(Suppl 7):6–6.
- 28. Prada PJ, Fernández J, Martinez AA, de la Rúa A, Gonzalez JM, Fernandez JM, et al. Transperineal injection of hyaluronic acid in anterior perirectal fat to decrease rectal toxicity from radiation delivered with intensity modulated brachytherapy or EBRT for prostate cancer patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(1):95–102.
- 29. Prada PJ, Gonzalez H, Menéndez C, Llaneza A, Fernández J, Santamarta E, et al. Transperineal injection of hyaluronic acid in the anterior perirectal fat to decrease rectal toxicity from radiation delivered with low-dose-rate brachytherapy for prostate cancer patients. Brachytherapy. 2009;8(2):210–7.

- Pinkawa M, Escobar Corral N, Caffaro M, Piroth MD, Holy R, Djukic V, et al. Application of a spacer gel to optimize three-dimensional conformal and intensity modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2011;100(3):436–41.
- 31. Song DY, Herfarth KK, Uhl M, Eble MJ, Pinkawa M, van Triest B, et al. A multi-institutional clinical trial of rectal dose reduction via injected polyethylene-glycol hydrogel during intensity modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer: analysis of dosimetric outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;87(1):81–7.
- 32. Eckert F, Alloussi S, Paulsen F, Bamberg M, Zips D, Spillner P, et al. Prospective evaluation of a hydrogel spacer for rectal separation in dose-escalated intensitymodulated radiotherapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. BMC Cancer [Internet]. 2013;13(1). Available from: http://bmccancer.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/1471-2407-13-27. Accessed 5 Mar 2018
- 33. Uhl M, Herfarth K, Eble MJ, Pinkawa M, van Triest B, Kalisvaart R, et al. Absorbable hydrogel spacer use in men undergoing prostate cancer radiotherapy: 12 month toxicity and proctoscopy results of a prospective multicenter phase II trial. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9(1):96.
- 34. Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, Beyer D, et al. Hydrogel spacer prospective multicenter randomized controlled pivotal trial: dosimetric and clinical effects of perirectal spacer application in men undergoing prostate image guided intensity modulated radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(5):971–7.
- 35. Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(5):976–85.
- 36. Taggar AS, Charas T, Cohen GN, Boonyawan K, Kollmeier M, McBride S, et al. Placement of an absorbable rectal hydrogel spacer in patients undergoing low-dose-rate brachytherapy with palladium-103. Brachytherapy. 2018;17(2):251–8.
- Skolarus TA, Dunn RL, Sanda MG, Chang P, Greenfield TK, Litwin MS, et al. Minimally important difference for the expanded prostate cancer index composite short form. Urology. 2015;85(1):101–6.
- 38. Pinkawa M, Berneking V, Schlenter M, Krenkel B, Eble MJ. Quality of life after radiation therapy for prostate cancer with a hydrogel spacer: 5-year results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2):374–7.
- 39. Pinkawa M, Piroth MD, Holy R, Escobar-Corral N, Caffaro M, Djukic V, et al. Spacer stability and prostate position variability during radiotherapy for prostate cancer applying a hydrogel to protect the rectal wall. Radiother Oncol. 2013;106(2):220–4.
- Noyes WR, Hosford CC, Schultz SE. Human collagen injections to reduce rectal dose during radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82 (5):1918–22.

- 41. Gez E, Cytron S, Yosef RB, London D, Corn BW, Alani S, et al. Application of an interstitial and biodegradable balloon system for prostate-rectum separation during prostate cancer radiotherapy: a prospective multi-center study. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8(1):96.
- 42. Repka MC, Kole TP, Lee J, Wu B, Lei S, Yung T, et al. Predictors of acute urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(8):1136–8.
- 43. Woo JA, Chen LN, Bhagat A, Oermann EK, Kim JS, Moures R, et al. Clinical characteristics and management of late urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:122.
- 44. Janowski E, Chen LN, Kim JS, Lei S, Suy S, Collins B, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with large prostates (≥50 cm<sup>3</sup>). Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:241.
- 45. Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Satariano N, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A. A single-center study of 100 consecutive patients with localized prostate cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. BMC Urol. 2013;13:49.
- 46. Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, Oermann EK, Ju AW, Chen V, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: The Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:58.
- 47. Leroy T, Lacornerie T, Bogart E, Nickers P, Lartigau E, Pasquier D. Salvage robotic SBRT for local prostate cancer recurrence after radiotherapy: preliminary results of the Oscar Lambret Center. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12:95.
- 48. Quarrier S, Katz A, Haas J. Treatment of prostate cancer local recurrence after whole-gland cryosurgery with frameless robotic stereotactic body radiotherapy: initial experience. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2013;11 (2):89–93.
- 49. Ghadjar P, Zelefsky MJ, Spratt DE, Munck af Rosenschöld P, Oh JH, Hunt M, et al. Impact of dose to the bladder trigone on long-term urinary function after high-dose intensity modulated radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;88(2):339–44.
- 50. Hathout L, Folkert MR, Kollmeier MA, Yamada Y, Cohen GN, Zelefsky MJ. Dose to the bladder neck is the most important predictor for acute and late toxicity after low-dose-rate prostate brachytherapy: implications for establishing new dose constraints for treatment planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;90(2):312–9.
- 51. Kole TP, Tong M, Wu B, Lei S, Obayomi-Davies O, Chen LN, et al. Late urinary toxicity modeling after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol. 2016;55(1):52–8.
- 52. Stone NN, Marshall DT, Stone JJ, Cesaretti JA, Stock RG. Does neoadjuvant hormonal therapy improve

urinary function when given to men with large prostates undergoing prostate brachytherapy? J Urol. 2010;183(2):634–9.

- 53. King BL, Butler WM, Merrick GS, Kurko BS, Reed JL, Murray BC, et al. Electromagnetic transponders indicate prostate size increase followed by decrease during the course of external beam radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79(5):1350–7.
- 54. Sacco DE, Daller M, Grocela JA, Babayan RK, Zietman AL. Corticosteroid use after prostate brachytherapy reduces the risk of acute urinary retention. BJU Int. 2003;91(4):345–9.
- 55. Speight JL, Shinohara K, Pickett B, Weinberg VK, Hsu IC, Roach M. Prostate volume change after radioactive seed implantation: possible benefit of improved dose volume histogram with perioperative steroid. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;48(5):1461–7.
- 56. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, Sandler HM, Northouse L, Hembroff L, et al. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(12):1250–61.
- 57. Mahmood J, Shamah AA, Creed TM, Pavlovic R, Matsui H, Kimura M, et al. Radiation-induced erectile dysfunction: recent advances and future directions. Adv Radiat Oncol. 2016;1(3):161–9.
- 58. Johannes CB, Araujo AB, Feldman HA, Derby CA, Kleinman KP, McKinlay JB. Incidence of erectile dysfunction in men 40 to 69 years old: longitudinal results from the Massachusetts male aging study. J Urol. 2000;163(2):460–3.
- Zelefsky MJ, Eid JF. Elucidating the etiology of erectile dysfunction after definitive therapy for prostatic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;40(1):129–33.
- 60. Mulhall J, Ahmed A, Parker M, Mohideen N. Original research—erectile dysfunction: the hemodynamics of erectile dysfunction following external beam radiation for prostate cancer. J Sex Med. 2005;2(3):432–7.
- 61. Roach M, Faillace-Akazawa P, Malfatti C, Holland J, Hricak H. Prostate volumes defined by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomographic scans for three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1996;35(5):1011–8.
- 62. Rasch C, Barillot I, Remeijer P, Touw A, van Herk M, Lebesque JV. Definition of the prostate in CT and MRI: a multi-observer study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(1):57–66.
- 63. Buyyounouski MK, Horwitz EM, Uzzo RG, Price RA, McNeeley SW, Azizi D, et al. The radiation doses to erectile tissues defined with magnetic resonance imaging after intensity-modulated radiation therapy or

iodine-125 brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;59(5):1383–91.

- 64. Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Gross E, Hudes R, et al. Sexual quality of life following prostate intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) with a rectal/prostate spacer: secondary analysis of a phase 3 trial. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2018;8(1): e7–15.
- Zelefsky MJ, McKee AB, Lee H, Leibel SA. Efficacy of oral sildenafil in patients with erectile dysfunction after radiotherapy for carcinoma of the prostate. Urology. 1999;53(4):775–8.
- 66. Kedia S, Zippe CD, Agarwal A, Nelson DR, Lakin MM. Treatment of erectile dysfunction with sildenafil citrate (Viagra) after radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Urology. 1999;54(2):308–12.
- 67. Valicenti RK, Choi E, Chen C, Lu JD, Hirsch IH, Mulholland GS, et al. Sildenafil citrate effectively reverses sexual dysfunction induced by threedimensional conformal radiation therapy. Urology. 2001;57(4):769–73.
- 68. Incrocci L, Slagter C, Slob AK, Hop WCJ. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study to assess the efficacy of tadalafil (Cialis) in the treatment of erectile dysfunction following three-dimensional conformal external-beam radiotherapy for prostatic carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;66(2):439–44.
- Incrocci L, Slob AK, Hop WCJ. Tadalafil (Cialis) and erectile dysfunction after radiotherapy for prostate cancer: an open-label extension of a blinded trial. Urology. 2007;70(6):1190–3.
- Ohebshalom M, Parker M, Guhring P, Mulhall JP. The efficacy of sildenafil citrate following radiation therapy for prostate cancer: temporal considerations. J Urol. 2005;174(1):258–62. discussion 262
- Schiff JD, Bar-Chama N, Cesaretti J, Stock R. Early use of a phosphodiesterase inhibitor after brachytherapy restores and preserves erectile function. BJU Int. 2006;98(6):1255–8.
- 72. Watkins Bruner D, James JL, Bryan CJ, Pisansky TM, Rotman M, Corbett T, et al. Randomized, doubleblinded, placebo-controlled crossover trial of treating erectile dysfunction with sildenafil after radiotherapy and short-term androgen deprivation therapy: results of RTOG 0215. J Sex Med. 2011;8(4):1228–38.
- 73. Aversa A, Greco E, Bruzziches R, Pili M, Rosano G, Spera G. Relationship between chronic tadalafil administration and improvement of endothelial function in men with erectile dysfunction: a pilot study. Int J Impot Res. 2007;19(2):200–7.



# SBRT for High-Risk Prostate Cancer

Alejandro González-Motta, Mekhail Anwar, Alexander Gottschalk, Martina Descovich, and Mack Roach III

# 11.1 Introduction

High-risk prostate cancer (HRPCa) is an biologically aggressive and distinct form of the disease known to have a greater risk of distant metastasis and mortality than low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer [1]. Although there is no universally accepted definition of HRPCa most clinicians and investigators accept the criteria put forth by the NCCN (National Comprehensive Cancer Network) [2] including either a high Gleason score (GS) (e.g. 8–10) clear risk for extracapsular extension, seminal vesicle invasion and/or a high risk of lymph node involvement. These three features potentially limit the effectiveness of radical prostatectomy and radiation when treatment is directed exclusively at the prostate.

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) combined with androgen deprivation (ADT) improves the overall survival in high-risk patients compared to treatment with only androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) [3, 4], while dose escalation has been shown to improve biochemical control [5– 12]. Compared with dose-escalated EBRT, low dose rate (LDR) brachytherapy has demonstrated an improvement in biochemical control [13]. High dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy boost appears to provide similar advantages as a LDR brachytherapy boost. Some favor HDR brachytherapy because it may be technically easier to perform and improves dose delivery and provides coverage of extra-prostatic disease [14]. The standard treatment for high-risk prostate cancer patients includes the use of long-term ADT, with studies have showing that 2–3 years of ADT results in an improvement in overall survival (OS) compared to short term ADT [15, 16].

Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) is a technique that delivers highly conformal, highdose radiation in usually one to five treatment fractions. In prostate cancer, SBRT is used to provide the radiobiological advantage of a low  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio, as well as the convenience of a short treatment course. Multiple pre-clinical and clinical studies have shown that prostate cancer has a low  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio in the range of 1–1.9 Gy [17– 20]. The organs at risk close to the prostate have a higher  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio, typically assumed to be between 3 Gy and 5 Gy. This difference in sensitivity is the theoretical basis for increasing the fraction size; thus, it is possible to achieve dose escalation through hypofractionated SBRT without causing more damage to the organs at risk [21]. Additionally, SBRT has some advantages over other forms of radiation because it is more convenient for the patients, it is non-invasive compared with brachytherapy, and shorter in duration when compared with EBRT.

A. González-Motta · M. Anwar · A. Gottschalk ·

M. Descovich · M. Roach III (🖂)

UCSF, San Francisco, CA, USA

e-mail: Alejo.g.motta@gmail.com; Mekhail.anwar@ucsf. edu; Alexander.gottschalk@ucsf.edu; Martina. Descovich@ucsf.edu; Mack.Roach@ucsf.edu

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_11

154

Fuller et al. [22] made a dosimetric comparison between HDR brachytherapy and CyberKnife (CK) SBRT, and concluded that the robotic radiosurgery delivers a radiation dose distribution that very closely resembles the distribution delivered using HDR brachytherapy. Many centers have extrapolated their planning goals, doses, and fractionations from HDR brachytherapy to SBRT. SBRT is considered to be a safe and effective treatment for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer patients [23], although the role in highrisk patients is still unclear. This review summarizes the rationale for SBRT, what is known about this treatment modality, its potential advantages and limitations and future directions.

### 11.2 SBRT As Monotherapy

The treatment of HR patients with SBRT as a monotherapy option is not considered "standard of care" although the somewhat limited reports suggest surprisingly favorable outcomes [24], with no randomized studies exist to support its use. However, some patients are neither candidates for brachytherapy boost nor for a course of protracted EBRT, but may be suitable candidates for SBRT. Thirteen published studies [25-37] that included HR patients treated with SBRT monotherapy are summarized in Table 11.1. The definition of HR varied between series. The total dose of radiation used in the monotherapy studies ranged from 32 to 40 Gy in four or five fractions. All studies used ADT in some patients. The 5-year bDFS was 81-91%. The longest bDFS was reported by Katz et al. [30] who reported an 8-year bDFS of 65% in HR patients. The results of SBRT monotherapy studies (see Fig. 11.1) should be interpreted cautiously, because, it could be explained by selection bias. However, it is a promising treatment for HR prostate cancer patients with a short treatment time and leverages the advantage of hypofractionation.

# 11.3 SBRT As a Boost

The SBRT boost is a promising option with more clinical evidence needed. In a recent review [24],

five published studies with HR patients treated with SBRT boost were included [38-42] and two studies combined HR patients who received SBRT as a monotherapy or as a boost [43, 44] (see Table 11.2). In the SBRT boost only studies the median follow-up ranged from 2 to 5 years. Three studies [38, 40, 42] had a follow-up of four or more years. All studies except for one used ADT. The boost dose reported in these studies varied from 10 Gy in two fractions to 21 Gy in two or three fractions. Two SBRT boost studies [38, 39] delivered whole pelvis radiotherapy to lymph nodes if the risk of lymph node involvement predicted with the Roach formula was more than 15%. Two studies [40, 41] treated all patients with whole pelvic field to 45 Gy in 25 fractions before the SBRT boost to cover pelvic lymph nodes. Two studies [38, 39] (with more than 50% HR patients) reported a 5-year bDFS of 90 and 98%. However, no studies report specific 5-year bDFS for HR patients exclusively. In the two combined studies, the first study by Katz et al. reported [43] on HR patients using SBRT monotherapy to a total dose of 35-36.25 Gy in five fractions in 52 patients and an SBRT boost to a dose of 19-21 Gy in three fractions in 45 patients. At a median follow-up of 5 years, the 5-year bDFS was 63 and 69% for unfavorable intermediate- and HR patients. The second study Freeman et al. [44] reported SBRT by monotherapy or SBRT boost on 2000 patients with 172 being HR patients. Eighty-six percent of the patients received SBRT monotherapy to a total dose of 35–40 Gy in five fractions, and 14% received an SBRT boost to a total dose of 19.5-21.75 Gy. At a median follow-up of 2 years, the 2-year bDFS was 87% for HR patients. In this recent literature review [24] the 5-year bDFS in the SBRT boost studies (69–98%) is comparable to the results reported in HDR boost studies (72-93%) and DE-EBRT plus ADT studies (75–90%) [45–47], although more studies and research is needed due to the lack of randomized evidence (see Fig. 11.2). The nPSA has been related with bDFS [48–51], and nPSA levels <0.5 ng/ml have been associated with better biochemical outcomes and improved distant metastases-free survival [50]. In the SBRT boost only studies the nPSA appear to be higher than in

Author, year, origin	No. patients (HR pts)	HR definition	Dose	Median FU (years)	ADT/ duration	Toxicity (scale used)	Outcomes HR patients <sup>a</sup>
Kang et al. [29], Korea	44 (29)	D'Amico	8 Gy × 4, 8.5 Gy × 4 or 9 Gy × 4	3.3	Yes/ 24 months	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 1/2: 43% & 25%. Late GU & GI Gr. 1/2: 16% & 14% <sup>b</sup>	5-years-bDFS: 90.9%
Bolzicco et al. [25], Italy	100 (17)	NCCN	7 Gy × 5	3	8 HR pts received/NS	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 2: 12% & 18%. Late GU Gr. 3: 1% <sup>c</sup>	3-years-bDFS: 94% (all patients)
Chen et al. [26], USA	100 (8)	D'Amico	7–7.25 Gy × 5	2.3	"Most" received 3–6 months/ 2 HR pts 2–3 years)	2-years- actuarial GU & GI Gr. $\geq 2$ (31%) & (1%). 21% late GU flare <sup>b</sup>	2-years-bDFS: 99% (all patients)
King et al. [31], USA	1100 (125)	D'Amico	7–8 Gy × 5	3	38% of HR pts/4 months	NS <sup>d</sup>	5-years-bDFS: 81%
Lee et al. [34], Korea	45 (13)	NCCN	7.2 Gy × 5	5.3	Yes/NS	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 2: 4% & 4%. Late GU & GI Gr. 2: 4% & 4% <sup>b</sup>	5-years-bDFS: 89.7% (all patients)
Janowski et al. [28], USA	57 (9)	D'Amico	7–7.25 Gy × 5	2.9	Yes/NS	2 years actuarial Gr. >2 GU & GI: 49% & 1.8% <sup>b</sup>	2-years-bDFS: 98% (all patients)
Davis et al. [27], Radiosurg. Society	437 (33)	NCCN 2015	7–9.5 Gy × 4–5	1.6	15 HR pts received ADT/NS	Late Gr. 1 & 2 GU were 25% & 8%. Late Gr. 1/2 proctitis was 3% & 2% <sup>b</sup>	2-years-bDFS: 90% but with PSA >20 ng/ ml: 62.5%
Fan et al. [36], Taiwan	31 (16)	NCCN	7.5 Gy × 5	3	82% HR/NS	No Gr. >3. 7 pts acute GU Gr. 2. 2 pts Late GU Gr. 2 <sup>b</sup>	3-years-bDFS: 82%
Rana et al. [37], USA	102 (8)	D'Amico	5–8 Gy × 5	4.3	8.9% of pts/4 months	Late Gr. 2 GU & GI: 9.9% & 3% <sup>c</sup>	3-years-bDFS: 100% (all patients)
Ricco et al. [35], USA <sup>e</sup>	270 (A1: 32)	NCCN 2015	7–7.5 Gy × 5	4.1	27% of all SBRT pts/NS	No late GU & GI Gr. 3 <sup>c</sup>	6-years-bDFS for SBRT: 92%. 4-years- bDFS for HR & VHR: 95% & 72%

 Table 11.1
 Series of high-risk prostate cancer patients treated with SBRT as a monotherapy

(continued)

Author, year, origin	No. patients (HR pts)	HR definition	Dose	Median FU (years)	ADT/ duration	Toxicity (scale used)	Outcomes HR patients <sup>a</sup>
Katz et al. [30], USA	515 (38)	NCCN 1.2016	7–7.25 Gy × 5	7	Yes/NS	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 2: <5%; Late GU & GI Gr. 2: 9% & 4%. Late GU Gr. 3: 1.7% <sup>c</sup>	8-years-bDFS: 65% for HR. Favorable and unfavorable intermediate 7-years-bDFS ~93% and 68%
Kotecha [33], USA	24 (13)	NCCN	7.25–10 Gy × 5 to LDPTV and HDPTV SIB	2	Yes/NS	Acute GU Gr. 2: 38%. Late GU & GI Gr. 2: 4% & 8% <sup>b</sup>	2-years-bDFS: 95.8% for all pts. 2 HR pts biochemical failures
Koskela [32], Finland	218 (111)	D'Amico	7–7.25 Gy × 5	2	88.3% of HR/48% of HR pts ADT >24 months	No acute GU & GI Gr. 3 Intterm GU & GI Gr. 3: 1.8 & 0.9% <sup>b</sup>	23-months- bDFS: 92.8%

Table 11.1 (continued)

ADT androgen deprivation therapy, *bDFS* biochemical disease-free survival, *FU* follow-up, *GI* gastrointestinal, *GU* genitourinary, *HDPTV* high-dose planning tumor volume, *HR* high risk, *LDPTV* low-dose planning tumor volume, *NCCN* National Comprehensive Cancer Network, *NS* not specified, *PSA* prostate-specific antigen, *SBRT* stereotactic body radiation therapy, *SIB* simultaneous integrated boost, *VHR* very high risk

<sup>a</sup>At least otherwise specified

<sup>b</sup>Common terminology criteria for adverse events, version 3-4 scale

<sup>c</sup>Radiation Therapy Oncology Group scale

<sup>d</sup>NS Not specified

<sup>c</sup>This study has two arms, one of SBRT (A1) and the other of intensity modulated radiation therapy (A2). Table modified from Gonzalez-Motta and Roach [24]

the LDR BT arm in the ASCENDE-RT trial. However, nPSA after SBRT treatment can decay continuously in time [52] and it is possible that with longer follow-up get a lower nPSA. The biologically effective dose (BED) calculated for a  $\alpha/\beta = 1.4$  in SBRT boost series ranged from 201 to 281 Gy comparable to the BED reached with HDR boost [53].

A recent report from UCSF suggest that there may be advantages to performing reverse boost (boost prior to fractionated EBRT) [54]. In this report we observed a more rapid, complete and sustained resolution of complete urinary obstructive (UO) requiring an indwelling catheter. In addition to the possible sequence advantage for relieving UO, there are several other additional potential advantages to using a reverse boost: (1) obtaining the Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) prior to defining the anatomy on the treatment planning CT may improve the accuracy of defining the target definition. For example, on some occasions a greatly enlarged median lobe on sometimes difficult to identify on routine CT; (2) there may be favorable sequence dependent interactions when the boost is given first analogous to the trial reported by Forman et al. using Neutron boost [55]; (3) occasionally composite plans generated combining SBRT following EBRT reveals unexpected "hotspots", which can be avoided if SBRT is performed first. Finally, we have found scheduling logistically easier when the boost is performed first. A randomized trial would be required to confirm the advantages of these sequence dependent interactions but it is doubtful this would be feasible in the near future.

### 11.4 Toxicity

The nature of late toxicity following SBRT remains challenging to evaluate because it is reported in different manners, and the instruments



### bDFS of High Risk patients treated with SBRT monotherapy, HDR monotherapy, DE-EBRT, EBRT + LDR BT Boost, EBRT+LTADT

**Fig. 11.1** Biochemical disease-free survival (bDFS) (Phoenix) of high-risk (HR) patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) monotherapy, high dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy monotherapy studies, a external beam radiotherapy plus long-term androgen deprivation therapy (EBRT + LTADT) study, dose-escalated external beam radiotherapy (DE-EBRT), and low dose rate prostate brachytherapy (LDR BT). Data from the ASCENDE-RT trial was estimated from the Kaplan–Meier curve of bDFS for HR patients. Data for RTOG 9202 (EBRT + LTADT) was estimated from biochemical rate reported. \*RTOG 9202 used ASTRO definition for biochemical failure. \*\*DE-EBRT arm of the ASCENDE-RT trial received 8 months of neoadjuvant androgen deprivation therapy. Modified from Gonzalez-Motta and Roach [24]

Author, year, origin Miralbell et al. [38], Spain	No. pts (HR pts) 50 (33)	HR definition D'Amico	Dose 5, 6, 7 or 8 Gy × 2 (boost)	Med. FU (year) 5.25	ADT/duration 32 pts/15 pts with GS >8: 24–30 months	Toxicity (scale) Acute GU & GI Gr. 2: 46% & 8%. Late GU Gr. 2: 12.5%. Proportion of pts	Outcome for HR patients <sup>a</sup> 5-years- bDFS: 98% for all pts
						GI Gr. >2: 16% at year 3 and 8% at year $5^{b}$	
Lin et al. [41], Taiwan	41 (41)	NCCN	7 Gy × 3 (boost)	3.5	92.7% of pts/24	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 2: 27% & 12% No grade 3 late GU or GI toxicity <sup>c</sup>	4-years- bDFS: 92%
Katz et al. [43], NY	97 (97)	NCCN	7–7.25 × 5 (mono) 18–21 Gy in 3 (boost)	5	51.5% of pts/Med. 5 months	Late GU & GI Gr. 2: 2.3–7.8% & 0–13.3%. Late GU grade 3: 2.3–3.9% <sup>b</sup>	5-years- bDFS were 69% and 63% for HR & unfavorable intermediate
Freeman et al. [44], registry for prostate cancer radiosurgery	2000 (172)	NCCN	7–8 Gy × 5 (mono) 6.5–7.25 × 3 (boost)	2	NS <sup>d</sup>	No late GU Gr. 3 Late grade GI Gr. 3: 1 patient <sup>c</sup>	2-years- bDFS: 87%
Anwar et al. [39], UCSF	48 (34)	NCCN	9.5–10.5 Gy × 2 (boost)	3.5	88% of pts/NS <sup>d</sup>	No acute Gr. 3. One single patient late Gr. 3 GU toxicity <sup>c</sup>	5-years- bDFS: 90% for all pts
Mercado et al. [42], Georgetown	108 (59)	D'Amico	6.5 Gy × 3 (boost)	4.4	63.6% of pts/NS <sup>d</sup>	Late accumulative rate GU & GI Gr. >2: 40% & 12% <sup>c</sup>	3-years- bDFS: 89%
Kim et al. [40], Korea	42 (11)	2.2014 NCCN	7 Gy $\times$ 3 (boost)	4.4	No	Acute: GU & GI Gr. 2: 24% & 19%. Late GU & GI Gr. 2: 12% & 12% (NS)	4-years- bDFS: 71%

Table 11.2 Selected series of high risk prostate cancer treated with SBRT  $\pm$  external beam radiation therapy (EBRT)

eMRI endorectal magnetic resonance imaging, fx fractions, LINAC linear accelerator, QOL quality of life, SV seminal vesicles, WPRT whole pelvis radiation therapy. All other abbreviations as in Table 11.1

<sup>a</sup>At least otherwise specified

<sup>b</sup>Radiation Therapy Oncology Group scale

<sup>c</sup>Common terminology criteria for adverse events, version 3-4 scale

<sup>d</sup>NS Not specified

Table modified from Gonzalez-Motta and Roach [24]



bDFS of High Risk patients treated in SBRT boost or mixed studies, HDR Boost, DE-EBRT, LDR BT and EBRT+LTADT

**Fig. 11.2** Biochemical disease-free survival (bDFS) (Phoenix) of high-risk (HR) patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) boost, high dose rate (HDR) boost, external beam radiotherapy plus long-term androgen deprivation therapy (EBRT + LTADT), doseescalated external beam radiotherapy (DE-EBRT), dose rate prostate brachytherapy (LDR BT) arm of ASCENDE-RT trial. Data from the ASCENDE-RT trial was estimated from the Kaplan–Meier curve of bDFS for HR patients. Data for RTOG 9202 (EBRT + LTADT) was estimated from biochemical rate reported. \*RTOG 9202 used the ASTRO definition for biochemical failure. \*\*DE-EBRT arm of the ASCENDE-RT trial received 8 months of neoadjuvant androgen deprivation therapy. Modified from Gonzalez-Motta and Roach [24] used varies between series and they are also mostly retrospective. Some use common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE) and others used the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) scale. In SBRT monotherapy series the incidence of acute grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) genitourinary (GU) ranged from 4.4 to 38% and the acute grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) gastrointestinal (GI) toxicity ranged from 0 to 18% [24]. The incidence of late grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) GU ranged from 3 to 16% and the late grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) GI toxicity ranged from 0 to 11%. The late grade 3 GU and GI toxicity ranged from 0 to 4.4% [24]. In the SBRT boost and mixed studies, the acute grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) GU and GI toxicity ranged from 23.8 to 46% and from 8 to 19%, respectively. The late grade 2 (RTOG or CTCAE) GU ranged from 2.3 to 25% [24]. The late grade 3 (RTOG or CTCAE) GU and GI toxicity ranged from 0 to 2.3% and from 0 to 10% [24].

# 11.5 Unresolved Questions About SBRT for High Risk Prostate Cancer

# 11.5.1 Role of Whole Pelvic Radiation Therapy (WPRT)

The inclusion of whole pelvic radiation therapy (WPRT) is still hotly debated in high-risk patients. Some studies argued in favor of inclusion of WPRT for a progression-free survival improvement [56], while others did not find a benefit in terms of event-free survival (EFS) and overall survival (OS) [57]. The GETUG-01 study was far too small a trial, and included relatively favorable patients, it also used an unacceptably small pelvic field, all factors that may explain why this was a "negative study" [58]. Results from the ongoing randomized trials, RTOG 0924 for intermediate-risk and favorable highrisk patients and the GETUG-AFU-23 for unfavorable high-risk patients, will help answer this question. Two SBRT boost studies [38, 39] delivered whole pelvis radiotherapy to lymph nodes if the risk of lymph node involvement predicted with the Roach formula was more than 15%. Two studies [40, 41] treated all patients with whole pelvic field to 45 Gy in 25 fractions before the SBRT boost to cover pelvic lymph nodes. Results from trials using only prostate SBRT as monotherapy for high-risk patients are suggestive with 5-year b-DFS between 81% and 91% [29, 31]. Katz et al. [43] published a study of SBRT with or without WPRT for high-risk patients and did not find a statistical difference between patients who received WPRT and patients who did not. Longer follow-up and additional studies ideally randomized trial are desired to elucidate the required of WPRT when SBRT is used.

## 11.5.2 Volumes

There is not a consensus on the ideal volumes for prostate SBRT, and this is probably an immediate challenge to developing a new program. The development of an expert consensus on contouring volumes for prostate SBRT is critically needed due to the rising use of SBRT for prostate cancer. Volumes may need to be impacted with the inclusion of the whole pelvis as previously discussed. Most SBRT boost studies [39-43] define the volume of the boost as the prostate, with some including the proximal seminal vesicle(s) if assumed to be at risk, or when there is radiographic evidence of extracapsular extension [40–42]. At UCSF we treat HR patients with two volumes sequentially in the first volume we include lymph nodes, prostate, proximal semvesicles inal with intensity-modulated radiotherapy.

In the second, boost volume, we include the prostate, seminal vesicles depending on seminal vesicles invasion, not infrequently a single the proximal portion of a seminal vesicles is included (see Fig. 11.3 below) using the CK.

# 11.5.3 ADT Use, Sequence and Duration

There is a debate as to should ADT should be recommended when a high BED used to definitively treat prostate cancer patients. Some studies



**Fig. 11.3** (a) A typical CK plan uses over a hundred non-coplanar, non-isocentric beams, as shown in (a). Iso-dose line distribution in the (b) axial, (c) sagittal and (d) coronal views of an example CK prostate SBRT plan with

in HDR suggest that ADT may be of no benefit when prostate cancer is treated with such large fractions [59]. However, as shown in Tables 11.1 and 11.2 below, the majority of SBRT studies in HR patients used ADT [25–37]. Katz et al. [43] reported a prospective study on 97 patients, 46 of them received ADT. However, ADT use was not found a significant factor for bDFS. Even in patients treated with brachytherapy monotherapy or boost the role of ADT is not fully understood. The American Brachytherapy Society Task Group Report stated that [60] "The inherent selection bias in retrospective studies, unclear risk stratification, inconsistent use and duration of ADT, and inconsistent treatment allocation precludes any definitive conclusions regarding use of ADT in brachytherapy-treated patients."

urethral sparing and extension to include the proximal seminal vesicles. The isodose shown in white represents 120% of the prescription dose

They also consider that [60] "In unfavorable intermediate risk and high-risk disease, ADT is likely to still play a role through spatial co-operation for suppression of micrometastatic disease. The optimal duration, however, remains to be determined". The European Association of Urology [61] recommends that "The optimum duration of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) with external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) is well established in the literature. There is no evidence that these durations should change when using brachytherapy boost with EBRT." In conclusion, there is more research needed to establish the role of ADT in this group of patients. We recommend using the same ADT regimen as in EBRT at least 2 months of neoadjuvant therapy and then 24-26 months of adjuvant ADT

treatment. However, we recognize that patients unable to receive ADT, SBRT treatment as monotherapy or a boost is a treatment option to overcome the non-use of ADT. In patients treated with SBRT monotherapy however, short term ADT following SBRT may be reasonable based on the findings from RTOG 9413.

### 11.5.4 Dose

There is not a standardized dose of SBRT for prostate cancer patients. Most SBRT boost studies in HR patients try to use doses similar to HDR boost doses prescription. Doses of SBRT used as a boost ranged from 5–10.5 Gy  $\times$  2 fractions to  $6-7 \text{ Gy} \times 3 \text{ fractions.}$  Kim et al. [62] published a dose-escalation study that showed that 50 Gy in five fractions had an unacceptable level of rectal toxicity. Zaorsky et al. [63] conducted a metaanalysis that suggested that an increase in BED to 200 Gy (at  $\alpha/\beta = 1.5$ ) was associated with better disease control, whereas doses above 200 Gy did not afford additional clinical benefits. Studies that used an HDR boost have also reported the importance of a higher BED. Martinez et al. [53] reported a 10-year bDFS of 81.1 and 56.9% in patients who received a dose to a BED > 268 Gy  $(\alpha/\beta = 1.2)$  compared patients who received a dose to a BED < 268 Gy ( $\alpha/\beta = 1.2$ ). SBRT boost can obtain similar BED than HDR boost [38, 39]. Doses of SBRT used as a monotherapy ranged from 5–9 Gy  $\times$  4–5 fractions. At UCSF we use two fractions of 9.5 Gy for SBRT boost, and we do not favor the use of SBRT monotherapy for high-risk patients.

### 11.5.5 Dose Constraints

There are very few evidence-based dose constraints for normal tissues in the setting of SBRT for clinically localized prostate cancer [64]. The authors refer the readers to the AAPM TG101 report [65] and the UK consensus on normal tissue dose constraints for stereotactic radiotherapy [66] for a set of constraints for pelvic organs. These constraints are base on extrapolations from constraints from standard fractionation using biological models, and from un-validated estimates by the authors [64]. The dose constraints for prostate SBRT should be considered as an area of continued investigation because the Linear-Quadratic model has not been validated with the high dose per fraction as used in extreme hypofractionation or SBRT [64]. At UCSF we used a method for determining rectal and bladder dose constraints achievable for a given patient's anatomy [67] with this method the proximity of the organs at risk to the target is quantified by means of the expansionintersection volume (EIV), which is defined [67] as the intersection volume between the target and the organ at risk expanded by 5 mm. After that, we determine a relationship between EIV and the relevant dosimetric parameters (e.g. the volume of bladder and rectum receiving 75% of the prescription dose). There is a linear correlation between EIV and V75% of bladder and rectum confirming that the dose increases with increasing extension and proximity of these organs to the target [64, 67]. In general, we try to limit V75% of the rectum to <2 cc and V75% of the bladder to <3 cc. Although these parameters are specifically developed for CK treatment, we expect that this or a similar custom approach designed for each center might be useful, see Table 11.3 that summarizes dose constraints used in our clinical practice.

### 11.6 Treatment Decision

At UCSF we have a broad set of different radiation techniques available for patients. In Table 11.4, below, we share some of the considerations we use for selecting the optimal approach, including our primary preferred indications and relative contraindications. We understand that part of the "Art" of radiation therapy is choosing and tailoring the best treatment for each patient based on patient own clinical features. Based on similar bDFS, nPSA outcomes between HDR boost and SBRT boost and an acceptable toxicity profile of SBRT boost (see Fig. 11.4), we consider them to roughly equivalent. We offered this option for high-risk patients who are not candidates for HDR boost

Parameter	UCSF	UCSF (monotherapy)
Total dose	19 Gy (boost)	38 Gy
Fractions	2	4
Prescription	>60%	>60%
PTV margin	2 mm/0 mm posterior	2 mm/0 mm posterior
PTV	V100% > 95%	V100% > 95%
Rectum	V75% < 2 cc	V75% < 2 cc
Bladder	V75% < 3 cc	V75% < 3 cc
		19 Gy < 15 ml
Urethra	Dmax < 120%	Dmax < 120%

Table 11.3 Recommended dose constraint for SBRT at UCSF with CyberKnife

Modified from Roach et al. [64]

(e.g., not candidates for anesthesia, unadvisable discontinuation of anticoagulation, excessive pubic arch interference) and if patients have a strong preference for SBRT and want to avoid a surgical procedure. SBRT is technically less complex for practitioners and less invasive for patients than BT. Outside of a clinical trial, we do not recommend SBRT monotherapy for highrisk patients unless other radiation therapies or surgical treatments are contraindicated.

# 11.7 Treatment Technique

For a detailed technique description, the authors refer the readers to a recent review on SBRT [64]. In summary, before simulation, three gold seed markers (or fiducials) are implanted in the prostate by an experienced urologist via transrectal ultrasound (TRUS) guidance. Usually, two seeds are placed in the base and one in the prostate apex. Ideally, the marker seeds should be non-collinear in the two-dimensional orthogonal imaging directions and the spacing between each pair of markers should be greater than 2 cm. For CyberKnife, two orthogonal images are acquired at 45° oblique angles throughout the treatment. The live camera images are compared to a library of digitally reconstructed radiographs (DRR) to track the position of the prostate in real time. Three well-placed fiducials are needed in order to correct for both rotations and translations of the prostate during treatment. Gold markers should be placed at least 1 week prior to simulation to allow fiducial movement to stabilize. On the day of simulation, prior to arrival patients are instructed to self-administer an enema to void the rectum. Patients are also instructed to have a "full but comfortable bladder" (We recognize that some radiation oncologist prefers an empty bladder). Care should be taken so that patients do not have an uncomfortable full bladder such that they are unable to hold for the long duration of the treatment. We instruct patients to void bladder 1 h prior to simulation, then to drink two glasses of water while awaiting simulation, to reduce the risk of severe urinary urgency [64].

Patients are simulated [64] with supine arms on the chest. Further, a foot block to prevent femoral head rotations and knee support to ensure patient comfort are used. For CyberKnife treatments a thin (1 mm) CT is obtained covering the entire pelvis. The thinner CT slices (1–1.5 mm) generate high quality digitally reconstructed radiographs (DRRs) that improved the tracking accuracy during imageguided treatment. To improve contouring of volumes and get a better accuracy of the target, at UCSF patients receive a prostate MRI without endorectal coil (to avoid anatomic distortion), with both T1 and T2-weighted imaging sequences, with similar rectal and bladder preparations as described above. The simulation CT is co-registered with the MRI image series performing a rigid registration. Bony anatomy registration is not sufficient to ensure correct registration, given that the prostate can shift relative to the bony anatomy between CT and MR images. The gold markers are better visualized on the T1-weighted images. The prostate borders and urethra are better to define in the T2-weighted images. We routinely use an MRI to define the urethra as an avoidance structure to insure a hotshot does not reside in it, and if patients have contraindications to have an MRI, we perform

Type of radiation therapy	Year <sup>a</sup>	Primary indications <sup>b</sup>	Relative contraindications
IGRT (intensity modulated image guided external beam radiation) <sup>c</sup>	Pre- 1996	<ol> <li>Combination therapy pre/post boost treatment</li> <li>Post-op adjuvant treatment</li> <li>Post-op salvage treatment</li> <li>Large TURP defects</li> <li>Other options not covered by insurance</li> <li>Patient preference</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Previous full dose radiation</li> <li>Patient preference (e.g. logistically problematic)</li> <li>Focal recurrence (favor focal treatments)</li> <li>Technical issues (e.g. too large for CT scan but BT suitable</li> <li>Inflammatory bowel disease or connective tissue disorder</li> <li>Non-compliant for many visits</li> </ol>
PPI (permanent prostate implant) BT (brachytherapy)	1996	<ol> <li>Monotherapy for low or favorable int. risk pts</li> <li>Boost in clinically T1–2 with IMRT</li> <li>Focal salvage post recurrence after IMRT</li> <li>Focal salvage post recurrence after PPI</li> <li>Patient preference</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Not a candidate for anesthesia</li> <li>Discontinuation of anti- coagulation is unadvisable</li> <li>Excessive pubic arch interference (PAI)</li> <li>Excessively large TURP defect</li> <li>Severe baseline urinary symptoms (e.g. urinary retention)</li> </ol>
HDR (high dose rate) BT	1999	<ol> <li>Monotherapy for low or favorable int. risk pts</li> <li>Boost in clinically T1–3 with IMRT</li> <li>Focal salvage post recurrence after IMRT</li> <li>Pubic arch interference prohibiting PPI</li> <li>Median lobe too large for SBRT</li> <li>Insurance prohibits SBRT</li> <li>Patient preference</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Not a candidate for anesthesia</li> <li>Discontinuation of anti- coagulation is unadvisable</li> <li>Excessive pubic arch interference</li> <li>Excessively large TURP defect</li> <li>Severe baseline urinary symptoms (e.g. urinary retention)</li> </ol>
SBRT (stereo tactic body radiation therapy)	2005	<ol> <li>Monotherapy for low or favorable risk pts</li> <li>Boost for clinically T1–4 with IMRT</li> <li>Focal salvage in selected pts post recurrences after IMRT when not candidate for BT salvage</li> <li>Patients presenting with obstruction due to locally advanced disease (e.g. "reverse" boost)</li> <li>Patient preference (e.g. convenience)</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Very large median lobe</li> <li>Unable to lie still and flat for</li> <li>5 min (e.g. tremor)</li> <li>Poor localization due to metal artifacts (e.g. hip replacement, presence of PPI seeds)</li> <li>Poor seed positioning ("too close")</li> <li>Not covered by insurance</li> <li>Protocol requires other treatments</li> <li>Excessively large TURP defect</li> </ol>

Table 11.4 Radiation therapy "preferred" options and relative contraindications for prostate cancer at UCSF (2017)

<sup>a</sup>Approximate year program started at UCSF

<sup>b</sup>"Primary preferred": this term reflects the clinical nuances that go into the decisions concerning the use of various radiation options considered while practicing the "Art" of radiation therapy. There may be exceptions to what physicians decide to recommend to specific patients but these "primary preferred" options as listed in this table reflects our typical considerations and our practice habits. It is recognized that for purposes of continuity of care, and presumed clinical equivalence, patients who could be managed appropriately by more than one boost modality, are more likely to be managed via the modality favor by the "clinical lead" Radiation Oncologist as listed above. Modified from Roach and Chung PPRO [64]

<sup>c</sup>Delivered with either conventional or hypofractionation

an urethrogram at the time of the CT or gold seed placement as an alternative.

At UCSF we commonly use a CyberKnife (Accuray Inc.) boost to deliver 19 Gy to the prostate after a whole pelvic field for high-risk patients. The CTV is defined as the entire prostate with the proximal 1 cm of seminal vesicles, depending on the status of seminal vesicles invasion and the patients anatomy but rarely are the entire seminal vesicles are included. The PTV is generated by an expansion of 2 mm the CTV in all directions except posteriorly. A 2 mm is used



Acute and late toxicity in SBRT, HDR, DE-EBRT and EBRT + LDR-BT Boost

**Fig. 11.4** Acute and late toxicity reported in stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), high dose rate (HDR), dose-escalated external beam radiotherapy (DE-EBRT), and dose rate prostate brachytherapy (LDR BT) studies. Not all SBRT and HDR studies reported toxicity data. Three scales were used in the studies: the common terminology

at UCSF based on data suggesting that is a sufficient margin to account for intra-fraction prostate motion using an imaging interval of 60 s [68, 69], however the margin for seminal vesicles when included should be larger than this. Regarding planning and treatment delivery, a goal would have at least 95% of the PTV being covered by the prescription dose. Limit urethra volume receiving 120% of the prescription dose (V120%) < 0.035 cc and prostate CTV V120% < 50% [69], minimize the volume of the rectum and bladder receiving 75% of the prescription dose (V75%) and avoid hotspots within normal tissue. At UCSF we used a method determining rectal and bladder dose for constraints achievable for a given patient's anatomy [67], the patient is usually imaged every 60 seconds, see Fig. 11.5 for fiducial tracking.

# 11.8 Conclusions

SBRT promises to potentially replace other forms of dose-escalated radiotherapy including HDR brachytherapy. The theoretical advantages

criteria for adverse events (CTCAE), the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) scale and the LENT– SOMA (late effects normal tissue task force-subjective, objective, management and analytic) scale. Modified from Gonzalez-Motta and Roach [24]

include: (1) a learning curve considerably lower than that required to acquire the technical skills to perform high quality brachytherapy skills; (2) similar radiobiological advantages to those associated with HDR brachytherapy; (3) the absence of a need for anesthesia, particularly important in patients for whom discontinuation of anticoagulation therapy is deemed undesirable. Despite these advantages, there are limited longterm results definitively confirming the apparently acceptable low rate of late toxicity. In addition, there may be subsets of patients for whom SBRT may be contraindicated. For example, men with an extremely prominent median lobe, those with a neurologic movement disorder and some insurance companies do not provide coverage for SBRT in some states. More studies and ideally randomized studies are needed to clear the role of SBRT in HR patients. The evidence for SBRT in HR patients is based on observational studies made up of relatively few patients and represents level III evidence. SBRT, when used as a boost, appears to yield results that are similar to those obtained using HDR and appear to be at least as good as those reported with DE-EBRT, albeit



**Fig. 11.5** Intrafractional fiducial tracking used for CyberKnife (CK) prostate treatments. The three gold fiducial markers placed in the prostate are visualized on orthogonal DRRs generated from planning CT (left), and on the live kV X-ray images (middle). During treatment delivery, beams are automatically re-targeted based on the registration of fiducials on the two images (right) to

with the possibility of higher toxicity. SBRT reduces the treatment time for patients and may be preferred over BT given that it is less invasive. SBRT boost is technically less complex for practitioners, required less infrastructure and may be preferable for some patients. SBRT monotherapy should be used in HR patients only on clinical trials, but as more evidence mature in the future, its use could be more accepted.

# References

- Morlacco A, Karnes RJ. High-risk prostate cancer: the role of surgical management. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;102:135–43.
- National, Comprehensive, Cancer, Network. Prostate cancer (version 2.2017). 2017. Available from https:// www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/pros tate.pdf
- 3. Warde P, Mason M, Ding K, Kirkbride P, Brundage M, Cowan R, et al. Combined androgen

account for intrafractional motion (within specific translational and rotational bounds) (Figure from Wahl et al. in Genitourinary sites. In: Sethi RA, Barani IJ, Larson DA, Roach M III, editors. Handbook of evidence-based stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiotherapy [70])

deprivation therapy and radiation therapy for locally advanced prostate cancer: a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2011;378(9809):2104–11.

- 4. Widmark A, Klepp O, Solberg A, Damber JE, Angelsen A, Fransson P, et al. Endocrine treatment, with or without radiotherapy, in locally advanced prostate cancer (SPCG-7/SFUO-3): an open randomised phase III trial. Lancet. 2009;373(9660):301–8.
- Shipley WU, Verhey LJ, Munzenrider JE, Suit HD, Urie MM, McManus PL, et al. Advanced prostate cancer: the results of a randomized comparative trial of high dose irradiation boosting with conformal protons compared with conventional dose irradiation using photons alone. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;32(1):3–12.
- Zietman AL, DeSilvio ML, Slater JD, Rossi CJ Jr, Miller DW, Adams JA, et al. Comparison of conventional-dose vs high-dose conformal radiation therapy in clinically localized adenocarcinoma of the prostate: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2005;294(10):1233–9.
- Sathya JR, Davis IR, Julian JA, Guo Q, Daya D, Dayes IS, et al. Randomized trial comparing iridium implant plus external-beam radiation therapy with externalbeam radiation therapy alone in node-negative locally advanced cancer of the prostate. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23 (6):1192–9.

- Pollack A, Hanlon AL, Horwitz EM, Feigenberg SJ, Uzzo RG, Hanks GE. Prostate cancer radiotherapy dose response: an update of the fox chase experience. J Urol. 2004;171(3):1132–6.
- Heemsbergen WD, Al-Mamgani A, Slot A, Dielwart MF, Lebesque JV. Long-term results of the Dutch randomized prostate cancer trial: impact of doseescalation on local, biochemical, clinical failure, and survival. Radiother Oncol. 2014;110(1):104–9.
- Peeters ST, Heemsbergen WD, Koper PC, van Putten WL, Slot A, Dielwart MF, et al. Dose-response in radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: results of the Dutch multicenter randomized phase III trial comparing 68 Gy of radiotherapy with 78 Gy. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(13):1990–6.
- Kuban DA, Tucker SL, Dong L, Starkschall G, Huang EH, Cheung MR, et al. Long-term results of the M. D. Anderson randomized dose-escalation trial for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70 (1):67–74.
- Dearnaley DP, Sydes MR, Graham JD, Aird EG, Bottomley D, Cowan RA, et al. Escalated-dose versus standard-dose conformal radiotherapy in prostate cancer: first results from the MRC RT01 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(6):475–87.
- 13. Morris WJ, Tyldesley S, Rodda S, Halperin R, Pai H, McKenzie M, et al. Androgen suppression combined with elective nodal and dose escalated radiation therapy (the ASCENDE-RT trial): an analysis of survival endpoints for a randomized trial comparing a lowdose-rate brachytherapy boost to a dose-escalated external beam boost for high- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;98(2):275–85.
- 14. Spratt DE, Soni PD, McLaughlin PW, Merrick GS, Stock RG, Blasko JC, et al. American Brachytherapy Society Task Group Report: combination of brachytherapy and external beam radiation for high-risk prostate cancer. Brachytherapy. 2017;16(1):1–12.
- Horwitz EM, Bae K, Hanks GE, Porter A, Grignon DJ, Brereton HD, et al. Ten-year follow-up of radiation therapy oncology group protocol 92-02: a phase III trial of the duration of elective androgen deprivation in locally advanced prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15):2497–504.
- Bolla M, de Reijke TM, Van Tienhoven G, Van den Bergh AC, Oddens J, Poortmans PM, et al. Duration of androgen suppression in the treatment of prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(24):2516–27.
- Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Fractionation and protraction for radiotherapy of prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(5):1095–101.
- Dasu A, Toma-Dasu I. Prostate alpha/beta revisited an analysis of clinical results from 14 168 patients. Acta Oncol. 2012;51(8):963–74.
- Fowler J, Chappell R, Ritter M. Is alpha/beta for prostate tumors really low? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;50(4):1021–31.
- Miralbell R, Roberts SA, Zubizarreta E, Hendry JH. -Dose-fractionation sensitivity of prostate cancer deduced from radiotherapy outcomes of 5,969 patients

in seven international institutional datasets: alpha/beta = 1.4 (0.9-2.2) Gy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(1):e17-24.

- Benjamin LC, Tree AC, Dearnaley DP. The role of hypofractionated radiotherapy in prostate cancer. Curr Oncol Rep. 2017;19(4):30.
- 22. Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Lee C, Hardy S, Jin H. Virtual HDR CyberKnife treatment for localized prostatic carcinoma: dosimetry comparison with HDR brachytherapy and preliminary clinical observations. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(5):1588–97.
- Kishan AU, King CR. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(3):268–78.
- 24. Gonzalez-Motta A, Roach M 3rd. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for high-risk prostate cancer: where are we now? Pract Radiat Oncol. 2018;8 (3):185–202.
- Bolzicco G, Favretto MS, Satariano N, Scremin E, Tambone C, Tasca A. A single-center study of 100 consecutive patients with localized prostate cancer treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. BMC Urol. 2013;13:49.
- 26. Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, Oermann EK, Ju AW, Chen V, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:58.
- 27. Davis J, Sharma S, Shumway R, Perry D, Bydder S, Simpson CK, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: toxicity and biochemical disease-free outcomes from a multiinstitutional patient registry. Cureus. 2015;7(12):e395.
- 28. Janowski E, Chen LN, Kim JS, Lei S, Suy S, Collins B, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer in men with large prostates (>/=50 cm<sup>3</sup>). Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:241.
- Kang JK, Cho CK, Choi CW, Yoo S, Kim MS, Yang K, et al. Image-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. Tumori. 2011;97(1):43–8.
- Katz A, Formenti SC, Kang J. Predicting biochemical disease-free survival after prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy: risk-stratification and patterns of failure. Front Oncol. 2016;6:168.
- 31. King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, Fuller D, Bolzicco G, Collins S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiother Oncol. 2013;109(2):217–21.
- 32. Koskela K, Palmgren JE, Heikkila J, Virsunen H, Sailas L, Auvinen P, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer – first Nordic clinical experience. Acta Oncol. 2017;56 (7):978–83.
- 33. Kotecha R, Djemil T, Tendulkar RD, Reddy CA, Thousand RA, Vassil A, et al. Dose-escalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer: initial dosimetry analysis and patient outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95(3):960–4.

- 34. Lee SW, Jang HS, Lee JH, Kim SH, Yoon SC. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer patients with old age or medical comorbidity: a 5-year follow-up of an investigational study. Medicine. 2014;93(28):e290.
- 35. Ricco A, Manahan G, Lanciano R, Hanlon A, Yang J, Arrigo S, et al. The comparison of stereotactic body radiation therapy and intensity-modulated radiation therapy for prostate cancer by NCCN risk groups. Front Oncol. 2016;6:184.
- 36. Fan CY, Chao HL, Huang WY, Lin CS, Chen CM, Lo CH. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy with CyberKnife in the treatment of locally advanced prostate cancer: preliminary results. Tumori. 2015;101 (6):684–91.
- 37. Rana Z, Hong RL, Abugideiri M, McRae D, Cernica G, Mordkin R, et al. Sexual, irritative, and voiding outcomes, following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2015;10:182.
- 38. Miralbell R, Molla M, Rouzaud M, Hidalgo A, Toscas JI, Lozano J, et al. Hypofractionated boost to the dominant tumor region with intensity modulated stereotactic radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a sequential dose escalation pilot study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(1):50–7.
- 39. Anwar M, Weinberg V, Seymour Z, Hsu IJ, Roach M 3rd, Gottschalk AR. Outcomes of hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for intermediate and high-risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11:8.
- 40. Kim HJ, Phak JH, Kim WC. Prostate-specific antigen kinetics following hypofractionated stereotactic body radiotherapy boost and whole pelvic radiotherapy for intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2017;13(1):21–7.
- Lin YW, Lin LC, Lin KL. The early result of whole pelvic radiotherapy and stereotactic body radiotherapy boost for high-risk localized prostate cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:278.
- 42. Mercado C, Kress MA, Cyr RA, Chen LN, Yung TM, Bullock EG, et al. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy with stereotactic body radiation therapy boost for unfavorable prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Front Oncol. 2016;6:114.
- 43. Katz A, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with or without external beam radiation as treatment for organ confined high-risk prostate carcinoma: a six year study. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:1.
- 44. Freeman D, Dickerson G, Perman M. Multiinstitutional registry for prostate cancer radiosurgery: a prospective observational clinical trial. Front Oncol. 2015;4:369.
- 45. Zapatero A, Guerrero A, Maldonado X, Alvarez A, Gonzalez San Segundo C, Cabeza Rodriguez MA, et al. High-dose radiotherapy with short-term or longterm androgen deprivation in localised prostate cancer (DART01/05 GICOR): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(3):320–7.

- 46. Zelefsky MJ, Pei X, Chou JF, Schechter M, Kollmeier M, Cox B, et al. Dose escalation for prostate cancer radiotherapy: predictors of long-term biochemical tumor control and distant metastases-free survival outcomes. Eur Urol. 2011;60(6):1133–9.
- 47. Nguyen QN, Levy LB, Lee AK, Choi SS, Frank SJ, Pugh TJ, et al. Long-term outcomes for men with highrisk prostate cancer treated definitively with external beam radiotherapy with or without androgen deprivation. Cancer. 2013;119(18):3265–71.
- 48. Ko EC, Stone NN, Stock RG. PSA nadir of <0.5 ng/ mL following brachytherapy for early-stage prostate adenocarcinoma is associated with freedom from prostate-specific antigen failure. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(2):600–7.
- 49. Lee WR, Hanlon AL, Hanks GE. Prostate specific antigen nadir following external beam radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer: the relationship between nadir level and disease-free survival. J Urol. 1996;156(2 Pt 1):450–3.
- 50. Ray ME, Thames HD, Levy LB, Horwitz EM, Kupelian PA, Martinez AA, et al. PSA nadir predicts biochemical and distant failures after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a multi-institutional analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64 (4):1140–50.
- 51. Zietman AL, Tibbs MK, Dallow KC, Smith CT, Althausen AF, Zlotecki RA, et al. Use of PSA nadir to predict subsequent biochemical outcome following external beam radiation therapy for T1-2 adenocarcinoma of the prostate. Radiother Oncol. 1996;40 (2):159–62.
- 52. Kishan AU, Wang PC, Upadhyaya SK, Hauswald H, Demanes DJ, Nickols NG, et al. SBRT and HDR brachytherapy produce lower PSA nadirs and different PSA decay patterns than conventionally fractionated IMRT in patients with low- or intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2016;6(4):268–75.
- 53. Martinez AA, Gonzalez J, Ye H, Ghilezan M, Shetty S, Kernen K, et al. Dose escalation improves cancer-related events at 10 years for intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer patients treated with hypofractionated high-dose-rate boost and external beam radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79(2):363–70.
- Boreta L, Ronan Raleigh D, Roach M. Palliation of urinary obstruction from advanced prostate cancer with SBRT. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:246.
- 55. Forman JD, Yudelev M, Bolton S, Tekyi-Mensah S, Maughan R. Fast neutron irradiation for prostate cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2002;21(2):131–5.
- 56. Lawton CA, DeSilvio M, Roach M 3rd, Uhl V, Kirsch R, Seider M, et al. An update of the phase III trial comparing whole pelvic to prostate only radiotherapy and neoadjuvant to adjuvant total androgen suppression: updated analysis of RTOG 94-13, with emphasis on unexpected hormone/radiation interactions. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69 (3):646–55.

- 57. Pommier P, Chabaud S, Lagrange JL, Richaud P, Le Prise E, Wagner JP, et al. Is there a role for pelvic irradiation in localized prostate adenocarcinoma? Update of the long-term survival results of the GETUG-01 randomized study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(4):759–69.
- 58. Kaidar-Person O, Roach M 3rd, Crehange G. Wholepelvic nodal radiation therapy in the context of hypofractionation for high-risk prostate cancer patients: a step forward. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86(4):600–5.
- 59. Demanes DJ, Brandt D, Schour L, Hill DR. Excellent results from high dose rate brachytherapy and external beam for prostate cancer are not improved by androgen deprivation. Am J Clin Oncol. 2009;32(4):342–7.
- 60. Keyes M, Merrick G, Frank SJ, Grimm P, Zelefsky MJ. American Brachytherapy Society Task Group Report: use of androgen deprivation therapy with prostate brachytherapy-A systematic literature review. Brachytherapy. 2017;16(2):245–65.
- 61. Mottet N, Bellmunt J, Briers E, Bolla M, Bourke L, Cornford P, De Santis M, Henry A, Joniau S, Lam T, Mason MD, Van den Poel H, Van den Kwast TH, Rouvière O, Wiegel T, Members of the EAU – ESTRO – ESUR –SIOG Prostate Cancer Guidelines Panel. EAU – ESTRO – ESUR – SIOG Guidelines on prostate cancer. Edn. Presented at the EAU Annual Congress London 2017. 978-90-79754-91-5. EAU Guidelines Office, Arnhem. 2017.
- 62. Kim DW, Cho LC, Straka C, Christie A, Lotan Y, Pistenmaa D, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1-2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89(3):509–17.
- 63. Zaorsky NG, Palmer JD, Hurwitz MD, Keith SW, Dicker AP, Den RB. What is the ideal radiotherapy

dose to treat prostate cancer? A meta-analysis of biologically equivalent dose escalation. Radiother Oncol. 2015;115(3):295–300.

- 64. Roach M, Fahim N, Wahl M, Ahmed SA, Descovich M. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in the management of clinically localized prostate cancer: where are we now? Curr Cancer Ther Rev. 2018;14:1–15.
- 65. Benedict SH, Yenice KM, Followill D, Galvin JM, Hinson W, Kavanagh B, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy: the report of AAPM Task Group 101. Med Phys. 2010;37(8):4078–101.
- 66. Hanna GG, Murray L, Patel R, Jain S, Aitken KL, Franks KN, et al. UK consensus on normal tissue dose constraints for stereotactic radiotherapy. Clin Oncol. 2018;30(1):5–14.
- 67. Descovich M, Carrara M, Morlino S, Pinnaduwage DS, Saltiel D, Pouliot J, et al. Improving plan quality and consistency by standardization of dose constraints in prostate cancer patients treated with CyberKnife. J Appl Clin Med Phys. 2013;14(5):162–72.
- Xie Y, Djajaputra D, King CR, Hossain S, Ma L, Xing L. Intrafractional motion of the prostate during hypofractionated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(1):236–46.
- 69. Seymour ZA, Chang AJ, Zhang L, Kirby N, Descovich M, Roach M 3rd, et al. Dose-volume analysis and the temporal nature of toxicity with stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2015;5(5):e465–72.
- 70. Wahl M, Chang AJ, Gottschalk AR, Roach M III. Genitourinary sites. In: Sethi RA, Barani IJ, Larson DA, Roach III M, editors. Handbook of evidencebased stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic body radiotherapy. Cham: Springer; 2016. p. 245.



# Salvage SBRT for Local Recurrence of Prostate Cancer After Definitive Radiotherapy

# Daniel Lam Cham Kee, Jérôme Doyen, Alexander T. Falk, and Jean-Michel Hannoun-Levi

# Abbreviations

Second bioch	nemic	al recurrence				
3-Dimension	nal	Radiation				
Therapy						
Association	of	Physicists in				
Medicine						
Androgen-de	priva	tion therapy				
Biochemical	recur	rence				
Brachytherap	y					
Common Te	ermin	ology Criteria				
for Adverse I	Event	8				
Clinical targe	et voli	ume				
European As	sociat	ion of Urology				
(EAU)-Europ	pean	Society for				
Radiotherapy	8	2 Oncology				
(ESTRO)-Int	ternat	ional Society				
of Geriatric O	Dncol	ogy (SIOG)				
External beam radiation therapy						
Gastro-intestinal						
Gross tumor volume						
Genito-urina	y					
High dose-ra	te					
High Int	ensit	y Focused				
Ultrasound						
	Second bioch 3-Dimension Therapy Association Medicine Androgen-de Biochemical Brachytherap Common Te for Adverse I Clinical targe European Ass (EAU)–Euroj Radiotherapy (ESTRO)–Int of Geriatric C External bean Gastro-intest Gross tumor Genito-urinan High dose-ra High Int Ultrasound	Second biochemic 3-Dimensionnal Therapy Association of Medicine Androgen-deprivat Biochemical recur Brachytherapy Common Termine for Adverse Event Clinical target volt European Associat (EAU)–European Radiotherapy & (ESTRO)–Internat of Geriatric Oncole External beam rad Gastro-intestinal Gross tumor volum Genito-urinary High dose-rate High Intensity Ultrasound				

D. Lam Cham Kee  $\cdot$  J. Doyen  $\cdot$  A. T. Falk  $\cdot$ 

- J.-M. Hannoun-Levi (🖂)
- Department of Radiation Oncology, Antoine LACASSAGNE Cancer Center, University of Cote d'Azur, Nice, France

e-mail: daniel.lamchamkee@nice.unicancer.fr; Jerome. doyen@nice.unicancer.fr; Alexander.falk@nice. unicancer.fr; jean-michel.hannoun-levi@nice.unicancer.fr

IG-3D-CRT	Image-guided 3D-CRT
IMRT	Intensity Modulated Radiation
	Therapy
IPSS	International Prostate Symptom
	Score
OARs	Organ at risks
PCLR	Prostate cancer local recurrence
PSA DT	PSA doubling time
PTV	Planning target volume
PVRV	Post voiding residual volume
SBRT	Stereotactic body radiation
	therapy
SRP	Salvage radical prostatectomy
TRUS-	Trans rectal ultrasound biopsy
biopsy	

# 12.1 Introduction

Prostate cancer remains the most common cancer among men in developed countries with 1,111,700 new cases in 2012 [1] and radiotherapy plays a key role in its treatment for localized tumors. However, recurrence can occur in up to 25% for high-risk localized prostate cancer after external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) or brachytherapy (BT) and more than half of these recurrences are local [2].

Actually, the most common local relapse treatment administered by physicians is androgendeprivation therapy (ADT). But according to a literature review [3] and EAU-ESTO-SIOG guidelines [4], a local approach either by surgery

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_12

[5–11], high-intensity focused ultra-sound (HIFU) [12, 13], cryotherapy [14] or BT [15–19] should also be considered.

Regarding BT, this re-irradiation technique appears relevant because it offers a high conformational dose in a small volume and thus, consequently decreases the dose delivered to the surrounding tissues, already irradiated during the first course of EBRT or BT. However, radiotherapy techniques recently evolved notably with high-precision stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and this technique also achieves this goal. Re-irradiation using SBRT is actually performed in many other anatomical sites with acceptable levels of efficacy and toxicity but its use for prostate cancer is not extensively described in the literature and notably in the recent guidelines.

We therefore performed a comprehensive review of the literature of the role (clinical outcomes and toxicities) of SBRT for re-irradiation of prostate cancer local recurrence (PCLR).

# 12.2 Material and Methods

We performed a MEDLINE/MeSH research in September 2017, using the key words: SBRT, prostate cancer, local recurrence, salvage, biochemical relapse, re-irradiation. Articles on salvage SBRT for PCLR were reviewed and we excluded unpublished data and non-English-language articles. We did not review articles concerning nodal relapse and other metastatic (bone) irradiation *which are presented in another chapter (need to be confirmed)*.

### 12.3 Results

From 2010 to 2017, nine articles for re-irradiation using SBRT for PCLR were published. However the case report by Arcangeli et al. [20] was excluded, the authors described a 30 Gy in five fractions regimen with TomoTherapy<sup>®</sup> with a short 6-month follow-up and no data regarding late toxicity. All the studies were monocentric, retrospective, non-randomized and non-controlled. The total number of patients (pts) was 156, with a global median follow-up of 15.7 months [range: 10–22.6 months].

# 12.3.1 Patients' Selection and Inclusion Criteria (Table 12.1)

Initial PCLR was defined by the association of biochemical relapse (Phoenix criteria: Nadir PSA after radiotherapy + 2 ng/ml) plus imaging data (choline PET-CT and/or MRI [T1, T2, diffusion, perfusion weighted images]) with positive biopsies when feasible.

The initial treatment was definitive 3-Dimensionnal (3D) or Intensity Modulated Radiation Therapy (IMRT) with or without ADT (101 pts), radical prostatectomy + postoperative EBRT (28 pts) and BT (28 pts). The minimum time interval between primary and PCLR was at least 2 years, except for Vavassori's study (13.5 months) [21]. The median time interval between primary treatment and salvage re-irradiation was 88 months [range: 13.5-126 months]. Seventy-one (45.5%)patients underwent ADT combined with salvage SBRT. Residual toxicities higher than grade 1 related to initial radiotherapy was considered as an exclusion criterion for most re-irradiation studies.

# 12.3.2 Technical Considerations (Table 12.2)

Among the eight reported studies, 146 patients (94%) were irradiated with a CyberKnife<sup>®</sup> (Accuray Incorporated, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The median prescribed dose was 32 Gy [range: 25-36.25 Gy] in five fractions (consecutive or every other day), delivered on the 80% isodose for all studies except one. Indeed, Fuller et al. [22] used "high dose-rate brachytherapy like" SBRT prescription: 95% of the planning target volume (PTV) receiving the prescribed dose; V150 V125 15-25%,  $\approx$ 50-60%,  $\approx$ V200  $\approx$  0–2%.

			Age of initial	Initial D' AMICO	Initial treatment	Median time		Choline			Median PSA Before
Author	No pts	MFU (months)	treatment/ recurrence	risk group: L/I/H/ NA	delivered: EBRT/SBRT/ S + E/BT	between relapse (months)	MRI (%)	TEP-CT (%)	Biopsy (%)	ADT (%)	SBRT (ng/ml)
Leroy T	23	22.6	NA/70	L: 7 (30.4%)	EBRT (83%)	65	100	91 (11C)	NA	61	2.5
2017				I: 8 (34.8%) H: 8 (30.4%) NA: 1 (4.3%)	BT (17%)						
Mbeutcha	18	14.5	62/69	L: 10 (55.6%)	BT (83%)	49	100	100 (11C)	NA	55	4.5
A 2017				I: 5 (27.8%)	EBRT (17%)						
				H: 2 (1.11%) NA: 1 (5.6%)							
Janoray G	21	11.7	NA/74	L: 3 (14%)	EBRT (52%)	98	100	100 (18F)	NA	6	3.2
2016				I: 5 (24%) H: 13 (62%)	S + E (48%)						
Detti B	~	10	65/NA	L: 0 (0%)	S + E (100%)	126	100	100 (11C)	NA	0	4.1
2016				I: 3 (38%)							
				(%70) C :H							
Fuller DB	29	24	NA/73	NA	EBRT (93%)	88	100	NA	10	24	3.1
2015					BT (3.5%) SBRT (3.5%)						
Zerini D	32	21.3	NA/73	L: 5 (16%)	EBRT (60%)	115	53	87 (11C)	59	34	3.1
2015				I: 7 (22%)	BT (9%)						
				H: 9 (28%) NA: (34%)	S + E (31%)						
Jereczek-	19	16.9	NA/68	NA	EBRT (79%)	66	NA	79	94	37	4.97
Fossa BA 2012					S + E (21%)						
Vavassori A 2010	9	11.3	NA	NA	EBRT (100%)	13.5	NA	100 (11C)	NA	67	3.65
MFU median radiation thera	follow py, S -	$^{-}$ up, <i>NA</i> noi + <i>E</i> surgery	n-applicable, D'AM + EBRT, <i>BT</i> brachy	ICO risk groups: $L =$ therapy, <i>ADT</i> and roge	= low; I = intermediate; H en deprivation therapy	= high, <i>EBRT</i> exterr	nal beam	radiation th	erapy, SBI	RT stered	tactic body

Author	Dose/ f (Gy)	T. dose (Gy)	Machines used	Prostate (P)/ prostate bed (PB)	Treated volume: GTV/HG/WG	Volume GTV/CTV (cc)	Volume PTV (cc)
Leroy T	6	36	CyberKnife	23 P	GTV/HG/WG	3.7/22.8/ 29.5	34/48
Mbeutcha A	7	35	CyberKnife	18 P	GTV	26	NA
Janoray G	7.25	36.25	CyberKnife	10 P/11 PB	GTV	7.2/5.4	16.3/ 11.1
Detti B	6	30	CyberKnife	10 PB	GTV	NA	NA
Fuller DB	6.8	34	CyberKnife	24 P	GTV	21.7	NA
Zerini D	5	25	Clinac, RapidArc, CyberKnife Vero	22 P/ 10 PB	GTV/WG	NA	NA
Jereczek- Fossa BA	6	30	CyberKnife	15 P/4 PB	GTV	NA	NA
Vavassori A	6	30	CyberKnife	6 P	WG	38	NA

 Table 12.2
 Technical specifications

GTV 11 choline-TEP-CT or MRI (T1,T2, diffusion, perfusion) defined tumor, HG half-gland of prostate, WG whole gland of prostate, CTV clinical target volume, PTV planning target volume

# 12.3.2.1 CyberKnife<sup>®</sup> [17, 21, 23–27]

One to three radiopaque fiducial markers were placed into the target lesion. Three fiducial markers were usually recommended in order to take into account not only translations, but also rotations. Distance between markers had to be at least of 2 cm and fiducials had to be placed in three orthogonal plans (forming a "L" on the anterior and lateral X-ray view). Due to the risk of marker migration, a simulation CT-scan was performed 1 week later. All the patients were immobilized during CT-simulation and treatment, by the use of a customized external vacuum-type cast. The gross tumor volume (GTV) was outlined on the CT-scan, with slice thickness of 1 to 1.5 mm; either with [11C] choline PET-CT or MRI-fusion (T1, T2, diffusion, perfusion sequences). The clinical target volume (CTV) was then delineated either as the whole prostate gland, half-gland or as the GTV only depending on the number and location of positive biopsies (if any). Treatment planning software CyberKnife SRT Multiplan<sup>®</sup> (Accuray Incorporated, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) was used. A 1- to 2-mm margin was added to the CTV for the PTV to compensate the submillimeter detection inaccuracy of the fiducial marker. Fiducial marker

detection was used to target the PTV during the treatment (Fiducial<sup>®</sup> algorithm). In case of the absence of fiducial markers, the Xsight-Spine<sup>®</sup> (Accuray Incorporated, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) detection system was used [24, 26]. The dose was prescribed to the mean 80% isodose by the use of non-isocentric CyberKnife treatment technique to cover at least 95% of PTV. The different prescribed doses and organs at risks dose constraints are summarized in Tables 12.2 and 12.3. The algorithm calculation used was probably Raytracing even if not mentioned, as Monte-Carlo calculation was not available at that time for CyberKnife treatment.

In order to accurately monitor the position of the target during beam delivery, radiographic images at  $45^{\circ}$  were acquired every three nodes, which is equivalent to an interval of about 40 s [28].

In order to minimize patient inconvenience and discomfort when immobilized for a long period of time, daily treatment times were kept below 45–60 min by decreasing the number of beams. This short treatment time was also important to decrease the risk of intra-fraction radiation repair, which can occur during excessively long individual sessions [29, 30].

### 12.3.2.2 Other Techniques

Zerini et al. [26] used different machines for re-irradiation. First, image-guided 3D-CRT (IG-3D-CRT) was used up to December 2010. Afterwards, IG-IMRT with Rapid Arc<sup>®</sup> (Varian Systems, Palo Alto, CA) was Medical implemented with a treatment schedule of 25 Gy in five fractions, given every other day within an overall treatment time of 10 days. In 2012, IG-IMRT was implemented with Vero® (BrainLab AG, Feldkirchen, Germany) and this was used together with CyberKnife<sup>®</sup> for treatment.

Arcangeli et al. [20] meanwhile used TomoTherapy<sup>®</sup> for re-irradiation using 30 Gy in five consecutive fractions daily. These techniques are not thoroughly described here because they constitute a minority of the radiotherapy techniques (<7%) used for the treatment of LRPC.

# 12.3.3 Organs at Risk (OAR) and Dose Constraints (Table 12.3)

The dose constraints for different OARs are summarized in Table 12.3 and are compared to the actual dose constraints used by American Association of Physicists in Medicine (AAPM) Task group 101 report for SBRT in five fractions. There was a non-homogenous dose prescription and the same applied for OAR constraints where it seemed that a particular attention was given especially for prostate bed (PB) re-irradiation with lower constraints than usual. Initial dose of radiotherapy and summation were not taken into consideration in those studies.

### 12.3.4 Follow Up

The median follow-up was 15.7 months [range: 10–22.6 months]. Patients were seen at least 6 weeks after re-irradiation and every 3–6 months. PSA levels and toxicity (CTCAE) were also reported at each consultation. No routine imaging re-evaluation was done. Second biochemical recurrence after salvage SBRT (2nd BCR) was defined using the Phoenix criteria. In

case of 2nd BCR, imaging using [11C] choline PET-CT and/or MRI and/or biopsies were used to confirm local, nodal or distant recurrence.

# 12.3.5 Clinical Outcomes: Biochemical Relapse and Site of Failure (Table 12.4)

The efficacy results were heterogeneous and the main end point used was 2nd BCR. Decrease in PSA and Nadir PSA were also noted because, in some cases, PSA continued to rise after salvage SBRT. Disease-free survival was defined as the time between the first session of re-irradiation and 2nd BCR occurrence. Local recurrence after 2nd BCR was defined as increase in SUV on [11C] choline PET-CT or increase in lesion's dimension on MRI, not necessarily requiring biopsies for confirmation.

### 12.3.6 Toxicity (Table 12.5)

Toxicity was assessed using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0 and 3.0 and is reported in Table 12.5. While the rate of acute  $\geq$  grade 3 toxicities remains very low, no  $\geq$  G3 late toxicities were reported (acute and late genitourinary (GU) and gastro-intestinal (GI): 2 and 0%, respectively).

# 12.4 Discussion

In the frame of salvage local treatment in case of PCLR, SBRT shows promising results and can be considered as a potential salvage option alongside surgery, brachytherapy, HIFU or cryotherapy. Salvage SBRT provides good results in terms of side effects leading to consider that it is possible to re-irradiate an area after initial full dose radiotherapy for primary tumor or in a post-operative intent. However, good results in terms of literature review remain cautionary due to the few numbers of patients, short follow-up as well as heterogeneity regarding technical considerations.

OAR	AAPM/Mbeutcha	Leroy	Janoray	Detti	Fuller	Zerini/Jereczek-Fossa	Vavassori
Rectum wall	$D_{max} < 38 Gy$	$V_{27} < 2 cc$	$V_{18.1} < 50\%$	$D_{30\%} < 18.8 Gy$	$D_{\rm max} < 100\%$	$D_{30\%} < 13.8 Gy$	$D_{max} < 75\%$
	$\mathrm{D}_{20}~\mathrm{cc} < 25~\mathrm{Gy}$	$V_{12} < 20\%$	$V_{29} < 20\%$	${ m D_{60\%}} < 10~{ m Gy}$	$D_{max}$ Mu < 75%	$D_{60\%} < 6.69 Gy$	NA
			$V_{36} < 1 \text{ cc}$			$\begin{array}{l} D_{30\%} < 8.4 \; Gy \; (PB) \\ D_{60\%} < 4.08 \; Gy \; (PB) \end{array}$	
Bladder wall	$D_{max} < 38 Gy$	$V_{27} < 5 cc$	$V_{18.1} < 40\%$	$D_{40\%} < 18.1 \text{ Gy}$	$D_{\rm max} < 100\%$	${ m D}_{30\%} < 10.58~{ m Gy}$	NA
	$D_{15} \propto < 18.3 \text{ Gy}$	$V_{12} < 15\%$	$V_{37} < 10 cc$	$D_{50\%} < 16.6 \ Gy$			
Penile bulb	$D_{max} < 50 \; Gy$	NA	NA	${\rm D}_{50\%} < 29.5~{\rm Gy}$	NA	NA	NA
	$D_{3  m cc} < 30  m Gy$						
Urethra	NA	$V_{24} < 30\%$	NA	$D_{max} < 33.7 Gy$	$D_{max} < 125\%$	NA	$D_{max} < 125\%$
		$V_{36} < 1 cc$		$D_{med} < 31 Gy$	${ m D}_{50} < 105\%$		
Femoral heads	$\mathrm{D}_{10~cc} < 30~\mathrm{Gy}$	NA	$V_{14.5} < 5\%$	V14.5 < 5%	NA	NA	NA
Small bowel	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	$D_{1\ cc} < 21\ Gy$	NA
American Associatio	on of Physicists in Medic	cine (AAPM) Task	group 101 report fc	or SBRT in five fraction			

 Table 12.3
 Dose constraints

4 4 ά 2 PB prostate bed

			1.04	100.11						
	MFU	2 2	PSA	Nadir PSA	Months for	Median DFS		I year	2 year	Last tollow up (other
Author	(months)	pts	decrease	(lm/ml)	PSA nadir	(months)	Local relapse	BFS (%)	BFS (%)	criteria)
Leroy T	22.6	23	19 (82%)	0.35	8	27	5 (22%)	100	54	2 year-OS: 100%
										1 year-local DFS: 100%
										2 year-local DFS: 76%
Mbeutcha A	14.5	18	13 (72%)	1	7.5	5.5	1 (5%)	NA	NA	LR recurrence: 20%
										M <sup>+</sup> relapse: 6.7% @
										5 months
Janoray G	11.7	21	18 (86%)	NA	NA	NA	1 (4%) @ 15.2	83.3	NA	1 year-BCR-free survival:
·							months			83.3%
Detti B	10	~	7 (88%)	0.8	NA	9.3	0	NA	NA	M <sup>+</sup> relapse: 5 (62.5%)
Fuller DB	24	29	NA	0.16	24	NA	0	NA	82	NED: 40.6%
										Active disease: 46.9%
										Death: 12.5%
										BCR alone: 9%
										R-relapse: 3%
										M <sup>+</sup> relapse: 22%
Zerini D	21.3	32	NA	NA	NA	9.4	4 (13%)			Disease progression: 33%
										(P), 50% (PB)
Jereczek-	16.9	19	17 (89%)	NA	NA	10	3 (19%)			BFS: 33%
Fossa BA										BCR alone: 1 (17%)
										R-relapse: 1 (17%)
										M <sup>+</sup> relapse: 2 (34%)
Vavassori A	11.3	9	NA	NA	NA	8.4	NA			
BFS biochemic	al free surviv	/al, NEI	D no evidenc	e of disease, LR	, loco-regional, M	+ metastatic, R-re.	lapse regional rela	ose, PB prosta	ate bed	

 Table 12.4
 Salvage SBRT efficacy

	Complie	cations							
	Acute				Late				
	GU		GI		GU		GI		
Authors	G < 3	$G \geq 3$	G < 3	$G \geq 3$	G < 3	$G \geq 3$	G < 3	$G \geq 3$	Remarks
Leroy T	21	2	23	0					1 G3 neuralgia
Mbeutcha A	18	0	18	0	17	1	18	0	
Janoray G	4	0	2	0	1	0	0	0	
Detti B	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	
Fuller DB	NA	1	NA	NA	3	2	0	0	Urethral obstruction + hemorrhagic cystitis
Zerini D	8	0	4	0	8	0	5	0	
Jereczek-Fossa BA	5	1	1	0	2	1	0	0	
Vavassori A	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	NA	0	

Table 12.5 Acute and late toxicities after salvage SBRT

GU geniton-urinary, GI gastro-intestinal, G grade

# 12.4.1 Comparison with Other Treatments Available

With a small total number of patients (157) and a short median follow-up (14.5 months), the use of salvage SBRT must be discussed both with the patient and the medical team. By pooling the results of 64 publications with a total number of 4564 pts, a median study size of 40 [range: 4-404] and a median follow-up of 54 months [range: 5-121 months], Philippou et al. reported the clinical outcomes of salvage surgery, brachytherapy, HIFU or cryotherapy. All modalities included, the authors noticed an relapse rate close to 50% with 30% of incontinence, 70% of impotence and 17% of urethral strictures (with 2% of fistula) [31]. The authors acknowledged that they are no significant differences in oncologic outcomes among the salvage modalities but suggested that salvage radical prostatectomy (SRP) may have worse functional outcomes, particularly in terms of incontinence.

## 12.4.2 Volume Definition

Regarding technical considerations, the definition of the target volume as salvage treatment remains debatable. Many studies using SBRT considered GTV (from MRI or PET-CT) or biopsy mapping (+1-2 mm margins) as target volume. However, prostate cancer is often a multi-focal disease, with risk of extra-capsular involvement and a poor diagnosis sensitivity despite assessment using both TRUS-biopsy and MRI [32]. However, even by using focal re-irradiation in many studies, the local recurrence rate remains quite low (14 patients) even though the follow-up is too short to confirm this trend. Meanwhile, re-irradiation of the whole gland does not seem to differ in term of toxicity and therefore, focal re-irradiation should be considered with caution even if it seems to be a safe procedure to limit re-irradiation volume, thus decreasing the risk of toxicity.

# 12.4.3 Dose of Initial EBRT Treatment

Regarding initial treatment dose, actual outcomes with dose escalation have indicated significant gains compared with the lower doses of EBRT, and men are less likely to present with such advanced disease. These improvements in disease presentation and EBRT delivery would theoretically make the risks of local relapse less likely. On the other hand, since patients are now usually treated with higher radiation doses for their primary therapy (76–80 Gy), it is still unknown whether morbidity from a salvage local therapy will be more severe and thus overcome the potential benefit of a re-irradiation course.

# 12.4.4 Dose Constraints and Optimal Dose for Tumor Control

Dose constraints for re-irradiation are non-homogeneous with either the use of HDR-like brachytherapy constraints or, in certain studies, re-irradiation is done without considering the dose of initial treatment as the delay between first treatment and relapse was quite long. However, special care was taken in dose constraints in prostate bed re-irradiation as multi-modality treatment by surgery and radiotherapy at first treatment may increase toxicity rate. Meanwhile, Zelefsky et al. provided evidence in the ASTRO meeting 2017, that SBRT dose inferior to 35 Gy in five fractions may be sub-optimal in terms of 2-year PSA level and 2-year biopsy outcomes. Dose up to 40 Gy in five fractions seemed well tolerated and the conclusion was that randomized trials would be needed to establish the dose and dose per fraction of SBRT that achieve optimal local control [33]. Therefore, the same may be applied for salvage SBRT for local recurrence.

### 12.4.5 ADT Before Treatment

ADT is known as a palliative treatment with no benefit on survival [34], even administered early [35] and it has deep impacts on quality of life [36]. In these studies, ADT was added together with SBRT in 71 pts and can therefore be confounding factor for efficacy. The main objective of using salvage local treatment is to postpone the use of ADT due to its toxicity and impact on quality of life. On the other hand, the role of ADT + standard fractionation EBRT is very well established mainly for high-risk patients. But is ADT justified with highly hypofractionated SBRT re-irradiation? Especially considering the low PSA rate at PCLR, insufficient or irrelevant information concerning T-stage or Gleason score after primary radiotherapy.

### 12.4.6 Machine Consideration

CyberKnife<sup>®</sup> seems to be the main machine used for this re-irradiation scheme as it was one of the first machine that had continuous tracking of lesions using fiducials. The machine has sub-millimeter high-precision dose delivery and it allows the use of GTV to PTV margins of 1–2 mm only, hence decreasing the volume of re-irradiation and the risk of toxicity. Actually, there are many new machines capable of continuous tracking (Vero<sup>®</sup>, True Beam Novalis STX...) and even the use of more ancient conventional 3D or IMRT machines seem feasible in term of toxicity.

### 12.4.7 Patients' Selection Criteria

In most studies, BCR with imaging local recurrence (PET-CT or MRI) is the inclusion criteria for patients. Biopsies were not mandatory and MRI was not always performed. Even though there is no clear evidence of which patients should benefit salvage treatment, there is a general consensus that salvage treatment should be reserved for patients who have documented recurrent local disease of limited aggressiveness (low Gleason score, stage and initial PSA), a long time interval between primary external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and recurrence and a slow PSA evolution [4, 37].

EAU-ESTRO-SIOG guidelines [4] recommend biopsy status as a major predictor of outcome and histologic proof of PCLR should be obtained at least 18–24 months after initial EBRT given the morbidity of local salvage treatment [38, 39]. MRI can be used for biopsy targeting and guidance of local salvage treatment. Choline PET/CT is also feasible but with a poorer spatial resolution than MRI [40, 41]. However, men with PSA doubling time (PSA DT) < 3 months, T3b or higher stage, Gleason 8–10, time to BCR < 3 years are at high risk of developing metastases and die from prostate cancer.

Meanwhile, in case of PCLR, a Delphi consensus was proposed by the Uro-GEC groupe [37] for salvage brachytherapy after radiotherapy, suggesting other criteria for salvage treatment such as:

- 80 years old as maximum age limit,
- Life expectancy of at least 5 years,
- Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group/World Health Organization = 1,
- T3b at primary diagnosis or time of relapse,
- Any Gleason score or any lesion size or ADT adjuvant or salvage accepted,
- Any PSA level accepted at first diagnosis and at relapse, maximum PSA level: 10 ng/ml,
- PSA doubling time (PSA DT) > 6 months,
- Nadir PSA after primary treatment of minimum 1.1–1.3 ng/ml,
- International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS) minimum: 8–15,
- Maximum urinary flow (Qmax) at least 8 ml/s,
- Post voiding residual volume (PVRV) maximum at 200 ml,
- Need for combination of ultra-sound and MRI and minimum of 12–24 biopsies if whole gland treatment is proposed,
- Need to search for metastatic disease either with Choline PET or bone scan,
- Time interval between primary and relapse at least 2 years,
- Dose to primary treatment not taken into account,
- ADT not to be given as salvage treatment.

# 12.5 Conclusion

SBRT seems to be a safe salvage treatment for local recurrence of prostate cancer. Its long-term efficacy and toxicity as well as optimal total dose and dose per fraction remains to be determined by further studies but patients' selection is the mainstay for success of salvage treatment in case of PCLR.

### References

- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(2):87–108.
- Zumsteg ZS, Spratt DE, Romesser PB, Pei X, Zhang Z, Kollmeier M, et al. Anatomical patterns of recurrence following biochemical relapse in the dose escalation era of external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2015;194(6):1624–30.
- Golbari NM, Katz AE. Salvage therapy options for local prostate cancer recurrence after primary radiotherapy: a literature review. Curr Urol Rep. 2017;18 (8):63.
- Cornford P, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Briers E, De Santis M, Gross T, et al. EAU-ESTRO-SIOG guidelines on prostate cancer. Part II: treatment of relapsing, metastatic, and castration-resistant prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2017;71(4):630–42.
- Rocco B, Cozzi G, Spinelli MG, Grasso A, Varisco D, Coelho RF, et al. Current status of salvage robotassisted laparoscopic prostatectomy for radiorecurrent prostate cancer. Curr Urol Rep. 2012;13(3):195–201.
- Bianco FJ, Scardino PT, Stephenson AJ, Diblasio CJ, Fearn PA, Eastham JA. Long-term oncologic results of salvage radical prostatectomy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62(2):448–53.
- Gotto GT, Yunis LH, Vora K, Eastham JA, Scardino PT, Rabbani F. Impact of prior prostate radiation on complications after radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2010;184(1):136–42.
- Stephenson AJ, Eastham JA. Role of salvage radical prostatectomy for recurrent prostate cancer after radiation therapy. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2005;23(32):8198–203.
- Mandel P, Steuber T, Ahyai S, Kriegmair M, Schiffmann J, Boehm K, et al. Salvage radical prostatectomy for recurrent prostate cancer: verification of European Association of Urology guideline criteria. BJU Int. 2016;117(1):55–61.
- Chade DC, Eastham J, Graefen M, Hu JC, Karnes RJ, Klotz L, et al. Cancer control and functional outcomes of salvage radical prostatectomy for radiationrecurrent prostate cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Eur Urol. 2012;61(5):961–71.
- Yuh B, Ruel N, Muldrew S, Mejia R, Novara G, Kawachi M, et al. Complications and outcomes of salvage robot-assisted radical prostatectomy: a singleinstitution experience. BJU Int. 2014;113(5):769–76.
- Gamarra M, Astobieta A, Pereira JG, Leibar A, Ibarluzea G. Salvage high energy focalized ultrasound (HIFU) in prostate cancer after radiotherapy. Arch Esp Urol. 2012;65(1):101–10.
- Yutkin V, Ahmed HU, Donaldson I, McCartan N, Siddiqui K, Emberton M, et al. Salvage high-intensity focused ultrasound for patients with recurrent prostate cancer after brachytherapy. Urology. 2014;84 (5):1157–62.

- 14. de Castro Abreu AL, Bahn D, Leslie S, Shoji S, Silverman P, Desai MM, et al. Salvage focal and salvage total cryoablation for locally recurrent prostate cancer after primary radiation therapy. BJU Int. 2013;112(3):298–307.
- 15. Chen CP, Weinberg V, Shinohara K, Roach M, Nash M, Gottschalk A, et al. Salvage HDR brachytherapy for recurrent prostate cancer after previous definitive radiation therapy: 5-year outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86(2):324–9.
- 16. Henríquez I, Sancho G, Hervás A, Guix B, Pera J, Gutierrez C, et al. Salvage brachytherapy in prostate local recurrence after radiation therapy: predicting factors for control and toxicity. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:102.
- Mbeutcha A, Chauveinc L, Bondiau P-Y, Chand M-E, Durand M, Chevallier D, et al. Salvage prostate re-irradiation using high-dose-rate brachytherapy or focal stereotactic body radiotherapy for local recurrence after definitive radiation therapy. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12(1):49.
- Vargas C, Swartz D, Vashi A, Blasser M, Kasraeian A, Cesaretti J, et al. Salvage brachytherapy for recurrent prostate cancer. Brachytherapy. 2014;13(1):53–8.
- Ramey SJ, Marshall DT. Re-irradiation for salvage of prostate cancer failures after primary radiotherapy. World J Urol. 2013;31(6):1339–45.
- Arcangeli S, Agolli L, Donato V. Retreatment for prostate cancer with stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT): Feasible or foolhardy? Rep Pract Oncol Radiother. 2015;20(6):425–9.
- 21. Vavassori A, Jereczek-Fossa BA, Beltramo G, De Cicco L, Fariselli L, Bianchi LC, et al. Image-guided robotic radiosurgery as salvage therapy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after external beam irradiation: retrospective feasibility study on six cases. Tumori J. 2010;96(1):71–5.
- 22. Fuller DB, Wurzer J, Shirazi R, Bridge SS, Law J, Mardirossian G. High-dose-rate stereotactic body radiation therapy for postradiation therapy locally recurrent prostatic carcinoma: preliminary prostate-specific antigen response, disease-free survival, and toxicity assessment. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2015;5(6):e615–23.
- 23. Leroy T, Lacornerie T, Bogart E, Nickers P, Lartigau E, Pasquier D. Salvage robotic SBRT for local prostate cancer recurrence after radiotherapy: preliminary results of the Oscar Lambret Center. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12:95.
- 24. Janoray G, Reynaud-Bougnoux A, Ruffier-Loubière A, Bernadou G, Pointreau Y, Calais G. Stereotactic body re-irradiation therapy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after external-beam radiation therapy: initial report. Cancer Radiother J Soc Francaise Radiother Oncol. 2016;20(4):275–81.
- Detti B, Bonomo P, Masi L, Doro R, Cipressi S, Iermano C, et al. CyberKnife stereotactic radiotherapy for isolated recurrence in the prostatic bed. World J Urol. 2016;34(3):311–7.

- 26. Zerini D, Jereczek-Fossa BA, Fodor C, Bazzani F, Maucieri A, Ronchi S, et al. Salvage image-guided intensity modulated or stereotactic body reirradiation of local recurrence of prostate cancer. Br J Radiol. 2015;88(1052):20150197.
- 27. Jereczek-Fossa BA, Beltramo G, Fariselli L, Fodor C, Santoro L, Vavassori A, et al. Robotic image-guided stereotactic radiotherapy, for isolated recurrent primary, lymph node or metastatic prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):889–97.
- Xie Y, Djajaputra D, King CR, Hossain S, Ma L, Xing L. Intrafractional motion of the prostate during hypofractionated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(1):236–46.
- 29. Benedict SH, Lin PS, Zwicker RD, Huang DT, Schmidt-Ullrich RK. The biological effectiveness of intermittent irradiation as a function of overall treatment time: development of correction factors for linacbased stereotactic radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1997;37(4):765–9.
- Fowler JF, Welsh JS, Howard SP. Loss of biological effect in prolonged fraction delivery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;59(1):242–9.
- 31. Philippou Y, Parker RA, Volanis D, Gnanapragasam VJ. Comparative oncologic and toxicity outcomes of salvage radical prostatectomy versus nonsurgical therapies for radiorecurrent prostate cancer: a meta-regression analysis. Eur Urol Focus. 2016;2 (2):158–71.
- Kan RW, Kan C, Ho L, Chan SW. Pre-operative tumor localization and evaluation of extra-capsular extension of prostate cancer: how misleading can it be? Urol J. 2014;11(3):1615–9.
- 33. Zelefsky MJ, Kollmeier MA, McBride S, Pei X, Happersett L, Lin M, et al. 5-Year outcomes of a phase 1 dose escalation study using stereotactic body radiosurgery for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2): S156–7.
- 34. Loblaw DA, Virgo KS, Nam R, Somerfield MR, Ben-Josef E, Mendelson DS, et al. Initial hormonal management of androgen-sensitive metastatic, recurrent, or progressive prostate cancer: 2006 update of an American Society of Clinical Oncology practice guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(12):1596–605.
- 35. Garcia-Albeniz X, Chan JM, Paciorek A, Logan RW, Kenfield SA, Cooperberg MR, et al. Immediate versus deferred initiation of androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer patients with PSA-only relapse. An observational follow-up study. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51 (7):817–24.
- Ahmadi H, Daneshmand S. Androgen deprivation therapy: evidence-based management of side effects. BJU Int. 2013;111(4):543–8.
- Kaljouw E, Pieters BR, Kovács G, Hoskin PJ. A Delphi consensus study on salvage brachytherapy for prostate cancer relapse after radiotherapy, a Uro-GEC study. Radiother Oncol. 2016;118(1):122–30.
- Rouvière O, Vitry T, Lyonnet D. Imaging of prostate cancer local recurrences: why and how? Eur Radiol. 2010;20(5):1254–66.
- 39. Abd-Alazeez M, Ramachandran N, Dikaios N, Ahmed HU, Emberton M, Kirkham A, et al. Multiparametric MRI for detection of radiorecurrent prostate cancer: added value of apparent diffusion coefficient maps and dynamic contrast-enhanced images. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2015;18(2):128–36.
- 40. Mitchell CR, Lowe VJ, Rangel LJ, Hung JC, Kwon ED, Karnes RJ. Operational characteristics of (11)c-

choline positron emission tomography/computerized tomography for prostate cancer with biochemical recurrence after initial treatment. J Urol. 2013;189 (4):1308–13.

41. Rybalov M, Breeuwsma AJ, Leliveld AM, Pruim J, Dierckx RA, de Jong IJ. Impact of total PSA, PSA doubling time and PSA velocity on detection rates of 11C-Choline positron emission tomography in recurrent prostate cancer. World J Urol. 2013;31 (2):319–23.



# Dose Escalation for Prostate Cancer Using Oligofractionated, Stereotactic Ablative Radiotherapy

Michael R. Folkert and Robert D. Timmerman

# 13.1 Oligofractionated, Ablative Radiotherapy

"Conventional fractionation," or daily fraction sizes of 1.8-2 Gy given Monday-Friday over many (6+) weeks, has been the norm for several decades in radiation oncology, but has certainly not always been the case. Early radiation cancer treatments at the beginning of the 1900s were primarily hypofractionated given in days to a few weeks, with the skin being the primary dose-limiting structure. At the time, practitioners did not have a full understanding of tissue tolerance and dosimetry, and necessary quality assurance measures were not in place. Most irradiated fields were very large to increase the likelihood of encompassing all visible and potential cancer deposits. As a result, significant late skin and other organ toxicity was often observed for a given clinically acceptable tumor response. Following the studies by Henri Coutard presented in

Comprehensive Cancer Center, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

e-mail: robert.timmerman@utsouthwestern.edu

the 1930s, which demonstrated that extended courses of fractionated external beam radiation therapy could elicit significant tumor response in cancers of the head and neck with decreased toxicity compared to hypofractionation with the same techniques [1], there was a migration of treatment trends away from high-dose-per-fraction hypofractionation courses to low-dose-perfraction "conventional" courses.

In the 1950s, Lars Leksell investigated the use of high-dose single session radiation delivery for ablating dysfunctional areas in the brain and later for tumor targets [2]. His approach was made possible through the use of a distributed multibeam approach and rigid immobilization, as well as limiting the irradiated target volume to the tumor itself without typical large margins. This reduced the volume of normal tissue that would be damaged by these large ablative doses of radiation and led to a well-documented positive clinical experience. The first reported use of this approach outside of the brain was reported by Hamilton and colleagues again using rigid fixation to treat spine lesions [3]. SAbR delivery of 8-10 Gy in a single fraction in patients with progressive metastases after conventionally fractionated radiotherapy led to good subsequent control. Later, Lax and Blomgren at the Karolinska Institute in Sweden reported on the use of hypofractionated, highdose-per-fraction radiation treatment regimens (with minimum doses ranging from 7.7 Gy to 45 Gy in 1-4 fractions) in the 1990s for

M. R. Folkert

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: michaelr.folkert@utsouthwestern.edu

R. D. Timmerman (🖂)

Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

Department of Radiation Oncology, Simmons

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_13

extracranial sites including the lung and liver using improved immobilization techniques and motion management [4]. Also in the 1990s, Uematsu and colleagues in Japan developed and tested techniques to deliver stereotactic radiation to primary and metastatic lung tumors, delivering doses of 30–75 Gy in 5–15 fractions over 1–3 weeks [5].

These high-dose-per-fraction treatments, called ablative because normal tissue function of tissue is disrupted in the higher dose regions, delivered to precisely defined targets using comprehensive immobilization, motion management, and image guidance have been called extracranial stereotactic radioablation (ESR) [6], then stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) [6, 7], and now stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SAbR) [8]. While the technology is constantly improving, defining characteristics of SAbR include [9]: (1) fixation/immobilization to limit patient movement for the duration of setup and treatment; (2) accurate and reproducible repositioning from initial simulation throughout treatment; (3) minimization of normal tissue exposure attained by using multiple  $(\geq 10)$  and/or non-coplanar or large-angle arcing small aperture fields; (4) assessment and management or limitation of organ motion (respiratory or otherwise); (5) stereotactic registration (via fiducial markers or surrogates) of tumor targets and normal tissue avoidance structures to the treatment delivery system; and (6) ablative dose fractionation delivered to the patient with millimeter accuracy. (Figure 13.1 provides examples of multiple types of SAbR treatment plans)

### 13.2 Radiobiologic Modeling of Oligofractionated Radiation Therapy with SAbR

The classically understood mechanism of ionizing radiation-induced tumor cell killing is based on damage to DNA via single- and double-strand breaks from direct (damage of DNA molecules directly from interactions with ionizing particles) and indirect (damage of DNA from free radicals and other chemical species produced near the DNA target by ionizing effects of radiation on non-DNA molecules) effects. The linearquadratic (LQ) model describes cell killing as a single hit versus double hit hypothesis, where the linear cell kill is expressed by the  $\alpha$  component, while the quadratic cell kill is expressed by the  $\beta$ component [10, 11]. The  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio is obtained either from curve fitting of a second order polynomial to the in vitro cell survival curve within the shoulder region or clinically from isoeffect curves using the survival fractions of a cell line at different doses per fraction [12]. In general, a high  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio predicts increased response to low dose per fraction radiation appearing soon after initiation of treatment, while a lower  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio predicts response occurring at higher cumulative dose and appearing considerably later in time. Most malignant tumors typically possess a high  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio (approximately 8–10) relative to normal tissues, which demonstrate lower  $\alpha/\beta$  ratios (approximately 1-4) making a strong case for fractionated conventionally radiotherapy [13]. The LQ model seems to predict biological effective dose (BED) accurately for fraction sizes less than 3.25 Gy [14]; above these doses, it is less predictive for tumor response [14–17].

Analysis and review of clinical outcomes has lent support to a low  $\alpha/\beta$  for prostate cancer of approximately 1.5 [18-22]; these generally represent pooled analyses over a range of Gleason scores, but dominated by lower grade disease. This has formed the basis for several multi-center, randomized controlled trials of modestly larger doses per fraction (on the order of 2.5-3.5 Gy per fraction) versus conventional doses per fraction (1.8-2 Gy per fraction) [23–33]. While no moderately hypofractionated regimen has demonstrated clearly superior oncologic outcomes to conventional fractionation in primary endpoint analysis, one has suggested sub-group benefit in those with high PSA [26], and several have demonstrated non-inferiority (i.e. CHHiP [23], NRG/RTOG 0415 [25]) with minimal differences in acute or late GU and/or GI toxicity. Altogether, these trials show that with care treatment can be delivered much more quickly and conveniently using equivalent effective doses with moderate hypofractionation, without compromising PSA control or incurring



**Fig. 13.1** Representative prostate SAbR planning images; (a) CyberKnife plan to 45 Gy in 5 fractions, prescribed to 85% isodose line; axial, sagittal, and coronal planes shown. (b) 13-field SBRT to 50 Gy in 5 fractions, rectal balloon fixation; top image shows the beam

arrangement, lower image an axial dose distribution. (c) Volumetric modulated arc (VMAT) plan to 45 Gy in 5 fractions with temporary hydrogel spacer; 4 arcs used; axial, sagittal, and coronal planes shown



Fig. 13.1 (continued)

significant toxicity, and lend support to the concept of a relatively lower  $\alpha/\beta$  ration for prostate cancer.

At the higher dose-per-fraction regimens used in ablative SAbR regimens with fraction sizes above 6 Gy and commonly called oligofractionation (oligo=few), alternative models have been proposed to more accurately predict the responses of tumors to these higher dose regimens treating past the shoulder of LQ applicability and helped build a theoretical foundation for SAbR, including the universal survival model/curve [34], the modified linear quadratic model (LQL) [16], and the generalized linear quadratic model [14]. Data exists for many cell types in the universal survival model; focusing on prostate cancer, two cell lines are available that assist in modeling of radiation response in low and high grade prostate cancer [35]; these include the DU-145 prostate cancer cell line ( $\alpha/\beta = 3$ , Do = 1.91, Dq = 1.25, transition dose = 3.5 Gy, with parameters akin to lower Gleason grade disease) and the PC-3 prostate cancer cell line ( $\alpha/\beta = 8.9$ , Do = 1.06, Dq = 1.02, transition dose = 4.2 Gy, with parameters akin to high Gleason grade disease).

For a relatively standard conventional course of radiation therapy to 81 Gy in 45 fractions, the biological equivalent dose (BED) for the DU-145 cell line assuming an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 2.99 in the LQ model would be 130; in 2 Gy equivalents, this would be 77.8 Gy. For a high-dose SAbR treatment of 45 Gy in 5 fractions, the biological equivalent dose (BED) assuming an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 2.99 in the LQ model would be 181; in 2 Gy equivalents, this would be 108.2 Gy. But this is an overprediction based on assumptions inherent to the LQ model. Application of the universal survival model to this high-dose regimen suggests that for low Gleason grade (DU-145 model), 45 Gy in 5 fractions would have a 2 Gy equivalent of 78.4 Gy or 1.8 Gy equivalent of 81.7 Gy. Thus, prostate cancer treatment with escalated dose per fraction in this range should theoretically allow for at least comparable oncologic outcomes in far fewer treatments than more protracted conventional courses.

# 13.3 Review of Dose Escalation Studies with SAbR in Prostate Cancer

The majority of prostate cancers diagnosed in the US are organ-confined on initial presentation, and are typically treated with radical prostatectomy or radiotherapy [36]. Increasing the total dose per fraction using conventional fraction sizes has been associated with improved biochemical control in many published series. Long term results from a dose escalation trial reported by Kuban et al. comparing 70-78 Gy in conventional fraction sizes showed that at a median followup of 8.7 years, freedom from biochemical or clinical failure was improved at higher doses, 59% in the 70 Gy arm vs 78% in the 78 Gy arm [37]. Similarly, a randomized trial incorporating proton therapy reported by Zietman et al. comparing patients treated to a total dose of either 70.2 Gray equivalents (GyE) or 79.2 GyE demonstrated 10 year freedom from biochemical failure rates of 67.6% at low dose vs 83.3% at high dose, respectively [38]. At higher doses, biochemical recurrence free survival rates at 8 years of 85% for low risk prostate cancer and 76% for intermediate risk cancer were observed at 81 Gy in 45 fractions [39]; escalation to 86.4 Gy showed biochemical recurrence free survival rates at 7 years of 81.4% in patients with intermediate risk cancer, with the addition of low- or high-dose rate brachytherapy boost increasing biochemical recurrence free survival rates at 7 years to 92% in the same risk group [40]. Registry analysis from the National Cancer Database also suggests a survival advantage for patients with intermediate and high-risk disease treated with conventionally dose-escalated

regimens [41]. These results can be achieved with acceptably low toxicity using modern conformal techniques, however at the increased cost and inconvenience of delivering a large number of fractions, 5 days a week over 8–9+ weeks. While biochemical control is clearly improved with conventionally fractionated dose escalation, the similar  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio between tumor and surrounding tissue limits therapeutic gain. In these circumstances, perhaps a more convenient treatment approach using hypofractionation, even oligofractionation, might be a reasonable approach.

These approaches have a well-grounded historical basis; oligofractionation was in fact first established as a treatment technique for localized prostate cancer by Lloyd-Davies et al. at St. Thomas' Hospital in England using a six-fraction regimen of 36 Gy given twice weekly from 1966 to 1984 [42]. These treatments were performed in the pre-PSA era and are difficult to compare to modern outcomes data, but overall patients did reasonably well with manageable toxicity, including moderate acute urinary urgency and tenesmus, and occasional chronic rectal bleeding, as well as two reported rectal strictures. In terms of modern image-guided oligofractionated approaches at 6.5-10 Gy per fraction, summarized in Table 13.1, the first experience reported was the Stereotactic Hypofractionated Accurate Radiotherapy of the Prostate (SHARP) trial by Madsen et al., which described the results from a phase I/II trial at the Virginia Mason Medical Center [43]. In this study, 40 men with low-risk disease (Gleason score  $\leq 6$ , PSA <10 ng/mL and clinical stage  $\leq$ T2a) were treated with 5 fractions of 6.7 Gy per fraction for a total dose of 33.5 Gy using non-coplanar conformal fields. The prostate plus a 4-5 mm margin was treated, with daily image guidance using implanted fiducial markers. At a median followup of 41 months, 4-year actuarial freedom from biochemical recurrence (FFBR) was 90%. There was one acute Grade 3 GU toxicity (urinary retention requiring catheterization) and no acute Grade 4–5 toxicities. Late Grade 2 GU and GI toxicity rates were 20 and 7.5% respectively, with no Grade 3 or higher toxicities.

The feasibility of further increasing SAbR dose was then investigated by King et al. at

	Toxicity	Acute G3 GU 2.5% Late G2 GU 20%, G2 GI 7.5%	Late G2 GU 5%, G3 GU 3.5%, Late G2 GI 2%	Late G2 GU 14%, G2 GI 7%	As above, plus Late G3 GU 1.7%	Late G2 GU 6.7%, G2 GI 8.3%, G3 GI 1.7%	Acute G2 GU 23%. GI 4% Late G2 GU 9%, G2 GI 4%	G2 GU 35%, G3 GU 1.6%; G2 GI 10%	Acute G3 GU 2%
	bRFS	90% at 4 years	94% at 4 years	97% at 5 years, LR 90.7% at 5 years, IR 74.1% at 5 years, HR	95.6% at 7 years, LR 89.6% at 7 years, IR	Not reported	100% at 3 years	97.3% at 5 years, LR 97.1% at 5 years, IR	99% at 5 years
	Followup (years)	3.4	2.7	2.5	6.0	2.3	3.0	12.2	5.0
	Target/margin	Prostate + 4–5 mm	Prostate $+ 3-5 \text{ mm}$	Prostate + 5 mm (3 mm posterior)	Prostate + 5 mm (3 mm posterior)	Prostate + 5 mm (3 mm posterior)	Prostate + 3 mm	Not reported	Prostate + 2 mm
	Dose regimens	$6.7 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions	7.25 Gy $\times$ 5 fractions	$7 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions $7.25 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions	7 Gy $\times$ 5 fractions or 7.25 Gy $\times$ 5 fractions	$7.4 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions	7.4 Gy $\times$ 5 fractions	8 Gy × 5 fractions (prostate) 7.25 Gy × 5 fractions (seminal vesicles)	$8 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions
	Eligibility	Low-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low-, Int-, and High- Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk
	Patients (N)	40	67	304	477	60	99	309	102
AbR studies	Platform	LINAC	CyberKnife	CyberKnife	CyberKnife	LINAC	LINAC	CyberKnife	LINAC
ected prostate S	Trial type	Prospective, Phase I/II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II	Prospective, Phase II
Summary of seld	Institution(s)	Virginia Mason Medical Center	Stanford	Winthrop	Winthrop	Duke/Multi- Institutional	Michigan/ Multi- Institutional	21 Community, Regional, and Academic Hospitals	Twenty-first century oncology
Table 13.1	Study	Madsen [43, PMID 17336216]	King [44, PMID 21300474]	Katz [45, PMID 25229051]	Katz Update [46, PMID 25229051]	Boyer [47, PMID 28086825]	Jackson [48]	Meier [49]	Mantz [ <b>50</b> , PMID 25452933]

188

32.5: Acute G2 GU 13.3%, G2 GI 0%; Late G2 GU 13.3%, G2 GI 3.3% 35: Acute G2 GU 13.3%, G2 GI 3.3% 23: Acute G2 GU 14.3%, G2 GI 0% 37.5: Acute G2 GU 13.9%, G2 GI 3.2%; Late G2 GU 8.3%, G2 GI 2.8% 40: Acute G2 GU 6.5%, G3 GU 0.7%, G2 GU 9.7%, G2 GI 0% G1 0%	Acute G2 GU 29.7%, G2 GI 20.9% Late G2 GU 20.9%, G3 GU 4.4%, G2 G1 13.2%, G3-4 GI 6.8% (G4 GI 1.6%)	Acute G2 GU 36.4%, G3 GU 4.5%; G2 GI 22.7%
83% at 3 years 85% at 3 years 98% at 3 years 3 years	100% at 5 years, LR 98.6% at 5 years, IR	100% at 1 years
5 5 6 6 ど び び	4.5	1.0
Prostate + 5 mm (3 mm posterior)	Prostate + 3 mm	Prostate + 3 mm
$\begin{cases} 6.5 \text{ Gy} \times 5 \\ \text{fractions} \\ 7 \text{ Gy} \times 5 \\ 7.5 \text{ Gy} \times 5 \\ \text{fractions} \\ \text{gractions} \\ \text{fractions} \end{cases}$	$9 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions $9.5 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions $10 \text{ Gy} \times 5$ fractions	$9 \text{ Gy} \times 5 \text{ fx}$
Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk	Low- and Int-Risk
136	16	4
LINAC	LINAC/ Tomotherapy	LINAC/ CyberKnife
Prospective, Phase I	Prospective, Phase I/II	Prospective, Phase II
MSKCC	UTSW/ Multi- Institutional	UTSW/ MSKCC
Zelefsky [51]	Hannan [54, PMID 27035363]	Folkert [56]

Stanford University in a phase II trial [44]. 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions of 7.25 Gy was delivered to the prostate plus a 3–5 mm margin, using a robotic linear accelerator technique. In 67 patients with low- to intermediate-risk features (Gleason score 6(3 + 3) or 7(3 + 4), PSA  $\leq 10$  ng/mL and clinical stage  $\leq$ T2b), at a median followup of 2.7 years, the 4-year biochemical relapse free survival was 94%. There were no Grade 4 or higher toxicities. Late Grade 2 and 3 GU toxicity rates were 5 and 3.5%, respectively. Late Grade 2 GI toxicity was 2%, with no  $\geq$ Grade 3 toxicities observed.

The largest reported single-institution study of prostate SAbR using a robotic linear accelerator technique is from Katz et al. at the Winthrop University Hospital [45]. 304 patients (69%) low-risk, 27% intermediate-risk, 4% high-risk) were treated. The first 50 patients received 35 Gy in 5 fractions of 7 Gy with the subsequent 254 patients receiving 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions of 7.25 Gy. Fiducials were used, and the prostate was treated as well as a 5 mm PTV expansion, limited to 3 mm posteriorly. Lower-dose patients had a median follow-up of 30 months and the higherdose patients a median follow-up of 17 months; 5-year biochemical recurrence-free actuarial survival was 97% for low-risk, 90.7% for intermediate-risk, and 74.1% for high-risk patients. There were no Grade  $\geq 3$  acute complications. Late Grade 2 GU and GI toxicity was 14 and 7%, respectively. Five patients had late Grade 3 GU toxicity with no late Grade  $\geq 4$  toxicities. In a more recent update of their prospective experience with low- and intermediate risk prostate cancer patients, Katz et al. reported on outcomes for 477 patients (67.9% low-risk, Gleason score 6 and PSA <10 ng/mL; 32.1% intermediate risk, Gleason score 7 or PSA 10-20 ng/ml) treated to 35–36.25 Gy in 5 fractions. At a median followup of 72 months, their actuarial biochemical recurrence free survival was consistent with their prior report, 95.6% for low-risk patients and 89.6% for intermediate risk patients. No Grade  $\geq 3$  acute GI or GU toxicities were observed, and 1.7% of patients experienced a late Grade 3 GU toxicity, all in the 36.25 Gy in 5 fraction cohort. No Grade  $\geq$ 3 GI toxicities were observed [46].

Boyer et al. reported on a Phase II study of SAbR using linear-accelerator multi-field or arc-based treatments, in which 60 patients with cT1c-T2c prostate cancer with Gleason score 6 and PSA  $\leq$ 15 ng/ml or Gleason score 7 with PSA < 10 ng/ml were enrolled (33% low- and 67%) intermediate-risk), and treated to 37 Gy in 5 fractions. The target was the prostate plus a 5 mm PTV expansion, limited to 3 mm posteriorly, and either implanted transponders (Calypso) or ExacTrac system and/or cone beam CT with fiducial markers was used for target registration. While oncologic outcomes data is not yet available, the treatment was very well tolerated with no Grade  $\geq$ 3 GU toxicity, and only 6.7% late Grade 2 GU toxicity; there was 1.7% Grade 3 GI toxicity, and 8.3% late Grade 2 GI toxicity [47].

In a trial published by Jackson et al., 66 patients with low- (49%) or intermediate-risk (33% favorable, 18% unfavorable) prostate cancer were accrued to a phase II trial at five centers. Treatment consisted of 5 fractions of 7.4 Gy to a total dose of 37 Gy using conventional linear accelerator radiation delivery. Electromagnetic transponders were utilized for motion management, and a 3 mm uniform PTV expansion was used. At a median followup of 36 months, there have been no biochemical recurrences. No Grade >3 GU or GI toxicity was observed; acute Grade 2 GU toxicity was seen in 23% of treated patients, and 9% late Grade 2 GU toxicity was observed. Acute or late Grade  $\geq 2$  GI toxicity was noted in 4 and 5% of treated patients, respectively [48].

A multi-center phase II trial of low- and intermediate-risk patients performed at 21 community, regional, and academic hospitals was presented at the ASTRO 2016 Annual Meeting by Meier et al. [49]. In this study, 309 patients (55.7% low- and 44.3% intermediate-risk) were treated with robotic linear accelerator techniques to 40 Gy in 5 fractions to the prostate, and 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions to the seminal vesicles. At a median followup of 61 months, they noted actuarial 5-year biochemical recurrence free survival of 97.3% for low- and 97.1% for intermediate risk patients. Five (1.6%) Grade  $\geq$ 3 GU toxicities were noted, and Grade 2 GU toxicities were experienced by 35% of patients; no Grade  $\geq$ 3 GI toxicities were noted, with Grade 2 GI toxicities noted in 10% of treated patients.

In a Phase 2 trial reported by Mantz et al. using linear-accelerator multi-field or arc-based treatments and real-time target tracking with implant transponders, 70 patients with Gleason score 6(3 + 3) and 32 patients with Gleason score 7(3 + 4) prostate cancer received a total of 40 Gy in 5 QOD fractions. The target was the prostate alone with a uniform 2 mm PTV expansion. At a minimum followup of 5 years for the cohort, only one patient had experienced biochemical recurrence. Grade 3 acute GU toxicity was observed in 2% of patients, with no late Grade  $\geq 3$  GU or  $\geq 2$  GI toxicity [50].

Zelefsky et al. recently reported on the largest progressive series of dose escalation for low-and intermediate risk prostate cancer, bridging the dose ranges reported above from 6.5 to 8 Gy per fraction in 5 fractions to a total dose of 32.5–40 Gy [51]. In their Phase 1 study, 136 patients with low- and intermediate- risk prostate cancer received conventional linearaccelerator based SAbR at escalating radiation dose levels. The initial dose level was 32.5 Gy in 5 fractions delivered QOD, and then escalated by 2.5 Gy increments after dose level accrual and the protocol-specified safety observation period was completed. Accordingly, 30 patients received 32.5 Gy in 5 fractions, 35 patients received 35 Gy in 5 fractions, 36 patients received 37.5 Gy in 5 fractions, and 35 patients received 40 Gy in 5 fractions. At a median followup for the increasing dose levels of 66, 54, 36, and 30 months, respectively, the 3-year biochemical recurrence free survival rates were 83, 85, 90, and 98%, respectively. Patients underwent a post-treatment biopsy at 2 years. The incidence of a positive post-treatment biopsy was 45, 12, 17, and 5%, respectively, for the four dose arms (P < 0.001), correlating closely with the PSA outcomes. The incidence of acute Grade 2 GI toxicities for dose levels 1-4 were 0, 5.7, 3.2, and 3.2%, respectively. No Grade  $\geq 3$  acute GI toxicities were observed. The incidence of acute Grade 2 GU toxicities for dose levels 1-4 were 13.3, 8.6, 13.9, and 6.5%, respectively. Only one patient at the 40 Gy dose level experienced a Grade 3 acute toxicity (urinary retention requiring Foley catheter placement). The incidence of late Grade 2 GI toxicities for dose levels 1–4 were 3.3, 0, 2.8, and 0%, respectively. No Grade 3 or 4 late GI toxicities were observed. The incidence of late Grade 2 GU toxicities for dose levels 1–4 were 13.3, 14.3, 8.3, and 9.7%, respectively. Only one late Grade 3 GU toxicity (urethral stricture) developed in the 32.5 Gy dose arm after treatment which was corrected with transurethral resection. No Grade  $\geq$ 4 late GU toxicities were observed.

The highest SAbR dose escalation studies to date were reported through studies managed by investigators at UT Southwestern, extrapolated from the HDR brachytherapy experience, where initial dosing was similar to the biologic equivalent margin dose of the HDR brachytherapy experience (ie, 45 Gy in five fractions), and then escalated to 50 Gy in five fractions [52]. In the phase I portion, 45 patients (3 cohorts of 15 at each dose level), were treated with 45, 47.5, and 50 Gy in 5 equal fractions, respectively. In this population, 40% were low-risk (Gleason score  $\leq 6$ , PSA <10 ng/mL and clinical stage  $\leq$ T2a) and 60% were intermediate-risk (Gleason score 7 or PSA 10-15 ng/mL, or clinical stage T2b, with no discrimination between low- and highintermediate risk subclassification). Treatment was delivered using conventional linear accelerator or tomotherapy system to the prostate only with a 2-3 mm planning margin, with a rectal balloon used for prostate immobilization. No dose-limiting toxicities (Grade 3-5) occurred within the first 90 days post-treatment. GI grade  $\geq 2$  and Grade  $\geq 3$  toxicity occurred in 18 and 2%, respectively, and GU Grade  $\geq 2$  and Grade  $\geq 3$ toxicity occurred in 31 and 4%, respectively. Of note, on the initial trial, anoscopies performed on treated patients noted an anterior rectal erosion or ulcer in 100% of assessed patients. Initial PSA control was 100%. These encouraging results led to the further enrollment on a phase II trial at the 50 Gy in 5 fractions dose level to study efficacy and late toxicity. An additional 46 patients were enrolled for a total of 91 (64% intermediate-risk and 36% low-risk). With a median follow-up of 54 months, PSA control remained at 98.6% overall (100% for patients with Gleason 6(3 + 3) or



**Fig. 13.2** Representative treatment plans of patients treated to 50 Gy in 5 fractions, with (a) grade 2 acute and grade 3 delayed rectal toxicity, and (b) grade 1 acute/delayed rectal toxicity only. (c) Representation of biologic consequence of rectal wall irradiated to 24 Gy,

Gleason 7(3 + 4) disease, 93.3% for patients with Gleason 7(4 + 3) unfavorable intermediate-risk disease) [53, 54]. One patient with unfavorable intermediate-risk disease, who was treated on the 45 Gy arm, demonstrated failure to therapy. Overall, 6 (6.8%) patients experienced late Grade  $\geq$ 3 GI toxicity, with 5 requiring a temporary diverting colostomy, all in the 50 Gy dose cohort. There was 1 (1.6%) late Grade 4 GU toxicity, also in the 50 Gy dose cohort; there were no acute Grade  $\geq$ 3

39 Gy, and 50 Gy. Reprinted from "Predictors of Rectal Tolerance Observed in a Dose-Escalated Phase 1–2 Trial of Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Prostate Cancer" Int J Radiation Oncol Biol Phys 89(3):509–517 (2014) Copyright (2014), with permission from Elsevier

GU toxicities, and late Grade 3 GU toxicity was noted in 4.4% of patients. A dosimetric analysis of GI toxicity demonstrated a significant correlation with the volume of rectal wall receiving 50 Gy >3 cm<sup>3</sup>, and treatment of >35% of the rectal wall circumference to doses exceeding 39 Gy [55]. In Fig. 13.2, examples of SAbR plans in which 50 Gy was delivered in 5 fractions are provided with either significant (Fig. 13.2a) or minimal (Fig. 13.2b) rectal overlap with the

Organ	Volume/Parameters	Total dose (cGy)
Spinal cord	Maximum point dose	22 Gy (4.4 Gy per fraction)
	Less than 8 cc	20 Gy (4 Gy per fraction)
Cauda Equina	Maximum point dose	27.5 Gy (5.5 Gy per fraction)
	Less than 10 cc	25 Gy (5 Gy per fraction)
Sacral Plexus	Maximum point dose	30 Gy (6 Gy per fraction)
	Less than 10 cc	27.5 Gy (5.5 Gy per fraction)
Rectal wall	Less than 3 cc	50 Gy
Percent rectal circumference	<33% of circumference	39 Gy
	<50% of circumference	24 Gy
Rectum superior to prostate	Maximum point dose	30 Gy (6 Gy per fraction)
	Less than 10 cc	25 Gy (5 Gy per fraction)
Small intestine	Maximum point dose	29 Gy (5.8 Gy per fraction)
	Less than 10 cc	19.5 Gy (3.9 Gy per fraction)
Prostatic urethra	Maximum point dose	No more than 105% of prescription dose
Bladder	Maximum point dose	No more than 105% of prescription dose
	Less than 18 cc	18.3 Gy (3.65 Gy per fraction)
Penile bulb	Maximum point dose	No more than 100% of prescription dose
	Less than 3 cc	30 Gy (6 Gy per fraction)
Femoral heads	Less than 10 cc cumulative (both sides)	30 Gy (6 Gy per fraction)
Skin within fold (e.g., the gluteal fold)	Maximum point dose	20 Gy (4 Gy per fraction)
Skin not within fold	Maximum point dose	27.3 Gy (5.45 Gy per fraction)
Seminal vesicles	No dose constraint	Collect dose statistics for documentation only
Neurovascular bundle (right and left)	Maximum point dose	No more than 105% of prescription dose

 Table 13.2
 5-Fraction prostate SAbR normal tissue constraints used at UT Southwestern

50 Gy isodose line; Fig. 13.2c illustrates the increasing rectal mucosal injury resulting with incidental high dose radiation delivery to the rectal wall. Based on these experiences, normal tissue constraints were developed for standard use in patients treated for prostate cancer at UT Southwestern with SAbR (Table 13.2).

To further address these issues of rectal toxicity, a Phase II trial was conducted by Folkert et al., and reported at the 2017 ASTRO Annual Meeting [56]. In this study, patients were treated with SAbR following placement of a temporary hydrogel spacer (SpaceOAR, Augmenix, Inc, Bedford, MA) that had previously been shown in randomized trials to reduce rectal toxicity in the setting of conventional courses of radiation therapy for prostate cancer [57, 58]. Eligible patients included men with localized prostate cancer with Gleason score 6–7, PSA  $\leq$ 15 ng/ml, and clinical/radiographic  $\leq$ T2c. stage Patients underwent hydrogel spacer placement followed

by 45 Gy in five fractions to the prostate volume with a 3 mm planning margin; the seminal vesicles were not treated (Fig. 13.1c provides an example of a SAbR treatment with rectal hydrogel spacer in place). A total of 44 patients treated at 2 institutions were included; 7 patients (15.9%) had Gleason 6(3 + 3) disease, 25(56.8%) had Gleason 7(3+4) disease, and 12(27.3%) had Gleason 7(4+3) disease. At a median follow up of 12 months, freedom from biochemical failure was 100%. There were no >Grade 3 acute or chronic GI toxicities. Acute and late Grade 3 GU toxicity occurred in 2(4.5%) of patients; one spacer site infection and one urinary tract pain, both resolved. No Grade >3 toxicities occurred. The primary endpoint of the study was a reduction of the mucosal injury rate from the previously observed rate of 90% on the original Phase 1/2 study at UT Southwestern to <70%; a total of 6 rectal erosions/ulcers (five grade 1, one grade 2) were observed (13.6%), meeting the trial's primary objective. All were minimally symptomatic and resolved on repeat anoscopy within 6 months.

#### 13.4 Conclusions

There is ample evidence that oligofractionated regimens may be at least and possibly more clinically effective in the management of prostate cancer than conventionally dosed therapies, bolstered by advances in imaging and radiation delivery systems. Extensive prospective data has been generated in multiple series to demonstrate that this treatment can be delivered safely and effectively when administered with appropriate expertise and understanding of dosimetric constraints. New techniques such as temporary hydrogel spacer placement facilitate escalation to higher dose levels that have been shown to correlate with improved biochemical outcomes and decreased likelihood of residual viable prostate cancer on post-treatment biopsy. In addition to an increased likelihood of durable biochemical control, this form of treatment is far more convenient for patients, and potentially reduces the overall cost of therapy.

#### Disclosures

The authors have reported no relevant personal financial disclosures. The authors' institution has received material support from Augmenix, Inc. (Bedford, MA USA) in the form of rectal hydrogel material for use in clinical trials, as well as unrestricted grant funding.

#### References

- Coutard H. Roentgen therapy of epitheliomas of the tonsillar region, hypopharynx and larynx from 1920 to 1926. Am J Roentgenol. 1932;28:313–31.
- 2. Leksell L. The stereotaxic method and radiosurgery of the brain. Acta Chir Scand. 1951;102(4):316–9.
- Hamilton AJ, Lulu BA, Fosmire H, Stea B, Cassady JR. Preliminary clinical experience with linear accelerator-based spinal stereotactic radiosurgery. Neurosurgery. 1995;36(2):311–9.
- Blomgren H, Lax I, Naslund I, Svanstrom R. Stereotactic high dose fraction radiation therapy of

extracranial tumors using an accelerator. Clinical experience of the first thirty-one patients. Acta Oncol. 1995;34(6):861–70.

- Uematsu M, Shioda A, Tahara K, Fukui T, Yamamoto F, Tsumatori G, et al. Focal, high dose, and fractionated modified stereotactic radiation therapy for lung carcinoma patients: a preliminary experience. Cancer. 1998;82(6):1062–70.
- Timmerman R, Papiez L, McGarry R, Likes L, DesRosiers C, Frost S, et al. Extracranial stereotactic radioablation: results of a phase I study in medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Chest. 2003;124(5):1946–55.
- Potters L, Steinberg M, Rose C, Timmerman R, Ryu S, Hevezi JM, et al. American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology and American College of Radiology practice guideline for the performance of stereotactic body radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;60(4):1026–32. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijrobp.2004.07.701.
- Loo BW Jr, Chang JY, Dawson LA, Kavanagh BD, Koong AC, Senan S, et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy: what's in a name? Pract Radiat Oncol. 2011;1 (1):38–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prro.2010.07.001.
- Timmerman RD, Kavanagh BD, Cho LC, Papiez L, Xing L. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in multiple organ sites. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(8):947–52. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.09.7469.
- Lea DE, Catcheside DG. The mechanism of the induction by radiation of chromosome aberrations in Tradescantia. J Genet. 1942;44(2/3):216–45. https://doi. org/10.1007/Bf02982830.
- Joiner M, Kogel A. Basic clinical radiobiology. 4th ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009.
- Lee SP, Leu MY, Smathers JB, McBride WH, Parker RG, Withers HR. Biologically effective dose distribution based on the linear quadratic model and its clinical relevance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;33 (2):375–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-3016(95) 00162-R.
- Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. Radiobiology for the radiologist. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.
- 14. Wang JZ, Huang Z, Lo SS, Yuh WT, Mayr NA. A generalized linear-quadratic model for radiosurgery, stereotactic body radiation therapy, and high-dose rate brachytherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(39):39ra48. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3000864.
- Astrahan M. Some implications of linear-quadraticlinear radiation dose-response with regard to hypofractionation. Med Phys. 2008;35(9):4161–72.
- Guerrero M, Li XA. Extending the linear-quadratic model for large fraction doses pertinent to stereotactic radiotherapy. Phys Med Biol. 2004;49(20):4825–35.
- Kirkpatrick JP, Meyer JJ, Marks LB. The linearquadratic model is inappropriate to model high dose per fraction effects in radiosurgery. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2008;18(4):240–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. semradonc.2008.04.005.

- Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Fractionation and protraction for radiotherapy of prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43(5):1095–101.
- Brenner DJ, Martinez AA, Edmundson GK, Mitchell C, Thames HD, Armour EP. Direct evidence that prostate tumors show high sensitivity to fractionation (low alpha/beta ratio), similar to late-responding normal tissue. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;52 (1):6–13.
- Duchesne GM, Peters LJ. What is the alpha/beta ratio for prostate cancer? Rationale for hypofractionated high-dose-rate brachytherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;44(4):747–8.
- Fowler J, Chappell R, Ritter M. Is alpha/beta for prostate tumors really low? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;50(4):1021–31.
- Williams SG, Taylor JM, Liu N, Tra Y, Duchesne GM, Kestin LL, et al. Use of individual fraction size data from 3756 patients to directly determine the alpha/beta ratio of prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(1):24–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2006.12.036.
- 23. Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H, Khoo V, Birtle A, Bloomfield D, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1047–60. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1470-2045(16)30102-4.
- 24. Incrocci L, Wortel RC, Alemayehu WG, Aluwini S, Schimmel E, Krol S, et al. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for patients with localised prostate cancer (HYPRO): final efficacy results from a randomised, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1061–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30070-5.
- 25. Lee WR, Dignam JJ, Amin MB, Bruner DW, Low D, Swanson GP, et al. Randomized phase III noninferiority study comparing two radiotherapy fractionation schedules in patients with low-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(20):2325–32. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.67.0448.
- 26. Arcangeli S, Strigari L, Gomellini S, Saracino B, Petrongari MG, Pinnaro P, et al. Updated results and patterns of failure in a randomized hypofractionation trial for high-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(5):1172–8. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijrobp.2012.02.049.
- 27. Kupelian PA, Willoughby TR, Reddy CA, Klein EA, Mahadevan A. Hypofractionated intensity-modulated radiotherapy (70 Gy at 2.5 Gy per fraction) for localized prostate cancer: Cleveland Clinic experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(5):1424–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.01.067.
- Lukka H, Hayter C, Julian JA, Warde P, Morris WJ, Gospodarowicz M, et al. Randomized trial comparing two fractionation schedules for patients with localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(25):6132–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.06.153.

- 29. Yeoh EE, Botten RJ, Butters J, Di Matteo AC, Holloway RH, Fowler J. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for prostate carcinoma: final results of phase III randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81(5):1271–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.07.1984.
- 30. Arcangeli G, Saracino B, Gomellini S, Petrongari MG, Arcangeli S, Sentinelli S, et al. A prospective phase III randomized trial of hypofractionation versus conventional fractionation in patients with high-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(1):11–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.07.1691.
- 31. Kuban DA, Nogueras-Gonzalez GM, Hamblin L, Lee AK, Choi S, Frank SJ, et al. Preliminary report of a randomized dose escalation trial for prostate cancer using hypofractionation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(3):S58–S9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijrobp.2010.07.170.
- 32. Pollack A, Walker G, Horwitz EM, Price R, Feigenberg S, Konski AA, et al. Randomized trial of hypofractionated external-beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(31):3860–8. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.51.1972.
- 33. Yeoh EE, Holloway RH, Fraser RJ, Botten RJ, Di Matteo AC, Butters J, et al. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiation therapy for prostate carcinoma: updated results of a phase III randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;66(4):1072–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2006.06.005.
- 34. Park C, Papiez L, Zhang S, Story M, Timmerman RD. Universal survival curve and single fraction equivalent dose: useful tools in understanding potency of ablative radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(3):847–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2007.10.059.
- 35. Leith JT, Quaranto L, Padfield G, Michelson S, Hercbergs A. Radiobiological studies of PC-3 and DU-145 human prostate cancer cells: x-ray sensitivity in vitro and hypoxic fractions of xenografted tumors in vivo. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1993;25 (2):283–7.
- Schroder FH, Hugosson J, Roobol MJ, Tammela TL, Ciatto S, Nelen V, et al. Screening and prostate-cancer mortality in a randomized European study. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(13):1320–8. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa0810084.
- 37. Kuban DA, Tucker SL, Dong L, Starkschall G, Huang EH, Cheung MR, et al. Long-term results of the M. D. Anderson randomized dose-escalation trial for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70 (1):67–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.06. 054.
- 38. Zietman AL, Bae K, Slater JD, Shipley WU, Efstathiou JA, Coen JJ, et al. Randomized trial comparing conventional-dose with high-dose conformal radiation therapy in early-stage adenocarcinoma of the prostate: long-term results from proton radiation oncology group/american college of radiology 95-09. J

Clin Oncol. 2010;28(7):1106–11. https://doi.org/10. 1200/JCO.2009.25.8475.

- 39. Zelefsky MJ, Chan H, Hunt M, Yamada Y, Shippy AM, Amols H. Long-term outcome of high dose intensity modulated radiation therapy for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. J Urol. 2006;176(4 Pt 1):1415–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2006.06.002.
- 40. Spratt DE, Zumsteg ZS, Ghadjar P, Kollmeier MA, Pei X, Cohen G, et al. Comparison of high-dose (86.4 Gy) IMRT vs combined brachytherapy plus IMRT for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2014;114 (3):360–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/bju.12514.
- 41. Kalbasi A, Li J, Berman A, Swisher-McClure S, Smaldone M, Uzzo RG, et al. Dose-escalated irradiation and overall survival in men with nonmetastatic prostate cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(7):897–906. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.2316.
- Lloyd-Davies RW, Collins CD, Swan AV. Carcinoma of prostate treated by radical external beam radiotherapy using hypofractionation. Twenty-two years' experience (1962–1984). Urology. 1990;36(2):107–11.
- Madsen BL, Hsi RA, Pham HT, Fowler JF, Esagui L, Corman J. Stereotactic hypofractionated accurate radiotherapy of the prostate (SHARP), 33.5 Gy in five fractions for localized disease: first clinical trial results. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;67 (4):1099–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006. 10.050.
- 44. King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC Jr. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.11.054.
- 45. Katz AJ, Santoro M, Diblasio F, Ashley R. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: disease control and quality of life at 6 years. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:118. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1748-717X-8-118.
- 46. Katz AJ, Kang J. Stereotactic body radiotherapy as treatment for organ confined low- and intermediaterisk prostate carcinoma, a 7-year study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:240. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00240.
- 47. Boyer MJ, Papagikos MA, Kiteley R, Vujaskovic Z, Wu J, Lee WR. Toxicity and quality of life report of a phase II study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12(1):14. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13014-016-0758-8.
- 48. Jackson WC, Dess RT, Litzenberg DW, Li P, Schipper M, Rosenthal SA, et al. A multi-institutional phase II trial of prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) utilizing continuous real-time evaluation of prostate motion with patient reported quality of life. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2018;8:40–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.prro.2017.08.004.
- 49. Meier R, Beckman A, Henning G, Mohideen N, Woodhouse SA, Cotrutz C, et al. Five-year outcomes from a multicenter trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer.

Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(2):S33-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2016.06.094.

- 50. Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol. 2014;4:279. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2014.00279.
- 51. Zelefsky MJ, Kollmeier MA, McBride S, Pei X, Happersett L, Lin M, et al. 5-Year outcomes of a phase 1 dose escalation study using stereotactic body radiosurgery for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2): S156–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2017.06.361.
- 52. Boike TP, Lotan Y, Cho LC, Brindle J, DeRose P, Xie XJ, et al. Phase I dose-escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):2020–6. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.31.4377.
- 53. Kim DW, Straka C, Cho LC, Timmerman RD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: review of experience of a multicenter phase I/II dose-escalation study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:319. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00319.
- 54. Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie XJ, Cho LC, Kavanagh BD, Brindle J, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer-Results from a multi-institutional clinical trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2016. 02.014.
- 55. Kim DW, Cho LC, Straka C, Christie A, Lotan Y, Pistenmaa D, et al. Predictors of rectal tolerance observed in a dose-escalated phase 1-2 trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2014;89(3):509–17. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.03.012.
- 56. Folkert MR, Zelefsky MJ, Hannan R, Desai NB, Lotan Y, Laine AM, et al. Multi-institutional phase 2 trial of high-dose stereotactic body radiation therapy with temporary hydrogel spacer for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(5):1319–20. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijrobp.2017.09.020.
- 57. Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(5):976–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2016.12.024.
- Mariados N, Sylvester J, Shah D, Karsh L, Hudes R, Beyer D, et al. Hydrogel spacer prospective multicenter randomized controlled pivotal trial: dosimetric and clinical effects of perirectal spacer application in men undergoing prostate image guided intensity modulated radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(5):971–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2015.04.030.



# Summary of Ongoing Prospective Trials 14 Using SBRT for Prostate Cancer

Kirsty Morrison and Nicholas van As

Evidence is building to support the use of stereotactic radiotherapy in the management of localised prostate cancer. However, a large number of uncertainties remain, highlighting the need for further prospective trials. This chapter will consider ongoing prospective trials which may influence the future of SBRT in localised prostate cancer. Eighty two trials have been identified following a search of http://clinicaltrials.gov and www.isrctn.com most recently performed in December 2017, using search terms: prostate SBRT; prostate stereotactic; prostate hypofractionation; prostate CyberKnife; prostate focal radiotherapy; and prostate dominant lesion. Trials investigating SBRT for reirradiation or in the preoperative or salvage radiotherapy setting have been excluded, and are not discussed within the scope of this chapter. The larger/most relevant remaining trials are summarised in Tables 14.1, 14.2 and 14.3.

# 14.1 SBRT in Low- and Intermediate-Risk Prostate Cancer

There is now a wealth of published data from non-randomised studies demonstrating the efficacy and safety of SBRT in low- and

Royal Marsden Hospital, London, UK e-mail: kirsty.morrison@rmh.nhs.uk; Nicholas. vanas@rmh.nhs.uk intermediate-risk prostate cancer, to be consistent with standard treatment modalities. However, many of these studies are retrospective in nature, and often with short follow up at the time of publication, making it difficult to draw accurate conclusions. Ongoing prospective trials therefore remain vital in this setting. There are a large number of ongoing non-randomised trials evaluating SBRT as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk patients. The majority of these are single-arm studies, delivering SBRT in five fractions most commonly at a prescribed uniform dose of 36.25 Gy (range 35-40 Gy) to the PTV. The larger of these studies with an expected accrual of at least 50 patients, are summarised in Table 14.1. Other trials evaluating the use of dose escalation and more extreme hypofractionation will be discussed later in this chapter.

In terms of multicentre trials, the phase II trial by Meier et al. [21] has completed accrual and has recently published 5 year outcomes in abstract form [22]. Over 300 low- and intermediate-risk patients were treated using CyberKnife with a prescription dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions, aiming to deliver 40 Gy to the prostate. Results were encouraging demonstrating biochemical progression-free survival (bPFS) of 97.1% and low toxicity rates with no grade 3 gastrointestinal (GI) and 2% late genitourinary (GU) toxicity. Within the SMART trial [24] linac-based techniques were used, delivering a dose of 37 Gy in five fractions prescribed to the PTV. Results

K. Morrison (🖂) · N. van As

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_14

Table 14.1 Rande	omised S	BRT trials						
	Year	Study	Target	Risk				
Centre/PI	open	design	accrual	group	Arm 1/Experimental arm	Arm 2/Control arm	Primary objective	Status
PACE, van As	2012	Multicentre	1092	ГЛ	SBRT 36.25 Gy/5 # to PTV	PACE A: Radical prostatectomy	PACE A: QOL	PACE B:
		Fnase III			CN/Linac	78 Gy/39 #	2 years PACE B: bPFS	Acuve PACE A:
							5 years	Recruiting
RTOG0938,	2011	Multicentre	255	L	SBRT 36.25 Gy/5 # twice weekly	EBRT 51.6 Gy/12 # consecutive	QOL 1 year	Active
Lukka (CA) [2]		Phase II				days		Results [3]
HEAT, Abramowitz (US) [4]	2013	Multicentre	456	ГЛ	SBRT 36.25 Gy/5 #	EBRT 70.2 Gy/26 #	bPFS 2 years	Recruiting
Ellis (US) [5]	2018	Phase III	606	ГЛ	SBRT 5 # (alt days). Dose NS	EBRT 28 # 5 days/week. Dose NS	Toxicity/QOL 2 years	Not yet recruiting
Poon (HK) [6]	2015	Single	68	ГЛ	SBRT 36.25 Gy in 5 # twice weekly	EBRT 78 Gy in 39 #	QOL at 1 year	Recruiting
		centre Phase II						
НҮРО,	2005	Multicentre	1200	I	EBRT 42.7 Gy in 7 #	EBRT 78 Gy in 29 #	FFBF 5 years	Active
Widmark (SE) [7]		Phase III						
Vuolukka (FI) [8]	2013	Single centre	44	Γ⁄Ι	SBRT 36.25 Gy in 5 # (alt days)	LDR brachytherapy (I125 seeds)	Toxicity 6 months	Active
Lukka (CA) [9]	2015	Single centre	40	L/I	SBRT with CyberKnife 36.25 Gy in 5 #	SBRT with VMAT 36.25 Gy in 5#	Patient acceptability	Unknown
PATRIOT, Ong,	2012	Multicentre	152	ГЛ	SBRT (Linac) 40 Gy in 5 # over	SBRT (Linac) 40 Gy in 5 # over	Bowel related QOL	Active
Loblaw (CA) [10]		Phase II			11 days	29 days	at 3 months	Results [11]
PROSINT,	2015	Single	30	ГЛ	SBRT 24 Gy in a single #	SBRT 45 Gy in 5 # over 5 days	Toxicity 5 years	Recruiting
Greco (Portugal) [12]		centre Phase II			VMAT/urethral sparing	VMAT/urethral sparing		
Zelefsky (US) [13]	2017	Multicentre Phase III	200	I	SBRT 40 Gy in 5 # with Degarelix	SBRT 40 Gy in 5 # without hormones	Positive biopsy rate 2 years	Recruiting
Kang (US) [14]	2016	Single	40	<b>L/I/H</b>	SBRT 36.25 Gy in 5 # 2–3 times/week	SBRT 36.25 Gy in 5 # 2–3 times/	Toxicity 4 years	Recruiting
		centre			with endorectal balloon immobilisation	week with injectable rectal spacer		

# fractions, VMAT volumetric arc therapy, CBCT cone beam computerised tomography, ADT androgen deprivation therapy, IMRT intensity-modulated radiotherapy, SIB simultaneous integrated boost, QOL quality of life, bPFS biochemical progression-free survival, FFBF freedom from biochemical failure

Table 14.2         Non-randomised tri	ials in lo	w and intermedia	ate risk pro	state cancer			
Centre/PI	Year open	Study design	Target accrual	Technique	Schedule	Primary objective	Status
Meier (US) [21]	2007	Multicentre Phase II	298	CK Fiducials	40 Gy/5 # to prostate 36.25 Gy/5 # to proximal SV	Toxicity bDFS 10 years	Active Results [22, 23]
SMART, Lee (US) [24]	2009	Multicentre Phase II	60	Linac Calypso or Exactrac and/or CBCT and fiducials	37 Gy/5 # to PTV (alt days)	Toxicity 3 years	Active Results [25]
Spratt (US) [26]	2011	Multicentre Phase II	66	Linac Calypso	37 Gy/5 # (alt days)	Quality of life 2 years	Completed Results [27]
Florida Robotic Radiosurgery Association, Perman (US) [28]	2010	Multicentre Observational	3000	NS	NS	Overall Survival 5 years	Recruiting
Tran (US) [29]	2013	Multicentre Phase I/II	105	NS	36.25 Gy/5 # (alt days)	Biochemical failure free rate 5 years	Active
HYPOSTAT, Dunst (DE) [30, 31]	2015	Multicentre Phase II	85	CK Fiducials	35 Gy/5 #to PTV (alt days)	Late toxicity 12–15 months	Recruiting
CYBERPROST, Milecki (PL) [32]	2013	Single centre	600	CK Fiducials	NS	bPFS 5 years	Recruiting
PR-PROS, Collins (US) [33]	2012	Single centre Observational	200	CK Fiducials	35-36.25 Gy/5#	QOL 2 years	Active
Rashtian (US) [34]	2013	Single centre	167	CK Fiducials	36.25 Gy/5 # to PTV	Toxicity bPFS 5 years	Recruiting
Woodhouse (US) [35]	2008	Single centre Phase II	100	CK Fiducials	36.25 Gy/5 #	Toxicity/bPFS 5 and 10 years	Unknown
Chua (SG) [36]	2013	Single centre Phase II	80	Linac	36.25 Gy/5 # over 10-11 days	Late toxicity 2 years	Recruiting
Heron (US) [37]	2010	Single centre Phase II	111	CK Fiducials	36.25 Gy/5 # over 2 weeks	Toxicity/bDFS 2 years	Recruiting
Potters (US) [38]	2010	Single centre Phase I	36		Dose level 1: 40 Gy/5 # (alt days) Dose level 2: 45 Gy/5 # Dose level 3: 50 Gy/5 #	Maximum tolerated dose	Active Results [39, 40]

ca
prostate
risk
intermediate
and
low
Е.
als
Ē
mised
Non-rando
14.2

RAD1203, Fiveash (US) [41]	2013	Single centre Pilot	25	Linac	36.25 Gy/5 # over 1–2 weeks SIB to area containing tumour 40 Gy/5 #	Acute toxicity	Active
Orecchia/Jereczek (IT) [42, 43]	2014	Single centre	65	CK/Linac	36.25 Gy in 5 # over 10 days SIB to dominant lesions 37.5 Gy in 5 #	Acute toxicity	Active
Zelefsky (US) [44]	2017	Single centre Phase I	30	Linac	40 Gy in 5 # SIB to MRI defined lesions 45 Gy in 5 #	Toxicity	Recruiting
Ritter (US) [45]	2015	Single centre Phase I/II	160		40 Gy in 5 # (36.25 Gy urethral sparing) SIB to MRI defined lesions $8.5-9$ GY per # 37.5 Gy uniform dose (patients not having MRI)	Toxicity bPFS at 5 years	Recruiting Results [46]
Fuller (US) [47]	2007	Multicentre Phase II	253 (259)	CK Fiducials	38 Gy/4 # Virtual HDR technique (DMax 57 Gy)	bDFS/toxicity 10 years	Active Results [48, 49]
Fuller (US) [50]	2006	Single centre Phase II	258	CK Fiducials	38 Gy in 4 # Virtual HDR technique	Toxicity/QOL bDFS at 5 years	Recruiting Results [51]
2STAR, Loblaw (CA) [52, 53]	2014	Single centre Phase I/II	30	Linac Fiducials/CBCT/ endorectal immobilisation device	26 Gy/2 # weekly	QOL 5 years	Active
eHYPO, Sanguineti (IT) [54]	2015	Single centre Phase I/II	59	Linac Fiducials/CBCT/urethral catheter/rectal gel spacer	40 Gy/3 # (alt days)	GU toxicity 1 year	Recruiting
ONE-SHOT, Zilli (CH) [55]	Due 2017	Single centre Phase I/II	45	Linac Calypso	19 Gy in one # 17 Gy to urethra PRV	Acute toxicity bPFS 3 years	Not yet recruiting
Mantz (US) [56]	2006	Multicentre Phase II	350	SBRT NS	Low risk: SBRT 40 Gy in 5 # Int-risk: IMRT 45 Gy in 25 # and SBRT 22 Gy in 4 #	Toxicity up to 10 years	Recruiting
CKNO-PRO, Lartigau (FR) [57]	2010	Multicentre Phase II	76	CK/Linac	SBRT boost 18 Gy in 3 # over 5–9 days following conventional EBRT 46 Gy in 23 #	Toxicity 2 years	Active Results [58]
CK CyberKnife, NS not specified	d, HDR	high-dose rate, Ph	RV plannir	ng organ at risk volume, GU	U genitourinary		

Table 14.3 Non-rand	omised t	trials involving	high risk	prostate ci	ancer patients				
Trial/PI	Year	Study design	Target accrual	Risk group	Technique	ADT/ Duration	Schedule	Primary obiective	Status
Stephans (US) [59]	2012	Single centre	35	L/I/H	SN	Yes As CI	50 Gy in 5 # to high dose PTV 36.25 Gy in 5 # to low dose PTV	Toxicity 1 year	Active Results [60. 61]
Meier (US) [62]	2014	Single centre	146	L/I/H	CK	NS	5 # over 1 week, dose NS	QOL/ toxicity 8 vears.	Recruiting
Prorate, Nickers (LU) [63]	2014	Single centre Phase II	09	Elderly L/I/H	CK	NS	36.25 Gy/5 # over 10 days, low/intermediate risk 37.5 Gy/5 # high risk	Toxicity 3 years	Recruiting
FASTR-2 Bauman (CA) [64]	2014	Single centre Phase II	09	Н	Linac CBCT	18 months	35 Gy in 5 # prostate over 5 weeks	Toxicity 1 year	Recruiting
pHART8, Loblaw/ Jain(CA/UK) [65]	2011	Multicentre Phase II	30	Н	Linac	NS	40 Gy/5 # prostate weekly 30 Gy in 5 # SV	Acute rectal toxicity	Active
Ong (CA) [66]	2013	Single centre Phase I	LL	Н	SN	SN	36.25 Gy in 5 # to PTV SIB to MRI defined lesions 40 Gy in 5 #	QOL (EPIC)	Not yet recruiting
SPARC, Van As (UK) [67]	2013	Single centre Phase II	20	НЛ	CK	Yes	36.25 Gy/5 # to PTV SIB 47.5 Gy/5 # SIB to MRI defined nodules	Acute GU toxicity	Recruiting
Herrara (CH) [68]	2014	Single centre Phase I/II Dose escalation	27	L///H	Rectal spacer	SN	36.25 Gy/5 # Phase I: SIB 45 Gy/5 # escalating to 50 Gy/5 # Phase II: SIB MTD from phase I	Phase I: MTD Phase II: Acute toxicity	Recruiting
King (US) [69]	2014	Multicentre Phase II	220	Н	SN	≥9 months	40 Gy in 5 # over 2 weeks 25 Gy to pelvic nodes (as indicated)	bPFS 3 and 5 years Toxicity/ QOL 5 years	Recruiting Results [70, 71]
FASTR, Bauman/ Rodrigues (CA) [72]	2011	Single centre Phase II	19	Н	Linac CBCT	12 months	40 Gy/5 # weekly to prostate 25 Gy in 5 # pelvis (PTV = CTV + 5 mm)	Toxicity 3 years	Terminated results [73]
SATURN Loblaw (CA) [74]	2013	Single centre Phase II	30	Н	Linac	12–18 months	40 Gy/5 # prostate 25 Gy /5 # pelvis over 4 weeks	Acute toxicity 3 months	Active Results [75]

202

2015Single50HLinac2447.5 Gy in 5 # prostatCentrePhase IDose level 1: 22.5 GyPhase IDoseDose level 2: 27.5 GyDoseescalationSBRT with 6 months2016Multicentre58Phase IINSYesSingle72I/HCentre58H2014Single72LinkCK boostYesIntrisk: EBRT 45-2012Single167LinkCK boostYesLinkSBRT prostate boost2014Single60NSLinacNSSolide167LinkCK boostYesHigh risk: EBRT 50.2CentreSBRT prostate boost2014Single60NSElevis12 Gy/3Dise level 1: 20 Gy/3Dose level 1: 20 Gy/3DoseDose level 2: 20 Gy/3DoseDose level 2: 20 Gy/3DoseDose level 2: 20 Gy/3Dose <th></th> <th></th>		
centre Phase ICBCTmonthsDose level 1: 22.5 GyDose escalationDose level 2: 27.5 GyDose bose level 2: 27.5 GyDose escalationMulticentre58HNSMulticentre58HNSYesSBRT with 6 months.Multicentre58HNSYesSBRT with 6 months.Single72I/HNSYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single72I/HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/3Single167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostCentre60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostCalypsoDoseCalypsoDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 22 Gy IDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 22 Gy IDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 22 Gy I	.5 Gy in 5 # prostate	Maximum Recruiting
Phase IDose level 2: 27.5 GyDoseescalationBoseescalationMulticentre58Phase IINSYesSBRT with 6 months.Phase IIARN-509 (ApalutamiSingle72VHCK boostYesHigh risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle167L/I/HCK boostSingle60NSSBRT prostate boostSingle60NSLinacSingle60NSBRT prostate boostCalypsoDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 20 Gy fDose level 2: 20 Gy IDose level 2: 20 Gy IDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 20 Gy IDose level 2: 20 Gy IDose level 2: 20 Gy I	se level 1: 22.5 Gy pelvis/50 Gy SIB	tolerated
DoseDoseescalation58HNSYesSBRT with 6 monthsMulticentre58HNSYesSBRT with 6 monthsPhase II72I/HNSYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single72I/HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/3Single167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: BBRT 30.3Single167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostCentre60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostSingle167NSLinacDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDoseNSDose level 2: 22 Gy lDose level 2: 22 Gy lDoseDoseNo.6Dose level 2: 22 Gy l	se level 2: 27.5 Gy pelvis/55 Gy SIB	dose
escalationSBRT with 6 monthsMulticentre58HNSYesSBRT with 6 monthsPhase II58HNSYesSBRT with 6 monthsSingle72 <i>L</i> /HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single72 <i>L</i> /HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single167 <i>L</i> //HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.25 GSingle167 <i>L</i> //HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostCentreNSSBRT prostate boostDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDoseNSDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 22 Gy IDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy IDose level 2: 21 Gy I		
Multicentre58HNSYesSBRT with 6 monthsPhase II58HNSSGS (Apalutami)Single72 <i>U</i> HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #Single72 <i>U</i> HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/3Single167 <i>L/I/H</i> CK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle167 <i>L/I/H</i> CK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostCentre60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostDoseCalypsoCalypsoDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDoseDose level 2: 22 Gy 1Dose level 2: 22 Gy 1Dose level 2: 22 Gy 1		
Phase II     ARN-509 (Apalutami ARN-509 (Apalutami single       Single     72 <i>I</i> /H     CK boost     Yes     Int risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #       centre     As CI     High risk: EBRT 45- -pelvis and 21 Gy/3       Single     167 <i>L</i> / <i>I</i> /H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       centre     167 <i>L</i> / <i>I</i> /H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       centre     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Phase I     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/f     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/f     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/f	RT with 6 months Leuprolode, Abiraterone and	Biochemical Recruiting
Single72I/HCK boostYesInt risk: 36.35 Gy/5 #centre72I/HCK boostYesHigh risk: EBRT 45-centre167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle167L/I/HCK boostYesLow/int risk: 36.25 GSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostSingle60NSLinacNSSBRT prostate boostPhase I00seCalypsoDose level 1: 20 Gy/fDose20 NSDose level 2: 22 Gy fexonlationDose level 2: 22 Gy fDose level 2: 20 Gy/fDose level 2: 22 Gy f	RN-509 (Apalutamide)	failure
<ul> <li>Single 72 I/H CK boost Yes Int risk: 36.35 Gy/5 # As CI High risk: EBRT 45-: centre</li> <li>Single 167 L/I/H CK boost Yes Low/int risk: 36.25 G High risk: EBRT 50.4</li> <li>Single 60 NS Linac NS SBRT prostate boost centre</li> <li>Phase I</li> <li>Dose level 1: 20 Gy/5 Dose level 2: 22 Gy I</li> <li>Dose level 2: 22 Gy I</li> </ul>		3 years.
centre     As CI     High risk: EBRT 45       Single     167     L/I/H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       centre     167     L/I/H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       centre     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       centre     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Phase I     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Dose     Phase I     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/5     Dose level 2: 22 Gy 1       accolation     Dose level 2: 22 Gy 1     Dose level 2: 20 Gy/5	risk: 36.35 Gy/5 # prostate monotherapy	bDFS at Recruiting
Single     167     L/I/H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       centre     167     L/I/H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       centre     167     L/I/H     CK boost     Yes     Low/int risk: 36.25 G       Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Centre     Phase I     Dose     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2       Dose     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2     Dose level 2: 22 Gy 1	gh risk: EBRT 45-50.4 Gy/25-28 # prostate +/	5 years.
<ul> <li>Single 167 L/I/H CK boost Yes Low/int risk: 36.25 G High risk: EBRT 50.4</li> <li>centre 60 NS Linac NS SBRT prostate boost centre Phase I</li> <li>Phase I</li> <li>Dose level 1: 20 Gy/C Dose level 1: 20 Gy/C Dose level 2: 22 Gy / Dose level 2: 21 Gy / Dose level 2: 21 Gy / Dose</li> </ul>	oelvis and 21 Gy/3 # SBRT prostate boost	
centre     High risk: EBRT 50.4       Single     60     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       centre     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Phase I     00     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Dose     1     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2     Dose level 2: 22 Gy/2       accolation     0     Dose level 2: 22 Gy/2	w/int risk: 36.25 Gy/5 # prostate monotherapy	Toxicity/ Recruiting
Single     60     NS     SBRT prostate boost       Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost       centre     Calypso     pelvis     pelvis       Phase I     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2     Dose level 2: 22 Gy F	gh risk: EBRT 50.4 Gy/28 # and 25.5 Gy/5 #	bPFS
Single     60     NS     Linac     NS     SBRT prostate boost i       centre     centre     Calypso     pelvis       Phase I     Dose     Dose level 2: 22 Gy I       accolation     accolation     Dose level 2: 22 Gy I	tRT prostate boost	5 years
centre     Calypso     pelvis       Phase I     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2       Dose     Dose level 2: 22 Gy I       accolation     Dose level 2: 27 Gy I	RT prostate boost then 46 Gy in 23 # prostate/	Acute Recruiting
Phase I     Dose level 1: 20 Gy/2       Dose     Dose level 2: 22 Gy F       accolation     Dose level 3: 71 Gy F	lvis	toxicity
Dose         Dose level 2: 22 Gy F           accolation         Dese level 3: 24 Gy F	se level 1: 20 Gy/2 # PTV and 22 Gy GTV	
accolation Doca laval 3: 24 Gy I	se level 2: 22 Gy PTV, 27.5 Gy GTV	
	se level 3: 24 Gy PTV, 30 Gy to GTV	

CI clinically indictaed, PTV planning target volume, CTV clinical target volume

published this year at 27.6 months median follow up, demonstrated grade 3 late GI toxicity in one patient, and no grade 3 acute or late GU toxicity [25]. The Florida Robotic Radiosurgery Association are conducting a prospective observational trial involved a multi-institutional registry for prostate cancer SBRT, expecting to recruit 3000 patients [28]. The primary aim of this large study is to determine overall survival at 5 years follow up.

The number of current trials delivering SBRT using CyberKnife or linear accelerator are relatively equal. Linac-based techniques offer advantages in terms of treatment time and patient accessibility, however, it is unclear whether the choice of platform contributes to beneficial treatment outcomes. Lukka et al. were due to open a randomised trial in 2015 to compare SBRT in low/intermediate prostate cancer delivered with CyberKnife or with volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT) [9]. The primary objective is to assess patient acceptability of the trial, aiming to recruit 40 patients, although according to the clinicaltrials.gov listing, the recruitment status is currently unknown.

There are a variety of image guidance techniques employed within the trials (Table 14.1). Some of the linac-based trials include intra-fraction tracking of prostate motion using Calypso electromagnetic beacons [24, 26, 55]. Lagerwaard et al. are using stereotactic MR-guided adaptive radiation therapy (SMART) within a phase II trial, involving daily plan re-optimisation. In an interim analysis of they demonstrated that plan 16 patients, reoptimisation improved sparing of the rectum and bladder from high doses in around 20% of fractions [81]. A few trials have included the use of injectable rectal spacers or endorectal immobilisation devices in an attempt to reduce prostatic motion and improve rectal dosimetry. Kang et al. are comparing these techniques in a randomised trial, aiming to evaluate differences in toxicity rates [14].

#### 14.2 Comparing SBRT with Standard Treatment

Ultimately, large randomised trials are required to directly compare prostate SBRT outcomes with

conventional treatment modalities and fractionation. The Prostate Advances in Comparative Evidence (PACE) trial is an international, multicentre, phase III trial, sponsored by the Royal Marsden Hospital, consisting of two randomisation groups [1]. Within PACE A, lowand intermediate-risk patients are randomised between surgery with radical prostatectomy, and SBRT; or in PACE B randomised between SBRT and conventionally fractionated radiotherapy (Fig. 14.1). All patients are treated without androgen deprivation therapy (ADT). In keeping with the majority of published trials, SBRT patients are treated with 36.25 Gy in five fractions prescribed to the PTV, ensuring 40 Gy to the CTV, delivered with either CyberKnife or Linac based techniques. In the conventional radiotherapy arm, patients are treated with 78 Gy in 39 fractions or 62 Gy in 20 fractions, following publication of the CHHIP trial data in 2016 demonstrating moderate hypofractionation to be non-inferior to conventional fractionation [82]. Patients will be followed up over 10 years and be assessed with PSA, clinician reported measures of acute and late toxicity (CTCAE, RTOG) and patient reported quality of life scores (IIEF, Vaisey, IPSS, EPIC).

Given the difficulties of a surgery versus radiotherapy randomisation, PACE A recruitment has been lower than anticipated. As a result, the primary endpoint of this group has been changed from biochemical disease-free survival (bDFS) to a quality of life endpoint, in order to reduce the recruitment target to 234. In contrast PACE B has recruited exceptionally well, having opened in 40 centres in UK, Ireland and Canada. It has now closed to accrual, having reached the recruitment target of 858 patients by the end of 2017.

Four other randomised trials have been identified, comparing five fraction SBRT with conventionally fractionated or moderately hypofractionated EBRT. A small Hong Kong based phase II trial led by Poon, et al., is currently recruiting low- and intermediate-risk patients within the Asian population [6]. Randomisation is between IMRT 78 Gy in 38 fractions and SBRT 36.25 Gy in five fractions, with a primary outcome measure of health-related quality of lie (QOL) at 1 year. HEAT [4] is a multicentre



Fig. 14.1 PACE trial schema (taken from the PACE trial protocol, version 9.0, June 2017)

randomised trial from the US which opened in 2013, hoping to recruit 456 patients to determine whether SBRT 36.25 Gy in five fractions is non-inferior to 70.2 Gy in 26 fractions in terms of biochemical or clinical failure rate at 2 years. A further US trial led by Ellis et al. which has yet to recruit will compare SBRT in five fractions and IMRT in 28 fractions with the aim of demonstrating superiority of SBRT in terms of GU/GI toxicity [5]. Early results from The RTOG 0938 trial by Lukka et al., have been published in abstract form in 2016 [2, 3]. 255 patients with low risk prostate cancer were randomised between SBRT, 36.25 Gy in five fractions or a hypofractionated dose of 51.6 Gy in 12 fractions. Both fractionations were well tolerated in terms acute and late toxicity, and patient-reported bowel and urinary outcomes at 1 year.

Although not strictly SBRT, HYPO is Scandinavian-based phase II randomised multicentre trial, comparing a highly hypofractionated schedule of 42.7 Gy in seven fractions on alternate days, with conventional fractionation (78 Gy in 39 fractions) [7]. Recruitment is now closed having accrued 1200 patients with intermediate-risk prostate cancer (stage T3a disease also permitted). Treatment delivery was with either 3D conformal radiotherapy or VMAT, without the use of concomitant ADT. Two-year acute and late toxicity data has been published with a median patient follow up of 4.2 years [83]. No significant difference in toxicity was found between the two arms at 2 years follow up, which included 866 patients. RTOG  $\geq$  grade 2 urinary toxicity was 5.4 and 4.6% for the hypofractionated and conventional arms respectively, and bowel toxicity 2.2 versus 3.7%. In results presented at ESTRO (2018) ultra hypofractioanted schedule was shown to be non-inferior to conventional fractionation at 5 years, in terms of freedom from biochemical or clinical failure, with no significant difference in toxicity rate at 4 and 6 years.

LDR brachytherapy is a standard treatment option for suitable patients with low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. This is being compared to SBRT within a small randomised trial based in Finland (BRAVEROBO), now closed to recruitment [8]. Patients are randomised between LDR brachytherapy using I125 seeds, and SBRT 36.25 Gy in five fractions. The primary aim of this study is to detect any differences in acute and late toxicity between the two groups.

#### 14.3 High-Risk Patients

Currently, there is limited data regarding the use of SBRT in high-risk prostate cancer, defined within the National Cancer Care Guidelines (NCCN) as patients with at least one high-risk feature: Gleason 8–10; clinical stage  $\geq$ T3a; or PSA > 20 ng/ml [84]. Concerns about achieving adequate coverage or potential increased toxicity may have deterred the development of SBRT in this group given the higher risk of disease outside the prostate. Only a few published SBRT studies involve a mixed population which include a small percentage of high risk patients. The pooled multi-institutional analysis of 1100 patients by King et al. was encouraging, demonstrating 81% 5 year bPFS in the high-risk group which made up 11% of the population [85].

Four randomised trials have been identified, which include the delivery of prostate SBRT as monotherapy in high risk patients, all using a dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions to the PTV (see Table 14.1). The ASSERT trial, which is a Canadian multi-centre trial, aims to compare toxicity from SBRT with a more conventionally fractionated schedule of 73.68 Gy in 28 fractions, in intermediateand high-risk patients [15]. Table 14.3 summarises ongoing high-risk non-randomised trials involving patients. Of the 20 trials listed, eight have been identified delivering SBRT in five fractions to the prostate alone, where specified at a dose of 35–50 Gy. In some studies, this includes the delivery of a simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) to intraprostatic lesions. Four studies include a mixed group of low-, intermediateand high-risk patients [59, 62, 63]. Nickers et al., are aiming to determine toxicity in the elderly population. In this trial, low- and intermediate-risk patients are treated at a dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions which is increased to 37.5 Gy for high risk patients [63].

The largest trial specifically evaluating efficacy and safety of SBRT in the high-risk group, is a multicentre trial phase II trial led by King et al. [69]. They expect to recruit 220 patients, delivering SBRT to the prostate at a dose of 40 Gy in five fractions over 2 weeks. Concomitant androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) and SBRT to the pelvis using a dose of 25 Gy in five fractions, are given at the discretion of the treating clinician. Preliminary results have been published in abstract form in 2017 [70, 71]. Seventy three patients had been treated with a median follow up of 13.8 months. 32% received nodal irradiation and 63% received androgen deprivation therapy (ADT). Overall treatment was well tolerated with no grade 3 GU or GI toxicity seen. 2.7% had evidence of biochemical failure however longer follow up is required to evaluate the efficacy of treatment. The use of ADT or nodal irradiation did not appear to have a significant effect on toxicity, although numbers are too small to draw any conclusions about this. Trials investigating the use of ADT and pelvic SBRT will be discussed later in the chapter.

#### 14.4 Dose Escalation

Dose escalation has been shown to improve biochemical disease-free survival and delay the need for systemic therapy following conventionally fractionated radiotherapy [86–88]. Pollack et al. demonstrated higher rates of freedom from biochemical failure and distant metastases in intermediate- and high-risk patients receiving 78 Gy compared to 70 Gy in 2 Gy fractions [87, 89]. Retrospectively collected data by Zelefsky et al., suggest that doses as high as 86.4 Gy are associated with improved outcomes in high-risk patients, even in combination with hormones [88]. However, any benefit from dose escalation does is likely to come with the disadvantage of increased toxicity [86, 87].

Potters et al., have completed accrual to a phase I study evaluating the tolerability of SBRT dose escalation in low- and intermediaterisk prostate cancer [38]. The study has been designed to recruit 7–15 patients to each of three dose levels: 40 Gy in five fractions, 45 Gy in five fractions, and 50 Gy in five fractions, escalating to the next dose level if no dose limiting toxicity (DLT) after 90 days in the first seven patients enrolled to a specific dose level. Acute toxicity results from the first two dose levels have been published in abstract form [39, 40]. Twelve patients received 40 Gy in five fractions and ten patients 45 Gy in five fractions. Acute grade 2 (CTCAE v3) GU toxicity was seen in 42 and 50% of patients in each dose level respectively, with no grade 3 toxicity and no  $\geq$  grade 2 GI toxicity. Based on these results the dose was escalated to 50 Gy, the results of which are awaited.

There is not a clear argument for escalating to this dose level, particularly in low risk patients. Studies suggest prostate cancer to have an  $\alpha/\beta$ ratio of <2, lower than that of the surrounding normal tissues and hence sensitive to hypofractionation [90–92]. Even assuming an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 2, an SBRT dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions has a biologically effective dose (BED) of 168, which is higher than 78 Gy in 39 fractions (BED 156), but has a slightly lower BED (124 vs. 130) in terms of late rectal toxicity, assuming an  $\alpha/\beta$  of 3. Escalating the SBRT dose to 50 Gy in five fractions markedly increases the tumour BED to 305 but at the cost of increasing normal tissue BED to 216, hence increasing the risk of significant rectal toxicity. Dose escalation to 50 Gy has previously been evaluated by the Timmerman group who demonstrated significant toxicity in patients receiving higher dose [93, 94]. Over 6% of patients developed high-grade GI toxicity ( $\geq$ grade 3), including five patients who required a colostomy.

Heterogeneous planning techniques could enable dose to be escalated in areas not adjacent to sensitive structures. The PACE trial aims to cover at least 95% PTV with the 36.25 Gy prescription dose while delivering 40 Gy to at least 95% CTV [1]. The technique used by Stephans et al., involves the creation of a high dose PTV (HDPTV) which includes PTV > 3 mm from either urethra, bladder or rectum, and a low dose PTV (LDPTV) which includes PTV within 3 mm of these structures. 36.25 Gy in five fractions is prescribed to the LDPTV, and 50 Gy in five fractions to the HDPTV [59–61]. At 15 months follow up, treatment was well tolerated with low rates of acute and late toxicity in a cohort of 54 patients, of which 30 were high-risk [61]. One patient suffered grade 4 GU and GI toxicity due to prostatic infection, but did have particular risk factors of uncontrolled diabetes and very large prostate (>200 cc). Biochemical failure was seen in four patients (7.4%), all of which were in high-risk group.

Limiting dose escalation to the area of probable disease within the prostate could minimise toxicity and potentially improve efficacy, particularly since there is evidence from retrospective studies that local recurrence following radiotherapy occurs at the site of the primary tumour [95, 96]. In a study of 124 patients with MR imaging pre- and post-radiotherapy, Arrayeh et al. demonstrated the site of the dominant recurrent tumour to be in the same location as the original dominant tumour in eight of the nine patients with disease recurrence [96]. Recently reported results from the FLAME phase III demonstrate no significant increase in toxicity up to 2 years from combining an integrated boost up to 95 Gy to MRI-defined tumour with fractionated radiotherapy 77 Gy in 35 fractions to the entire prostate [97]. Aluwini et al., have previously reported their experience of using SBRT to apply a focal boost to MRI visible tumour [98]. Fifty patients were treated using CyberKnife at a dose of 38 Gy in four fractions, delivering an integrated boost to 14 patients with a dominant tumour nodule visible on MRI, to a mean dose of 47.8 Gy. 6% grade 3 late GU and no grade 3 GI toxicity overall, was reported at 23 months median follow up. Although the number of patients receiving the tumour boost was very small, no increase in toxicity was reported in this group.

Ongoing trials are evaluating the delivery of a simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) in five fractions. Fiveash et al. (RAD 1203) [41] have recruited 25 low/intermediate risk patients to a pilot trial primarily evaluating early toxicity from SBRT with integrated boost to the area in the prostate most likely to be harbouring disease. 36.25 Gy is prescribed to the whole prostate with

an integrated boost of 40 Gy in five fractions. Six trials have been identified which aim to deliver a SIB to dominant lesions within the prostate, as defined by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [42, 44, 45, 66–68]. Four of these are currently recruiting. In the intermediate risk setting, Zelefsky et al. are conducting a phase I feasibility study, treating the whole prostate with 40 Gy in five fractions and applying a SIB of 45 Gy [44]. The SPARC trial which includes intermediate and high risk patients, aims to boost dominant tumour nodules up to 47.5 Gy in five fractions, while delivering 36.25 Gy to the prostate and proximal SV [67]. The primary outcome measure is acute GU toxicity up to 12 weeks post SBRT. In the phase I part of a study led by Herrara et al. in Switzerland, 36.25 Gy is given to the prostate, and the SIB dose is escalated from 45 Gy up to 50 Gy in five fractions, to determine the maximum tolerated dose [66]. Within phase II, patients are treated at the highest tolerated dose in order to determine rate of  $\geq$  grade 2 acute toxicity (CTCAE v 4.0).

Ritter et al. use IMRT to combine urethralsparing, and SIB techniques in а non-randomised phase I/II study, expecting to intermediate/low risk recruit 160 patients [45]. Patients that undergo a pre-treatment MRI are treated with 40 Gy in five fractions on alternate days to the prostate, with the dose to urethra, anterior rectal wall and bladder base limited to 36.25 Gy. A SIB of 42.5 Gy-45 Gy is delivered to MRI defined prostatic lesions. Patients unable to have a MRI are treated with a uniform dose of 36.25 Gy in five fractions. In an analysis of the first 16 patients, the SIB approach was found to be feasible in the ten patients able to undergo MRI [46]. At 8 months median follow up, there was no reported grade 3 or 4 toxicity, and only two patients with grade 2 acute urinary symptoms, although it is not reported which technique these patients were treated with.

#### 14.5 Overall Treatment Time and Fractionation

The effect of overall treatment time in prostate SBRT is not yet known. Published and ongoing trials differ, with many using at least alternate day fractionation schedules. There is however no clear evidence that treating on consecutive days is detrimental, and either consecutive or alternate day fractionation is permitted with the PACE trial. Two multicentre randomised trials are evaluating the influence of weekly fractionation in comparison to alternate day fractionation. The Canadian-based PATRIOT trial has recruited 152 low- and intermediate-risk patients to receive prostate SBRT 40 Gy in five fractions, randomising between treatment over 11 or 29 days [10]. Toxicity (RTOG) and QOL (EPIC) results have been reported at median follow up of 13.1 months [11]. The 29-day arm was found to be superior in terms of patient-reported acute bowel and urinary toxicity, although no significant difference in late toxicity was found between the two schedules. A similar European trial by Mirabell et al. has also completed recruitment, randomising patients from all risk groups to receive 36.25 Gy in five fractions in either 9 days or 28 days [16].

Since prostate cancer is thought to have a low alpha/beta ratio, and therefore particularly sensitive to larger fraction size, the logical next step is to investigate the use of more extreme hypofractionation.

SBRT delivery using a dose of 38 Gy in four fractions has previously been reported [98, 99]. In two large trials led by Fuller et al., SBRT with CyberKnife is delivered at a dose of 38 Gy in four fractions, using a heterogeneous planning technique emulate HDR brachytherapy to [47, 50]. Five year outcomes from the multicentre trial have recently been published in abstract form, having completed accrual of 259 patients [48]. 100% bPFS was demonstrated in low risk patients and 88.5% in intermediate risk. 3% grade 3 GU toxicity and one case of grade 4 GU toxicity were demonstrated and although obstructive GU and GI QOL was similar to baseline, 10% urinary incontinence was detected compared to 2% at baseline. The second study continues to recruit, aiming for an accrual of 258 patients. Five year outcomes have been reported after treating 79 patients, demonstrating bPFS of 98% and 92% in low and intermediate risk patients respectively. Toxicity was acceptable although 6% late grade 3 GU toxicity was reported [51].

High-dose-rate brachytherapy (HDR-BT) delivered in either three fractions of 10.5 Gy or two fractions of 13 Gy, has been shown by Hoskin et al. to have acceptable rates of biochemical control and toxicity at 3 years post treatment [100]. Within the SBRT setting, recruitment is ongoing to an Italian-based phase I/II trial (eHYPO) investigating the tolerability and efficacy of three fraction SBRT, at a total dose of 40 Gy delivered on alternate days [54]. SBRT delivery is with VMAT using cone-beam CT (CBCT) with fiducial markers for image guidance, and includes insertion of rectal gel spacer and urinary catheter to aid accurate urethra delineation. In the 2STAR trial led by Loblaw et al., 26 Gy in 2 weekly fractions is given, aiming to determine QOL at 5 years [52].

At the most extreme, Hoskin et al. have also demonstrated acceptable levels of toxicity after single dose HDR-BT, although did note higher rates of urinary toxicity compared to a two fraction schedule, and in those patients treated with 20 Gy compared to a 19 Gy single-fraction [101]. Single fraction SBRT is currently being assessed in a phase II randomised control trial (PROSINT) led by Greco et al. in Portugal [12]. Using a urethral-sparing planning technique, intermediate-risk patients are randomised to receive SBRT with either 45 Gy in five fractions, or a 24 Gy single fraction. SBRT delivery is with VMAT, using rectal balloon immobilisation and urethral catheter loaded with beacon transponders for tracking. The accrual target is 30 patients, primarily to determine toxicity up to 5 years post treatment. In addition, a diffusion-weighted MRI is performed 15 min after the first treatment to determine early physiologic changes, and biopsy performed 2 years post treatment to evaluate pathologic response. A further single-arm trial (ONE-SHOT) by Zilli et al., was due to open in 2017 [55]. Using similar image guidance and planning techniques, they aim to deliver 19 Gy in one fraction to the prostate and proximal SV, and 17 Gy to the urethral planning risk volume (PRV).

# 14.6 Combining SBRT Boost with Conventional Radiotherapy

There is randomised trial evidence that an HDR-brachytherapy boost combined with EBRT can improve relapse-free survival compared with EBRT alone in intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer [102]. Based on this data a number of trials are evaluating dose escalation using SBRT as a boost to the prostate in addition to conventionally fractionated EBRT. There is substantial variation in study design and SBRT dose used within these trials. In three trials treatment is allocated based on risk group. In a multicentre trial by Mantz et al. aiming for 350 patients, treatment low risk patients are treated with SBRT monotherapy, 40 Gy in five fractions, and intermediate risk patients with IMRT 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks, followed by an SBRT boost of 22 Gy in four fractions [56]. Harsolia et al., aim to deliver 36.25 Gy in five fractions SBRT monotherapy to low/intermediate-risk patients, and 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions followed by an SBRT boost of 27.5 Gy in five fractions to high risk patients, with hormone therapy as indicated [79]. Hirsch et al., are using a three fraction SBRT boost of 21 Gy delivered following pelvic irradiation in high risk patients, combined with ADT [78]. In the BOOSTER trial the SBRT boost is given prior to EBRT and is escalated from an initial dose level of 20 Gy in two fractions to the PTV and 25 Gy to the GTV if identified [80]. Once acceptable toxicity has been established, the dose is escalated to a maximum of 24 Gy in two fractions to the PTV and 30 Gy to the GTV, with a primary outcome measure of  $\geq$ grade 3 RTOG acute toxicity rate.

Two randomised trials based in Poland aim to determine efficacy from delivery of a prostate boost using SBRT in comparison to standard fractionation. HYPOPROST is a large, multicentre trial aiming to randomise 465 patients to receive either a hypofractionated boost of 15 Gy in two fractions, or a conventionally fractionated boost of 30 Gy in 15 fractions, following IMRT to the whole pelvis using 46 Gy in 23 fractions in combination with ADT [19]. A further trial by Suwinski et al., which has not yet opened to recruitment, is due to compare conventional EBRT alone at 76–78 Gy in 38–39 fractions, with conventional EBRT 76–78 Gy in 38–39 fractions in addition to a boost of 20 Gy in two fractions given with brachytherapy or SBRT [18].

Within the BLaStM randomised trial, Pollack et al. are treating patients either with EBRT 76 Gy in 38 fractions and a SIB of 91.2 Gy in 38 fractions to the MRI defined GTV, or EBRT 76 Gy in 38 fractions preceded by a single stereotactic boost of 12–14 Gy to MRI defined GTV [20]. The primary aim of the trial is to compare the rate of pathologic complete response between the two treatment arms.

#### 14.7 Pelvic SBRT

The role of prophylactic pelvic node irradiation remains controversial. Conventionally fractionated pelvic radiotherapy is sometimes considered in those patients at higher risk of harbouring micrometastatic disease within the pelvis, however, there is currently no conclusive evidence with regard to efficacy, and there is an associated increased risk of bowel toxicity. Ongoing trials are investigating the use of pelvic SBRT in highrisk patients. As previously mentioned, the trial for high risk patients by King et al. includes pelvic SBRT 25 Gy in five fractions to the pelvis, as directed by the treating clinician [69–71]. Treatment was well tolerated by the initial 23 patients who received pelvic SBRT, although median follow was short at 13.8 months [71].

In the FASTR trial, 16 high risk patients were treated with linac-based SBRT to the prostate and pelvic nodes, in combination with 12 months ADT [72, 73]. 40 Gy in 5 weekly fractions was delivered to the prostate and SV, and 25 Gy in 5 weekly fractions to the pelvic nodes. Unfortunately, the trial was terminated due to higher than expected toxicity at 6 months. There was no

 $\geq$  grade 3 acute toxicity but one patient suffered grade 3 late GU toxicity, and four patients experienced  $\geq$  grade 3 late GI toxicity. As a result, the currently recruiting phase II trial (FASTR2) does not include pelvic SBRT and the prostate dose has been reduced to 35 Gy [64]. Possible factors contributing to the excessive toxicity include a large CTV-PTV margin of 5 mm, the use of CBCT without fiducial markers, and the inclusion of relatively frail patients within the study. Loblaw et al. have employed the same dose fractionation within the SATURN trial, delivering 40 Gy to the prostate/SV and 25 Gy to the pelvis in 5 weekly fractions, with 12-18 months of ADT [74]. In this trial, a 3 mm PTV margin has been applied to the prostate and 6 mm to the lymph nodes. Both CBCT and fiducial markers have been used for image guidance. Early results from 30 patients suggest that this schedule was reasonably well tolerated, demonstrating no  $\geq$  CTCAE (version 3.0) grade 3 toxicity at 3 or 6 months [75]. At 6 months G2 late GI toxicity was reasonable at 6.9%, although G2 GU toxicity was 34.5% which seems high in comparison with conventionally fractioned moderately or hypofractionated pelvic IMRT as reported by Ferreira et al. [103].

Recently open to recruitment is the SPORT trial, which is a randomised trial evaluating the feasibility of SBRT in high risk prostate cancer, with or without elective nodal irradiation [17]. Thirty high-risk patients are expected to be randomised between SBRT 36.25 Gy in five fractions to the prostate and SV alone, and SBRT 36.25 Gy in five fractions to the prostate/ SV in addition to SBRT 25 Gy in five fractions to the pelvic nodes. All patients are treated in combination with ADT. The primary outcomes of the study are to evaluate adequacy of recruitment rate over 2 years, acute toxicity, QOL, and the number of SBRT plans delivered as planned and on schedule. As part of the study blood, urine and prostate tissue will be taken for analysis to investigate potential predictive markers for patients at greater risk of toxicity.

# 14.8 Combining SBRT with Systemic Therapy

The role of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) in combination with SBRT for localised prostate cancer is unclear. Evidence for using ADT with standard radiotherapy in low- and intermediaterisk patients is unconvincing, particularly now in the context of dose escalated radiotherapy [104, 105]. In view if this, many of the current prospective SBRT trials in this group, such as the PACE trial, do not include ADT. One exception is the multicentre trial by Tran et al., where 4 months ADT is given in combination with (36.25 Gy in five fractions) to SBRT intermediate-risk patients. Zelefsky et al., have recently commenced recruitment to a multicentre phase III randomised trial to compare SBRT alone or in combination with hormones, in intermediate-risk patients (those with only radiographic evidence of T3 disease are not excluded) [13]. SBRT is given to all patients at a dose of 40 Gy in five fractions, and patients randomised to the SBRT and hormones arm are additionally given 6 months treatment with Degaralix. The primary endpoint of the trial is to determine the number of patients with a positive biopsy at 2 years in intermediate-risk patients.

In high risk prostate cancer, there is greater evidence for the use of ADT in combination with high-dose radiotherapy, as demonstrated by results from the DART trial which supports the use of long-term ADT in these patients [106]. Where specified in currently ongoing SBRT trials for high-risk patients, ADT is generally administered, either as mandated or at the discretion of the treating clinician (Tables 14.1 and 14.3). There is however variation in the duration of ADT given. In the ASSERT randomised trial, 6 months and 18 months ADT is given alongside SBRT for intermediate- and high-risk patients respectively [15]. In FASTR-2 the duration of leuprolide has been extended to 18 months from 12 months, as used in the initial FASTR protocol, following the reduction in SBRT dose and exclusion of pelvic node treatment as previously discussed [64, 72].

The development of novel androgen-directed therapies given in combination with LHRH analogues, have improved outcomes in castrate resistant metastatic prostate cancer [107, 108]. The next step is to evaluate any potential benefit in the adjuvant setting. The STAM-PEDE trial has demonstrated a survival advantage from giving up-front Abiraterone in combination with LHRH analogues in patients presenting with advanced prostate cancer [109]. Notably, this benefit was also seen in those patients receiving radiotherapy for non- metastatic disease. The currently recruiting AASUR trial is combining Abiraterone and Apalutamide (ARN-509), with Leuprolide and SBRT to determine efficacy in very high risk localised prostate cancer [77]. Abiraterone works by inhibiting CYP17 which is an important enzyme involved in androgen production, and Apalutamide is a competitive androgen receptor antagonist. Patients begin the drug combination 3 months before SBRT, continuing for a total of 6 months.

#### 14.9 Conclusion

SBRT research in localised prostate cancer is rapidly evolving. There is substantial evidence demonstrating SBRT to be a safe and effective treatment in low- and intermediate-risk patients, although questions remain regarding optimal technique, dose and fractionation. However, before SBRT can be internationally classified as a standard treatment option, it is vital to confirm at least equivalence with surgery and conventionally fractionated radiotherapy. Results of randomised trials such as the PACE trial are therefore eagerly anticipated.

Evidence for SBRT in high risk patients is much less developed, although the number of ongoing prospective trials in this setting is encouraging. Larger randomised trials are required to compare SBRT with conventional fractionation, and many questions remain with regard to dose, target coverage including the need for pelvic SBRT, and the potential benefit of combining SBRT with systemic therapy.

#### References

- van As N. Prostate advances in comparative evidence (PACE). 2012. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01584258.
- Lukka H. Radiation therapy in treating patients with prostate cancer. 2011. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT01434290.
- Lukka H, Stephanie P, Bruner D, Bahary JP, Lawton CAF, Efstathiou JA, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in NRG oncology/RTOG 0938, a randomized phase 2 study evaluating 2 ultrahypofractionated regimens (UHRs) for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(1):2.
- Abramowitz MP, Pollack A. Radiation hypofractionation via extended versus accelerated therpay (HEAT) for prostate cancer. 2013. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01794403.
- Ellis RE. Stereotactic body radiation therapy or intensity-modulated radiation therapy in treating patients with stage IIA-B prostate cancer. 2017. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03367702.
- Poon D. Stereotactic body radiotherpay vs intensitymodulated radiotherpay in prostate cancer. 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02339701.
- Widmark A. Phase III study of hypofractionated radiotherapy of intermediate risk localised prostate cancer. 2008. https://www.isrctncom/ ISRCTN45905321.
- Vuolukka K. LDR brachytherapy versus SBRT for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer patients (BRAVEROBO). 2016. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02895854.
- Lukka H. Feasibility study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for localized prostate cancer: CyberKnife vs VMAT. 2015. http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT02344667.
- Ong A, Loblaw A. Prostate accurately targeted radiotherpay investogation of overall treatment time (PATRIOT). 2011. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01423474.
- 11. Quon HC, Ong A, Cheung P, Chu W, Chung HT, Vesprini D, et al. PATRIOT trial: randomized phase II study of prostate stereotactic body radiotherapy comparing 11 versus 29 days overall treatment time. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(Suppl 7):6.
- Greco C. Phase II study of ultra-high-dose hypofractionated vs single-dose image-guided radiotherapy for prostate cancer (PROSINT). 2015. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02570919.
- Zelefsky MJ. Trial of ADT and SBRT versus SBRT for intermediate prostate cancer. 2017. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03056638.
- Kang JF. Formenti S. Randomized trial of imageguided stereotactic radiation therapy (IG-SRT) in prostate cancer. 2016. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02911922.
- Alexander AK, Kwan W. Androgen suppression with stereotactic body or external beam radiation therapy

(ASSERT). 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02594072.

- Miralbell R. Hypofractionated radiation therapy in prostate cancer. 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT01764646.
- Jain S. SPORT high-risk trial evaluating SABR in prostate cancer (SPORT). 2017 http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT03253978.
- Suwinski R. Conformal radiotherapy (CRT) alone versus CRT combined with HDR BT or stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer. 2013. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01839994.
- Milecki P. Comparing hypofractionated radiotherapy boost to conventionally fractionated (HYPOPROST). 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02300389.
- Pollack A. Randomized MRI-guided prostate boosts via initial lattice stereotactic vs daily moderately hypofractionated radiotherAPY (BLaStM). 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02307058.
- Meier R, Kaplan I, Sanda M. CyberKnife radiosurgery for organ-confined prostate cancer: homogenous dose distribution. 2008. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT00643994.
- 22. Meier R, Beckman A, Henning G, Mohideen N, Woodhouse SA, Cotrutz C, et al. Five-year outcomes from a multicenter trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(2):S33–S4.
- 23. Meier R, Beckman A, Kaplan I, Mohideen N, Shieh E, Henning G, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy for organconfined prostate cancer: early toxicity and quality of life outcomes from a multi-institutional trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(Suppl 3):S57.
- Lee W. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer (SMART). 2009. https://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT00941915.
- 25. Boyer MJ, Papagikos MA, Kiteley R, Vujaskovic Z, Wu J, Lee WR. Toxicity and quality of life report of a phase II study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12(1):14.
- Spratt D. Hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). 2011. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT01288534.
- 27. Jackson WC, Dess RT, Litzenberg DW, Li P, Schipper M, Rosenthal SA, et al. A multi-institutional phase II trial of prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) utilizing continuous real-time evaluation of prostate motion with patient reported quality of life. Prac Radiat Oncol. 2017;8(1):40–7.
- Perman ML. Multi-institutional registry for prostate cancer radiosurgery (RPCR). 2010. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01226004.
- Tran P. Radiation and androgen ablation for prostate cancer. 2012. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01517451.
- Dunst J. Hypofractionated Radiosurgery for Localised Prostate Cancer (HYPOSTAT). 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02635256.

- 31. Jiang P, Krockenberger K, Vonthein R, Tereszczuk J, Schreiber A, Liebau S, et al. Hypo-fractionated SBRT for localized prostate cancer: a German bi-center single treatment group feasibility trial. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12:138.
- Milecki P. Prospective evaluation of hypofractionated stereotactic RT using CyberKnife for patients with prostate cancer (CYBERPROST). 2017. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03225235.
- Collins S. Quality of life in patients with clinically localised prostate cancer treated with radiosurgery (PR-PROS). 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01766492.
- Rashtian A. CyberKnife stereotactic radiosurgery for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer. 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02070952.
- Woodhouse S. A phase II trial of CyberKnife steretactic radiosurgery to prostate tumours. 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02225262.
- Chua M. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for organ confined prostate cancer. 2014. http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT02313298.
- Heron D. Hypofractionated SBRT for prostate cancer. 2009. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT00977860.
- Potters L. SBRT for organ confined prostate cancer. 2016. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02653248.
- 39. Ghaly M, Marrero M, Vijeh L, Montchal E, Lee L, Potters L. Phase I dose-escalation study of (SBRT) for localizes prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(3):S391.
- 40. Ghaly MV, Marrero L, Montchal E, Marrero M, Potters L. Phase I dose-escalation study of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SbRT) for organ confined prostate cancer. J Radiosurg SBRT. 2013;2(Suppl 2.1):149–50.
- Fiveash J. Pilot trial evaluating stereotactic body radiotherapy with integrated boost for clinically localized prostate cancer (RAD1203). 2013. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01856855.
- 42. Jereczek-Fossa BO, Orecchia R. Short-term high precision radiotherapy for early prostate cancer with concomitant boost on the dominant lesion. 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01913717.
- 43. Timon G, Ciardo D, Bazani A, Garioni M, Maestri D, De Lorenzo D, et al. Rationale and protocol of AIRC IG-13218, short-term radiotherapy for early prostate cancer with concomitant boost to the dominant lesion. Tumori. 2016;102(5):536–40.
- Zelefsky M. Radiotherapy to the prostate and dominant intra-prostatic lesion (DIL). 2017. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03269422.
- 45. Ritter MA. Stereotactic body radiation therapy with boost using urethral-sparing intensity-modulated radiation therapy planning in treating patients with prostate cancer. 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02470897.
- 46. Morris BA, Bayliss RAB, Anger N, Morris ZS, Ritter MA. A phase 1/2 trial of stereotactic body radiation

therapy for prostate cancer with a simultaneous integrated boost to MRI-identified regions of high tumor volume (NCT02470897). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2, Suppl):E255.

- Fuller DB, Mardirossian G. CyberKnife radiosurgery for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer: emulating HDR brachytherapy dosimetry. 2008. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00643617.
- 48. Fuller DB, Kane BL, Medbery CA, Underhill K, Gray JR, Peddada A, et al. 5-year outcomes from a prospective multi-institutional trial of heterogeneous dosing stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(Suppl 6):35.
- 49. Fuller DB, Mardirossian G, Wong D, McKellar H. Prospective evaluation of stereotactic radiotherapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer: emulating HDR brachytherapy dose distribution. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(3):S358–S9.
- Fuller D. CyberKnife radiosurgery for localized prostatic cancer. 2010. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01045148.
- Fuller DB, Naitoh J, Mardirossian G. Virtual HDR cyberknife SBRT for localized prostatic carcinoma: 5-year disease-free survival and toxicity observations. Front Oncol. 2014;4:321.
- Loblaw A. Two StereoTactic ablative adaptive radiotherapy treatments for localized prostate cancer (2STAR). 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02031328.
- 53. Nicolae A, Davidson M, Easton H, Helou J, Musunuru H, Loblaw A, et al. Clinical evaluation of an endorectal immobilization system for use in prostate hypofractionated stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR). Radiat Oncol. 2015;10:122.
- Sanguineti G. A phase I-II on stereotactic body radiotherapy in 3 fractions for low/intermediate risk prostate cancer (eHYPO). 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT02623647.
- Zilli T. ONE-SHOT trial Ultra-fractionated singledose SBRT for prostate cancer. 2017. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03294889.
- Mantz C. Phase II trial of SBRT+ or -IMRT in treatment of patients with clinically confined prostate adenocarcinoma. 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02339948.
- Lartigau E. Hypofractionated stereotactic boost in prostate cancer (CKNO-PRO). 2012. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01596816.
- 58. Pasquier D, Nickers P, Peiffert D, Maingon P, Pommier P, Lacornerie T, et al. Hypofractionated stereotactic boost in intermediate risk prostate carcinoma: Preliminary results of a multicenter phase II trial (CKNO-PRO). PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0187794.
- Stephans K. High-dose stereotactic radiation for prostate cancer. 2012. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01664130.
- 60. Kotecha R, Djemil T, Tendulkar RD, Reddy CA, Thousand RA, Vassil A, et al. Dose-escalated stereotactic body radiation therapy for patients with intermediate- and high-risk prostate cancer: initial

dosimetry analysis and patient outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;95(3):960–4.

- 61. Stephans KL, Thousand R, Reddy CA, Magnelli A, Qi P, Zhuang T, et al. Heterogeneous dose-escalated prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy for all risk prostate cancer: an institutional phase 2 study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(2):E243.
- Meier R. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for stage I-III prostate cancer. 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT02334579.
- Nickers P. CyberKnife for prostate cancer patients aged 70 y or more (ProRobot). 2017. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03235557.
- Bauman GS. Fairly brief androgen suppression and stereotactic radiotherapy for high risk prostate cancer – protocol 2 (FASTR-2). 2014. http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT02229734.
- Loblaw A, Suneil J. Safety and efficacy study of hypofractionated radiotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer (pHART8). 2012. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01505075.
- 66. Ong A. Functional MR-guided stereotactic body radiation therapy of prostate cancer. 2013. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01976962.
- van As N. The SPARC trial: stereotactic prostate ablative radiotherapy using CyberKnife (SPARC). 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02145494.
- Herrera F. A phase I-II dose escalation study of stereotactic body radiation therapy in patients with localized prostate cancer. 2014. http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT02254746.
- King CR. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in treating patients with localized high-risk prostate cancer. 2014. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT002296229.
- 70. Kishan AU, Fuller DB, Steinberg ML, Ramirez V, Agazaryan N, Ruan D, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for high-risk prostate cancer (5 treatment days): toxicity results of a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(Suppl 6):46.
- 71. Kishan AU, Fuller DB, Steinberg ML, Ramirez V, Ostendorf E, Tsai SH, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for high-risk prostate cancer: preliminary toxicity results of a phase 2 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2):E248.
- Bauman G, Rodrigues G. FASTR: fairly brief androgen suppression and stereotactic radiotherapy for high risk prostate cancer (FASTR). 2011. http:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01439542.
- 73. Bauman G, Ferguson M, Lock M, Chen J, Ahmad B, Venkatesan VM, et al. A Phase 1/2 trial of brief androgen suppression and stereotactic radiation therapy (FASTR) for high-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;92(4):856–62.
- Loblaw A. SABR including regional lymph node irradiation for patients with high risk prostate cancer (SATURN). 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01953055.
- 75. Musunuru HB, D'Alimonte L, Davidson M, Ho L, Cheung P, Vesprini D, et al. Phase I/II study of

stereotactic ablative radiotherapy including regional lymph node irradiation for patients with high-risk prostate cancer (SATURN): early results. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(Suppl 2):264.

- Hannan R. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) of pelvis and prostate targets for high risk prostate cancer. 2015. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02353819.
- 77. Mc Bride SM. AASUR in high risk prostate cancer. 2016. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02772588.
- Hirsch A. CyberKnife as monotherapy or boost SBRT for intermediate or high risk localized prostate cancer. 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01985828.
- Harsolia A, Muniruzzamon M. Evaluation of CyberKnife stereotactic radiotherapy in prostate cancer. 2013. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02016248.
- Eade T. Early investigation of high precision radiotherapy prior to commencing radiotherapy for prostate cancer (BOOSTER). 2013. http://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT02004223.
- 81. Lagerwaard F, Bruynzeel A, Tetar S, Oei SS, Haasbeek C, Slotman BJ, et al. Stereotactic MR-guided adaptive radiation therapy (SMART) for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(2\_supplement):E681–E2.
- 82. Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H, Khoo V, Birtle A, Bloomfield D, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1047–60.
- 83. Widmark A, Gunnlaugsson A, Beckman L, Thellenberg-Karlsson C, Hoyer M, Lagerlund M, et al. Extreme hypofractionation versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for intermediate risk prostate cancer: early toxicity results from the Scandinavian Randomized Phase III Trial (HYPO-RT-PC). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96(5):938–9.
- Mohler JA, Bahnson RR. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology: prostate cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2016;14(1):19–30.
- 85. King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, Fuller D, Bolzicco G, Collins S, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiothe Oncol. 2013;109(2):217–21.
- 86. Dearnaley DP, Sydes MR, Graham JD, Aird EG, Bottomley D, Cowan RA, et al. Escalated-dose versus standard-dose conformal radiotherapy in prostate cancer: first results from the MRC RT01 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(6):475–87.
- 87. Kuban DA, Tucker SL, Dong L, Starkschall G, Huang EH, Cheung MR, et al. Long-term results of the M. D. Anderson randomized dose-escalation trial for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;70(1):67–74.
- Zelefsky MJ, Yamada Y, Fuks Z, Zhang Z, Hunt M, Cahlon O, et al. Long-term results of conformal

radiotherapy for prostate cancer: impact of dose escalation on biochemical tumor control and distant metastases-free survival outcomes. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(4):1028–33.

- 89. Pollack A, Zagars GK, Starkschall G, Antolak JA, Lee JJ, Huang E, et al. Prostate cancer radiation dose response: results of the M. D. Anderson phase III randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;53(5):1097–105.
- 90. Miralbell R, Roberts SA, Zubizarreta E, Hendry JH. -Dose-fractionation sensitivity of prostate cancer deduced from radiotherapy outcomes of 5,969 patients in seven international institutional datasets: alpha/beta = 1.4 (0.9–2.2) Gy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(1):e17–24.
- 91. Proust-Lima C, Taylor J, Secher S, Sandler H, Kestin L, Pickles T, et al. Confirmation of a low alpha/beta ratio for prostate cancer treated by external beam radiation therapy alone using a post-treatment repeated-measures model for PSA dynamics. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79(1):195–201.
- 92. Vogelius IR, Bentzen SM. Meta-analysis of the alpha/ beta ratio for prostate cancer in the presence of an overall time factor: bad news, good news, or no news? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;85(1):89–94.
- 93. Hannan R, Tumati V, Xie XJ, Cho LC, Kavanagh BD, Timmerman R, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer – results from a multi-institutional clinic trial. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:142–51.
- 94. Kim DWN, Straka C, Cho LC, Timmerman RD. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: review of experience of a multicenter phase I/II dose-escalation study. Front Oncol. 2014;4:319.
- 95. Pucar D, Hricak H, Shukla-Dave A, Kuroiwa K, Drobnjak M, Eastham J, et al. Clinically significant prostate cancer local recurrence after radiation therapy occurs at the site of primary tumor: magnetic resonance imaging and step-section pathology evidence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(1): 62–9.
- 96. Arrayeh E, Westphalen AC, Kurhanewicz J, Roach M, Jung AJ, Carroll PR, et al. Does local recurrence of prostate cancer after radiation therapy occur at the site of primary tumor? Results of a longitudinal MRI and MRSI study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(5):e787–e93.
- 97. Monninkhof EM, van Loon JWL, van Vulpen M, Kerkmeijer LGW, Pos FJ, Haustermans K, et al. Standard whole prostate gland radiotherapy with and without lesion boost in prostate cancer: toxicity in the FLAME randomized controlled trial. Radiother Oncol. 2018;127(1):74–80.
- 98. Aluwini S, van Rooij P, Hoogeman M, Kirkels W, Kolkman-Deurloo I-K, Bangma C. Stereotactic body radiotherapy with a focal boost to the MRI-visible tumor as monotherapy for low- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: early results. Radiat Oncol. 2013;8:84.
- Jabbari S, Weinberg VK, Kaprealian T, Hsu IC, Ma L, Chuang C, et al. Stereotactic body

radiotherapy as monotherapy or post-external beam radiotherapy boost for prostate cancer: technique, early toxicity, and PSA response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82:228–34.

- 100. Hoskin P, Rojas A, Ostler P, Hughes R, Alonzi R, Lowe G, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy with two or three fractions as monotherapy in the treatment of locally advanced prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2014;112(1):63–7.
- 101. Hoskin P, Rojas A, Ostler P, Hughes R, Alonzi R, Lowe G, et al. High-dose-rate brachytherapy alone given as two or one fraction to patients for locally advanced prostate cancer: acute toxicity. Radiother Oncol. 2014;110(2):268–71.
- 102. Hoskin PJ, Rojas AM, Bownes PJ, Lowe GJ, Ostler PJ, Bryant L. Randomised trial of external beam radiotherapy alone or combined with high-dose-rate brachytherapy boost for localised prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2012;103(2):217–22.
- 103. Reis Ferreira M, Khan A, Thomas K, Truelove L, McNair H, Gao A, et al. Phase 1/2 dose-escalation study of the use of intensity modulated radiation therapy to treat the prostate and pelvic nodes in patients with prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;99(5):1234–42.
- 104. Roach M 3rd, Lu J, Pilepich M, Asbell S, Mohiuddin M, Terry R, et al. Predicting long-term survival, and the need for hormonal therapy: a metaanalysis of RTOG prostate cancer trials. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47(3):617–27.
- 105. Valicenti RK, Bae K, Michalski J, Sandler H, Shipley W, Lin A, et al. Does hormone therapy reduce disease recurrence in prostate cancer patients receiving dose-escalated radiation therapy? An analysis of radiation therapy oncology group 94-06. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79(5):1323–9.
- 106. Zapatero A, Guerrero A, Maldonado X, Alvarez A, Segundo CGS, Rodríguez MAC, et al. High-dose radiotherapy with short-term or long-term androgen deprivation in localised prostate cancer (DART01/05 GICOR): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(3):320–7.
- 107. Ryan CJ, Smith MR, Fizazi K, Saad F, Mulders PF, Sternberg CN, et al. Abiraterone acetate plus prednisone versus placebo plus prednisone in chemotherapy-naive men with metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer (COU-AA-302): final overall survival analysis of a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(2):152–60.
- 108. Beer TM, Armstrong AJ, Rathkopf D, Loriot Y, Sternberg CN, Higano CS, et al. Enzalutamide in men with chemotherapy-naive metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer: extended analysis of the phase 3 PREVAIL study. Eur Urol. 2017;71(2): 151–4.
- 109. James ND, de Bono JS, Spears MR, Clarke NW, Mason MD, Dearnaley DP, et al. Abiraterone for Prostate Cancer Not Previously Treated with Hormone Therapy. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(4):338–51.



# Conclusions: Perspectives on the Role of SBRT in the Management of Localized Prostate Cancer

# Michael J. Zelefsky

SBRT is emerging as a promising treatment intervention in the management of patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. The various prospective single institution and retrospective series which have been published in the literature demonstrate what appears to be comparable PSA relapse free survival outcomes for SBRT patients compared to those treated with high-dose conventionally fractionated IMRT [1-6]. While for most published SBRT series the median follow-up has been 4-5 years, these reports so far seem to dispel the notion and concern that such treatment regimens are associated with significant complications and difficult-to-manage toxicities. As well documented in the previous chapters, the incidence of relapsing disease to date as well as acute and long-term toxicities associated with SBRT has been low, and there is no evidence that the prevalence of severe grade 3 and 4 urinary and rectal related toxicities is any higher than what is observed after conventionally fractionated external beam radiotherapy. Of course, longer follow-up will be necessary to confirm these observations.

The utilization of SBRT in the treatment of localized disease has significantly increased over recent years and this is likely attributed to the incorporation of several innovations associated

with SBRT delivery. These features include the use of sophisticated treatment planning methods, tighter planning target volume margins thereby including less volume of normal tissue exposed to the higher doses of radiation and the use of image-guidance to achieve the high degree of accuracy needed for high dose-per fraction SBRT. In addition we have adopted MRI-based contouring and treatment planning for routine SBRT [7]. Contours derived from MRI images can better delineate the anatomy, provide more reliable anatomic information regarding the location of the prostate apex, bladder neck and the neurovascular bundles- all anatomic sub-units that may be related to treatment toxicities. The use of a hydrogel spacer injected into the space between the anterior rectal wall and the posterior aspect of the prostate especially for high dose SBRT could possibly be valuable especially for this cohort of patients which effectively spares more of the rectal volume from the high doses of irradiation. A randomized control study has already demonstrated reduced rectal toxicity among patients treated with conventionally fractionated radiation when using the hydrogel spacer compared to radiation alone without the hydrogel spacer [8].

Currently several randomized control trial (RCT) are underway testing the value of SBRT for localized disease compared to the efficacy and tolerance of conventionally fractionated radiation and moderately fractionated radiotherapy

M. J. Zelefsky (🖂)

Department of Radiation Oncology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: zelefskm@mskcc.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019 M. J. Zelefsky (ed.), *Stereotactic Radiosurgery for Prostate Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92453-3\_15

Trial	To be accrued	Population	Endpoint	Dose arms
HEAT NCT 01794403	456	Low and intermediate risk	PSA-RFS	36.25 Gy/5 f. vs 70.2 Gy/26 fx
HYPO-RT-PC ISRCTN45905321	1200	Intermediate risk	PSA-RFS	42.7 Gy/7 f. vs 78 Gy/39 fx
NRG-GU005	606	Intermediate risk	Quality of life	36.25 Gy/5 f. vs 70 Gy/28fx
PACE B NCT01584258	858	Low and intermediate risk	PSA RFS	36.25 Gy/5 f. vs 78 Gy/39 fx

 Table 15.1
 Ongoing randomized trials evaluating ultra-hypofractionated SBRT regimens

regimens (Table 15.1). The PACE trial which successfully accrued 1200 patients between July 2005 and November 2015 randomized patients to be treated to 78 Gy delivered in 39 fractions versus an ultra-hypofractionated regimen of 7 fractions of 6.1 Gy delivered every other day for approximately 2.5 weeks. This important study was one of the first of these trials to be initiated and recently the preliminary results were reported at the ESTRO 2018 meeting where the PSA relapse-free survival outcomes were noted to be similar (83% in both arms at 5 years) and the incidence of toxicity was not significantly higher using the SBRT regimen. However, it will require a number more years for the results of these RCT to mature and shed further light on the long-term efficacy and safety of this treatment approach.

The concept of utilizing high doses per fraction in the treatment of prostate cancer as monotherapy has been tested in the form of high dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy and ten year results have been published [9]. We and others have previously noted that the dose distributions of an HDR brachytherapy plan may be associated with less integral dose delivered to normal tissue structures outside of the target region and the potential to more easily deliver greater intensification of dose within the prostate and especially to dominant intra-prostatic lesions as can be seen on MRI through the inherent characteristics associated with brachytherapy [10, 11]. While there are no randomized control trials comparing HDR monotherapy with conventionally fractionated external beam therapy regimens for the treatment of localized disease, the clinical outcomes observed from HDR monotherapy experience serves as further proof of concept that high dose per fraction radiation programs

are feasible and can be delivered with respectable tumor control rates without significant late toxicity if normal tissue constraints are adhered to in the planning process. The published reports of HDR monotherapy have demonstrated a low incidence of grade 3 and 4 toxicity rates. Notwithstanding the absence of any prospective comparisons of HDR monotherapy regiments versus SBRT, it would appear that tumor control outcomes are comparable to what is achieved with more standard external beam radiotherapy.

There is still a great deal to learn with the continued maturation of ongoing studies and clinical experiences related to SBRT. What are the tolerance outcomes beyond 5 and 10 years? What is the optimal dose per fraction for SBRT? What is the role of ADT for intermediate risk patients when using SBRT and what is the efficacy of SBRT when using this approach as a boost in the setting of high risk disease such as what is currently routinely employed with brachytherapy in conjunction with conventionally fractionated IMRT? Is there a role using SBRT in the setting of proton therapy and are the outcomes better than SBRT photon therapy?

Compiling to date the significant number of patients with clinically localized prostate cancer treated with SBRT as well as the ongoing randomized control trials, it is difficult to characterize at this time SBRT as experimental. The published single institution reports demonstrate clearly its feasibility and efficacy with follow-up observations extending to 10 years. RCTs will answer the question in the near future whether such treatment regimens will be comparable or superior to conventionally fractionated or moderate-fractionated regimens. In the meantime it will be incumbent upon radiation oncologists introducing SBRT into their clinical practice to
meticulously select patients appropriate for treatment, use state of the art planning approaches such as MRI imaging to help delineate the prostate target and surrounding normal tissue structures, carefully adhere to target and normal tissue dose constraints to insure the safe and accurate delivery of therapy, and apply methods to track and correct for inter- and intra-fraction motion.

We will only learn more about SBRT and address unanswered questions through the enrollment of our patients on prospective clinical trials. At our institution we completed a Phase I-II dose escalation trial where the total SBRT was escalated in a serial fashion from 32.5 to 35 Gy and then 37.5 Gy and 40 Gy in a 5-fraction SBRT regimen. To date there has been only one grade 3 urinary toxicity consisting of a urethral stricture at the high dose 40 Gy dose level and 2-year biopsy outcomes demonstrate excellent tumor control outcomes especially noted for the 40 Gy dose level. We are currently accruing intermediate risk patients on a Phase III randomized trial where eligible patients are randomized to receive SBRT of 40 Gy in 5 fractions with 6 months of androgen deprivation therapy versus SBRT alone. The outcomes of trials such as these and of course the ongoing Phase III studies will ultimately inform clinicians of appropriate clinical practice and how to best incorporate SBRT into the management of clinically localized prostate cancer.

**Disclosures** Dr. Zelefsky serves as a consultant for Augmenix.

## References

1. King CR, Freeman D, Kaplan I, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: pooled

analysis from a multi-institutional consortium of prospective phase II trials. Radiother Oncol. 2013;109 (2):217–21.

- King CR, Brooks JD, Gill H, Presti JC. Long-term outcomes from a prospective trial of stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;82(2):877–82.
- Katz A. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer: a 10-year analysis. Cureus. 2017;9 (9):e1668.
- Henderson DR, Tree AC, van As NJ. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Clin Oncol. 2015;27 (5):270–9.
- 5. Mantz C. A phase II trial of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for low-risk prostate cancer using a non-robotic linear accelerator and real-time target tracking: report of toxicity, quality of life, and disease control outcomes with 5-year minimum follow-up. Front Oncol. 2014;4:279.
- Arcangeli S, Greco C. Hypofractionated radiotherapy for organ-confined prostate cancer: is less more? Nat Rev Urol. 2016;13(7):400–8.
- Tyagi N, Fontenla S, Zelefsky M, Chong-Ton M, Ostergren K, Shah N, Warner L, Kadbi M, Mechalakos J, Hunt M. Clinical workflow for MR-only simulation and planning in prostate. Radiat Oncol. 2017;12(1):119.
- Hamstra DA, Mariados N, Sylvester J, et al. Continued benefit to rectal separation for prostate radiation therapy: final results of a phase III trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(5):976–85.
- Tselis N, Hoskin P, Baltas D, Strnad V, Zamboglou N, Rödel C, Chatzikonstantinou G. High dose rate brachytherapy as monotherapy for localised prostate cancer: review of the current status. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2017;29(7):401–11.
- Fuller DB, Mardirossian G, Wong D, Diblasio F. Prospective evaluation of stereotactic body radiation therapy for low and intermediate-risk prostate cancer: emulating high-dose rate brachytherapy dosedistribution. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84: S149.
- 11. Spratt DE, Scala LM, Folkert M, Voros L, Cohen GN, Happersett L, Katsoulakis E, Zelefsky MJ, Kollmeier MA, Yamada Y. A comparative dosimetric analysis of virtual stereotactic body radiotherapy to high-dose-rate monotherapy for intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Brachytherapy. 2013;12(5):428–33.